

UNIVERSITÉ DE STRASBOURG



### *École Doctorale des Sciences de la Vie et de la Santé de Strasbourg* UPR-9022 Réponse immunitaire et développement chez les insectes

# THÈSE

présentée par :

### Vincent BARBIER

soutenue le : 10 décembre 2013

pour obtenir le grade de : Docteur de l'université de Strasbourg

Discipline/ Spécialité : Immunologie

### Pastrel, a restriction factor for picornalike viruses in *Drosophila melanogaster*

### THÈSE dirigée par : M. IMLER Jean-Luc

Professeur des universités, université de Strasbourg

RAPPORTEURS : Mme. SALEH Maria-Carla M. KOHL Alain

Docteur, Institut Pasteur, Paris Docteur, université de Glasgow

### AUTRES MEMBRES DU JURY : Mme. SCHUSTER Catherine M. JIGGINS Francis

Directeur de recherches, université de Strasbourg Professeur des universités, université de Cambridge

### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the people who helped me to get this thesis to this stage.

First of all, I would like to thank Pr. Jean-Marc REICHHART, director of the UPR9022 (Réponse Immunitaire et Développement chez les insectes), for giving me the opportunity to work in this laboratory and making the facilities available for carrying out research in the best conditions.

I would like to acknowledge my PhD supervisor, Pr. Jean-Luc IMLER, for all his support and his guidance of my work over the last three years. I learned a lot and got the chance to gain a lot of experience with you. Thanks for the corrections of this manuscript.

To the members of my jury, my reviewers Dr. Maria-Carla SALEH and Dr. Alain KOHL and my examiner Dr. Catherine SCHUSTER, thank you for engaging in my work and discussing my project.

I would like to express my deep gratitude to Pr. Francis JIGGINS for his invaluable help on Pastrel project and for the support received through the collaborative work undertaken with him and his PhD student, Chuan. Thanks for exchange of results and ideas.

I am thankful to Dr. Dominique FERRANDON and his team, for the collaborative work on Nora virus project, and to Dr. Sébastien PFEFFER and Ali for their precious help on small RNA library construction. I am also indebted to Dr. Stéphane NOSELLI for providing us Pastrel antibodies and UAS-Pst-GFP fly line.

I extend my sincere thanks and gratitude to my present and former laboratory colleagues for their enormous help during the course of this PhD thesis. I would like to express my thanks to Akira GOTO who contributed immensely to this work. Thanks for your inspiring scientific enthusiasm and infinite advice. I really enjoyed our scientific and non-scientific discussions during lunchtime. I am also very grateful to Laurent, Estelle, Carine, Simona, Olivier, Karim, Alice and Bill for their support and advice in experiments. Thanks to former members of the team, Steffi, Stan, Dele, Najate, Melissandre and Evelyne for their help and for nice time spent inside and outside the laboratory. Thanks to sportsmen Miriam and Adrien for their support and encouragements. I am also thankful to François for critically

reading a part of this manuscript, and to other people from UPR9022 who directly or indirectly contributed to this thesis.

I would like to grateful all my friends from Paris and elsewhere for their encouragements and the enjoying weekends spent with them: Divya, Erin, Sébastien, Luc, Fred and Noémie.

Finally, my acknowledgements would never be complete without the special mention of my family, especially my father Jean-François, Brigitte and my grand-parents who were always supportive and have sacrificed a lot for my studies.

All this work would not have been possible without my loving, encouraging and understanding girlfriend Sarah. You brought me a daily faithful support all the way through this PhD thesis, even if the distance separated each other during these three years. I thank you for your valuable suggestions and help to write this manuscript, and also for your cooking skills that contributed to maintain my good mood during the writing process. You are wonderful.

I also take this opportunity to express my deepest gratitude to my mother Christiane who always believed in me and would have been proud to see me get a PhD degree. This thesis is dedicated to you.

### **Table of contents**

TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
LIST OF FIGURES	7
LIST OF TABLES	10
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	11
RÉSUMÉ DE THÈSE EN FRANÇAIS	17
PART I : INTRODUCTION	23
CHAPTER 1 - MODELS OF DROSOPHILA VIRAL INFECTIONS	25
1.1. DROSOPHILA VIRUSES: NATURAL PATHOGENS OF DROSOPHILA	26
1.2. Other viruses infecting Drosophila	32
CHAPTER 2 - INNATE ANTIVIRAL IMMUNITY IN DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER	37
2.1. THE RNA INTERFERENCE PATHWAY: A BROAD ANTIVIRAL DEFENSE	39
2.2. THE INDUCIBLE RESPONSE: A VIRUS-SPECIFIC ANTIVIRAL DEFENSE	47
2.2.a. The Toll pathway	48
2.2.b. The IMD/TNF-R pathway	51
2.2.c. AMPs	53
2.2.d. The Jak-STAT pathway	55
2.2.e. Autophagy	57
2.3. PARALLEL WITH INNATE ANTIVIRAL IMMUNITY IN MAMMALS	58
2.3.a. Nucleic acid sensors: pattern recognition receptors	62
2.3.b. Type I interferon pathway	64
CHAPTER 3 - INTRINSIC ANTIVIRAL IMMUNITY	66
3.1. VIRAL RESTRICTION FACTORS IN MAMMALS	68
3.1.a. Inhibition of viral entry	68
3.1.b. Inhibition of viral replication	71
3.1.c. Inhibition of viral translation	77
3.1.d. Inhibition of viral release	80
3.1.e. Multiple step antiviral function	83
3.1.f. OAS/RNase L: Intrinsic antiviral pathway	84
3.2. VIRAL RESTRICTION FACTORS IN DROSOPHILA ?	87
AIM OF THE STUDY	90
PART II : MATERIAL AND METHODS	91
II.1. FLY STRAINS AND INFECTION	92
II.2. DECHORIONATION OF EGGS	92
II.3. Cell lines and virus infection	93
II.4. VIRUS BINDING AND ENTRY ASSAYS	

II.6. GENE SILENCING: DSRNA SYNTHESIS AND TREATMENT	
II.7. VIRUS TITRATION	
II.8. CLONING BY GATEWAY SYSTEM	
II.9. DNA ANALYSIS	
II.10.1. DNA extraction	
II.10.2. Preparation for pastrel gene sequencing	
II.10.3. Southern blot	
II.10.4. PCR genotyping	
II.11. RNA ANALYSIS	100
II.11.1. RNA extraction	100
II.11.2. cDNA synthesis	100
II.11.3. Quantitative real time PCR	101
II.12. PROTEIN ANALYSIS	102
II.12.1. Protein extraction	102
II.12.2. Immnoprecipitation	102
II.12.3. Western blot	103
II.12.4. Immunostaining	103
II.13. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	104
CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN <i>DROS</i>	OPHILA 106
CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROS 4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF A	<b>OPHILA 106</b> PASTREL GENE.
<b>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROS</b> 4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF <i>I</i>	<b>OPHILA 106</b> PASTREL GENE. 107 ot CrPV and
CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROST 4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF A 4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n EHV infection	<b>DPHILA 106</b> PASTREL GENE. 107 ot CrPV and 107
CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE 4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF A 4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n FHV, infection.	OPHILA 106           PASTREL GENE.
CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE 4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF A 4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n FHV, infection. 4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not EHV, VSV and SINV infection	<b>OPHILA 106</b> PASTREL GENE.
CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE 4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF A 4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n FHV, infection. 4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection. 4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies	<b>OPHILA 106</b> PASTREL GENE.
CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE 4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF A 4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n FHV, infection. 4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection. 4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies 4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted	<b>OPHILA</b> 106           PASTREL GENE.         107           ot CrPV and         107           ses DCV and         110
CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE 4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF A 4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n FHV, infection. 4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection. 4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies. 4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted. 4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility	<b>OPHILA 106</b> PASTREL GENE.
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF A</li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n</li> <li>FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus</li> <li>CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> </ul>	<b>OPHILA 106</b> PASTREL GENE.
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF A</li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n</li> <li>FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus</li> <li>CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY.</li> </ul>	<b>OPHILA</b> 106           PASTREL GENE.         107           ot CrPV and         107           ses DCV and         107           ses DCV and         110
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF A</li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n</li> <li>FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus</li> <li>CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY.</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> </ul>	<b>OPHILA</b> 106         PASTREL GENE.       107         ot CrPV and       107         ses DCV and       110
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF P</li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n</li> <li>FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus</li> <li>CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY.</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PASTREL GENE IN VITRO: DROSOPHILA S2 CELLS.</li> </ul>	<b>DPHILA 106</b> PASTREL GENE.
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROST</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF P</li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n</li> <li>FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus</li> <li>CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY.</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PASTREL GENE IN VITRO: DROSOPHILA S2 CELLS</li> <li>4.5. A KNOCKdown of pastrel appe increases DCV and CrPV susceptibility in Drosophila S2 CELLS</li> </ul>	<b>OPHILA</b> 106         PASTREL GENE.       107         ot CrPV and       107         ses DCV and       110
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF F</li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n</li> <li>FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus</li> <li>CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PASTREL GENE IN VITRO: DROSOPHILA S2 CELLS</li> <li>4.5. A. Knockdown of pastrel gene increases DCV and CrPV susceptibility in Drosop</li> <li>4.5. b. Overexpression of Pastrel protein restricts DCV and CrPV infection</li> </ul>	<b>OPHILA 106</b> PASTREL GENE.
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF <i>I</i></li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY.</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PASTREL GENE IN VITRO: DROSOPHILA S2 CELLS .</li> <li>4.5. A. Knockdown of pastrel gene increases DCV and CrPV susceptibility in Drosop 4.5.b. Overexpression of Pastrel protein restricts DCV and CrPV infection .</li> </ul>	<b>DPHILA</b> 106         PASTREL GENE.       107         ot CrPV and       107         ot CrPV and       107         ses DCV and       110
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF <i>I</i></li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY.</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PASTREL GENE IN VITRO: DROSOPHILA S2 CELLS</li> <li>4.5. Mockdown of pastrel gene increases DCV and CrPV susceptibility in Drosop 4.5.b. Overexpression of Pastrel protein restricts DCV and CrPV infection.</li> <li>4.5. CPSt antiviral function acts at early steps of DCV infectious cycle.</li> <li>4.5. d. Pst does not affect CrPV IRES translation.</li> </ul>	<b>OPHILA</b> 106         PASTREL GENE.       107         ot CrPV and       107         oses DCV and       110
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSO</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF I</li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n</li> <li>FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus</li> <li>CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PASTREL GENE IN VITRO: DROSOPHILA S2 CELLS</li> <li>4.5.a. Knockdown of pastrel gene increases DCV and CrPV susceptibility in Drosop</li> <li>4.5.b. Overexpression of Pastrel protein restricts DCV and CrPV infection</li> <li>4.5.c. Pst antiviral function acts at early steps of DCV infectious cycle.</li> <li>4.5.e. Pst is not involved in protein secretion</li> </ul>	<b>DPHILA</b> 106         PASTREL GENE.       107         ot CrPV and       107         ot CrPV and       107         ses DCV and       110
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF I</li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n</li> <li>FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus</li> <li>CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY.</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PASTREL GENE IN VITRO: DROSOPHILA S2 CELLS</li> <li>4.5.a. Knockdown of pastrel gene increases DCV and CrPV susceptibility in Drosop</li> <li>4.5.b. Overexpression of Pastrel protein restricts DCV and CrPV infection</li> <li>4.5.c. Pst antiviral function acts at early steps of DCV infectious cycle.</li> <li>4.5.e. Pst is not involved in protein secretion</li> <li>4.5.f. Study of Pst topology by a Biotin-Strentavidin revelation system</li> </ul>	<b>DPHILA</b> 106         PASTREL GENE.
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSO</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF I</li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PASTREL GENE IN VITRO: DROSOPHILA S2 CELLS</li> <li>4.5.a. Knockdown of pastrel gene increases DCV and CrPV susceptibility in Drosop</li> <li>4.5.b. Overexpression of Pastrel protein restricts DCV and CrPV infection</li> <li>4.5.c. Pst antiviral function acts at early steps of DCV infectious cycle.</li> <li>4.5.d. Pst does not affect CrPV IRES translation</li> <li>4.5.e. Pst is not involved in protein secretion</li> <li>4.5.f. Study of Pst topology by a Biotin-Streptavidin revelation system</li> <li>4.5.g. The C-terminal region of Pst is required for its antiviral function</li> </ul>	<b>DPHILA</b> 106         PASTREL GENE.       107         ot CrPV and       107         oses DCV and       110
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF I</li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY.</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PASTREL GENE IN VITRO: DROSOPHILA S2 CELLS</li> <li>4.5.a. Knockdown of pastrel gene increases DCV and CrPV susceptibility in Drosop</li> <li>4.5.b. Overexpression of Pastrel protein restricts DCV and CrPV infection</li> <li>4.5.c. Pst antiviral function acts at early steps of DCV infectious cycle.</li> <li>4.5.d. Pst does not affect CrPV IRES translation</li> <li>4.5.e. Pst is not involved in protein secretion</li> <li>4.5.f. Study of Pst topology by a Biotin-Streptavidin revelation system</li> <li>4.5.g. The C-terminal region of Pst is required for its antiviral function</li> </ul>	<b>OPHILA</b> 106         PASTREL GENE.       107         ot CrPV and       107         oses DCV and       110
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSE</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF <i>I</i></li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but in FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like virus CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY.</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PASTREL GENE IN VITRO: DROSOPHILA S2 CELLS</li> <li>4.5. a. Knockdown of pastrel gene increases DCV and CrPV susceptibility in Drosop</li> <li>4.5. b. Overexpression of Pastrel protein restricts DCV and CrPV infection</li> <li>4.5. PSt antiviral function acts at early steps of DCV infectious cycle.</li> <li>4.5. f. Study of Pst topology by a Biotin-Streptavidin revelation system</li> <li>4.5. g. The C-terminal region of Pst is required for its antiviral function</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PST LOCALIZATION IN CELLS.</li> <li>4.6. STUDY OF PST LOCALIZATION IN CELLS.</li> </ul>	<b>DPHILA</b> 106         PASTREL GENE.       107         ot CrPV and       107         ses DCV and       110
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 4 - PASTREL: A RESTRICTION FACTOR FOR PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSA</li> <li>4.1. RESEARCH OF THE CAUSE OF SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION: IDENTIFICATION OF <i>I</i></li> <li>4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but n FHV, infection.</li> <li>4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks to picorna-like viru: CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.</li> <li>4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.</li> <li>4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted.</li> <li>4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in pst gene and DCV susceptibility.</li> <li>4.2. KNOCKDOWN OF PST GENE INCREASES THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV AND CRPV INFECT</li> <li>4.3. POLYMORPHISMS IN PASTREL GENE DO NOT AFFECT PROTEIN STABILITY.</li> <li>4.4. DOES PASTREL OVEREXPRESSION RESTRICT DCV INFECTION IN FLIES ?</li> <li>4.5. STUDY OF PASTREL GENE IN VITRO: DROSOPHILA S2 CELLS</li> <li>4.5.a. Knockdown of pastrel gene increases DCV and CrPV susceptibility in Drosop</li> <li>4.5.b. Overexpression of Pastrel protein restricts DCV and CrPV infection</li> <li>4.5.c. Pst antiviral function acts at early steps of DCV infectious cycle.</li> <li>4.5.d. Pst does not affect CrPV IRES translation.</li> <li>4.5.f. Study of Pst topology by a Biotin-Streptavidin revelation system</li> <li>4.5.g. The C-terminal region of Pst is required for its antiviral function .</li> <li>4.6.a. Pst co-localizes with lipid droplets in non-infected cells.</li> <li>4.6.a. Pst co-localizes with lipid droplets in non-infected cells.</li> <li>4.6.b. Enrichement of COP-I vesicles staining in the greas where Pastrel and DCV INFECTION IN FLES</li> </ul>	<b>OPHILA</b> 106         PASTREL GENE.       107         ot CrPV and       107         oses DCV and       110

4.6.c. Pst co-localizes with DCV capsid protein during infection	169
4.6.d. Does DCV colocalize with lipid droplets ?	170
4.6.e. DCV infection was not affected by the knockdown of genes involved in lipid metabol	ism174
CHAPTER 5 - EFFECT OF NORA VIRUS ON THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF DROSOPHILA TO PATHOGEN	NS.176
5.1. CORRELATION BETWEEN THE PRESENCE OF NORA VIRUS AND THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECTION	CTION
	177
5.2. DOES NORA VIRUS PERSISTENT INFECTION CONTRIBUTE TO THE SUSCEPTIBILITY OF FLIES TO DCV INFECT	ION ?
	178
5.3. DOES <i>PASTREL</i> AFFECT NORA VIRUS PERSISTENT INFECTION ?	181
CHAPTER 6 - RNAI PATHWAY CONTROLS INFECTION BY A DNA VIRUS IN DROSOPHILA	183
6.1. BROAD RNA INTERFERENCE-MEDIATED ANTIVIRAL IMMUNITY IN DROSOPHILA (KEMP ET AL, 2013)	184
PART IV : DISCUSSION	194
PART IV : DISCUSSION IV.1. PASTREL, A NEW GENE RESTRICTING INFECTION BY PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSOPHILA	<b> 194</b> 195
PART IV : DISCUSSION IV.1. PASTREL, A NEW GENE RESTRICTING INFECTION BY PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSOPHILA IV.1.a. Polymorphisms in pastrel gene are correlated with the susceptibility to DCV infection	<b> 194</b> 195 on . 195
PART IV : DISCUSSION IV.1. PASTREL, A NEW GENE RESTRICTING INFECTION BY PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSOPHILA IV.1.a. Polymorphisms in pastrel gene are correlated with the susceptibility to DCV infection IV.1.b. Pastrel genotyping is required before conducting experiments with DCV	<b> 194</b> 195 on . 195 197
PART IV : DISCUSSION IV.1. PASTREL, A NEW GENE RESTRICTING INFECTION BY PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSOPHILA IV.1.a. Polymorphisms in pastrel gene are correlated with the susceptibility to DCV infection IV.1.b. Pastrel genotyping is required before conducting experiments with DCV IV.1.c. Pastrel gene: duplications and deletions	<b> 194</b> 195 on . 195 197 200
PART IV : DISCUSSION IV.1. PASTREL, A NEW GENE RESTRICTING INFECTION BY PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSOPHILA IV.1.a. Polymorphisms in pastrel gene are correlated with the susceptibility to DCV infection IV.1.b. Pastrel genotyping is required before conducting experiments with DCV IV.1.c. Pastrel gene: duplications and deletions IV.1.d. Pastrel gene controls Dicistroviridae infection	<b> 194</b> 195 on . 195 197 200 200
PART IV : DISCUSSION IV.1. PASTREL, A NEW GENE RESTRICTING INFECTION BY PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN DROSOPHILA IV.1.a. Polymorphisms in pastrel gene are correlated with the susceptibility to DCV infection IV.1.b. Pastrel genotyping is required before conducting experiments with DCV IV.1.c. Pastrel gene: duplications and deletions IV.1.d. Pastrel gene controls Dicistroviridae infection IV.1.e. Towards the characterization of Pastrel antiviral activity	<b> 194</b> 195 195 197 200 200 203
PART IV : DISCUSSION IV.1. PASTREL, A NEW GENE RESTRICTING INFECTION BY PICORNA-LIKE VIRUSES IN <i>DROSOPHILA</i> <i>IV.1.a. Polymorphisms in pastrel gene are correlated with the susceptibility to DCV infectio</i> <i>IV.1.b. Pastrel genotyping is required before conducting experiments with DCV</i> <i>IV.1.c. Pastrel gene: duplications and deletions</i> <i>IV.1.d. Pastrel gene controls Dicistroviridae infection</i> <i>IV.1.e. Towards the characterization of Pastrel antiviral activity</i> IV.2. DOES PASTREL AFFECT NORA VIRUS INFECTION?	<b> 194</b> 195 on . 195 197 200 203 208
PART IV : DISCUSSION	<b> 194</b> 195 on . 195 197 200 200 203 208 209
PART IV : DISCUSSION	194 195 on . 195 197 200 200 203 208 209 210

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1. The genomic organisation of dicistroviriruses shares similarities with picornaviruses and iflaviruses
Figure 2. Representation of the Nora virus genome
Figure 3. Overview of insect antiviral innate immunity
Figure 4. The siRNA pathway in <i>Drosophila</i>
Figure 5. The Toll pathway in <i>Drosophila</i>
Figure 6. The IMD pathway in <i>Drosophila</i> 52
Figure 7. The Jak-STAT pathway in <i>Drosophila</i> 56
Figure 8. Inducible antiviral pathways in <i>Drosophila</i> 58
Figure 9. The type I interferon response
Figure 10. Cell-intrinsic antiviral immunity in mammals
Figure 11. Wide variability in the susceptibility to DCV infection, but not to CrPV and FHV infection, between laboratory control flies
Figure 12. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two <i>Ore-R</i> stocks to DCV and CrPV infection, but not FHV infection
Figure 13. Variability in the susceptibility of two <i>Ore-R</i> flies to IIV-6 infection, but not VSV and SINV infections
Figure 14. TOLL DNA fragments, but no DCV fragments, were detected by southern blot in <i>DD1 cnbw</i> , <i>Ore-R</i> <sup>/L/</sup> and <i>w</i> <sup>A5001</sup> flies
Figure 15. The susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted, and the resistant allele is autosomal-dominant
Figure 16. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted, and the resistant allele is autosomal-dominant
Figure 17. Susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is correlated with polymorphisms in <i>pastrel</i> gene
Figure 18. Identification of a deleted version of pastrel gene present in the genome of some flies and cells

Figure 19. SNPs found exclusively in <i>pastrel</i> gene of <i>Ore-R</i> <sup>DF</sup> flies may correlate with higher sensitivity to DCV and CrPV infection
Figure 20. Allele specific PCR assay for fast genotyping of the sensitive and resistant alleles of <i>pastrel</i> gene
Figure 21. Knockdown of <i>pastrel</i> gene in whole flies increases their susceptibility to DCV and CrPV infection
Figure 22. <i>pastrel</i> gene expression in organs and tissues from adult <i>Canton-S</i> flies
Figure 23. Specific knockdown of <i>pastrel</i> gene in the fat body increases the susceptibility of flies to DCV and CrPV infection. 127
Figure 24. Specific knockdown of <i>pastrel</i> gene in the intestinal epithelium of flies does not affect the resistance to DCV infection
Figure 25. Flies expressing Pst <sup>s</sup> and Pst <sup>R</sup> forms show similar levels of Pst protein expression
Figure 26. Overexpression of Pst-GFP in flies does not increase resistance to DCV infection
Figure 27. DCV replicates in <i>Drosophila</i> S2 cells and <i>pastrel</i> gene expression is increased after infection
Figure 28. Knockdown of <i>pastrel</i> gene in S2 cells increases DCV infection
Figure 29. Knockdown of <i>pastrel</i> gene in S2 cells increases DCV infection
Figure 30. Knockdown of <i>pastrel</i> gene in S2 cells increases CrPV infection
Figure 31. Transient overexpression of Pastrel full lentgh slightly reduces DCV infection in <i>Drosophila</i> S2 cells
Figure 32. Pst overexpression decreases DCV RNA level after 16h and 48h of infection
Figure 33. Pst <sup>s</sup> and Pst <sup>R</sup> overexpression restricts DCV infection
Figure 34. Cells overexpressing Pst are better protected from DCV infection compared to cells with endogenous Pst expression
Figure 35. Pst <sup>s</sup> and Pst <sup>R</sup> overexpression decreases CrPV RNA level after 16h and 48h of infection 144
Figure 36. Overexpression of Pst <sup>s</sup> and Pst <sup>R</sup> decreases the number of cells infected by DCV
Figure 37. Overexpression of Pst <sup>s</sup> and Pst <sup>R</sup> decreases the number of cells infected by CrPV 147
Figure 38. Overexpression of Pst <sup>s</sup> and Pst <sup>R</sup> does not affect the number of cells infected by FHV 148
Figure 39. Overexpression of Pst <sup>s</sup> and Pst <sup>R</sup> does not affect the number of cells infected by VSV 149
Figure 40. Pst <sup>s</sup> and Pst <sup>R</sup> overexpression does not affect binding of DCV on cells
Figure 41. Pst <sup>s</sup> and Pst <sup>R</sup> overexpression affects entry of DCV in cells

Figure 42. Pst <sup>s</sup> and Pst <sup>R</sup> overexpression affects DCV and CrPV early after infection
Figure 43. Pst <sup>S</sup> and Pst <sup>R</sup> overexpression does not affect CrPV 5' IRES and CrPV IGR IRES translation. 
Figure 44. Pst is not involved in protein secretion 155
Figure 45. Prediction of 6 putative TM domains in Pastrel protein.
Figure 46. Topology of N and C-ter regions of Toll and Pst 158
Figure 47. Overexpression of Pst deleted in C-ter does not affect DCV RNA level
Figure 48. Overexpression of Pst deleted in C-ter does not restrict DCV infection
Figure 49. Endogenous Pst and Pst fusion proteins exhibit a vesicular pattern in the cytoplasm of Drosophila cells
Figure 50. Deletion of C-terminal region of Pst modifies its intracellular localization
Figure 51. Pst colocalizes with lipid droplets stained by Nile Red
Figure 52. beta-COP staining is enriched in areas of Pst fusion aggregates
Figure 53. Colocalization between DCV capsid and beta-COP168
Figure 54. Pst colocalizes with DCV capsid staining in <i>Drosophila</i> S2 cells and in the fat body of infected flies
Figure 55. Pst colocalizes with CrPV capsid staining in S2 cells and in <i>Drosophila</i> fat body 170
Figure 56. DCV capsid staining does not colocalize with the surface of lipid droplets in <i>Drosophila</i> S2 cells
Figure 57. DCV capsid and Pastrel protein colocalize with some dots of Nile Red staining, but not with large lipid droplets in the fat body of DCV-infected flies
Figure 58. DCV infection affects lipid droplets morphology in the fat body of DCV-infected flies 173
Figure 59. DCV seems to induce the degradation of large lipid droplets in the fat body of DCV- infected flies
Figure 60. Knockdown of genes involved in lipid metabolism has no effect on DCV infection in Drosophila S2 cells
Figure 61. Small RNAs matching with Nora Virus genome sequence were detected in yw flies 177
Figure 62. Nora Virus RNA genome was detected in <i>Ore-R<sup>DF</sup></i> samples but not in <i>Ore-R<sup>ILI</sup></i> and <i>Ore-R<sup>DI</sup></i> bleached samples
Figure 63. $Ore-R^{DF}$ bleached flies, cured from Nora Virus infection, are still highly sensitive to DCV infection, comparable to Nora Virus persistently infected $Ore-R^{DF}$ flies

Figure 64. Ore-R <sup>ILI</sup> flies, contaminated by Nora Virus, are still resistant to DCV infection, comparable
to <i>Ore-R<sup>DF</sup></i> flies
Figure 65. <i>Ore-R<sup>DF</sup></i> flies are more sensitive to Nora virus infection compared to <i>Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup></i> flies
Figure 66. <i>Pastrel</i> is responsible of the sensitivity of <i>imd<sup>sdk</sup></i> and <i>Tab2<sup>glr3</sup></i> mutant flies to DCV infection.
Figure 67. The transcription factor Dif, operating in the Toll pathway, is involved in the control of DCV infection
Figure 68. Speculative model for the antiviral action of Pst on DCV replication

# List of tables

Table 1. Overview of viruses naturally infecting Drosophila melanogaster.	32
Table 2. Overview of viruses experimentally able to infect Drosophila melanogaster.	36
Table 3. List of primers used for dsRNA synthesis.	96
Table 4. List of primers used for molecular cloning.	98
Table 5. List of primers used for PCR genotyping.	100
Table 2. List of primers used for qPCR.	102
Table 7. The presence of Nora Virus in flies correlates with the susceptibility to DCV infection	. 178

### **List of Abbreviations**

(-) ssRNA	negative single-stranded RNA
(+) ssRNA	positive single-stranded RNA
Α	Adenine
AA	Amino acid
Ago	Argonaute
AGS	Aicardi-Goutières Syndrome
AIM2	Absent in melanoma 2
AMPs	Antimicrobial peptides
ANV	American Nodavirus
AP-1	Activator protein-1
APOBEC3	Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing catalytic polypeptide 3
Ars2	Arsenic resistance protein 2
ATPase	Adenosine triphosphatase
BAP	Biotin Acceptor Peptide
BCA2	Breast cancer-associated gene 2
BHK	Baby hamster kidney
BMP2	Bone morphogenetic protein 2
bp	Base pair
С	Cytosine
CARD	Caspase activation and recruitment domain
CARDIF	CARD adapter inducing interferon-β
Cct	Cytidylyltransferase
CD	Cluster of differentiation
cDNA	complementary DNA
cGAMP	cyclic-di-GMP-AMP
cGAS	cGAMP synthetase
CHIKV	Chikungunya virus
CIV	Chilo Iridescent virus
COPI	Coat protein I
CrPV	Cricket Paralysis virus
cxVago	Culex Vago
СурА	Cyclophilin A
DAI	DNA-dependent activator of IFN-regulatory factors
DaPKC	Drosophila atypical protein kinase C
DAP-PGN	Diaminopimelic acid peptidoglycan
DAV	Drosophila A virus
DBV	Drosophila Birnavirus

Dcr-2	Dicer-2
DCV	Drosophila C virus
DDX	DExD/H-box helicases
DENV	Dengue virus
DFV	Drosophila F virus
dPIAS	Drosophila protein inhibitor of activated STAT
dGTP	deoxyguanosine triphosphate
DIF	Dorsal-related immunity factor
dMyd88	drosophila myeloid differentiation factor 88
dN	deoxynucleoside
DNA	Desoxyribonucleic acid
dNTPs	deoxynucleoside triphosphates
DPV	Drosophila P virus
dsRNA	double stranded RNA
dTak1	drosophila TGF-beta activated kinase 1
DTrV	Drosophila Tetravirus
DTV	Drosophila Totivirus
<b>DUF283</b>	Domain of unknown function 283
DVRF	Dengue virus restriction factors
DXV	Drosophila X virus
<b>E.Coli</b>	Escherichia Coli
EBOV	Ebola virus
EFP	Estrogen-responsive finger protein
EIAV	Equine Infectious Anemia Virus
eIF	eukariotic Initiation Factor
EMCV	Encephalomyocarditis virus
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERV-L	Endogenous retrovirus-like elements
ESCRT	Endosomal sorting complex required for transport
FACS	Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting
FADD	Fas-associated-death domain
FHV	Flock House Virus
FIV	Feline immunodeficiency virus
FPPS	Farnesyl Diphosphate Synthase
Fv1	Friend-virus susceptibility gene 1
G	Guanine
Gag	Group-specic antigen
GNBP1	Gram-negative binding proteins
GPI	Glycosylphosphatidylinositol
GTPases	Guanosine triphosphatase
HA	Hemagglutinin

HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HCMV	Human cytomegalovirus
HCV	Hepatitis C Virus
HD	Histidine-aspartic
Herc5	HECT domain and RCC1-like domain containing protein 5
HFV	Human Foamy Virus
HIV-1	Human immunodeficiency virus-1
Нор	Hopscotch
HPV	Human papillomavirus
HRP	HorseRadish Peroxidase
HSP	Heat shock protein
HSV-1	Herpes Simplex Virus type 1
HTLV-1	Human T-cell leukemia virus type I
IAV	Influenza A virus
IFI16	gamma-interferon-inductible protein 16
IFITMs	Interferon-inducible transmembrane proteins
IFITs	IFN-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats
IFN	Interferon
IGR	Intergenic region
IIV-6	Invertebrate Iridescent Virus 6
IKK	IkB kinase
IL	Interleukin
IL-1R	Interleukin-1 receptor
IMD	Immune deficiency
IPS-1	IFN-β promoter stimulator-1
IRES	Internal Ribosome Entry Site
IRF-9	IFN-regulatory factor 9
ISGs	Interferon-stimulated genes
ISGF-3	IFN-stimulated gene factor-3
ΙκΒ	Inhibitor of kB
Jak	Janus kinase
Jak-STAT	Janus kinase -Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
JEV	Japanese encephalitis virus
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
kDa	kilodalton
KSHV	Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus
LACV	La Crosse virus
LCMV	Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus
LGP2	Laboratory of genetics and physiology-2
LGTV	Langat virus
LINE-1	Long interspersed nuclear element-1

Loqs-PD	Loquacious isoform PD
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
Lv1	Lentivirus susceptibility factor 1
MAPKKK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase
MARV	Marburg virus
MAVS	Mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein
MDA5	Melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5
mESCs	mouse embryonic stem cells
MHV	Murine GammaHerpes Virus
MHV	Mouse hepatitis virus
miRNA	microRNA
MLV	Murine leukemia virus
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
mRNA	Messengers RNA
MV	Measle Virus
Mx	Myxovirus resistance
NBs	Nuclear bodies
Nef	Negative Regulatory Factor
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor-KB
NLRs	NOD-like receptors
NOD2	Nucleotide binding oligomerization domain 2
NoV	Nodamura virus
NRAMP	Natural Resistance-Associated Macrophage Protein
NS1	Non-structural
Nts	Nucleotides
OAS	2'-5'-Oligoadenylate synthetase
OASL	OAS-like gene
ONNV	O'nyong-nyong virus
ORF	Open reading frame
OSS	Ovary Somatic Sheet
PAMPs	Pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs)
PAZ	Piwi/Argonaute/Zwille
pDCs	plasmacytoid dendritic cells
PDE	Phosphodiesterase
PFU	Particles Forming Unit
PGRPs	Peptidoglycan receptors proteins
PI3K-Akt-TOR	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt-Target of rapamycine
piRNA	Piwi-associated interfering RNA
PKR	Protein kinase R
PML	Promyelocytic leukaemia
PRR	Pattern-Recognition Receptors

RdRp	RNA-dependent RNA polymerase			
Ref(2)P	Refractory for Sigma P virus			
REF1	Resistance factor 1			
RIG-I	Retinoid acid-inducible gene			
RING	Really Interesting New Gene			
RIP	Receptor interacting protein			
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex			
RLC	RISC loading complex			
RLR	RIG-I-like receptors			
RNA	Ribonucleic acid			
RNAi	RNA interference			
RNase	Ribonuclease			
RNPs	Ribonucleoproteins			
RpS6	Ribosomal protein S6			
RRE	Rev response element			
rRNAs	Ribosomal RNAs			
RRV	Ross River Virus			
Rsad2	Radical S-adenosyl methionine domain-containing protein 2			
RVFV	Rift Valley fever virus			
<b>S2</b>	Schneider 2			
SAM	Sterile alpha motif			
SAM	S-adenosylmethionine			
SAMHD1	SAM domain HD domain-containing protein 1			
SARS-CoV	Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome-Coronavirus			
sfRNA	subgenomic flavivirus RNA			
SFV	Semliki Forest virus			
SIGMAV	Sigma virus			
SINV	Sindbis Virus			
SIV	Simian immunodeficiency virus			
SMUG1	Single-Strand-Selective Monofunctional Uracil-DNA Glycosylase 1			
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism			
SREBP	Sterol Regulatory Element Binding Protein			
Staf-50	Stimulated Trans-Acting Factor of 50 kDa			
STAT1	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 1			
STING	Stimulator of IFN genes			
SUMO-1	Small Ubiquitin-like MOdifier			
SOCS	Suppressor of cytokine signaling			
TAP1	Transporter associated with antigen processing 1 gene			
Tas	Transactivator			
TBEV	Tick-borne encephalitis virus			
TBK-1	TANK-binding kinase 1			

TEP	Thiol-ester protein			
TIR	Toll-IL-1 receptor			
TLRs	Toll-like receptors			
TMs	Transmembranes			
TNFR	Tumour-necrosis factor-receptor			
TotM	Turandot M			
TPRs	Tetratrico peptide repeats			
TRIM5α	Tripartite motif protein isoform 5 alpha			
TRIMCyp	TRIM5α-Cyclophilin A			
U	Uracil			
UbcH8	Ubiquitin-conjugating Enzyme H8			
UBE1L	Ubiquitin Activating Enzyme E1 Like Protein			
UBP43	Ubiquitin protease 43			
UNG	Uracil-N glycosylase			
Upd	Unpaired			
upd	unpaired			
VA1	Viral associated			
VAP-A or	Vesicle-associated membrane protein-associated protein subtype A			
hVAP-33				
VEEV	Venezuelan Equine Encephalitis Virus			
Vif	Virion infectivity factor			
Viperin	Virus-inhibitory protein, endoplasmic reticulum-associated, IFN-inducible			
Vir-1	Virus-induced RNA-1			
VISA	Virus-induced signaling adapter			
VLPs	Virus-like particles			
VPg	Viral Protein genome-linked			
v-piRNAs	Virus-derived piRNAs			
Vpu	Viral protein U			
vRNPs	Viral ribonucleoproteins			
v-siRNA	virus-derived small interfering RNAs			
VSR	Viral suppressors of RNAi			
VSV	Vesicular Stomatitis Virus			
VSV-G	G glycoprotein of the vesicular stomatitis virus			
WNV	West Nile virus			
YFV	Yellow Fever Virus			
ZAP	Zinc-finger antiviral protein			

### Résumé de thèse en français

### Introduction

Les maladies infectieuses d'origine virale sont responsables d'une mortalité importante chez toutes les espèces. La drosophile est un excellent modèle pour l'étude des mécanismes moléculaires de l'immunité innée, y compris les virus. Elle a permis la caractérisation de mécanismes de défense immunitaire conservés au cours de l'évolution, tel que les voies Toll et IMD qui régulent l'expression des peptides antimicrobiens induits en réponse aux infections fongiques et bactériennes. Un certain nombre de maladies virales ou parasitaires infectant l'homme ou le bétail sont en outre transmises par des insectes hématophages, ce qui représente une motivation supplémentaire pour étudier les mécanismes de l'immunité innée chez les insectes. L'objectif de ma thèse est de comprendre les bases de l'immunité antivirale chez la drosophile.

#### Problématique

Deux types de réponse sont impliqués dans le contrôle des infections virales chez la drosophile. Une réponse inductible et l'ARN interférence qui est un mécanisme global de défense contre les virus à ARN, dont le virus C de la Drosophile (DCV). Le virus DCV est un virus modèle de la famille des *Dicistroviridae*, apparenté aux *Picornaviridae*. Il est couramment utilisé pour étudier les réponses immunitaires chez la drosophile en particulier dans notre laboratoire. Nous avons mis en évidence une différence de sensibilité (charge virale et mortalité accrues) à l'infection par ce virus entre différentes lignées utilisées comme témoins de fond génétique. Une différence de susceptibilité au DCV a également été observée entre deux stocks d'une même lignée sauvage (Oregon-R) maintenus dans deux équipes de notre unité. Plusieurs lignées sensibles au DCV étaient infectées de façon persistante par un virus apparenté aux *Picornaviridae*, le virus Nora, suggérant qu'il était la cause de la susceptibilité à DCV. L'ensemble de ces observations m'ont incité à m'intéresser à trois aspects au cours de ma thèse :

- (1) Quelle est la cause de la sensibilité de certaines lignées de Drosophile à l'infection par le virus DCV ?
- (2) La présence du virus Nora persistant chez la Drosophile influence-t-elle la susceptibilité des mouches à d'autres infections virales ou bactériennes ?
- (3) Quelle est la contribution de l'ARN interférence dans la défense contre un virus à ADN ?

### Résultats (1)

# Les mouches contrôles présentent une importante variabilité dans la résistance à l'infection par le virus DCV.

De façon surprenante, nous avons observé une grande variabilité dans la susceptibilité à l'infection par le virus DCV entre les mouches contrôles utilisées au laboratoire. Par exemple, les mouches yw et  $w^{A5001}$  présentent une charge virale et une mortalité accrue à l'infection par le virus DCV comparé aux mouches DD1 *cnbw* et Canton-S. Cette différence de sensibilité ne concerne pas tous les virus puisque les mouches yw,  $w^{A5001}$ , DD1 *cnbw* et Canton-S présentent la même sensibilité au virus FHV. Nous avons également observé une différence de sensibilité spécifique aux virus DCV et CrPV entre deux stocks d'une même lignée de drosophile (Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> et Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup>).

#### La susceptibilité à l'infection par le virus DCV est dépendante du fond génétique.

J'ai observé que lorsque l'on croise un mâle d'une lignée de drosophile sensible à l'infection par le virus DCV avec une femelle d'une lignée de drosophile résistante, la progéniture est résistante à l'infection par le virus DCV. Cette résistance à l'infection par le virus DCV est donc transmise génétiquement de façon dominante à la descendance. De plus, le croisement réciproque d'une femelle sensible avec un mâle résistante à DCV n'affecte pas la résistance de la progéniture au virus DCV. Ceci indique que la résistance au virus DCV n'est pas portée par le chromosome X. Il était ensuite nécessaire de déterminer quel(s) gène(s) du chromosome 2, 3 ou 4 peut être responsable de cette différence de susceptibilité à l'infection par le virus DCV.

La susceptibilité à l'infection par le virus DCV est corrélée au polymorphisme dans le gène *pst*.

Parallèlement à mes observations, le laboratoire du professeur Francis Jiggins (Cambridge), a associé une région génomique du chromosome 3, comprenant le gène *pastrel* (*pst*), avec des phénotypes de sensibilité associés à l'infection par le virus DCV. J'ai donc séquencé le gène *pst* des différentes lignées contrôles du laboratoire et j'ai trouvé trois polymorphismes nucléotidiques simples (SNPs) dont un est présent dans l'exon 6 et induit un changement d'acide aminé. Ce SNP corrèle systématiquement avec la sensibilité ou la résistance au virus DCV. Les deux autres SNPs, présents dans des introns, corrèlent avec la susceptibilité à l'infection par le virus DCV des lignées contrôles à l'exception de la lignée Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup>. Il était ensuite nécessaire de valider ce gène candidat.

# L'expression du gène *pst* limite l'infection par les virus picorna-like DCV et CrPV *in vivo* et *in vitro*.

L'atténuation de l'expression du gène pst par ARN interférence in vivo accroit la charge virale et la mortalité des mouches infectées par le virus DCV comparé aux mouches contrôles. J'ai effectué les mêmes observations avec le virus de la paralysie du criquet (CrPV), qui comme le virus DCV appartient à la famille des Dicistroviridae. De façon consistante, l'atténuation de l'expression du gène pst in vitro augmente la charge virale dans les cellules S2 infectées par les virus DCV et CrPV. Afin de tester si une surexpression du gène *pst* limite l'infection par le virus DCV, j'ai établi des lignées stables qui surexpriment sous contrôle du promoteur actine la forme sensible ou résistante de la protéine Pst, couplée en N ou C-terminal avec le fluorochrome RFP. La surexepression de la forme sensible ou résistante de la protéine Pst réduit considérablement la charge virale après infection par les virus DCV et CrPV par rapport à la lignée cellulaire contrôle. De façon consistante, dans le cas d'une infection par les virus DCV et CrPV, mais pas FHV et VSV, le nombre de cellules positives pour le virus est réduit dans les lignées stables surexprimant la forme sensible ou résistante de la protéine Pst par rapport à la lignée contrôle. Cette restriction virale apparait dans les premières heures de l'infection par le virus DCV in vitro, sans affecter la fixation du virus sur les cellules. La traduction IRES-dépendante, nécessaire à la synthèse polyprotéique des virus DCV et CrPV, n'est pas affectée par la surexpression de la protéine Pst. Des expériences sont en cours pour tester si la protéine Pst affecte l'entrée ou la réplication du virus.

### La région C-terminale de la protéine Pst porte l'activité antivirale.

Afin de déterminer si la région portant le polymorphisme identifié *in vivo* (associé à la sensibilité ou résistance à l'infection par le virus DCV) confère l'activité antivirale à la protéine Pst, j'ai établi des lignées stables surexprimant une forme tronquée de la protéine Pst, depuis le dernier domaine transmembranaire prédit et précédent le polymorphisme. La surexpression de cette forme tronquée de la protéine Pst n'affecte pas l'infection par le virus DCV, indiquant que la région C-terminale de la protéine est nécessaire pour son activité antivirale. L'effet d'autres délétions est en cours d'analyse. De plus, la délétion de la région C-terminale modifie la localisation de la protéine de fusion.

La protéine Pst colocalise avec les gouttelettes lipidiques révélées par le Rouge de Nil, ainsi qu'avec les protéines de capside des virus DCV et CrPV au cours de l'infection.

L'immunomarquage des cellules révèle que la protéine Pst est localisée dans des structures ponctuelles, concentrées dans une zone juxtanucléaire. Le marquage des gouttelettes lipidiques par le Rouge de Nil colocalise avec le marquage de la protéine Pst endogène dans les cellules S2 *in vitro*. Au cours de l'infection, la protéine Pst colocalise avec les protéines de capside des virus DCV et CrPV *in vitro*, mais aussi *in vivo* dans les cellules du corps gras, un tissu analogue au foie chez les mammifères. Cette colocalisation est cohérente avec une activité antivirale de la protéine Pst sur ces virus.

#### L'extrémité N et C-terminale de la protéine Pst est exposée du côté cytosolique.

Puisque la protéine Pst et les protéines de capside colocalisent dans le cytoplasme, il est probable que la protéine Pst et les particules virales se rencontrent dans le cytosol, permettant à la protéine Pst d'exercer son activité antivirale portée par la région C-terminale. Pour répondre à cette hypothèse, j'ai mis au point une nouvelle méthode basée sur la spécificité d'interaction entre les protéines Biotine et Streptavidine pour déterminer la topologie des régions N et C-terminale de la protéine Pst. J'ai ajouté des sites de biotinylation en N ou C-terminal de la protéine Pst et exprimé ces protéines de fusion dans des cellules exprimant l'enzyme BirA. Si le site de biotinylation est ensuite révélée par western blot

avec la protéine Streptavidine-HRP. La validité de cette technique a été confirmée en utilisant la protéine Toll, dont la topologie est connue, comme contrôle. J'ai observé que les extrémités N et C-terminal de la protéine Pst sont exposées dans le cytosol.

#### Résultats (2)

# L'infection persistante par le virus Nora n'a pas d'effet sur la susceptibilité des mouches à l'infection par le virus DCV, mais affecte la susceptibilité aux infections bactériennes.

La présence du virus persistant Nora a été détectée dans certaines lignées de laboratoire. Le virus Nora appartient à une nouvelle famille des virus de type picorna. J'ai ainsi vérifié si la persistance de ce virus pouvait contribuer à la susceptibilité au virus DCV. En effet, ce virus est détecté par PCR dans toutes les lignées sensibles à DCV alors que les lignées résistantes à DCV ne sont pas infectées par le virus Nora (à l'exception toutefois de la lignée DD1 cnbw). La déchorionnation des œufs de la lignée Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> infectée permet l'élimination du virus Nora, qui n'est pas transmis par la lignée germinale. Cependant, cette lignée présente toujours une sensibilité à l'infection par le virus DCV identique à celle de la lignée Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> non traitée. Par ailleurs, la contamination de la lignée Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup>, non infectée par le virus Nora, avec les excréments des mouches de la lignée Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> infectée, n'induit pas de sensibilité accrue à l'infection par le virus DCV. L'ensemble de ces résultats m'ont permis de conclure que la présence de ce virus persistant n'était pas responsable de la susceptibilité de certaines lignées de drosophiles à l'infection par le virus DCV. Cependant, en collaboration avec l'équipe de Dominique Ferrandon, nous avons observé que la lignée Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> débarrassée du virus Nora est moins sensible à l'infection par *P. aeruginosa* et *S.* marcescens. Par opposition, la lignée Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup> contaminée par ce virus devient plus sensible à ces deux infections bactériennes. Le virus Nora affecte la susceptibilité des mouches aux infections bactériennes. De plus, les mouches infectées subissent un renouvèlement important de l'épithélium intestinal.

#### Résultats (3)

#### L'ARN interférence est une voie générale de défense antivirale.

Nous avons montré que la voie de l'ARN interférence est une voie générale de défense antivirale, puisqu'elle permet, en plus des virus à ARN, de contrôler l'infection par un virus à ADN. Les mouches mutantes pour le gène dicer-2 ( $dcr-2^{R416X}$ ) infectées par le virus à ADN IIV-6 présentent une mortalité et une charge virale accrue par rapport aux mouches contrôles yw. J'ai également observé une mortalité plus importante chez les mouches mutantes pour un second allèle nul de dicer-2 (dcr-2<sup>L811fsx</sup>), le phénotype de sensibilité au virus IIV-6 étant restauré chez ces mutants après insertion d'un transgène correspondant à la région génomique de dicer-2 sauvage. Les mouches mutantes pour les gènes R2D2 et AGO2, deux composants majeurs de cette voie, présentent également une sensibilité accrue au virus IIV-6. J'ai construit une banque de petits ARNs à partir de mouches et de cellules infectées par le virus IIV-6 et identifié la présence de petits ARN, majoritairement de 21 nucléotides, s'alignant avec la séquence du génome viral IIV-6. Ainsi, Dicer-2 produit des ARN interférents contre le génome viral IIV-6. De façon surprenante, à la différence des virus à ARN, ces petits ARN interférents sont produits à partir de régions spécifiques du génome viral puisque leur distribution n'est pas uniforme le long du génome viral. Ces régions correspondent à des régions ou la transcription s'effectue sur les deux brins, conduisant potentiellement à la formation d'ARNdb, substrats de Dicer-2.

#### Conclusion

J'ai mis en évidence que le gène *pst* est impliqué dans la susceptibilité à l'infection par les virus de type picorna DCV et CrPV. Les expériences de perte-de-fonction et gain-defonction indiquent que la protéine Pst est un facteur de restriction antiviral. Son mécanisme d'action reste à éclaircir. Mon étude de l'effet de la présence du virus Nora sur la susceptibilité des mouches aux infections a permis de révéler que cette infection persistante n'affecte pas la sensibilité des mouches à DCV. Cependant, la présence du virus Nora facilite les infections bactériennes et perturbe le renouvellement des cellules épithéliales de l'intestin. Enfin, j'ai également démontré que l'ARN interférence, en plus des virus à ARN, permet de contrôler l'infection par un virus à ADN. Ces travaux ont été publiés dans le *Journal of Immunology*.

### Part I

**INTRODUCTION** 

Every species have to face multiple pathogens during their life. In particular, viral infectious diseases are responsible for high lethality in all species. The fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* is an excellent model to study the molecular mechanisms of innate immunity in insects (Schneider, 2000). This model allowed the characterization of the evolutionarily conserved Toll and IMD pathways that regulate the expression of antimicrobial peptides in response to fungal and bacterial infections (Hoffmann, 2003). This discovery had a major impact on the understanding of innate immunity in mammals. The necessity to study insect innate immunity is also reinforced by the emergence of human viral diseases transmitted by hematophagous insects, including ticks and mosquitoes (Weaver and Reisen, 2010).

The first part of this introduction will review the natural and non-natural *Drosophila* viruses used in this study. The second part will address the different innate immune pathways mounted in response to pathogens, with a particular focus on *Drosophila* antiviral responses. After a brief comparison with the innate antiviral response orchestrated in mammals, the innate intrinsic immunity will be addressed in mammals and *Drosophila*, with a description of characterized restriction factors.

### **Chapter 1**

# Models of Drosophila viral infections

Viruses commonly used in research laboratories to study the mechanisms of antiviral immunity in *Drosophila* can be divided in two classes: first, the natural pathogens of *Drosophila*, which include *Drosophila* C virus (*Dicistroviridae*), Sigma virus (*Rhabdoviridae*) and Nora Virus (*unclassified*); secondly, the non-*Drosophila* viruses that were isolated from other hosts but were able to infect *Drosophila* flies and cells in experimental conditions. They include Cricket Paralysis virus (*Dicistroviridae*), Flock House virus (*Nodaviridae*), Invertebrate Iridescent virus 6 (*Iridoviridae*), Sindbis virus (*Togaviridae*) and Vesicular Stomatitis virus (*Rhabdoviridae*). Both classes cover a wide range of virus families with genomes of different nature and polarity, thus enhancing the robustness of the *Drosophila* model to study innate antiviral responses.

### 1.1. Drosophila viruses: natural pathogens of Drosophila

Drosophila C virus (DCV) was firstly identified in 1972 from the Charolles strain of Drosophila melanogaster. This laboratory stock exhibited an unusual high mortality rate (Jousset et al., 1972). DCV is widely spread in Drosophila, infecting about one third of natural and laboratory populations of Drosophila (Plus et al., 1975a). Viral particles are nonenveloped, icosahedric, with 30 nm of diameter and share physical and chemical characteristics with the Picornaviridae family (Jousset et al., 1977). However, the full sequencing of DCV genome in 1998 revealed clear differences with several Picornaviridae, imposing the creation of the new Dicistroviridae family to classify this Drosophila picornalike virus (Johnson and Christian, 1998). DCV genome is a positive single stranded ribonucleic acid ((+) ssRNA) of 9,264 nucleotides (nts) length, polyadenylated at the 3' end. The small viral protein genome-linked (VPg) is attached at the 5' extremity of the genome (King and Moore, 1988). The genome consists of two open reading frames (ORF): the 5' ORF encodes non-structural proteins (a viral suppressor of RNA interference (RNAi) DCV-1A, a helicase, a protease, the VPg protein and the viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp)) and the 3' ORF encodes structural proteins (capsid proteins VP1-4). Each ORF is preceded by an internal ribosome entry site (IRES) that initiates translation of non-structural (5' IRES) or structural (Intergenic region (IGR) IRES) polyprotein precursors. Final proteins are obtained after cleavage of the polyproteins by the viral protease. This contrasts with the viral genome from Picornaviridae and Iflaviridae family which consists of a single ORF with capsid proteins encoded at the 5' region of the genome and non-structural proteins (helicase,

protease and RdRp) encoded at the 3' region (Figure 1). A single IRES is present at the 5' extremity of the genome and initiates translation.



Figure 1. The genomic organisation of dicistroviriruses shares similarities with picornaviruses and iflaviruses. (Leader (L), Helicase (Hel), Protease (Pro), polyA (An)).

DCV is horizontally transmitted, and this transmission is facilitated by females which may act as viral reservoir in nature (Gomariz-Zilber et al., 1995, 1998). The outcome of the infection depends on the infection route. Injection of DCV is highly pathogenic, leading to the death of flies in few days. By contrast, flies infected by oral contamination with DCV appear healthy. However, depending on the dose, the ingestion of DCV can be fatal within days (Gomariz-Zilber et al., 1995; Jousset and Plus, 1975). Surprisingly, some studies reported that DCV induces some beneficial effects on infected flies: DCV decreases the developmental time, increases the mean number of ovarian tubes and the weight of adult females (Gomariz-Zilber and Thomas-Orillard, 1993; Thomas-Orillard, 1984). It also increases the fertility (Thomas-Orillard, 1988) and the daily egg-production (Thomas-Orillard, 1990).

After its injection in adult flies, DCV replicates and spreads to a large number of tissues, including the fat body (Cherry and Perrimon, 2003; Dostert et al., 2003, 2005; Lautié-Harivel and Thomas-Orillard, 1990; Sabatier et al., 2003), the follicular cells (Lautié-Harivel and Thomas-Orillard, 1990), the thoracic muscle fibers, the tracheal cells, the digestive tract (Dostert et al., 2003; Lautié-Harivel and Thomas-Orillard, 1990), the thoracic muscle fibers, the tracheal cells of the periovarian sheath (Cherry and Perrimon, 2003; Dostert et al., 2003, 2005; Sabatier et al., 2003), the oenocytes and the blood cells (Dostert et al., 2003).

Little is known about the infectious cycle of DCV and Dicistroviruses in general, except by comparison with Picornaviruses. DCV particles enter in cells through clathrinmediated endocytosis (Cherry and Perrimon, 2003), but the receptor required for viral entry has not been identified yet. DCV protein synthesis, as for poliovirus, is sensitive to levels of the ribosomal machinery (Cherry et al., 2005). This characteristic seems to be a common feature for IRES-containing RNA viruses. Indeed, the knockdown of ribosomal protein S6 (RpS6) also affects Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) translation and suppresses its replication in Huh7.5 cells (Huang et al., 2012). The depletion of ribosomal proteins RpS6 and RpL19 blocks DCV replication but does not affect the cell growth and viability. However, we cannot rule out that the attenuation of DCV replication is an indirect effect of the depletion of ribosomal subunits. Indeed, a two-fold reduction in host protein synthesis is observed, which may have a physiological significance in the cells. DCV replication takes place in vesicles derived from the Golgi apparatus, and is dependent of coat protein I (COPI), but not COPII vesicles (Cherry et al., 2006). COPI vesicles are responsible of intra-Golgi transport and retrograde transport from the Golgi to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Hsu et al., 2009). It is still unclear whether the vesicles used as viral factories are COPI vesicles since the authors stained these vesicles with an anti-Golgi antibody, rather than a COPI antibody. At least, they showed that viral factories derive from the Golgi apparatus. Authors also reported that fatty acid biosynthesis is required for DCV replication. Flies mutant for the sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP) are resistant to DCV infection. SREBP is a major transcriptional regulator of fatty acid metabolism, suggesting that DCV may rely on lipid metabolism for effective replication. Finally, the assembly of DCV particles and their release from infected cells remain poorly characterized.

Other picorna-like viruses were found in *Drosophila melanogaster* but they are much less characterized than DCV (Plus et al., 1976). *Drosophila* P virus (DPV) was described in 1969 (Plus and Duthoit, 1969). DPV is largely present in laboratory and wild populations of *Drosophila* (Plus et al., 1975a). DPV is a 25-30 nm non-enveloped virion with a (+) ssRNA genome. As for DCV, DPV appears asymptomatic in naturally infected strains. Injection of DPV in flies reduces their life span and induces female sterility (David and Plus, 1971). The virus mainly targets ovaries and malpighian tubules, and can be vertically transmitted (Teninges and Plus, 1972). *Drosophila* A virus (DAV) is a 25-30 nm non-enveloped virus with a (+) ssRNA genome. Unexpectedly, the sequence coding for the viral RdRp shares

characteristics with viruses from *Birnaviridae* and *Tetraviridae* families. In addition, the structure of the virion has unique characteristics (Ambrose et al., 2009). DPV and DAV are not classified yet. Both viruses can be vertically transmitted (Brun and Plus, 1980).

**Drosophila X virus (DXV)** was first isolated in 1979 in flies that were highly sensitive to oxygen starvation (after exposure to CO<sub>2</sub>). Sigma virus was hitherto the only reported virus to induce CO<sub>2</sub> sensitivity in flies. However, flies were free from bullet-shaped Sigma virus infection, but rather infected by an unknown icosahedric virus, thereby named DXV (Teninges et al., 1979). DXV is transmitted horizontally and viral particles are found in many organs, including the gut cells, the trachea cells, the muscle sheath of different organs, the ovaries and the fat body. DXV is a 70 nm non-enveloped virus. The bipartite double stranded RNA (dsRNA) genome indicated that this virus belongs to *Birnaviridae* family (Chung et al., 1996). The replication cycle of DXV is unknown.

*Drosophila* F virus (DFV) was identified in laboratory stocks of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Plus et al., 1975b). DFV belongs to *Reoviridae* family (Plus et al., 1981). Viral particles are non-enveloped, with a diameter of 60-70 nm. The genome is composed of 10 segments of double stranded RNAs (Huszar and Imler, 2008). The replication cycle of DFV has not been studied.

**Sigma virus (SIGMAV)** belongs to the family of *Rhabdoviridae*. Viral particles are enveloped, with a bullet shape. The genome is a negative single stranded RNA ((-) ssRNA). SIGMAV is widespread in *Drosophila* populations, its transmission mainly occurs vertically via germ cells (Longdon and Jiggins, 2012). SIGMAV-infected flies are highly sensitive to CO<sub>2</sub> exposure. After CO<sub>2</sub> exposure, SIGMAV replicates rapidly in the nervous tissues, leading to paralysis and death of infected flies (Hogenhout et al., 2003). SIGMAV spreads in all tissues except muscles (Tsai et al., 2008). Interestingly, polymorphisms in the refractory for Sigma P virus (ref(2)P) locus were shown to affect SIGMAV infection in *Drosophila* (Carré-Mlouka et al., 2007), as discussed below in section 1.3.2.

**Nora Virus** is a picorna-like virus recently identified in laboratory and natural populations of *Drosophila* (Habayeb et al., 2006). Nora virus establishes a persistent infection in flies. Its genome is a (+) ssRNA of 12,333 nts length, ended by a poly(A) tail at the 3'

extremity. The genome has an unusual sequence and organization (Figure 2, Ekström et al., 2011). Unlike other picorna-like viruses, the genome encodes fours ORFs (ORF1-4) with unique features: ORF2 encodes a picornavirus-like helicase, a protease (less well conserved) and an iflavirus-like RdRp. The three other ORFs (ORF1, 3 and 4) are not closely related to any viral sequences previously described. ORF4 is proposed to encode capsid proteins. Strikingly, Nora virus titer can vary over 6 orders of magnitude  $(10^4 \text{ and } 10^{10} \text{ viral genomes})$ per fly in different stocks). Even single flies from a same stock can differ as much as  $10^3$  in viral titer (Habayeb et al., 2009a). Flies with a high-titer infection establish stable persistent infections, whereas flies with a lower level of infection are able to clear the virus. Nora virus is mainly found in the intestine of infected flies, and is transmitted horizontally via feces (Habayeb et al., 2009b). Nora virus does not cause obvious pathological effects, indicating that the virus is very well adapted to its host. The immune pathway controlling infection is still unclear. Indeed, Nora virus infection is not affected by mutations in the RNAi, Janus kinase-Signal transducer and activator of transcription (Jak-STAT) and Toll pathways (Habayeb et al., 2009a). However, Nora virus small RNAs were detected in infected flies (van Mierlo et al., 2012) and Drosophila Ovary Somatic Sheet (OSS) cells (Wu et al., 2010), suggesting that Nora virus is a target of the antiviral RNAi pathway. Furthermore, Nora virus genome encodes a viral suppressor of RNAi (VP1), which inhibits the catalytic activity of Argonaute-2 (Ago-2), a key component of the RNAi pathway (van Mierlo et al., 2012). At present, the role of the RNAi pathway in the control of persistent Nora virus infection is still unclear. As a full length Nora virus infectious clone is available (Ekström et al., 2011), it may be interesting to investigate if deletions in C-terminal region of VP1, resulting in loss of suppressor activity (van Mierlo et al., 2012), could result in better clearance of Nora virus infected wild-type flies. Only a mild effect on life span was reported, but no effect on eggs eclosion and fecundity. Nora virus was proposed as a model to study persistent viral infections. Clearly, the mechanisms controlling the persistence of Nora virus in Drosophila should be investigated to highlight how viruses establish persistent infection in their host. Whether the presence of this persistent infection contributes to the pathology caused by other pathogens has not yet been investigated.



**Figure 2. Representation of the Nora virus genome.** (adapted from Ekström et al., 2011 and van Mierlo et al., 2012).

# Assembly of virus-small interfering RNAs (v-siRNAs): a strategy to discover new viruses in invertebrates

In 2009, the team of Dr. Shou-Wei Ding proposed an original approach to discover new viruses in invertebrates (Wu et al., 2010). Based on the analysis of small RNA libraries, the authors reassembled viral genomes from v-siRNAs. They discovered four previously unknown viruses in *Drosophila* Schneider 2 (S2) cells: the (+) ssRNA viruses American Nodavirus (ANV) and *Drosophila* Tetravirus (DTrV) and the dsRNA viruses *Drosophila* Birnavirus (DBV) and *Drosophila* Totivirus (DTV). The pathogenicity and replication cycle of these viruses are not yet characterized. Viral small RNAs matching with ANV, DBV, DCV, DTrV, DXV and Nora Virus were found in *Drosophila* OSS cells. Overall, these results highlight that *Drosophila* S2 and OSS cells were probably persistently co-infected by five and six RNA viruses, respectively. Their molecular characterization awaits more investigations.

Name	Familly	Genome (lentgh)	Diameter	Transmission	Envelope
			(nm)		
DCV	Dicistroviridae	(+) ssRNA, 9,264 nts	25-30	Horizontal	No
DPV	Unclassified	(+) ssRNA	25-30	Horizontal and Vertical	No
DAV	Unclassified	(+) ssRNA	25-30	Horizontal and Vertical	No
DXV	Birnaviridae	dsRNA, 3,360 bp (Seg.A), 3,243 bp (Seg.B)	70	Horizontal	No

Natural Drosophila viruses presented above are summarized in Table 1.

DFV	Reoviridae	dsRNA,	60-70	Horizontal	No
		10 segments			
SIGMAV	Rhabdoviridae	(-) ssRNA, 10-15 kb	45-100	Vertical	Yes
Nora	Unclassified	(+) ssRNA, 12,333	27-30	Horizontal	No
Virus		nts			

Table 1. Overview of viruses naturally infecting Drosophila melanogaster.

### 1.2. Other viruses infecting Drosophila

Cricket Paralysis virus (CrPV) was isolated in 1970 from two species of Australian field crickets, Teleogryllus oceanicus and T. commodus, that rapidly succumbed after paralysis (Reinganum et al., 1970). CrPV is able to infect a broad range of insect species, including Drosophila melanogaster flies (Wang et al., 2006) and cell lines (Moore et al., 1980; Scotti, 1975). CrPV injection into flies is highly pathogenic (Wang et al., 2006). The CrPV genome is composed of two ORFs encoding non-structural and structural proteins via IRES mediated translation. Both CrPV IRES were widely used as models to understand capindependent mechanisms of translation (Deniz et al., 2009; Landry et al., 2009). The sequencing of the genome allowed its classification in the Dicistroviridae family, which also includes DCV (Wilson et al., 2000). CrPV genome is a (+) ssRNA with VPg protein attached at the 5' extremity (King and Moore, 1988) and a poly(A) tail at the 3' extremity. The virus is transmitted horizontally (Moore and Tinsley, 1982). CrPV infection leads to a shutoff of host translation in Drosophila cells (Garrey et al., 2010). Intriguingly, the infection is increased at higher temperature (37°C instead of 25°C) in Drosophila S2 cells (Cevallos and Sarnow, 2010). At higher temperature, CrPV RNA genome and viral proteins production are increased but unexpectedly, viral infectious particles are not. It was proposed that cellular responses at high temperature, including selective expression of heat shock proteins (Hsp) at the expense of other host proteins (Klemenz et al., 1985), may provide a beneficial environment for viruses. At high temperatures, the host protein synthesis is reduced in mammals, allowing some IRES-containing RNA viruses to hijack the translation machinery (Kim and Jang, 2002). Furthermore, several mammalian viruses are able to use Hsp for their replication (Burch and Weller, 2005; Glotzer et al., 2000; López et al., 2006), capsid formation (Chromy et al., 2003), or uncoating (Chromy et al., 2006). In Drosophila, it was reported that Hsp90 facilitates the Flock House virus replication (Kampmueller and Miller, 2005). The mechanism facilitating CrPV replication and protein synthesis at high temperature remains to be elucidated.

Flock House Virus (FHV) was originally isolated in 1983 from the grass grub Costelytra zaelandica, near the Flock House Agricultural Research Station in New Zealand (Scotti et al., 1983). FHV is able to replicate in plants, insects, yeast and mammalian cells, including different mosquito and Drosophila cell lines (Dasgupta et al., 2003, 2007). FHV is not a natural pathogen of Drosophila. Intrathoracic injection of FHV in flies is highly pathogenic and the virus spreads to multiple tissues, infecting the fat body, muscles and trachea (Galiana-Arnoux et al., 2006). FHV is a small non-enveloped, bipartite (+) ssRNA virus that belongs to Nodaviridae family (Venter and Schneemann, 2008). The genome of FHV consists of two RNAs: RNA1 (3.1 kb) encodes the viral RdRp (FHV protein A) and a subgenomic RNA3 (0.4 kb) containing two overlapping ORFs encoding proteins B1 (unknown function) and B2, a viral suppressor of RNAi (Li et al., 2002). RNA2 (1.4 kb) encodes the precursor protein of the viral capsid. Both RNA1 and RNA2 are capped at their 5' extremity, but are not polyadenylated. FHV replication occurs in viral factories that were visualized by electron microscopy tomography and reconstructed by three dimensional analysis (Kopek et al., 2007). The depletion of two enzymes involved in phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis (cytidylyltransferase (cct) 1 and cct2) affects FHV replication, indicating that glycerophospholipid metabolism positively regulates FHV replication (Castorena et al., 2010). FHV induces the formation of spherule-like vesicles between the inner and outer mitochondrial membranes that support new RNA synthesis by protein A. The two genomic RNAs are transported to the cytoplasm for translation and encapsidation into provirions is performed by the single protein  $\alpha$ . Mature virions are produced after the autocatalytic cleavage of protein  $\alpha$  into proteins  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ , which confers physicochemical stability to the viral particle (Venter and Schneemann, 2008). As mentioned previously, the Hsp90 appears to facilitate FHV replication (Kampmueller and Miller, 2005), by promoting efficient synthesis of the viral RdRp in Drosophila S2 cells (Castorena et al., 2007). The molecular chaperon Hsp90 plays a role in the replication of a broad spectrum of viruses and appears to have virusspecific functions at unique steps in the viral cycle (Geller et al., 2012). This is one example of the complexity and diversity of the mechanisms employed by viruses to appropriate cellular pathways for their own purposes. FHV infectious cycle ends by the induction of apoptosis through a caspase-dependent pathway in infected DL-1 cells (Settles and Friesen, 2008). Virus-induced apoptosis may favor the release of infectious particles and their subsequent dissemination to neighboring cells (Best, 2008). **The American Nodavirus** (**ANV**) is a variant of FHV that was found to persistently infect *Drosophila* S2 cells (Wu et al., 2010). The genome of ANV was assembled from v-siRNAs found in S2 cells and shared 89% and 82% of identity with RNA1 and RNA2 molecules of FHV respectively.

Invertebrate Iridescent virus 6 (IIV-6) is an icosahedral double stranded desoxyribonucleic acid (dsDNA) virus that infects invertebrates, mainly insects and terrestrial isopods. Its name comes from the opalescent hues observed in heavily infected hosts. The surface of paracrystalline arrays of virus particles reflects light that interferes with incident light resulting in diffraction, thus causing the iridescent hues in highly infected hosts. The iridescence was proposed to be a visual indicator of particles size, but this relationship is still debated (Williams, 2008). IIV-6, also named Chilo Iridescent virus (CIV), belongs to Iridoviridae family (Williams et al., 2005). Its dsDNA genome is 212,484 base pair (bp) long and encodes for 211 putative ORFs (initially 468 ORF were predicted (Jakob et al., 2001) but a reannotation of the genome was performed by (Eaton et al., 2007). IIV-6 is able to replicate in flies after intrathoracic injection, and iridescence is visualized in the abdomen of infected flies (Bronkhorst et al., 2012; Kemp et al., 2013; Teixeira et al., 2008). The infection is not lethal in wild-type flies, even if the injected dose is high. No DNA viruses that naturally infect Drosophila melanogaster have been discovered so far, although a dsDNA virus has recently been identified in wild-caught Drosophila innubila (Unckless, 2011). IIV-6, among others, is used in our laboratory as a model to study the antiviral immunity against DNA viruses in Drosophila.

Sindbis virus (SINV) is an arthropod-borne virus (arbovirus) first isolated in 1952 from *Culex pipiens* and *Culex univittatus* mosquitoes collected in the Sindbis district, near Cairo in Egypt (Taylor et al., 1955). SINV belongs to the *Togaviridae* family, in the alphavirus genus. Alphaviruses are transmitted by arthropods, typically the mosquitoes, and replicate in both arthropod and vertebrate hosts worldwide (Jose et al., 2009). SINV is the most widely distributed among alphaviruses causing arthritis in humans, which include Chikungunya, o'nyong-nyong, Mayaro and Ross River viruses (Tesh, 1982). However, it is the least dangerous for public health. The wide tropism of alphaviruses and genome

manipulation make them a good tool for applications as vaccine or gene therapy (Atkins et al., 2008). SINV is an enveloped virus containing a (+) ssRNA genome of 11.7 kb length, capped at its 5' end and polyadenylated at its 3' end (Strauss and Strauss, 1994). The genome is composed of a 5' ORF encoding the non-structural proteins and a 3' ORF encoding the structural proteins. The virus binds to the natural resistance-associated macrophage protein (NRAMP) at the host cell surface and enters via clathrin-mediated endocytosis (Rose et al., 2011). SINV activates the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)-Akt-target of rapamycine (TOR) pathway. The PI3K-Akt pathway is reported to be involved in cell survival and proliferation, and can lead to the activation of the TOR kinase, which phosphorylates eIF4E-BP to facilitate the formation of translation inititation complexes. Thus, through the activation of this pathway, SINV infection promotes cap-dependent translation of viral messenger RNAs (mRNAs) (Patel and Hardy, 2012). SINV is able to replicate in cells and flies after intrathoracic injection and was found in the fat body and the muscles surrounding the gut (Galiana-Arnoux et al., 2006; Mudiganti et al., 2010; Saleh et al., 2009). The virus is weakly pathogenic in wild-type flies.

**Vesicular Stomatitis virus (VSV)** is an arbovirus that belongs to *Rhabdoviridae* family. It is able to infect a wide range of species, like rodents, cattle, swine and horses, and causes an acute disease (Letchworth et al., 1999; Lichty et al., 2004). Rare cases of human infection have been reported, but most VSV infections are asymptomatic in humans. The genome is a (-) ssRNA of 11 kb of length, packaged in a bullet-shaped virion. The genome encodes 5 proteins: the nucleoprotein (N), the phosphoprotein (P), the matrix protein (M), the glycoprotein (G) and the large subunit of the RdRp (L) (Ivanov et al., 2011, includes details of the replication cycle). VSV can replicate in *Drosophila* cells and animals (Mueller et al., 2010; Wyers et al., 1980). By contrast to infection in vertebrates, *Drosophila* cells infected by VSV do not display a shutoff of host protein synthesis and the virus establishes a non-cytopathic persistent infection (Dezélée et al., 1987; Wyers et al., 1980).

Other arboviruses have been reported to infect *Drosophila* cells and/or flies after injection, such as Chikungunya virus (CHIKV, *Togaviridae*) (Glaser and Meola, 2010), West Nile virus (WNV, *Flaviviridae*) (Chotkowski et al., 2008; Glaser and Meola, 2010), La Crosse virus (LACV, *Bunyaviridae*) (Glaser and Meola, 2010), Rift Valley fever virus (RVFV, *Bunyaviridae*) (Filone et al., 2010) and Dengue virus (DENV, *Flaviviridae*)

(Mukherjee and Hanley, 2010). A summary of viruses experimentally able to infect *Drosophila* is presented in **Table 2**. A genome wide RNAi screen has even been performed in *Drosophila* S2 cells to identify DENV host factors (Sessions et al., 2009). Overall, it is clear that *Drosophila* remains an extremely useful genetic model to study the interactions between host and insect viruses, including pathogenic human viruses (Hughes et al., 2012).

Name	Familly	Genome (lentgh)	Diameter	Envelope
			(nm)	
CrPV	Dicistroviridae	(+) ssRNA, 9,185 nts	27	No
FHV	Nodaviridae	(+) ssRNA, bipartite RNA1, 3.1 kb RNA2, 1.4 kb	30	No
IIV-6	Iridoviridae	dsDNA, 212,484 kb	185	Yes/No
SINV	Togaviridae	(+) ssRNA, 11,703 kb	65-70	Yes
VSV	Rhabdoviridae	(-) ssRNA, 11 kb	70x200	Yes
CHIKV	Togaviridae	(+) ssRNA, 11.83 kb	65-70	Yes
WNV	Flaviviridae	(+) ssRNA, 10.9 kb	50	Yes
DENV	Flaviviridae	(+) ssRNA, 10.7 kb	50	Yes
LACV	Bunyaviridae	(-) ssRNA, Segment L (6.98 kb) Segment M (4.52 kb) Segment S (0.98 kb)	90-100	Yes
RVFV	Bunyaviridae	(-) ssRNA, Segment L (6.4 kb) Segment M (3.88 kb) Segment S (1.69 kb)	90-100	Yes

Table 2. Overview of viruses experimentally able to infect Drosophila melanogaster.


# Innate antiviral immunity in Drosophila melanogaster

Insects face a wide range of pathogens including bacteria, fungi and viruses. Since the discovery of the evolutionarily conserved Toll and immune deficiency (IMD) pathways, involved in anti-fungal and anti-bacterial immune responses (Hoffmann, 2003), the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster is used as a model to study the molecular mechanisms of innate immunity. The Toll pathway is mainly activated by fungi and Gram-positive bacteria, whereas the IMD pathway is preferentially activated by Gram-negative bacteria. Both Toll and IMD signaling pathways activate members of the Nuclear Factor- $\kappa B$  (NF- $\kappa B$ ) family: Dorsal-related immunity factor (Dif) and Relish, conducting a humoral systemic response involving the production of several families of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs). By contrast to anti-bacterial and anti-fungal immunity, which have been the focus of interest since the 1980s, the mechanisms involved in the defense against viruses in Drosophila only recently started to be investigated. To defend against viral pathogens, Drosophila relies on two main strategies: the RNAi pathway, which plays a broad role in the control of RNA viruses, and the virus specific inducible responses (Figure 3). Virus inducible responses are composed of the Toll, IMD, Jak-STAT signaling pathways and autophagy, reported to regulate some viral infections.



**Figure 3. Overview of insect antiviral innate immunity.** RNAi is a broad antiviral pathway, active against many viruses from diverse families whereas inducible responses are virus-specific.

# 2.1. The RNA interference pathway: a broad antiviral defense

#### Viral sensing

The innate immune sensing relies on the ability of the host to distinguish non-self molecular patterns, occurring during an infection, from self patterns of the host (Janeway, 1989). Accordingly, dsRNAs are a strong non-self pattern because they are generated during the viral cycle in the cytoplasm of infected cells, a place where they are not thought to exist naturally. They are generated either as an intermediate in genome replication by the RNA polymerase of RNA viruses, either as a by-product of converging bidirectional transcription for DNA viruses (Jacobs and Langland, 1996; Kumar and Carmichael, 1998). Other sources of non-self dsRNA signal may be the secondary structures present in the viral RNA genome or in viral transcripts, but also the genome itself for dsRNA viruses. dsRNAs are detected in cells infected by (+) ssRNA, dsRNA or DNA viruses, but not in cells infected by (-) ssRNA viruses (Weber et al., 2006). However, the undetected presence of small amounts of dsRNAs produced by (-) ssRNA viruses cannot be excluded. Indeed, VSV-derived small RNAs produced in Drosophila S2 cells and flies equally map the genome and antigenome RNA, indicating that they derive from dsRNAs (Mueller et al., 2010). v-siRNAs produced in cells infected by a trisegmented (-) ssRNA virus, (RVFV), were reported to equally map the genomic and antigenomic strands from L and M segments, but not S segment (Sabin et al., 2013). This suggests that the source of v-siRNAs from segments L and M are dsRNAs replication intermediates. By contrast, v-siRNAs from S segment may be generated from a putative hairpin. The authors also reported that DCV-derived siRNAs preferentially map the genomic (+) strand and proposed that they may derive from structured regions and hairpins within the genome.

#### RNA interference: the siRNA pathway

Viral dsRNAs trigger an antiviral response mediated by the RNAi pathway in plants, fungi, nematodes and arthropods, including insects *Drosophila melanogaster* (Ding and Voinnet, 2007). RNAi relies on the production of small RNAs that are 21-30 nucleotides in length and are divided in three main classes: siRNAs, microRNAs (miRNAs), and Piwi-associated interfering RNAs (piRNAs). The antiviral defense in *Drosophila* mostly relies on the class of siRNAs. Their generation and mode of action in antiviral defense is well

characterized and will be described hereafter (summarized in **Figure 4**). By contrast, the role of miRNAs and piRNAs in *Drosophila* antiviral defense is poorly characterized so both pathways will be briefly mentioned in this manuscript. (see (Lucas and Raikhel, 2013; Senti and Brennecke, 2010) for a review on miRNAs and piRNAs).

Viral dsRNAs are processed into siRNAs by the ribonuclease (RNase) Dicer-2 (Dcr-2), which belongs to RNaseIII family (Bernstein et al., 2001). Dicer-2 is composed of a DExD/H Adenosine triphosphatase (ATPase) domain, a domain of unknown function (DUF283), a Piwi/Argonaute/Zwille (PAZ) domain, two tandem RNaseIII domains, and a dsRNA-binding domain. The interaction of the PAZ domain with the extremity of the dsRNA allows its good positioning towards the two RNaseIII domains of Dicer-2 (MacRae et al., 2007). Each RNaseIII domain cleaves one strand of the dsRNA molecule, thereby generating 21 nts siRNAs with 2 nts overhang at the 3' end (Zhang et al., 2004). The characteristic 21 nts length of siRNAs is determined by the distance between the PAZ domain and the RNaseIII active site (Macrae et al., 2006). The function of other domains is still unclear. Loquacious isoform PD (Logs-PD) is a cofactor of Dicer-2 facilitating processing activity, and may enhance the affinity of Dicer-2 to its dsRNA substrate (Marques et al., 2010). Similarly, Arsenic resistance protein 2 (Ars2) may facilitate Dicer-2-mediated cleavage (Sabin et al., 2009). Following dsRNA cleavage, the resulting siRNA is bound by Dicer-2 and its dsRNAbinding protein partner R2D2, generating the RISC loading complex (RLC). Then, the Dcr-2/R2D2 heterodimer loads the siRNA duplex into an Ago-2 containing RISC (Liu et al., 2003; Margues et al., 2010). The 5'-phosphate on the passenger strand of the siRNA duplex enhances R2D2 binding, thereby facilitating the incorporation of the siRNA into the RLC, and consequently into the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) (Tomari et al., 2004). The PAZ domain of Ago-2 binds the 3' end of the strand that is retained in the RISC, named the guide strand (Ma et al., 2004). The endoribonuclease Ago-2 cleaves the phosphodiester bond between nucleotides 9 and 10 of the strand that will be excluded from the RISC, named the passenger strand. This cleavage is mediated by the PIWI domain of Ago-2 (Matranga et al., 2005; Miyoshi et al., 2005). The component 3 promoter of RISC (C3PO), a multimeric complex of Translin and Trax, is a key RNAi activator that promotes RISC activity by removing the passenger strand cleavage product (Liu et al., 2009). After the cleavage of the passenger strand and its elimination from the RISC, the guide strand is 2'-O-methylated on the 3' terminal nucleotide by the S-adenosyl-L-methionine-dependent RNA methyltransferase Hen-1 (Horwich et al., 2007). This methylation increases the stability of the small RNA (Ji and Chen, 2012). The RISC complex is then mature and can bind complementary RNA sequences through the guide strand. The RNase activity of the PIWI domain of Ago-2 cleaves the target RNA (Rand et al., 2004). If the complementarity between the guide strand and the target RNA is not perfect, mismatches may prevent the slicing by Ago-2. In this case, the RISC may act as a translation repressor by competitively blocking the interaction of eukaryotic initiation factor (eIF)-4E with eIF4G (Iwasaki et al., 2009), thereby inhibiting cap-dependent translation. It is questionable if this mechanism may occur for RNA viruses without cap and how the RNAi deals with the genetic diversity of viral populations namely quasispecies.



Figure 4. The siRNA pathway in Drosophila. (adapted from Kingsolver et al., 2013)

#### siRNA pathway: the broad antiviral sword of Drosophila

The RNAi pathway is a major antiviral defense mechanism in insects, including *Drosophila*. Flies deficient for the three key components of the RNAi pathway (Dcr-2, R2D2 and Ago-2) are more sensitive than wild-type flies to viral infections. The cofactor of Dicer-2,

Logs-PD, is dispensable for the antiviral siRNA pathway (Margues et al., 2010). The increased sensitivity of Dcr-2, R2D2 and Ago-2 null mutants correlates with a higher viral titer. Drosophila RNAi pathway was shown to control infection by (+) ssRNA viruses, such as DCV (Galiana-Arnoux et al., 2006; van Rij et al., 2006; Saleh et al., 2009), CrPV (van Rij et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006), FHV (Aliyari et al., 2008; Galiana-Arnoux et al., 2006; Han et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2006), SINV (Avadhanula et al., 2009; Galiana-Arnoux et al., 2006; Saleh et al., 2009), WNV (Chotkowski et al., 2008) and DENV (Mukherjee and Hanley, 2010); the (-) ssRNA virus VSV (Mueller et al., 2010), and the dsRNA virus DXV (Zambon et al., 2006). Recently, we and others showed that RNAi controls not only RNA virus infection, but also infection by DNA viruses IIV-6 in Drosophila (Bronkhorst et al., 2012; Kemp et al., 2013) and Baculovirus in moth Helicoverpa (Jayachandran et al., 2012). Unexpectedly in the case of DXV infection, R2D2 and Ago-2, but not Dcr-2, mutant flies were highly sensitive to DXV compared to wild-type flies. It is proposed that in the absence of Dcr-2, the dicing of dsRNA genome may be supported by Dcr-1, originally involved in the processing of miRNAs precursors, as both enzyme have some overlapping function (Lee et al., 2004). The high sensitivity of Ago-2 mutants, defective for RISC activity, to viral infection (DCV, (van Rij et al., 2006); DXV, (Zambon et al., 2006); VSV, (Mueller et al., 2010)), whereas Dcr-2 is fully functional, suggests that the dicing of viral dsRNAs by Dcr-2 is not sufficient to control viral infection. This additional function of Ago-2 is required. However, it may not be the case for latent infection, as the dicing of dsRNA replication intermediates itself plays a role in the maintenance of FHV latency (Flynt et al., 2009). Moreover, the identification of Vago, an antiviral protein controlling DCV infection in the fat body and whose expression is dependent on Dcr-2, but not R2D2 and Ago-2, also suggests an additional function of Dcr-2, separated from the antiviral function of the RISC (Deddouche et al., 2008). Altogether, the relative contribution of antiviral dicing and slicing in the control of viral infections remains to be elucidated.

## Analysis of viral small interfering RNAs (v-siRNAs)

Beside the genetic proof that Dcr-2, R2D2 and Ago-2 are necessary to control viral infections in insects, the generation of viral small interfering RNAs (v-siRNAs) after infection demonstrates that Dcr-2 processes viral RNAs (Wu et al., 2010). The analysis of v-siRNAs profiles reveal that the predominant source of v-siRNAs is viral dsRNA intermediates of replication. The deep sequencing of small RNAs in *Drosophila* S2 cells and OSS cells

persistently infected by positive sense RNA viruses (DAV, DCV, Nora virus and ANV) or dsRNA viruses (DTV, DXV and DBV) revealed that v-siRNAs mapped in equal proportion to both strands of the viral genome. Similarly, the distribution of v-siRNAs derived from positive and negative sense RNA strands of FHV genome are in equal proportion. It indicates that viral dsRNAs replication intermediates or viral genomic dsRNAs are the major substrate of Dcr-2 to trigger an effective antiviral RNAi response. Interestingly, the presence of specific hotspots of v-siRNAs on the viral genome suggests that some regions of the viral genome are accessible and processed by Dcr-2. As mentioned before, these regions may be local secondary structures of the viral genome, as stem-loop structures. In agreement with this hypothesis, a stem-loop structure predicted in FHV genome is a hotspot of v-siRNAs derived from the positive sense (van Rij and Berezikov, 2009; Zhong et al., 1992). Although this source of v-siRNAs is well documented in plants (Molnár et al., 2005), no experimental validation has been performed in Drosophila. By contrast to plants, the dicing of structural elements within the viral genome in Drosophila appears to be secondary to dicing of viral dsRNAs. Overall, the suggested targeting of replication intermediates is counterintuitive with the observation that RNA viruses replicate in defined membranous structures to protect themselves from ribonucleases or non-self sensors that trigger innate immune responses. As discussed in the chapter I, FHV replicates in spherules vesicles derived from the outer membrane of mitochondria (Kopek et al., 2007) whereas DCV has been proposed to replicate in compartments derived from the Golgi apparatus (Cherry et al., 2006). How and where Dcr-2 accesses to viral dsRNAs are still open questions.

#### Systemic RNAi response

In addition to the cell-autonomous silencing mediated by RNAi, viral infections trigger a systemic RNAi response that may contribute to antiviral defense in *Drosophila*. It is proposed that virus-mediated cell death or cell lysis release viral dsRNAs that are taken up and processed by neighborhood non-infected cells to protect them from subsequent infection (Saleh et al., 2009). This model is supported by the hypersensitivity of fly mutants for dsRNA uptake pathway. This pathway requires scavenger-like receptors for the entry of exogenous dsRNAs into cells via clathrin-mediated endocytosis (Saleh et al., 2006). A cell-to-cell spread of v-siRNAs and long dsRNAs was also observed in Semliki Forest virus (SFV)-infected mosquito cells (Attarzadeh-Yazdi et al., 2009). In plants and worms, efficiency of the

systemic RNAi response is increased by an amplification mechanism involving the production of secondary siRNAs.

#### Antiviral RNAi amplification

In plants and *C. elegans*, it is reported that antiviral RNAi pathway requires the amplification of the v-siRNAs by an endogenous RdRp to be effective against viruses (reviewed in Ding, 2010). At present, the production of secondary v-siRNAs by RdRp has not been observed in *Drosophila*. The amplification of antiviral RNAi response may rely on another mechanism. Indeed, it is reported that viral DNAs are generated by a cellular reverse transcriptase during infection by RNA viruses such as FHV and DCV, which are not retroviruses. It is proposed that the transcription of these viral DNAs produce dsRNAs that will amplify the siRNA-mediated antiviral response (Goic et al., 2013). Curiously, a recent report showed that a previous exposure to DCV does not protect flies from subsequent infection (Longdon et al., 2013). It would be interesting to see if viral DNA forms can be produced after the first viral challenge in this experimental setting.

#### Viral suppressors of RNAi (VSRs)

To counteract the antiviral siRNA pathway, insect viruses encode VSRs. It allows them to replicate even in the presence of an effective antiviral RNAi response. For example, protein B2 of FHV is essential for viral replication in wild-type flies, but not in RNAi-mutant flies (Galiana-Arnoux et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006). By contrast to plant viruses, only few VSRs have been characterized in insect viruses. The B2 protein of FHV was the first VSR identified in an invertebrate virus (Li et al., 2002). The expression of B2 in plants can also inhibit RNA silencing, indicating that RNAi is evolutionarily conserved between the plant and animal kingdoms. Protein B2 interacts with dsRNAs in infected S2 cells, thereby suppressing dicing (Aliyari et al., 2008; Lu et al., 2005). It also blocks siRNAs incorporation into the RISC by binding siRNAs (Chao et al., 2005; Lu et al., 2005). The VSR of the Dicistroviridae DCV, named DCV-1A, also binds dsRNAs, thereby inhibiting the cleavage of dsRNAs by Dcr-2 (van Rij et al., 2006). DCV-1A does not bind siRNAs, by contrast to B2 protein. CrPV, another member of *Dicistroviridae* family, has a suppressor of RNAi that interacts with the endoribonuclease Ago-2 and inhibits its activity (Navak et al., 2010). It is surprising that two closely related viruses from the same family encode VSRs using different mechanisms to suppress RNAi. However, both DCV-1A and CrPV-1A are unrelated in term

of sequence. SINV does not encode any VSR (mentioned in (van Mierlo et al., 2012). Interestingly, recombinant SINV expressing CrPV-1A replicates faster and causes higher mortality than recombinant SINV expressing DCV-1A (Nayak et al., 2010). This suggests that CrPV-1A is more efficient to suppress RNAi than DCV-1A, and also that VSRs can determine viral pathogenicity. Although not closely related, the protein VP1 of Nora virus inhibits slicer activity of Ago-2 as does protein CrPV-1A (van Mierlo et al., 2012). VSRs are strikingly diverse within and across kingdoms, indicating that they are acquired through fast convergent evolution. The expression of Nora virus VP1 by SINV increases the viral pathogenicity in flies via its RNAi suppressive activity. Similarly, *Aedes aegypti* or *Anopheles gambiae* mosquitoes infected by recombinant SINV expressing B2 protein are hypersensitive to viral infection (Cirimotich et al., 2009; Myles et al., 2008). SFV expressing tombusvirus protein P19, a plant VSR that binds siRNAs, better spread from cell-to-cell in culture (Attarzadeh-Yazdi et al., 2009). Overall, these results highlight that VSRs determine viral pathogenicity in insects.

#### RNAi is important in another insect model: mosquitoes, vectors of human viral diseases

RNAi controls infection by arboviruses in mosquitoes (Blair, 2011). The knockdown of Dcr-2 and Ago-2 expression in Aedes aegypti mosquitoes increases DENV and SINV infection (Campbell et al., 2008; Sánchez-Vargas et al., 2009). Likewise, the viral titre of O'nyong-nyong virus (ONNV) is increased after the knockdown of Ago-2 in Anopheles gambiae mosquitoes (Keene et al., 2004). Similarly to Drosophila, dsRNA replication intermediates are the major substrate of Dcr-2. For example, the sequencing of v-siRNAs from SINV-infected Aedes aegypti or WNV-infected Culex pipiens quinquefasciatus mosquitoes reveals an asymmetric distribution of v-siRNAs along the viral genome (Brackney et al., 2009; Myles et al., 2008). Some regions of the viral genome are highly targeted, suggesting that the dicing of structural elements may also contribute to the production of v-siRNAs, as proposed for Drosophila viruses. Surprisingly, no VSR has been identified so far in arboviruses, despite VSRs seem to be a common feature in non-arboviral insect viruses (Attarzadeh-Yazdi et al., 2009; Blakqori et al., 2007). Arboviruses cycle between insect vectors and mammalian hosts. To be efficiently transmitted to mammalian hosts, arboviruses have to stay nonpathogenic for insect vectors because killing the vector would be an endpoint for the virus. Transgenic viruses expressing a VSR are highly pathogenic for insects, probably because the RNAi does not control the virus anymore.

Accordingly, it is hypothesized that expressing a VSR could be deleterious for the virus, reducing the chance to be transmitted to mammalian hosts. Recently, Schnettler and colleagues showed that WNV proteins do not have any RNAi suppressor activity but rather found that the subgenomic flavivirus RNA (sfRNA) does (Schnettler et al., 2012). This non-coding RNA was already reported to result from incomplete genome degradation by cellular exoribonuclease Xrn1 and to enhance viral pathogenicity in mice (Pijlman et al., 2008), possibly by counteracting the antiviral response mediated by type I interferon (Schuessler et al., 2012). It remains to be determined how sfRNA, by contrast to recombinant arboviruses expressing VSRs, equilibrates the balance between viral replication and vector survival.

#### A role of miRNAs and piRNAs pathways in antiviral defense ?

In Drosophila, five Ago-like proteins have been identified, which raises the question of a functional diversification of antiviral RISCs (Tolia and Joshua-Tor, 2007). We may hypothesize that not only one, but several RISC-like complexes with redundancy and specialization contribute to antiviral defense. The antiviral function of Drosophila miRNAs and piRNAs-directed Ago-like proteins is poorly understood. One study reported that Piwi and Aubergine, two slicers involved in the piRNA pathway, control DXV infection in Drosophila S2 cells (Zambon et al., 2006). However, the relevance of this finding is questionable because both proteins are normally expressed in germline cells. Moreover, in addition to v-siRNAs, abundant viral piRNAs derived from DCV and ANV genome were identified in persistently infected OSS cells (Wu et al., 2010). Virus-derived piRNAs (vpiRNAs) were also identified for other viruses infecting these cells, but they were much less abundant. Additionally, v-piRNAs were identified in Aedes albopictus cells infected by DENV-2 (Scott et al., 2010), SINV-GFP and LACV (Vodovar et al., 2012), but also in Aedes aegypti cells infected by SINV-GFP (Vodovar et al., 2012). In vivo, it is reported that Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus mosquitoes infected with CHIKV produce v-piRNAs (Morazzani et al., 2012). The authors showed that C6/36 cells are Dicer-2 null mutant cells, harboring a defective siRNA pathway. Interestingly, C6/36 cells infected with a recombinant CHIKV expressing the VSR B2 display a decreased production of v-piRNAs and a strong cytopathic effect, suggesting that B2 increases viral pathogenicity by suppressing the production of v-piRNAs. Additionally, the silencing of components of the piRNA pathway in Aedes aegypti cells reduces the production of v-piRNAs and facilitates Semliki Forest virus replication, suggesting that the piRNA pathway contributes to the antiviral defense (Schnettler et al., 2013). To date, no host miRNAs have been reported to be involved in *Drosophila* antiviral defense and no virus-encoded miRNAs have been identified in *Drosophila*. One study revealed the upregulation of miR-92 and downregulation of miR-989 in WNV-infected *Aedes albopictus* cell line and *Culex quinquefasciatus* mosquitoes (Skalsky et al., 2010). However, the targets of these miRNAs are uncharacterized and their role during WNV infection remains to be elucidated. Recently, an *in silico* screen identified *Drosophila* miRNAs that may target components of innate immune pathways (Fullaondo and Lee, 2012) but the function of these miRNAs in *Drosophila* immune response remains to be clarified experimentally. Overall, the siRNA pathway is a key arm of the antiviral defense mounted by insects, including *Drosophila* and mosquitoes. In addition to siRNA pathway, piRNA pathway may also contribute to antiviral defense.

# 2.2. The inducible response: a virus-specific antiviral defense

Beside RNAi which is a broad antiviral defense mechanism in insects, including Drosophila and mosquitoes, other immune signaling pathways also contribute to viral defense. The hallmark of Drosophila immune response against bacteria and fungi is the inducible humoral response (De Gregorio et al., 2001, 2002; Irving et al., 2001). Similarly, several microarrays performed after viral infections reveal the upregulation of hundreds of genes, suggesting that inducible pathways may be important for the control of viruses. For example, some immune-related genes are upregulated in Drosophila S2 cells infected by SINV, such as thiol-ester protein II (TEP II) and Gram-negative binding proteins (GNBP1) (Mudiganti et al., 2010). SIGMAV infection upregulates the expression of pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs), such as peptidoglycan receptors proteins (PGRPs) and antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) (Tsai et al., 2008). The microarray analysis of Nora virus infected flies revealed the upregulation of 46 genes (including vago) and the downregulation of 12 genes in response to the infection (Cordes et al., 2013). A recent study also reported the upregulation of 275 genes and the downregulation of 442 genes in early DCV infected S2 cells (Zhu et al., 2013). Some of these genes are PRRs (e.g. PGRPs), AMPs (attacin, cecropin), or components of immune signaling pathways, particularly IMD and Jak-STAT pathways. The function of most of these genes in antiviral defense remains to be addressed.

## 2.2.a. The Toll pathway

# Characterisation of the Toll signaling pathway in the context of bacterial and fungal infections

The Toll pathway is well characterized as the major immune response mounted to defend against fungi and Gram-positive bacteria (Hoffmann, 2003). Pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) from Gram-positive bacteria, particularly lysine-type peptidoglycan, bind PGRP (-SA, -SD) and GNBP1 (Bischoff et al., 2004; Leulier et al., 2003; Michel et al., 2001). GNBP3 recognizes β-glucans from fungi (Gottar et al., 2006; Mishima et al., 2009). This binding triggers a serine protease cascade that cleaves the extracellular cytokine-like protein Spätzle from pro-protein to functional form. The mature form of Spätzle is the ligand of the transmembrane receptor Toll (Weber et al., 2003), indicating that Toll does not itself function as a recognition receptor of non-self patterns, by contrast to mammalian Toll-like receptors (TLRs). The intracytoplasmic TIR (Toll-IL-1 receptor) domain of Toll interacts with an adaptor complex composed of death-domain proteins dMyd88 (drosophila myeloid differentiation factor 88), Tube and Pelle (Sun et al., 2004). The binding of Spätzle to Toll receptor initiates Toll signaling cascade with phosphorylation and degradation of Cactus protein. Cactus is an inhibitor of kB (IkB)-like protein that inhibits the NF-kB-like transcription factors Dorsal and Dif (Lemaitre et al., 1996). The release and degradation of Cactus allows the translocation of Dorsal and Dif in the nucleus where they bind to kB-like sequence motifs to mediate the transcription of AMPs genes (Ip et al., 1993; Rutschmann et al., 2000). A representation of the Drosophila Toll pathway is presented in Figure 5.



Figure 5. The Toll pathway in Drosophila. (adapted from Kingsolver et al., 2013)

## Toll pathway and viral infections

Beside the well-characterized role of the Toll pathway in anti-bacterial and anti-fungal immune response, its involvement in the defense against insect viruses is poorly understood. At present, only one article suggests that the *Drosophila* Toll pathway plays a role in the defense against DXV infection (Zambon et al., 2005). One characteristic of this virus is to induce anoxia sensitivity (Teninges et al., 1979). Based on this viral specificity, the authors performed a screen to identify *Drosophila* mutants with altered sensitivity to DXV infection, using anoxia-induced death as readout. Dif mutants have higher DXV titer and succumb more rapidly than wild-type flies to DXV infection. Both DXV and *Escherichia Coli (E.coli)* 

(Gram-negative bacteria) induce similar expression levels of the Toll and IMD pathway target genes. Since the expression of AMPs is a hallmark of the activation of Toll and IMD pathways, the authors proposed that both pathways are activated in response to DXV infection. However, a null-mutant for Relish displayed similar resistance and viral titre than wild-type flies to DXV infection, suggesting that only the Toll pathway contributes to the defense against DXV infection. A mutant in whom the Toll pathway is constitutively activated ( $Tl^{10b}$  mutant) displays a decreased viral titer compared to wild-type flies. As the expression of single AMPs does not have a direct antiviral activity on DXV infection, they propose that the sensitivity of Toll pathway mutants may result of a defect in the Toll-dependent cellular response mediated by hemocytes. However,  $Tl^{10b}$  mutant flies were as sensitive as Dif mutants to CO<sub>2</sub> exposure. This suggests that DXV titer may not affect the outcome of the infection. In addition, the Toll pathway is also involved in the control of DENV infection in *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes (Xi et al., 2008), indicating a potently antiviral role in insects.

#### Drosophila Toll receptors

In contrast to mammals, only one out of 9 Toll receptors identified in Drosophila melanogaster was shown to play an important role in innate immunity (Bilak et al., 2003). Whereas each TLR in mammals is specialized to recognize a specific non-self pattern, this one Drosophila Toll is able to respond to broad signals from bacteria, fungi and viral infections. Toll-mutant flies are more susceptible to DXV infection (Zambon et al., 2005). In addition, a recent study showed the involvement of Drosophila Toll-7, but not other Toll proteins, in the recognition and restriction of VSV infection in vitro and in vivo (Nakamoto et al., 2012). Surprisingly, Toll-7 activation by VSV does not seem to signal via the canonical Toll pathway, even if Drosomycin is 2-fold induced by VSV infection in cells, as mutations in Myd88 and Dif do not affect VSV replication in vivo. The authors showed that Toll-7 recognizes VSV virions at the plasma membrane and induces autophagy, a pathway reported to be involved in antiviral defense against VSV infection (Shelly et al., 2009). More recently, Toll-8 was shown to negatively regulate the expression of AMPs by antagonizing the IMD pathway in the respiratory epithelium of Drosophila (Akhouayri et al., 2011). It remains to be determined whether additional Toll receptors are involved in antiviral response. Four Drosophila Toll receptors, including Toll and Toll-7, are transcriptionaly induced upon viral infection (Xu et al., 2012).

# 2.2.b. The IMD/TNF-R pathway

#### Characterisation of the IMD signaling pathway in the context of bacterial infection

Another immune signaling pathway, distinct of the Toll pathway, was reported to control Drosophila host defense (Lemaitre et al., 1995). The IMD pathway is activated by the diaminopimelic acid peptidoglycan (DAP-PGN) present at the surface of Gram-negative bacteria. DAP-PGN is sensed by the pattern recognition protein PGRP-LE, a secreted PGRP, and the transmembrane receptor PGRP-LC (Choe et al., 2002; Gottar et al., 2002; Hoffmann, 2003; Kaneko et al., 2004; Leulier et al., 2003; Rämet et al., 2002). In addition to PGRP-SA sensor for Toll pathway, PGRP-LC and PGRP-LE, both activating IMD pathway, are the three PGRPs out of thirteen identified in Drosophila (Werner et al., 2000), that are involved in the immune response. The binding of DAP-PGN to PGRP-LCs triggers the recruitment of IMD, a death domain adaptor protein similar to mammalian receptor interacting protein (RIP). Then, IMD associates with drosophila Fas-associated-death domain (dFADD) protein (Georgel et al., 2001; Naitza et al., 2002) which in turn interacts with the caspase Dredd (Leulier et al., 2000). Dredd subsequently binds and cleaves the phosphorylated form of Relish, a NF-kB-like transcription factor, thereby allowing its translocation in the nucleus to induce the expression of AMP genes (Ertürk-Hasdemir et al., 2009; Stöven et al., 2000; Stoven et al., 2003). Relish is phosphorylated by the *Drosophila* IkB kinase complex (Kenny and Ird5), which is activated by the mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase (MAPKKK) drosophila TGF-beta activated kinase 1 (dTak1) (Lu et al., 2001; Vidal et al., 2001). A representation of the IMD signaling pathway is presented in Figure 6. Null-mutant flies for most of the components of the IMD pathway are hypersensitive to Gram-negative bacterial infections. This immune deficiency phenotype is the result of an inability to induce the expression of AMP genes, and thereby to control bacterial infections (Ferrandon et al., 2007; Lemaitre and Hoffmann, 2007). Interestingly, the IMD pathway can induce the expression of cytosqueletal proteins through activation of the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) signaling pathway, suggesting that both antimicrobial defenses and tissue repair processes may act in concert to recover from a pathogen infection (Boutros et al., 2002).



Figure 6. The IMD pathway in *Drosophila*. (adapted from Kingsolver et al., 2013)

## IMD pathway and viral infections

An antiviral role for the IMD pathway is suggested for CrPV infection (Costa et al., 2009). Fly mutants for the core components of the IMD pathway, except Imd-deficient flies, are more sensitive to CrPV infection and display higher CrPV RNA levels. To explain the discrepancy observed with Imd-mutants, it is proposed that Imd gene itself is dispensable for the defense against CrPV infection. CrPV infection does not induce the expression of Toll or IMD-mediated AMPs genes, suggesting that AMPs do not play a role in the IMD-mediated antiviral response. Other groups including ours reported that null-mutant flies for the IMD-mediated NF-kB transcription factor Relish are resistant to DCV, SINV and DXV infections (data not shown, Deddouche et al., 2008; Zambon et al., 2005). It contrasts with results from Costa and colleagues that show the importance of IMD pathway to control this infection. However, all flies from their study were infected by Wolbachia that is known to affect the

susceptibility of flies to CrPV infection (Hedges et al., 2008). Therefore, we cannot rule out that the presence of Wolbachia could have affected the results presented in this study.

Overall, it is clear that there is a gap between our knowledge of the role of IMD and Toll pathways in anti-bacterial and anti-fungal defense, and their role in antiviral immune response. Moreover, viral activators and antiviral effectors of these pathways need to be characterized.

#### **2.2.c. AMPs**

#### **Characterization of AMPs**

AMPs are a key component of the innate defenses in vertebrates and invertebrates (Hancock and Scott, 2000). Insects fight against pathogens by synthesizing a broad spectrum of AMPs targeting bacteria and fungi (Hoffmann et al., 1996). They are mostly synthesized by the fat body, an analogue of the mammalian liver, and secreted into the hemolymph to kill invading microorganisms. Around one hundred AMPs have been characterized in insects, and at least seven types of AMPs, plus isoforms, have been identified in Drosophila (Hoffmann and Reichhart, 1997; Hoffmann et al., 1996). They are divided in two classes: the cyclic peptides and the linear peptides. The cyclic AMPs include insect Defensins (anti-Grampositive bacteria; (Dimarcq et al., 1994)) and Drosomycin (anti-fungi; (Fehlbaum et al., 1994). The second class of linear AMPs is divided into three families: the Cecropins, the proline-rich peptides and the glycine-rich polypeptides. Cecropins lyse predominantly Gramnegative bacteria by perforing membrane cell wall, but they also have anti-fungal activity (Ekengren and Hultmark, 1999). The proline-rich peptides include Drosocin, an anti-Gramnegative bacteria peptide (Charlet et al., 1996), and Metchikowin that is active against Grampositive bacteria and fungi (Levashina et al., 1995). The glycine-rich family is composed mostly of anti-Gram negative AMPs such as Attacin and Diptericin (Hedengren et al., 2000).

#### Toll and IMD-dependent AMPs expression

Immune-inducible peptides are expressed early after immune challenge, in a range of 15 to 30 min, and persist for one to several days (Gross et al., 1996; Hoffmann et al., 1996). Their expression depends on *Drosophila* NF- $\kappa$ B transcription factors activated by Toll signaling pathway (Dif and Dorsal) and IMD signaling pathway (Relish). Both Dorsal and Dif

can induce the expression of diptericin and cecropin genes (Ip et al., 1993; Petersen et al., 1995). Without the presence of Dorsal, Dif still mediates the induction of drosomycin and defensin (Meng et al., 1999). However, both Dorsal and Dif may have redundant functions for the induction of AMPs (Manfruelli et al., 1999).

#### Importance of AMPs in bacterial versus viral defense

Fly mutants for the IMD or Toll pathway, which do not express AMP genes, are highly sensitive to bacterial or fungal infections, supporting a key role of AMPs to face pathogens (Hedengren et al., 1999; Lemaitre et al., 1996). To address their functional relevance in the immune response of Drosophila, AMP genes were expressed under the control of the UAS-Gal4 system in immune deficient flies (Tzou et al., 2002). The constitutive expression of a single AMP such as Drosomycin or Defensin is sufficient to rescue the sensitivity of flies deficient for both the IMD and Toll pathways to some microbial infections. Tzou and colleagues were the first to clearly demonstrate in vivo the role of each AMP in host defense. However, the diversity of AMP-encoding genes suggests that they may act in cooperation to clear infections. This hypothesis has not been addressed experimentally. In 2005, another group reproduced this experiment in the context of a viral infection (DXV, (Zambon et al., 2005). However, none of the seven Drosophila AMPs tested was alone sufficient to confer resistance to DXV infection. Finally, even if the Toll and IMD pathways were shown to be activated after DXV infection, AMPs may not be antiviral effectors in Drosophila or, as suggested before, may act in cooperation together. By contrast to DXV infection, SIGMAV and DCV infection significantly but only weakly induced the expression of AMPs genes (Dostert et al., 2005; Tsai et al., 2008). Moreover, no AMPs were detected in the hemolymph of DCV-infected flies (Sabatier et al., 2003), nor in CrPV-infected flies (Costa et al., 2009). It suggests that flies may not use AMPs to counter Dicistroviruses infection.

Transcriptional profiles were performed in *Drosophila* after infection by DCV (oral infection, (Roxström-Lindquist et al., 2004); intrathoracic injection (Dostert et al., 2005) and DXV infection (Zambon et al., 2005). As can be expected, the fly immune response to DCV infection differs depending on the infection route. For example, virus-induced RNA-1 (vir-1) is highly induced after intrathoracic injection of DCV but not in the case of an oral infection. A comparison of the profile of immune response genes in SIGMAV, DCV and DXV infected

flies has been reported (table 3, (Tsai et al., 2008)). However, it does not bring a clear view of immune genes required for viral defense. Only Attacin-A was clearly upregulated by the three viruses. Upregulation of other AMPs seemed virus-specific, as defensin for DXV. The role of other genes induced after viral infections remains to be characterized.

## 2.2.d. The Jak-STAT pathway

The Jak-STAT pathway is important for *Drosophila* development (Hou et al., 2002). The unpaired (upd) family of secreted factors comprises three members (upd1, upd2 and upd3) that are able to activate the receptor Domeless (Agaisse et al., 2003; Harrison et al., 1998; Hombría et al., 2005), which controls the activation of the kinase Hopscotch (Brown et al., 2001; Chen et al., 2002). The kinase Hopscotch (Hop) recruits and phosphorylates STATs proteins that are translocated in the nucleus to induce the transcription of STAT-responsive genes. The activation of the Jak-STAT pathway is negatively regulated by proteins such as suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) and Drosophila protein inhibitor of activated STAT (dPIAS) (Betz et al., 2001; Callus and Mathey-Prevot, 2002). The Drosophila Jak-STAT signaling pathway is represented in Figure 7. Its role in the defense against bacterial infections in insects has been reported. The expression of Jak-STAT-induced genes is observed after microbial challenges in Drosophila, as Turandot M (TotM) and CG11501 (Boutros et al., 2002). Septic injury also induces the expression of the cytokine-like Upd3 by hemocytes to activate the Jak-STAT pathway in the fat body (Agaisse et al., 2003). The thiolesther protein 1 (Tep1), a complement-like protein in Drosophila, is upregulated through the activation of the Jak-STAT and Toll pathway after bacterial infection (Lagueux et al., 2000). Anopheles mosquitoes may also activate the Jak-STAT pathway in response to microbial infection (Barillas-Mury et al., 1999). For viruses, it is the transcriptional profile of DCV infected flies that allowed the identification of this third innate antiviral pathway in Drosophila (Dostert et al., 2005). Around 90 genes were upregulated during DCV infection, but not microbial infection, such as *vir-1* gene. Interestingly, the expression of *vir-1* was also induced in FHV-infected flies, but was unaffected during stress responses (Ekengren et al., 2001), indicating that this induction is a signature of viral infection. The expression of vir-1 is dependent on the Jak-STAT pathway, as its promoter contains an active STAT-binding site. Accordingly, Jak-STAT-deficient flies are more sensitive to viral infection and display higher viral titre. However, loss and gain-of-function experiments indicate that vir-1 is not an antiviral effector because the knockdown or overexpression of vir-1 does not affect viral infection (data not shown, Dostert et al., 2005). This result was consistent with the absence of vir-1 promoter induction in the tissues infected by DCV, as the fat body, but rather in the neighboring tissues (ventral epidermis). The antiviral effectors mediating the antiviral activity of the Jak-STAT pathway remain to be elucidated. By comparison to *Drosophila*, the Jak-STAT pathway is also important to control DENV infection in *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes (Souza-Neto et al., 2009). Moreover, two putative Jak-STAT-induced Dengue virus restriction factors (DVRF1 and DVRF2) were reported to control DENV infection.



Figure 7. The Jak-STAT pathway in Drosophila. (adapted from Kingsolver et al., 2013)

# 2.2.e. Autophagy

Autophagy is an evolutionarily conserved pathway by which damaged organelles are recycled in a lysosomal-dependent process. Recent studies have involved this mechanism as a component of the antiviral innate immunity, allowing the elimination of multiple pathogens, including bacteria, parasites and viruses (Richetta and Faure, 2013). The hallmark of autophagy is the presence of the double-membrane autophagosome but its turnover is rapid so that it can be difficult to observe (Deretic and Levine, 2009). This autophagic organelle rises with the envelopment of cytoplasmic material by an isolation membrane, also named phagophore. Its maturation into autolysosome is driven by fusion with lysosome, thereby allowing degradation of the engulfed content by lysosomal enzymes. Autophagy genes and regulators are conserved from mammals to insects, including *Drosophila* (Moy and Cherry, 2013; Zirin and Perrimon, 2010). The bacteria Listeria monocytogenes is recognized by the pattern recognition receptor PGRP-LE that activates autophagy to control bacteria growth in a Toll and IMD-independent manner (Yano et al., 2008). Similarly, activation of autophagy (by starvation or rapamycin treatment) also controls Wolbachia infection in Aedes albopictus mosquito cells and Drosophila cells and flies (Voronin et al., 2012). In Drosophila, autophagy was recently reported to be essential for antiviral defense against VSV (Shelly et al., 2009). The knockdown of core autophagy genes increased viral infection in Drosophila S2 cells and flies and also the mortality in flies. The PI3K/Akt signaling pathway, which normally regulates autophagy depending on nutrients availability, also controls this antiviral response. Unexpectedly, the glycoprotein G of VSV was sufficient to activate the antiviral autophagy process. This unusual PAMP is recognized by the PRR Toll-7 to initiate autophagy (Nakamoto et al., 2012). The signaling pathway linking this PRR to the activation of autophagy remains to be elucidated.

An overall picture of the inducible antiviral pathways in *Drosophila* is showed in **Figure 8**.



Figure 8. Inducible antiviral pathways in Drosophila. (adapted from Xu and Cherry, 2014).

# 2.3. Parallel with innate antiviral immunity in mammals

#### Toll in Drosophila / IL-1R-TLR in mammals

There are remarkable differences between immune responses in *Drosophila* and mammals. First, Toll does not directly sense invading pathogens in insects by contrast to TLRs in mammals. Indeed, the cytokine spätzle binds the Toll receptor to activate the Toll pathway whereas mammalian TLRs are activated directly by the pathogen. Secondly, two distinct signaling pathways are required in *Drosophila* to defend against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria whereas a single TLR-dependent pathway is sufficient in mammals. In both insects and mammals, immune signaling pathways lead to the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B family members that induce the expression of immune-response genes. However, NF- $\kappa$ B activation in *Drosophila* is either Toll dependent (Dif and Dorsal) or IMD dependent (Relish), depending on the nature of the bacteria. Interestingly, the cytokine IL-1 binds and activates

interleukin-1 receptor (IL-1R) in mammals, leading to the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B and promoting inflammatory responses involved in antiviral defense. This strategy can be compared to the situation in *Drosophila*, where the cytokine Spätzle activates the Toll pathway (Hoffmann, 2003). Overall, the Toll signaling pathway shares some features with the mammalian signaling cascades downstream of IL-1R and the TLRs.

#### IMD in *Drosophila /* TNFR in mammals

The IMD pathway is similar to the tumour-necrosis factor-receptor (TNFR) pathway in mammals. They also display some differences. The first one is the activation of the pathway. PGRPs activate *Drosophila* IMD pathway and they are conserved from insects to mammals. At present, four PGRPs have been identified in different tissues in humans (Liu et al., 2001), and 12 PGRPs in *Drosophila*. Interestingly, one PGRP from the moth *Trichoplusia ni* is conserved in humans and binds peptidoglycans (Kang et al., 1998). However, its role in human innate immunity is still unexplored. In insects, PGRPs circulate in the hemolymph, recognize peptidoglycans present on the bacterial cell wall and activate the IMD and Toll pathways. A mouse PGRP was reported to be expressed in neutrophils and inhibit the growth of Gram-positive bacteria, but also some functions of neutrophils and macrophages (phagocytosis, cytokine induction). By contrast to the role of PGRPs in *Drosophila*, it is proposed that mammalian PGRP may function as an antibacterial intracellular protein present in neutrophils (Liu et al., 2000). Secondly, as mentioned above, the *Drosophila* IkB kinase (IKK) complex acts on Relish in the IMD pathway but not on Dif-Dorsal in the Toll pathway. By contrast, the mammalian IKK complex is required for most NF-κB activations.

Overall, the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B in *Drosophila* after pathogen infection relies on two distinct pathways (Toll and IMD) that are composed of molecules that are homologous or related to ones of TLR and TNFR mammalian signaling pathways activated during innate immune response.

#### RNAi in Drosophila versus interferon in mammals

Even if some immune signaling pathways have homologies with their mammalian counterparts, one of the most important vertebrate innate antiviral pathways, the type I interferon (IFN-I) system, is clearly unique to vertebrates. The RNAi pathway is the major antiviral arm in insects to defend against a broad panel of RNA and DNA viruses. RNAi

pathway is functional in mammalian cells (Elbashir et al., 2001) but it has long been assumed to have little or no role in vertebrate innate immunity (Cullen, 2006). Whereas v-siRNAs are easily detected in infected plants and invertebrates, no viral siRNAs were identified after cloning and sequencing of small RNAs from viral infected mammalian cells, but several viral miRNAs have been identified after DNA virus infection (Pfeffer et al., 2005). By contrast, a single viral siRNA was identified in human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1)-infected cells and its sequence targets the Rev response element (RRE) of viral mRNAs, involved in their nuclear export (Bennasser et al., 2005). However, this finding was strongly criticized as in vitro experiments were performed with a too much perfect artificial substrate for Dicer, compared to the natural HIV-1 RRE RNA substrate. More recently, small RNAs with some features of v-siRNAs were identified in mammalian cells infected by diverse viruses but their abundance was remarkably lower compared to invertebrates (Parameswaran et al., 2010). Whether these small RNAs mediate an antiviral response in mammalian cells remained to be determined. Some studies reported that RNAi controls retrotransposition of long interspersed nuclear element-1 (LINE-1) in human cells (Soifer et al., 2005; Yang and Kazazian, 2006). Moreover, the transfection of siRNAs protects mammalian cells against viral infections, suggesting that RNA silencing can be an antiviral mechanism in mammalian cells (Gitlin et al., 2002). Artificially induced RNAi responses in mammals can confer protection against pathogenic viruses (McCaffrey et al., 2002), but it has long been debated whether mammalian cells can mount a protective RNAi response naturally. Two recent studies now provide a support for an antiviral role of RNAi in mammals (Li et al., 2013c; Maillard et al., 2013). Maillard and colleagues identified v-siRNAs in mouse embryonic stem cells (mESCs) infected with encephalomyocarditis virus (EMCV). The depletion of Dicer inhibits the production of v-siRNAs but surprisingly, it does not increase viral replication. The production of v-siRNAs is decreased after differentiation of mESCs cells. The higher ability of undifferentiated mESCs cells to produce v-siRNAs compared to somatic cells remains unclear. Nodamura virus (NoV) deficient for B2 VSR, but not wild-type virus, triggered the production of v-siRNAs in mESCs cells (Maillard et al., 2013) and baby hamster kidney (BHK) fibroblasts cells, plus in newborn mice (Li et al., 2013c), leading to the control of the infection. Indeed, the replication of B2-deficient NoV was rescued by expression of B2, but also of VSR from Ebola virus (VP35). This suggests that VSRs mask the effective role of RNAi in antiviral response, which may explain that previous studies did not reveal the antiviral role of RNAi in mammalian somatic cells. The presence of VSRs in mammalian

viruses or the generation of viral RNAs with an RNAi suppressor activity suggests an antiviral function of RNAi in mammals. Indeed, the sfRNA of WNV and DENV suppresses the RNAi pathway in both insects and mammals (Schnettler et al., 2012). Some mammalian viruses encode protein with a VSR activity: the non-structural NS1 protein of human Influenza A Virus (IAV) binds siRNAs and suppresses RNA silencing in plants and insects Drosophila (Bucher et al., 2004; Li et al., 2004). However, even if the authors hypothesize that NS1 may inhibit RNAi during influenza infection in mammalian cells, there is no experimental evidence. Moreover, proteins that randomly bind dsRNAs such as E. Coli RNase III can also suppress RNAi in plants (Lichner et al., 2003). This is surely not their primary aim, as NS1 only requires the dsRNA binding domain for its VSR activity (Li et al., 2004). This raises the question whether the VSR activity from NS1 comes from a non-specific mechanism. It is even more intriguing that the binding of dsRNAs is a common characteristic of all VSRs proteins identified in mammalian viruses. Moreover, Influenza A mutants lacking NS1 protein replicate better in IFN-deficient cells or mice, but not when IFN response is effective in wild-type conditions (García-Sastre et al., 1998). This suggests that the main function of NS1 is to antagonize the IFN response and that the VSR activity of NS1 is dispensable for viral pathogenicity. The same criticism can be applied in regard to VSR activity of the dsRNA binding protein E3L of Vaccinia virus (Li et al., 2004). Adenovirus viral associated (VA1) RNA, highly expressed during infection, acts as a competitive inhibitor of Dicer (Andersson et al., 2005). Overall, the contribution of the RNAi pathway in mammals in regard to the strong antiviral response mediated by IFN-I remains to be elucidated. At present, it is proposed that RNAi may be complementary to IFN in undifferentiated ESCs cells, which are deficient for IFN inducibility and sensitivity (Burke et al., 1978). It seems that RNAi does not play a major role in antiviral defense in mammals compared to plants and invertebrates. Despite this contrast between insect and mammal immune systems, both RNAi and IFN response are triggered by the same non-self pattern, the cytoplasmic viral dsRNAs.

#### Toll and autophagy

Several mammalian TLRs can trigger autophagy in macrophages (Delgado et al., 2008; Shi and Kehrl, 2008). For example, TLR4 activation by its ligand Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) induces autophagy in murine and human macrophages (Xu et al., 2007). TLR8 activates autophagy in a vitamine-D-dependent manner to inhibit HIV infection in

macrophages (Campbell and Spector, 2012). In mammals, viral infections can trigger autophagy after induction by several PRRs such as TLR binding, dsRNA binding on protein kinase R (PKR), viral ssRNA binding on nucleotide oligomerization domain 2 (NOD2), and maybe DNA sensors (Richetta and Faure, 2013). However, the contribution of autophagy in antiviral defense remains to be elucidated in mammals. In *Drosophila*, Toll-7 activation triggers autophagy that protects against VSV infection (Nakamoto et al., 2012; Shelly et al., 2009). In plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), VSV RNAs are recognized by TLR7 upon autophagosome formation (Lee et al., 2007). There is no genetic evidence that autophagy restricts viral replication in mammals but the connection between TLRs activation and autophagy is conserved in *Drosophila* and mammals. The signaling pathway from PRR recognition to autophagy activation is currently unknown in both *Drosophila* and mammals.

# 2.3.a. Nucleic acid sensors: pattern recognition receptors

An arsenal of sensor proteins is present at the plasma membrane, in endosomes or in the cytosol to recognize viruses invading host cells (Shayakhmetov et al., 2010). In mammalian cells, three classes of sensors are involved in virus recognition: TLRs, retinoid acid-inducible gene (RIG)-I-like receptors (RLRs), NOD-like receptors (NLRs) and cytosolic DNA sensors. The host immune recognition system is based on a feature that is shared among all viruses: a genome composed of nucleic acids. The binding of viral nucleic acids with these sensors activate the major innate antiviral defense system in mammals: the IFN-I pathway (**Figure 9**).

**Toll-like receptors** comprise a family of at least 11 members (Takeda and Akira, 2005). TLR2, TLR3, TLR4, TLR7 and TLR9 are involved in the recognition of different types of viral components, and together they provide enough coverage to detect most types of viruses. TLRs are expressed on key sentinel cells of the innate immune system: macrophages and dendritic cells. TLR2 and TLR4 are present on the plasma membrane and can recognize viral envelope protein on the cell surface. TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9 are located in endosomes and recognize viral dsRNA, ssRNA and unmethylated CpG DNA respectively. Activation of all TLRs converge towards induction of IFN-I, through a signaling cascade involving IFN regulatory factors, and the synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$  via NF- $\kappa$ B activation (Shayakhmetov et al., 2010).

(RIG)-I-like receptors family comprises the cytoplasmic viral RNA sensors RIG-I, melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5 (MDA5) and laboratory of genetics and physiology-2 (LGP2) (Kang et al., 2002; Rothenfusser et al., 2005; Yoneyama et al., 2004). This class of sensors is expressed ubiquitously and is localized in the cytosol where it detects viral nucleic acids upon infection. They are strongly induced by IFNs upon viral infection. The DExD/H box RNA helicase domain of RLRs is highly similar to the one of mammalian Dicer. RIG-I binds short dsRNAs and 5'triphosphate-ssRNAs whereas MDA5 binds long dsRNAs (review on RLRs in (Goubau et al., 2013; Shayakhmetov et al., 2010; Takeuchi and Akira, 2009)). RIG-I and MDA5 detect distinct spectrum of viruses (Kato et al., 2006; Yoneyama et al., 2008). Mice deficient for RIG-I and MDA5 are highly susceptible to viral infections, underlying the importance of these molecules for host antiviral response (Kato et al., 2006). Both RIG-I and MDA5 rely on the adaptor protein IFN-β promoter stimulator-1 (IPS-1), that triggers a signaling cascade leading to the activation of type I IFN. IPS-1 is also known by the names virus-induced signaling adapter (VISA), mitochondrial antiviralsignaling protein (MAVS) and CARD adapter inducing interferon- $\beta$  (CARDIF). The role of LGP2 in cytosolic RNA sensing remains unclear. By contrast to RIG-I and MDA5, LGP2 does not have the caspase activation and recruitment domain (CARD) in N-terminal, normally required to couple downstream signaling adaptors. LGP2 has no signaling capacity. It is proposed that LGP2 is a negative regulator of RIG-I and MDA5 signaling by competing with these molecules for the engagement with viral RNAs. Others DExD/H-box helicases have been involved in DNA sensing such as DDX41 (Zhang et al., 2011), DHX9 and DHX36 (Kim et al., 2010).

**NOD-like receptors** family comprises a large number of cytosolic proteins. NLR activation leads to MAPK and NF- $\kappa$ B activation, and also to inflammasome formation that can activate the IL-1R signaling pathway. NOD-like receptor family protein 3 (NLRP3) can sense viral DNA in macrophages. DNA-dependent activator of IFN-regulatory factors (DAI) senses viral dsDNA to activate type I IFN. (reviewed in Shayakhmetov et al., 2010)

**DNA sensors** also initiate the IFN-I system because the presence of DNA in aberrant location such as the cytoplasm and endosomes is recognized as a non-self or danger signal and triggers immune activation (Paludan and Bowie, 2013). In addition to TLR9 on

endosomes, many other DNA sensors are present in the cytosol such as DAI, IFI16 (gammainterferon-inductible protein 16) (Unterholzner et al., 2010) and AIM2 (Absent in melanoma 2). Loss- and gain-of-function experiments revealed that DAI is a dsDNA sensor that activates innate immune responses, including IFN-I (Takaoka et al., 2007). The intracellular signaling triggered by cytosolic DNA sensing depends on the central adaptator STING (stimulator of IFN genes) to activate IFN-I (Burdette and Vance, 2013; Ishikawa and Barber, 2008). STING-deficient mice are hypersensitive to HSV-1 infection (Ishikawa and Barber, 2008). Recently, the group of Z. Chen observed that DNA sensing was coupled with the synthesis of cyclic-di-GMP-AMP (cGAMP) by the enzyme cGAMP synthetase (cGAS), leading to the induction of IFN in a STING-dependent manner (Sun et al., 2013b; Wu et al., 2013). They suggest that the key DNA sensor is the cytosolic cyclase cGAS that generates the second messenger cGAMP that binds and activates STING to induce IFN-I and other cytokines. They further demonstrated that cGAS is essential to trigger innate antiviral responses against retroviruses such as HIV, simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) and murine leukemia virus (MLV) (Gao et al., 2013). Interestingly, it was reported that cGAMP can be transferred from producing cells to naïve neighboring cells through gap junctions to trigger STING activation and promote antiviral immunity in these cells (Ablasser et al., 2013).

# 2.3.b. Type I interferon pathway

The viral nucleic acid sensors RLRs and TLRs trigger an intracellular signaling cascade, leading to the secretion of IFN-I and also of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. IFN-I are produced by all cells in the organism: innate immune cells (dendritic cells (strong producer), macrophages) and non immune cells as fibroblasts. Pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines lead to inflammation and recruitment of cells involved in adaptive immunity such as lymphocytes. IFN-I response attracts and activates natural killer cells ant cytotoxic T cells, both major effector cell populations that eliminate infected cells (Stetson and Medzhitov, 2006). Thereby, IFN-I is among the first line of defense during viral infections. The secretion of IFNs amplifies and spreads the response to surrounding uninfected cells (**Figure 9**). The binding of IFN-I on their receptor activates the Jak-STAT signaling pathway. The dimerization of IFN receptor at the plasma membrane initiates a tyrosine phosphorylation cascade involving the Janus kinase (Jak) family, resulting in the dimerisation of the phosphorylated STAT1 and STAT2. Then, activated STATs interact with

IFN-regulatory factor 9 (IRF-9) to form the IFN-stimulated gene factor-3 (ISGF-3) complexe that translocates in the nucleus to activate the transcription of hundreds of genes, named Interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs). They have pleiotropic functions and include antiviral effectors such as PKR and the 2'5'-oligoadenylate synthetase (Der et al., 1998). Many of these genes encode proteins that have a direct antiviral activity and participate to intrinsic innate antiviral immunity.



Figure 9. The type I interferon response.



# **Intrinsic antiviral immunity**

Intrinsic antiviral immunity relies on the action of proteins that recognize specific viral components and block viral infection immediately and directly. These proteins are named restriction factors or intrinsic antiviral factors. More generally, the term restriction factor could be attributed to any protein whose the major biological function is to inhibit the infectious cycle of a virus. The cell-intrinsic antiviral defense creates an antiviral state prior to infection, and so before the onset of the IFN response in vertebrates. Indeed, restriction factors display a constitutive basal level of expression in most types of cells and tissues as observed by microarray analysis for Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing catalytic polypeptide 3 (APOBEC3) genes (Refsland et al., 2010) or Tetherin (Erikson et al., 2011). Additionally, they can be induced by viral infection through IFN signaling to amplify their antiviral activity and further establish the cell-intrinsic antiviral immunity (Yan and Chen, 2012). Many of the restriction factors that have been characterized in mammals are induced by IFN, which is somehow expected as their major activity is to fight viruses. It is probably necessary for the host that some restriction factors are upregulated and active only upon infection, such as PKR and RNase L that display a broad and strong antiviral restriction against a large spectrum of viruses, but also a detrimental effect for the host. The antiviral activity of restriction factors is demonstrated by loss- and gain-of-function experiments: the knockdown or overexpression of a restriction factor respectively increases or decreases viral infectivity. In vertebrates, a large panel of restriction factors has been characterized, covering inhibition of all steps of viral infection (Figure 10). Most characterized viral restriction factors were classified depending on the step of the viral life cycle that they target and will be described hereafter.



Figure 10. Cell-intrinsic antiviral immunity in mammals.

# **3.1. Viral restriction factors in mammals**

# 3.1.a. Inhibition of viral entry

### Interferon-inducible transmembrane proteins (IFITMs)

IFITMs are IFN inducible genes encoding intrinsic plasma membrane proteins that restrict viral entry (reviewed in (Diamond and Farzan, 2013; Perreira et al., 2013). IFITMs possess two Transmembranes (TMs) domains. The IFITMs are small proteins (around 130 amino acids) composed of two TMs domains separated by a highly conserved intra-cellular loop. The first TM domain and the intracellular loop define the cluster of differentiation (CD) 225 domain that is important for antiviral activity (John et al., 2013). The human IFITM locus is composed of four functional genes (IFITM1, IFITM2, IFITM3 and IFITM5) and a pseudogene (IFITM4p). IFITMs display a basal expression level in cells. IFITM1, IFITM2 and IFITM3 were first identified in a siRNA genomic screen for IAV-dependency factors (Brass et al., 2009). They inhibit the early steps of IAV, but also of flaviviruses DENV and WNV replication, but not MLV replication (Brass et al., 2009). The depletion or overexpression of IFITM3 respectively increases and inhibits IAV replication. Hemagglutinin (HA)-pseudotyped retroviruses are inhibited by IFITMs whereas wild-type retrovirus are not, indicating that IFITMs target the IAV entry. The entry processes of Marburg virus (MARV), Ebola virus (EBOV) and severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus (SARS-CoV) are restricted by IFITMs (Huang et al., 2011). Infection by MLV is not affected by IFITMs but MLV-pseudotyped with the entry proteins of EBOV, MARV, IAV is antagonized by IFITMs. Furthermore, viral fusion assays indicated that HA and VSV-G pseudoparticles are unable to release their content in the cytosol of cells overexpressing IFITM3 (Feeley et al., 2011). These results were the first to indicate that IFITMs prevent viral-host membrane fusion. The depletion and overexpression of IFITM2 and IFITM3, but not IFITM1, respectively enhances and restricts RVFV infection (Mudhasani et al., 2013). IFITMs also restrict other members of Bunyaviridae family, including LACV. In the case of RVFV infection, IFITM2 and IFITM3 do not affect the viral binding and entry into cells but a step before the replication, suggesting an inhibition of viral membrane fusion and release of ribonucleoproteins (RNPs) into the cytoplasm. Accordingly, another recent study claimed that IFITMs restrict viral membrane fusion (Li et al., 2013a). The authors used the properties of diverse viral fusion proteins to look at the effect of IFITM overexpression on the formation of syncytia and cell-cell fusion process. IFITM3 antiviral activity is negatively regulated by monomethylation on Lysine 88, directed by the lysine methyltransferase SET7 (Shan et al., 2013). Interestingly, this methylation is promoted by VSV and IAV infection, probably as a counteracting strategy.

## Friend-virus susceptibility gene 1 (Fv1)

The murine Fv1 gene was shown to confer resistance to MLVs (Wolf and Goff, 2008). MLVs were classified depending of their ability to cause disease in different strains of mice: **N**-tropic MLVs are able to infect NIH mice but not BALB/C mice, whereas **B**-tropic MLVs infect **B**ALB/C mice but not NIH mice. Thus, two major alleles of Fv1 were described:  $Fv1^n$ that restricts B-tropic MLV but not N-tropic MLV and  $Fv1^b$  allele that restricts N-tropic MLV but not B-tropic MLV.  $Fv1^{n/b}$  heterozygote mice are resistant to both N and B-tropic viruses. Surprisingly, this gene has similarities with the Gag (Group-specic antigen) protein of a member of the endogenous retrovirus-like elements (ERV-L) family (Best et al., 1996). Fv1 gene encodes a capsid-like protein. The restriction of MLV replication by Fv1 may require its interaction with the viral capsid protein (Bishop et al., 2001; Bock et al., 2000). To date, there is no direct evidence for binding of Fv1 to capsid, except genetic studies that determined amino acids (AAs) positions required for tropism-specific Fv1 restriction. The Fv1 tropism is determined by the nature of the AA at position 110 in the viral capsid of retroviruses (Kozak and Chakraborti, 1996).

#### Tripartite motif protein isoform 5 alpha (TRIM5α)

An Fv1-like restriction to N-tropic virus infection was observed in some non-murine cells, including human cells (Towers et al., 2000). Similarly to the situation in mice, a virus mutated at the position 110 in the viral capsid is able to bypass this Fv1-like restriction in non-murine cells, indicating that the restriction is determined by sequences within the capsid protein. This unknown restriction factor was first named Resistance factor 1 (REF1) in humans and Lentivirus susceptibility factor 1 (Lv1) in monkeys and then identified as the gene TRIM5 $\alpha$  in a screen for factors mediating HIV-1 resistance (Keckesova et al., 2004; Stremlau et al., 2004). TRIM5 $\alpha$  has no sequence homology to the Fv1 gene but binds to the same region of the capsid, around position 110. TRIM5a is a member of tripartite motif family (TRIM). This motif is present at the N-terminus and contains a Really Interesting New Gene (RING) domain, a B-box domain and a coiled-coil domain (Nisole et al., 2005). The Cterminus of the protein contains the B30.2 domain that binds the viral capsid of HIV-1 to restrict viral infection (Stremlau et al., 2004; Yap et al., 2005). Its sequence determines the specificity of TRIM5 $\alpha$  for retroviruses. The variation of TRIM5 $\alpha$  sequences between species, specifically in the B30.2 domain, leads to differences in the ability to restrict different retroviruses (Hatziioannou et al., 2004). TRIM5a restricts retrovirus infection early, prior to

reverse transcription, probably during the process of uncoating (Stremlau et al., 2004; Yan and Chen, 2012). The presence of an E3 ubiquitin ligase domain in TRIM5 $\alpha$  (the RING domain) suggested that this protein mediates the proteasomal degradation of viral proteins, but mutations in this domain or the inhibition of proteasome activity do not abolish TRIM5αmediated restriction (Javanbakht et al., 2005; Stremlau et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2006). It was proposed that TRIM5α binds the HIV-1 capsid and accelerates the uncoating of the viral capsid, which may affect viral infectivity (Stremlau et al., 2006). TRIM5 $\alpha$  is also proposed to be a sensor of HIV-1 capsid that promotes innate immune signaling leading to Activator protein-1 (AP-1) and NF-κB activation (Pertel et al., 2011). The mechanism of TRIM5αmediated restriction remains to be fully elucidated, even if all the mechanisms described here may contribute to this restriction. Even if it is clearly admitted that TRIM5α binds the capsid protein, this has not been demonstrated experimentally due to technical limitations. This binding seems important according to the discovery of TRIM5α-Cyclophilin A (CypA) (TRIMCyp) fusion protein in old world monkeys to resist HIV-1 infection (Sayah et al., 2004). Indeed, CypA has been reported to interact with the HIV-1 capsid and to facilitate HIV infection (Luban et al., 1993). TRIMCyp uses the ability of CypA to bind the capsid, thereby replacing the B30.2 domain, and inhibits HIV-1 replication. Interestingly, this fusion protein seems to have appeared twice independently among old world monkeys (Virgen et al., 2008; Wilson et al., 2008).

# 3.1.b. Inhibition of viral replication

#### Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing catalytic polypeptide 3 (APOBEC3) family

The APOBEC3 family of cytidine deaminases (cytidine to uridine conversion) contains 7 members in primates (APOBEC3A, B, C, D/E, F, G and H). Surprisingly, only one gene is homolog to this family in mouse (mApobec3), indicating that the APOBEC3 locus has been under strong positive selection during evolution of primates (Sawyer et al., 2004). The discovery of this factor resulted from the observation that some cells were either permissive, either non permissive to an HIV mutant strain defective for the virion infectivity factor (Vif) (Gabuzda et al., 1992). The fusion of permissive and non permissive cells resulted in a non-permissive phenotype, suggesting that a cellular factor only expressed in non permissive cells was able to restrict infection by Vif-deficient HIV but not wild-type HIV (Madani and Kabat, 1998). This factor named CEM15 (and then renamed APOBEC3G) was one of the first

intrinsic antiviral factor identified for HIV-1 (Sheehy et al., 2002). The expression of this factor in permissive cells confers resistance to Vif-deficient HIV infection. Vif counteracts this restriction factor by preventing its incorporation into progeny virions and promoting its ubiquitination, leading to the degradation of APOBEC3G by the proteasome in infected cells (Mehle et al., 2004; Sheehy et al., 2003). Vif may also inhibit the packaging of APOBEC3G into HIV-1 virions (Kao et al., 2003; Mariani et al., 2003). APOBEC3G deaminates cytosine to uracil (C to U) during reverse transcription in the nascent retroviral DNA, generating a high level of Guanine to Adenine (G to A) mutations in the newly synthesized HIV genome, deleterious for the fitness of the virus (Mangeat et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2003). In addition, the presence of U in the viral complementary DNA (cDNA) may be recognized and excised by Uracil-DNA glycosylase generating an abasic site that may be targeted by endonucleases (Harris et al., 2003). However, other studies have challenged this hypothesis as the antiviral effect of APOBEC3G on HIV-1 infectivity is not affected in cell lines deficient for the Uracil-DNA glycosylases UNG (Uracil-N glycosylase) and SMUG1 (Single-Strand-Selective Monofunctional Uracil-DNA Glycosylase 1) (Kaiser and Emerman, 2006; Langlois and Neuberger, 2008). Furthermore, there is mounting evidence that hypermutations may be dispensable for APOBEC-mediated antiviral activity (Holmes et al., 2007a). Indeed, APOBEC proteins mutated in their cytidine deaminase domains are still able to prevent the accumulation of reverse transcripts (Bishop et al., 2006; Holmes et al., 2007b). However, the relevance of this viral restriction mediated by deaminase-defective APOBEC3G is a matter of discussion in vivo, in physiological conditions, as the restriction mediated by the mutants is lower than ones of the full length APOBEC3G (Miyagi et al., 2007). APOBEC3G may also have other antiviral function than deamination, as inhibiting the provirus integration (Mbisa et al., 2007) or viral DNA synthesis (Bishop et al., 2008). APOBEC3G interacts with the nucleocapsid domain of the HIV-1 Gag polyprotein, triggering its incorporation into the HIV-1 particle (Alce and Popik, 2004; Cen et al., 2004). APOBEC3G is also able to restrict Hepatitis B virus (HBV) replication (Turelli et al., 2004). This restriction seems completely independent of the cytidine deaminase activity of APOBEC3G as deaminase-defective APOBEC3G conserve a wild-type level of antiviral activity against HBV and the HBV genome is no edited. The restriction may rather affect the packaging of the viral pregenomic RNA. However, other teams made contradictory observations, revealing that APOBEC3B, 3C, 3F and 3G can edit HBV genome and thereby may affect its replication (Suspène et al., 2005). Overall, the mechanism underlying HIV-1 and HBV restriction by APOBECs proteins
is still under debate. For a review on APOBECs, see (Vieira and Soares, 2013). Additionally, Human Papillomavirus (HPV) and Herpesvirus genomes are edited by APOBEC3 enzymes (Suspène et al., 2011; Vartanian et al., 2008).

#### SAM domain HD domain-containing protein 1 (SAMHD1)

SAMHD1 was identified as responsible of the non-permissiveness of dendritic cells and macrophages to HIV-1 infection (Hrecka et al., 2011; Laguette et al., 2011). Accordingly, permissive cell lines such as Jurkat do not express SAMHD1 whereas dendritic and other myeloid cells highly express SAMHD1. The lentiviral accessory protein Vpx binds and antagonizes SAMHD1-mediated restriction by inducing its ubiquitination by E3 ligases (DCAF1 and DDB-CUL4) and subsequent proteasomal degradation (Hrecka et al., 2011; Laguette et al., 2011). The depletion of SAMHD1 enhances HIV-1 replication whereas its overexpression restricts the infection (Hrecka et al., 2011; Laguette et al., 2011). SAMHD1 comprises a sterile alpha motif (SAM) and a histidine-aspartic (HD) domain. It is proposed that the HD domain displays a deoxyguanosine triphosphate (dGTP)-stimulated triphosphohydrolase activity that converts deoxynucleoside triphosphates (dNTPs) to deoxynucleoside (dN) and inorganic triphosphate. Thus, the depletion of dNTPs pool may restrict HIV-1 infection by inhibiting reverse transcription and viral cDNA synthesis (Goldstone et al., 2011). The expression of the sole HD domain of SAMHD1 is sufficient to restrict HIV-1 infection (White et al., 2013). By contrast, the SAM domain of SAMHD1 is dispensable for its antiviral activity. SAMHD1 has a broad anti-retroviral activity in myeloid cells (macrophages and dendritic cells) (Gramberg et al., 2013). Loss- and gain-of-function experiments indicate that SAMHD1 restricts Herpes Simplex Virus type 1 (HSV-1) replication and this restriction is partially reversed with supply of exogenous deoxynucleosides (Kim et al., 2013). Phosphorylation of SAMHD1 negatively regulates its antiviral function, at least for HIV-1 (Welbourn et al., 2013). Indeed, HSV-1 restriction is not affected by SAMHD1 phosphorylation, by contrast to HIV-1 restriction. Mutations in the SAMHD1 gene are associated with Aicardi-Goutières Syndrome (AGS), an immune disorder characterized by an increased production of IFNs (Rice et al., 2009). Thus, a role of SAMHD1 as negative regulator of the innate immune response has been proposed.

#### Myxovirus resistance (Mx) protein

The IFN-inducible Mx proteins are large Guanosine triphosphatases (GTPases) that have protective effects against a large variety of viruses. Humans have two Mx genes, MxA and MxB (Mx1 and Mx2 in mice) (Aebi et al., 1989). The MxA protein is only cytoplasmic and the MxB protein exhibits different cellular localization depending on the cell type (Haller and Kochs, 2011). The antiviral mechanism of MxA protein remains to be elucidated. At present, it is proposed that MxA protein oligomerizes to form rings around the ribonucleocapsids of different viruses in order to block viral replication (Gao et al., 2011; von der Malsburg et al., 2011). A recent study reported that MxA prevents the transport of viral RNPs (vRNPs) to the nucleus, and thereby blocks IAV replication, which normally occurs in the nucleus (Xiao et al., 2013). However, if the depletion of MxA prevented the retention of vRNPs in the cytoplasm, gain-of-function experiments were not very convincing. It seems that MxA overexpression is not sufficient to retain vRNPs in the cytoplasm in absence of IFN pre-treatment, but rather only if cells are pre-treated with IFN. This may indicate that another ISG is required for this antiviral function of MxA. This strategy of trapping viral components in a place where they become unavailable for the viral infectious cycle seems common to other viruses. MxA blocks the transport of virus nuclecapsids from Thogoto virus into the nucleus, thereby preventing viral transcription (Kochs and Haller, 1999). Similarly, MxA binds the nucleocapsid protein of LACV that is redistributed in perinuclear areas (Kochs et al., 2002). MxA inhibits HBV replication by interacting with hepatitis B core antigen protein that is redistributed in perinuclear compartments (Li et al., 2012). The overexpression of human MxA protein confers resistance to VSV and IAV in a mouse cell line and Measle Virus (MV) and VSV in a human cell line (Schnorr et al., 1993). The inhibitory effect of MxA on VSV infection is directed at the level of viral transcription but the inhibition of MV is post-transcriptional, indicating a virus-specific effect of MxA protein. Mx1-loss-of function and Mx1-gain-of-function experiments in mice indicate that Mx1 plays a role in resistance to an Influenza-like virus (the Dhori virus) (Thimme et al., 1995). Surprisingly, mice and cells overexpressing the human MxA protein are protected from Thogoto virus, but not Dhori virus, infection (Frese et al., 1995; Thimme et al., 1995). The explanation for the difference in MxA, but not Mx1, sensitivity between two tick-borne orthomyxoviruses remains unclear. The overexpression of human MxA protein in Vero cells confers protection against members of Bunvaviridae family (Bunyaviruses, Phleboviruses, and Hantaviruses), blocking an early step of the viral cycle, probably viral RNA synthesis (Frese et al., 1996). Mx proteins are also able to inhibit dsRNA viruses and some DNA viruses (Mundt, 2007; Netherton et al., 2009).

According to the model proposed, it is still unclear how such diversity of viruses with divergent RNPs in sequence can all be antagonized by MxA. Interestingly, adaptive mutations in the nucleoproteins were found in pandemic strains of IAV and are correlated with an escape of MxA-mediated restriction (Mänz et al., 2013). Recently, an antiviral function was also reported for the MxB protein. MxB, but not MxA, inhibits HIV-1 replication and integration of HIV-1 DNA (Liu et al., 2013). Accordingly, the knockdown of MxB attenuates the antiviral effect of IFN on HIV-1 infection. Mutations in HIV-1 capsid allow the virus to escape MxB restriction and CypA-MxA fusion protein restricts HIV-1 infection, indicating that Mx proteins target the viral capsid to exert their antiviral activity. Intriguingly, the authors did not detect an interaction between MxB protein and Gag protein nor the mature capsid by co-immunoprecipitation. Concomitantly, another team confirmed that MxB suppresses HIV-1 infection by inhibiting the nuclear accumulation and integration of HIV-1 provirus and that viral capsid is a target of MxB (Goujon et al., 2013). The spectrum of MxB restriction seems to extend only to primate lentiviruses (HIV-1 and SIVs) and does not affect non-primate lentiviruses (MLV, Equine Infectious Anemia Virus (EIAV) and Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) or IAV. This contrasts with MxA, which represses IAV but not HIV-1 infection. Both Mx proteins have different viral specificity. This species-specific antiviral activity is determined by the loop L4 of MxA protein (Mitchell et al., 2012). Mx proteins are atypical restriction factors because they have a broad antiviral activity against RNA and DNA viruses whereas their antiviral activity seems to require the specific recognition of viral proteins from diverse family of viruses. This ambiguity remains to be elucidated. Complementary informations on MxA antiviral activity can be found in Mitchell et al., 2013.

#### TRIM19 or promyelocytic leukaemia (PML)

Another member of the TRIM family, named TRIM19 or PML, interferes with the infectious cycle of many DNA and RNA viruses (Nisole et al., 2005). PML localizes both in the nucleoplasm and in nuclear bodies (NBs), the latter localization is dependent of post-translational modifications by Small Ubiquitin-like MOdifier (SUMO-1) (Müller et al., 1998). PML is induced by IFN-I (Lavau et al., 1995). The overexpression of PML in CHO cells confers resistance to VSV and IAV, but not EMCV, infection (Chelbi-Alix et al., 1998). After Lassa virus and LCMV infection, PML has been shown to relocalize in the cytoplasm where it interacts with the Z protein of these viruses (Borden et al., 1998). Surprisingly, the

overexpression of PML in Hela cells does not affect Lassa virus and lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) replication whereas PML-deficient MEF cells or knockout mice display increased LCMV replication (Asper et al., 2004; Djavani et al., 2001). The authors propose that the basal expression of PML is sufficient to restrict infection by these two viruses, explaining why its overexpression does not affect infection whereas the depletion of basal expression impairs the antiviral response mediated by PML. The authors suggest that PML acts as a mediator of antiviral pathways rather than as a direct antiviral effector. This is supported by other groups reporting that PML knockout has positive effects on rabies virus and HSV replication but PML overexpression has no negative effects (Blondel et al., 2002; Chee et al., 2003; Lopez et al., 2002). PML also restricts retrovirus replication. HIV infection induces a cytoplasmic redistribution of PML that colocalizes with the incoming HIV-1 preintegration complex and thereby may inhibit HIV-1 replication (Turelli et al., 2001). This evidence is indirect, as it consists in arsenic treatment of cells, which sequesters PML in the nucleus and correlates with an increased HIV transduction efficiency. In contradiction with this observation, other groups did not observe changes in PML bodies after HIV-1 infection, nor any PML effect on HIV-1 infectivity (Berthoux et al., 2003). The overexpression of PML was shown to inhibit Human Foamy Virus (HFV) replication, and also transcription by interacting with the transcriptional transactivator (Tas) protein of HFV (Regad et al., 2001). Moreover, IFN treatment failed to inhibit HFV replication in PML-deficient MEF cells, suggesting that PML mediates the IFN-induced antiviral response against HFV. As mentioned above for HIV-1, the effect of PML on HFV is still debated (Meiering and Linial, 2003). Some viruses have developed strategies to counteract PML. Arenaviruses encode the Z protein that interacts with PML and induces its relocation from NBs to the cytoplasm (Borden et al., 1998). Both PML and Z protein are able to bind eIF4E to inhibit host translation (Kentsis et al., 2001).

Other members of the TRIM family restrict viral infection. For example, **TRIM1** restricts N-tropic MLV (Yap et al., 2005). **TRIM22** (also named Staf-50 for Stimulated Trans-Acting Factor of 50 kilodalton (kDa)) is an IFN-inducible factor that restricts HIV-1 by down regulating transcription mediated by the LTR promoter of HIV-1 (Tissot and Mechti, 1995). TRIM22 interacts and ubiquitinates the viral nucleoprotein of IAV, leading to its degradation by the proteasome and thereby inhibiting IAV replication (Di Pietro et al., 2013). TRIM22 confers protection against EMCV by interacting with 3C protease and inducing its

degradation (Eldin et al., 2009). Viral restriction by TRIM22 was recently reviewed in (Hattlmann et al., 2012). **TRIM79** $\alpha$  is an IFN-inducible gene that restricts Langat virus (LGTV) and tick-borne encephalitis virus (TBEV) replication by binding the NS5 protein and promoting its degradation (Taylor et al., 2011). It does not bind nor affect the replication of WNV, a member of the same *Flaviviridae* family, indicating that its action is virus-specific. A recent study reported that most members of E3 ligase TRIM family positively regulate signaling pathways triggering innate antiviral responses (Versteeg et al., 2013).

#### **IFN-inducible IFI16 protein**

The human IFI16 protein, initially reported as a viral DNA sensor (Unterholzner et al., 2010), is also a restriction factor for human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) (Gariano et al., 2012). The depletion of IFI16 increases HCMV replication whereas the overexpression of IFI16 strongly inhibits HCMV replication by affecting viral DNA synthesis.

#### 3.1.c. Inhibition of viral translation

#### IFN-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats (IFITs)

The IFIT family comprises four members in humans: IFIT1 (ISG56), IFIT2 (ISG54), IFIT3 (ISG60) and IFIT5 (ISG58). Their particular tetratrico peptide repeats (TPRs) may be involved in protein-protein interactions and complex assembly (Yan and Chen, 2012). IFIT1 and IFIT2 interact with a subunit of the mammalian translation initiation factor eIF-3, thereby inhibiting overall cellular protein synthesis (Guo et al., 2000; Terenzi et al., 2006). This may contribute to the antiviral response triggered by IFN. The binding of IFIT1 on eIF3 inhibits HCV IRES translation (Wang et al., 2003). Both IFN-induced proteins PKR and IFIT1 participate in the blocking of initiation of viral RNA translation, by targeting eIF2 and eIF3, respectively. IFIT1 and IFIT2 expression is induced in the central nervous system after LCMV or WNV infection (Wacher et al., 2007). However, their antiviral function against these two viruses has not been directly addressed. IFIT1 binds to the viral protein E1 of HPV and inhibits its replication (Terenzi et al., 2008). The depletion of IFIT1 abrogates the restriction mediated by IFN on HPV DNA replication. Accordingly, the overexpression of IFIT1 inhibits HPV DNA replication. Another role of IFIT proteins is to recognize viral RNAs with 5'PPP at their extremity or that lack 2'-O-methyl (Daffis et al., 2010; Pichlmair et

al., 2011). Cellular mRNAs or self-RNAs usually contain a 5'-guanosine cap and are 2'-Omethylated whereas viral RNAs or non-self RNAs are not capped or methylated. In this sense, many RNA viruses encode a methyltransferase to methylate their viral RNA at the 2'-O position to mimic host mRNAs (Züst et al., 2011). WNV, poxvirus and coronavirus mutants lacking 2'-O-methyl transferase activity are more sensitive to the antiviral response mediated by IFN, and specifically by IFITs proteins (IFIT1 and IFIT2). The 2'-O-methylation of viral RNA is a strategy to escape IFIT-mediated antiviral activity (Daffis et al., 2010). Loss of IFIT family members in HeLa cells by RNAi increases VSV and RVFV viral titer, but does not affect EMCV titer. Among these three viruses, only EMCV does not generate 5'PPP-RNA during replication, suggesting that IFIT family contributes to the antiviral response to viruses generating 5'-PPP-RNAs (Pichlmair et al., 2011). Accordingly in vivo, IFIT1-deficient mice are hypersensitive to VSV, but not EMCV, infection. A recent study showed that IFIT1 preferentially binds 5' capped viral mRNAs without 2'-O methylation and inhibits their translation, thereby restricting infection by Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) mutant in 2'-O methyltransferase (Kimura et al., 2013). Overall, in addition to RIG-I that senses 5'-PPP-RNA and induces the production of IFN-I, the induction of IFIT family expression by IFN creates a feedback mechanism for the sensing of 5'-PPP viral RNAs. By contrast, IFIT1 also interacts with the adaptor STING and prevents its interaction with IPS-1 or TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK-1), thereby inhibiting the signaling cascade triggered by viral sensing (Li et al., 2009). It is proposed that IFIT1 plays the role of negative regulator of the viral-induced IFN-I response. Overall, the exact mechanism by which IFIT proteins restrict viral infection remains to be elucidated. Viral restriction by IFITs was recently reviewed in (Diamond and Farzan, 2013; Zhou et al., 2013).

#### Zinc-finger antiviral protein (ZAP)

ZAP was identified in a screen for mammalian cDNAs able to inhibit MLV infection (Gao et al., 2002). This protein displays a cluster of four CCCH-type zinc fingers, found in some RNA-binding proteins (Lai et al., 2000). The expression of ZAP is induced by IFN (Zhang et al., 2007) and was first shown to reduce viral RNA level in the cytoplasm (Gao et al., 2002). Further studies demonstrated that ZAP interacts via its zinc finger motifs with the 3'-LTR of MLV RNAs or SINV mRNAs and that this interaction is necessary for its antiviral function against both viruses (Guo et al., 2004). ZAP-antiviral activity is not restricted to retroviruses. The overexpression of ZAP affects members of the alphavirus genus, including

SINV, SFV, Ross River Virus (RRV) infection and Venezuelan Equine Encephalitis Virus (VEEV) replicon, but not HSV, Yellow Fever Virus (YFV), VSV, and Poliovirus replicon (Bick et al., 2003). The expression of ZAP does not affect SINV binding onto the cell surface but inhibits SINV replication and the translation of a SINV-luciferase reporter defective for replication. ZAP is also reported to inhibit filoviruses replication (EBOV and MARV) by decreasing the level of viral mRNAs (Müller et al., 2007). These studies suggest that ZAP targets viral RNA for degradation. This hypothesis is supported by the demonstration that ZAP interacts with components of the exosome (Rrp40p and Rrp46p), an RNA processing complex containing multiple 3'-5' exoribonucleases (Guo et al., 2007; Mitchell et al., 1997). The depletion of Rrp40p and Rrp46p by RNAi reduced the antiviral activity of ZAP against MLV, suggesting that the exosome is required for ZAP-mediated antiviral activity (Guo et al., 2007). Only recently, it was shown that ZAP localizes in RNA granules where it recruits MLV transcripts and the exosome component EXOSC5 to induce the degradation of MLV transcripts (Lee et al., 2013). The authors show that ZAP antiviral activity is independent of RLRs in MEF cells, whereas a previous study showed that ZAP is a positive regulator of RIG-I signaling in human cells (Hayakawa et al., 2011). The DEXH box RNA helicase DHX30 is a cellular factor required for ZAP antiviral activity (Ye et al., 2010). The crystal structure of Rat ZAP has been resolved and showed that ZAP forms a dimer to bind one RNA molecule (Chen et al., 2012). However, the motifs or structures on viral transcripts that are recognized by ZAP are still unknown.

#### Protein kinase R (PKR)

Another well characterized IFN-induced antiviral effector, the protein kinase PKR, is activated by viral dsRNAs and phosphorylates the initiation factor eIF2 $\alpha$ , resulting in a rapid inhibition of translation of viral and host mRNAs (Meurs et al., 1990; Pindel and Sadler, 2011). The overexpression of PKR limits EMCV, but not VSV, replication in cells (Meurs et al., 1992). In addition, PKR-deficient cells are more sensitive to EMCV infection compared to control cells, and display an impaired induction of IFNs after EMCV infection (Der and Lau, 1995). NS1-deficient Influenza virus can replicate in PKR-deficient mice, but not in wild-type mice, indicating that PKR controls Influenza virus infection and its antiviral activity is counteracted by the NS1 protein (Bergmann et al., 2000). PKR also contributes to the protection against WNV infection (Samuel et al., 2006), Human T-cell leukemia virus type I (HTLV-1) and HTLV-2 infection (Cachat et al., 2013).

#### 3.1.d. Inhibition of viral release

#### Tetherin (or BST-2 or CD317)

Viral protein U (Vpu) is required for efficient HIV-1 particle release in HeLa cells but not in COS-7 cells. Heterokaryons resulting from the fusion of both cell lines exhibit similar restriction of viral particles release than Hela cells, suggesting that Hela cells, but not COS-7 cells, express a dominant acting intrinsic antiviral factor (Varthakavi et al., 2003). This restriction factor is effective only against Vpu-defective HIV-1, and does not affect wild-type HIV-1 replication. The overexpression of Vpu in Hela cells or heterokaryon reverses the restriction. Tetherin is an IFN-inducible protein that was identified by microarray analysis of permissive and non-permissive cells as a factor that restricts HIV-1 budding from infected cells (Van Damme et al., 2008; Neil et al., 2008). The accessory protein Vpu counteracts its antiviral function. Tetherin is constitutively expressed but is also induced by IFN (Neil et al., 2008). The protein is localized at the plasma membrane, in endosomes and in vesicles of the trans-Golgi network (Habermann et al., 2010), and co-localize with budding virions. It is proposed that the unique topology of Tetherin with one TM domain and a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor could tether cellular and viral membranes through their cholesterol-enriched lipid rafts (Evans et al., 2010; Kupzig et al., 2003). Accordingly, many envelope viruses including HIV-1, IAV or EBOV bud from lipid rafts (Nguyen and Hildreth, 2000; Panchal et al., 2003; Scheiffele et al., 1999). This hypothesis is challenged by a recent study on HIV-1 where the depletion of cellular cholesterol does not affect the antiviral activity of Tetherin (Grover et al., 2013). In addition, HIV-1 Gag protein does not colocalize with lipid raft markers, suggesting that lipid rafts are not involved, at least for HIV-1, in Tetherin-mediated inhibition of viral release. The unusual topology of Tetherin and its ability to dimerize suggest two possibilities of action : Tetherin could hold virions at the cell surface either by inserting a GPI anchor into the virion envelope or by dimerization, with one Tetherin molecule anchored in the cell membrane and the other one in the virion envelope (Evans et al., 2010). Retained virions are either internalized by endocytosis and the association of Tetherin with the E3 ubiquitin ligase BCA2 (Breast cancer-associated gene 2) directs tethered virions to lysosomes for degradation, or they remain at the cell surface (Miyakawa et al., 2009; Neil et al., 2006). These models of restriction suggest that Tetherin has a broad antiviral activity against enveloped viruses. Indeed, it was reported to restrict

retroviruses, filoviruses, arenaviruses and herpesviruses (Evans et al., 2010). The team of Bieniasz originally demonstrated by designing an artificial Tetherin lacking sequence homology but with the same structural features than native Tetherin that the protein displays autonomously and directly its antiviral activity (Perez-Caballero et al., 2009). The overexpression of Tetherin decreases DENV release from Huh-7 cells (Pan et al., 2012). CHIKV virus-like particles (VLPs) are retained by Tetherin at the cell surface and both CHIKV E1 glycoprotein and nsP1 protein colocalize and interact with Tetherin (Jones et al., 2013). They also show that nsP1 antagonizes Tetherin restriction by reducing the expression of Tetherin. Tetherin-mediated restriction is antagonized by the K5 protein of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV), which ubiquitinates Tetherin to induce its degradation by the proteasome. The glycoprotein of EBOV also inhibits its antiviral function. The mechanism by which Vpu antagonizes Tetherin is unknown. One group observed by flow cytometry a down-regulation of Tetherin from the cell surface in cells expressing HIV-1 Vpu (Van Damme et al., 2008). A recent paper also suggests that Vpu expression directs internalized Tetherin preferentially to lysosomal degradation rather than recycling at the cell surface (Rollason et al., 2013). Independently of this mechanism, Vpu also interacts directly with Tetherin to displace it from sites of virion assembly (McNatt et al., 2013). Recent studies have highlighted that Tetherin can also act as a viral sensor that induces proinflammatory response through activation of NF-kB (Galão et al., 2012; Hotter et al., 2013; Tokarev et al., 2013). Viral restriction by Tetherin was recently reviewed in (Neil, 2013; Swiecki et al., 2013).

#### IFN-stimulated gene 15 (ISG15)

ISG15 protein is a 15 kDa ubiquitin-like protein (Narasimhan et al., 2005). Like ubiquitin, ISG15 conjugates with proteins via its C-terminal motif (LRLRGG). This conjugation is called ISGylation. ISG15 conjugation cascade is catalyzed by a serie of enzymes: E1 (Ubiquitin Activating Enzyme E1 Like Protein (UBE1L)), E2 (Ubiquitin-conjugating Enzyme H8 (UbcH8)) and two E3 ligases (estrogen-responsive finger protein (EFP) and HECT domain and RCC1-like domain containing protein 5 (Herc5)) as well as a deconjugating enzyme (Ubiquitin protease 43 (UBP43)) (Lenschow et al., 2007). It is unclear if ISG15 conjugation, like ubiquitin, results in the degradation of the targeted proteins. These ISGylated proteins were identified by mass spectrometry and cover a large spectrum of biological processes such as translation or stress response (Giannakopoulos et al., 2005).

Interestingly, IFN-induced antiviral effectors (MxA, PKR, RNase L) and components of immune signaling pathways (RIG-I, Jak1, STAT1) are also suggested to be ISGylated (Malakhov et al., 2003; Zhao et al., 2005). The treatment of cells with proteasome inhibitor does not accumulate ISGylated proteins in the cells, indicating that conjugation of ISG15 onto proteins does not lead to proteasomal-degradation. ISG15 has an antiviral activity, but its mechanism of action is unclear. ISG15-deficient mice are highly sensitive to both RNA and DNA virus infections, including Influenza A and B virus, HSV-1, SINV (Lenschow et al., 2007). In addition, this susceptibility is rescued after infection by recombinant SINV expressing wild-type ISG15, but not an ISG15 mutant for conjugation. Mice deficient for the E1 ligase UBE1L, necessary for ISG15 conjugation to targeted proteins, are hypersensitive to Influenza B virus suggesting that ISG15 conjugation is important for its antiviral activity (Lai et al., 2009). In agreement with this hypothesis, ISG15 is conjugated on NS1 protein of IAV and inhibits its function (Tang et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2010). Similarly, the HPV capsid protein is ISGylated and incorporated in the released virus that is less infectious, perhaps because ISGylation destabilizes the viral particle (Durfee et al., 2010). It is not clear if ISGylation of host proteins, viral proteins (NS1, IAV) or both contribute to antiviral activity. Interestingly, the overexpression of ISG15 in cells blocks the release of HIV-1 retrovirus and EBOV from cells by either ISGylating components of the Endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) pathway, or inhibiting the ubiquitination of HIV-1 Gag or Ebola VP40 proteins, which are both processes required for virus-budding (Seo and Leis, 2012). Thus, the current model is that ISG15 inhibits virus release by affecting the virusbudding events but the exact mechanism of its antiviral activity remains to be clarified. A recent study revealed that ISGylation of PKR by ISG15 activates PKR in gain-of-function experiments (Okumura et al., 2013), but the physiological relevance of this finding remains to be determined. ISG15-deficient mice, but not UBE1L-deficient mice, are highly sensitive to CHIKV (Werneke et al., 2011). This sensitivity is not associated with an increased viral titer (indicating that ISG15 does not control viral replication) but rather correlated with a high level of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines. By contrast with previous studies, this finding suggests that the antiviral activity of ISG15 is independent from conjugation, but may rather play the role of an immunomodulatory cytokine. Indeed, it has been reported that ISG15 can be secreted and function like a cytokine (D'Cunha et al., 1996a, 1996b). Viral restriction by ISG15 was recently reviewed in Morales and Lenschow, 2013.

#### 3.1.e. Multiple step antiviral function

#### Virus-inhibitory protein, endoplasmic reticulum-associated, IFN-inducible (Viperin)

Viperin is composed of three domains: an amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helix domain at its Nterminus, involved in the targeting of Viperin to the cytosolic face of the ER and lipid droplets; a conserved central domain containing a CxxxCxxC motif, and related to domain present in S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) enzymes; and a conserved C-terminal domain (Seo et al., 2011a). Viperin is an IFN-inducible protein that localizes in the ER where it interacts with Farnesyl Diphosphate Synthase (FPPS) to inhibit isoprenoid-derived lipids biosynthesis. This inhibition leads to changes in membrane fluidity and lipid raft microdomains, thus affecting the budding of Influenza virus, but not VSV, particles from infected cells (Wang et al., 2007). The overexpression of FPPS reverses the inhibition of IAV release and restores normal membrane fluidity whereas its knockdown inhibits Influenza replication and release. Accordingly, VSV does not bud from lipid rafts and therefore its replication is not affected by Viperin expression. Viperin restricts WNV pathogenesis as Viperin-deficient mice display an increased lethality and the viral replication is enhanced in central nervous system tissues (Szretter et al., 2011). The overexpression of Viperin in cells restricts CHIKV infection and the antiviral activity is conferred by the N-terminal amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helical domain (Teng et al., 2012). Accordingly, mice deficient for Rsad2 (Radical S-adenosyl methionine domaincontaining protein 2), the gene encoding Viperin, display an increased viremia and joint inflammation. If the colocalization between Viperin and ER marker is clear, the colocalization with the virus is not obvious and remains to be reevaluated. Loss- and gain-of-function experiments indicate that Viperin confers protection against DENV-2 infection, and its Cterminal region display its antiviral activity (Helbig et al., 2013). DENV-2 infection induces Viperin that colocalizes with lipid droplets and also the viral capsid and NS3 protein. Viperin inhibits DENV-2 replication and interacts with viral RNAs, but also the viral capsid and NS3 protein. HIV-1 induces Viperin expression in macrophages and its depletion increases HIV-1 replication (Nasr et al., 2012). The overexpression of full-length Viperin, but not Viperin mutants in SAM domain, decreases HIV-1 production and release from HEK293T cells. HIV-1 infection redistributes Viperin from ER into foci which colocalize with two markers of HIV-1 replication and assembly, p24 antigen and CD81. SAM mutants do not colocalize with HIV-1 anymore. As for IAV, farnesol treatment reverses Viperin-mediated restriction of HIV-1, indicating that Viperin may inhibit FPPS, thereby disrupting lipid raft and virus budding.

Another study showed that the expression of Viperin does not seem to restrict lentiviruses, except the LAI strain of HIV-1 and more significantly HIV-1 Negative Regulatory Factor (Nef) mutant. This indicates that the HIV-1 Nef protein abrogates this restriction, but Viperin depletion does not affect HIV-1 LAI infection (Lim et al., 2012). The N-terminal amphipathic alpha-helix of Viperin and HCV NS5A protein directs their localization to lipid droplets and this region is sufficient to direct dsRed to lipid droplets (Hinson and Cresswell, 2009a). This region of Viperin is also important for its localization to ER and Viperin-mediated inhibition of protein secretion, suggesting that it may interfere with the transport of viral proteins (Hinson and Cresswell, 2009b). Viperin depletion increases HCV replication in IFNstimulated Huh-7 cells and its overexpression decreases HCV replication (Helbig et al., 2011). Viperin interacts with HCV core and NS5A proteins on the surface of lipid droplets. The N-terminal region of Viperin is important for its localization to lipid droplets and the Cterminal region confers its antiviral activity. Viperin interacts with VAP-A (vesicle-associated membrane protein-associated protein subtype A also named hVAP-33), a cellular cofactor that normally interacts with NS5A and NS5B to facilitate the formation of replication complexes (Gao et al., 2004). This suggests that Viperin may affect HCV RNA replication. A recent study confirmed that Viperin affects HCV RNA replication by using HCV replicon system and that Viperin binds hVAP-33 via its C-terminal region, probably by competition with NS5A (Wang et al., 2012b). Intriguingly, Viperin enhances HCMV infectivity (Seo et al., 2011b). A recent study reported that lipogenesis induced during HCMV infection is dependent on Viperin expression on mitochondria and required for the formation of HCMV envelope and the production of infectious particles (Seo and Cresswell, 2013). Viperin is also reported to be involved in the signaling between TLR7 and TLR9 activation and production of type I IFN (Saitoh et al., 2011). Loss- and gain-of-function experiments indicate that Viperin does not affect flavivirus JEV infection but the treatment of infected cells with proteasome inhibitor restores high level of Viperin expression and reveals its antiviral effect on JEV (Chan et al., 2008). JEV counteracts the antiviral function of Viperin through its degradation. To summarize, Viperin targets two steps of virus life cycle. It disrupts lipid rafts to block virus budding and release, and also interferes with replication of some viruses. Viral restriction by Viperin was recently reviewed (Mattijssen and Pruijn, 2012; Seo et al., 2011a).

#### 3.1.f. OAS/RNase L: Intrinsic antiviral pathway

#### 2'-5'-Oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS) / RNase L system

The IFN-inducible protein OAS is activated by viral dsRNAs and produces 2'-5' oligoadenylates that bind to the inactive monomeric form of the endoribonuclease RNase L. This binding induces RNase L dimerization and activation, leading to the degradation of viral RNAs and also host ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs) to stop viral replication (Carroll et al., 1996; Dong and Silverman, 1995). Humans encode three OAS genes (OAS1, OAS2 and OAS3), and one OAS-like gene (OASL). In mice, OAS family is composed of seven OAS1-type genes, OAS2, OAS3 and 2 OASL-type genes (Kakuta et al., 2002). The OAS/RNase L system has a broad antiviral activity. The overexpression of OAS protein confers resistance to a Picornavirus (Mengo virus), but not VSV, infection in a hamster cell line (Chebath et al., 1987). Similarly, a human cell line overexpressing OAS protein is resistant to EMCV infection, and displays a reduced cell proliferation rate (Rysiecki et al., 1989). In addition, loss-of-function experiments by overexpression of a dominant negative RNase L mutant in cells increases the susceptibility to EMCV, but not VSV, infection and the antiproliferative effect is counterbalanced (Hassel et al., 1993). RNase L has specific antiviral activity and may also be involved in the regulation of cell growth. The overexpression of OAS and RNase L proteins blocks Vaccinia Virus replication (Díaz-Guerra et al., 1997). RNase L-deficient mice are more susceptible to EMCV and WNV infection (Samuel et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 1997). The susceptibility of mice to WNV infection is correlated with a nonsense mutation in the gene encoding the isoform L1 of 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetases, suggesting that this enzyme restricts WNV infection (Mashimo et al., 2002; Perelygin et al., 2002). The OAS/RNase L system contributes to the antiviral defense in many ways, in addition to its RNAs degradation activity (Chakrabarti et al., 2011). For example, it can induce apoptosis in virus-infected cells (Castelli et al., 1997; Zhou et al., 1997). Moreover, the small RNA products resulting from the cleavage by RNase L can be used as substrates by the RIG-I sensor to amplify the production of IFNs (Malathi et al., 2007, 2010). The OAS/RNase L pathway is negatively regulated by a 2'-phosphodiesterase (2'-PDE) which degrades 2'-5' oligoadenylates (Kubota et al., 2004). The depletion of 2'-PDE reduces Vaccinia Virus replication. Interestingly, this strategy is also used by viruses to counteract the activation of RNase L. The NS2 protein of mouse hepatitis virus (MHV) (coronavirus) and VP3 protein of rotavirus display PDE activity, which cleaves and inhibits the accumulation of 2'-5' oligoadenylates, preventing the activation of RNase L (Zhang et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2012).

Overall, restriction factors can have a broad or virus-specific antiviral activity. For example, TRIM5 $\alpha$  seems to be only active against retroviruses, because its antiviral activity relies on the specific interaction with the capsid of retroviruses. By contrast, the unique feature of Tetherin, which creates a bridge between the envelope of virus particles and the plasma membrane, can prevent viral release of enveloped viruses independently of their family of origin. It is possible that not a single but several viral restriction factors act in concert to face viral infections in cells (Jiang et al., 2010). Indeed, four ISGs that target different steps of the virus cycle (IFITM2, IFITM3, Viperin and ISG20) were shown to inhibit both WNV and DENV infections. Some restriction factors may have other cellular functions than viral restriction, such as TRIM5 $\alpha$  that may have a role in intracellular signaling (Pertel et al., 2011). Most viruses have evolved to counteract restriction factors activity. For example, the accessory genes of retroviruses are required only for effective replication in cells expressing a restriction factor (Malim and Emerman, 2008). One strategy used by Vpx and Vif accessory proteins of lentiviruses is to direct the proteasomal degradation of the restriction factor, SAMHD1 and APOBEC3G, respectively (Laguette et al., 2011; Yu et al., 2003). Vpu protein uses another strategy to antagonize Tetherin by altering its normal localization from the plasma membrane to endosomes (Kueck and Neil, 2012). Viruses can also escape viral restriction by mutations in the protein targeted by the restriction factor, as exemplified by mutations in the capsid of lentivirus, which allow evasion from TRIM5 $\alpha$ restriction (Hatziioannou et al., 2006). Another strategy used by Poxvirus is to express the K3L protein, a mimic of eIF2 $\alpha$  that compete with normal eIF2 $\alpha$  for the binding to PKR (Dar and Sicheri, 2002). K3L prevents the phosphorylation of eIF2a and the host translation shutoff. The genes encoding restriction factors evolve under positive selection, displaying an excess of non-synonymous mutations compared with synonymous mutations (reviewed in Duggal and Emerman, 2012). The duplication and diversification of genes encoding restriction factors allow to adapt to many viruses, as observed for the primate APOBEC family (Sawyer et al., 2004) and IFITM family (Siegrist et al., 2011).

#### Identification of novel viral restriction factors

Two studies aimed to uncover new viral restriction factors by performing a screen to examine the antiviral activity of hundreds of ISGs after infection by several viruses including HCV, YFV, WNV, CHIKV, VEEV, HIV-1 (Schoggins et al., 2011) and VSV and Murine GammaHerpes Virus (MHV) (Liu et al., 2012). These studies revealed new ISGs with

hitherto unknown antiviral properties such as C6orf150 that inhibits alphaviruses CHIKV and VEEV, and TAP1 (Transporter associated with antigen processing 1 gene), BMP2 (Bone morphogenetic protein 2) that inhibit MHV. Cell-based screening strategies were recently reviewed in (Panda and Cherry, 2012). Recently, the group of Dr. Tenoever used an original approach to identify new viral restriction factors *in vivo* (Varble et al., 2013). They infected mice with a library of engineered RNA viruses (SINV) expressing siRNAs to screen for host genes restricting viral infection. After 48h of infection, the analysis of small RNAs from the spleen of infected animals reveals which siRNA allowed viruses to take precedence over the others, suggesting a role for the targeted gene in antiviral response. They identified and characterized Mga and Zfx, two novel genes involved in antiviral signaling.

#### 3.2. Viral restriction factors in Drosophila?

#### Refractory for Sigma P virus (Ref(2)P)

The control of SIGMAV infection was reported to involve 5 loci on different chromosomes (Gay, 1978). Among the identified loci, Ref(2)p is the best characterized. Initially, two alleles were described: a permissive allele (ref(2)Po) and a restrictive allele (ref(2)Pp) (Contamine et al., 1989). Flies carrying a ref(2)Po allele are infected by SIGMAV whereas flies with ref(2)Pp allele are refractory to SIGMAV infection. Transgenic flies carrying the genomic sequence of Ref(2)P restrictive allele are resistant to SIGMAV infection (mentioned in Carré-Mlouka et al., 2007). These results suggest that Ref(2)P is a viral restriction factor for SIGMAV in Drosophila. The analysis of restrictive and permissive alleles of Ref(2)P allowed to determine that polymorphisms in the PB1 domain are associated with the control of SIGMAV infection (Carré-Mlouka et al., 2007; Wayne et al., 1996). Surprisingly, flies with permissive alleles are more susceptible to SIGMAV infection than flies with null alleles (Carré-Mlouka et al., 2007), which is counterintuitive with the role of Ref(2)P as a restriction factor, except if permissive alleles have a dominant negative effect on SIGMAV infection. The Ref(2)P protein interacts with N and P proteins of SIGMAV by coimmunoprecipitation (Wyers et al., 1993). The antiviral mechanism is not known. Ref(2)P is the Drosophila homolog of mammalian P62 and localizes to protein aggregates in autophagydeficient flies and in models of human neurodegenerative diseases (Nezis et al., 2008). Given the homology of Ref(2)P with autophagic protein, it would be interesting to test if autophagy

is involved in Ref(2)P-mediated restriction of SIGMAV infection. Additionally, Ref(2)P was shown to form a complex with the *Drosophila* atypical protein kinase C (DaPKC) that positively regulates the Toll-signaling pathway and induces Drosomycin expression (Avila et al., 2002; Goto et al., 2003). This raises the hypothesis that Ref(2)P may restrict SIGMAV infection through the activation of the Toll pathway.

#### Vago

The expression of Vago is dependent of Dicer-2, but not Ago-2, suggesting that Dicer-2 may have additional antiviral functions than the generation of RISC in the canonical RNAi pathway (Deddouche et al., 2008). Vago is specifically upregulated in the fat body after viral infection (DCV and SINV), but not infection by FHV or a bacterial mixture. Vago-mutant flies accumulate more DCV RNA in the fat body, consistent with a role of Vago in antiviral defense. An antiviral function of a mosquito ortholog of Drosophila Vago, named Culex Vago (CxVago), has been reported in *Culex* mosquito cells (Paradkar et al., 2012). WNV infection induces the expression of CxVago but the depletion of Dcr-2 (and not R2D2) by RNAi reduces its up-regulation, indicating that CxVago is up-regulated in a Dcr-2 dependent manner. The overexpression of CxVago reduces WNV replication and viral particles secretion. Loss- and gain-of-function experiments indicate that Vago has antiviral activity in mosquito cells. Furthermore, this restriction is mediated by the secretion of CxVago. The treatment of cells with the supernatant of CxVago-overexpressing cells protects from WNV infection in mosquito cells but not African green monkey kidney cells (Vero). This result suggests that secreted CxVago does not directly target WNV but may activate an insectspecific signaling pathway to mediate its antiviral activity. Interestingly, the upregulation of the Jak-STAT marker vir-1, but not the NF-kB marker defensin-A, was observed after treatment of mosquito cells with the supernatant of CxVago-overexpressing cells, indicating that secreted CxVago activates the Jak-STAT pathway. These observations do not fit with their counterparts in Drosophila because vir-1 expression was still induced in Vago-mutant flies, suggesting that either vir-1 expression can be induced by another protein than Vago, or that the function of Vago as a circulating cytokine in mosquitoes is not conserved in Drosophila. Furthermore, the depletion of CxSTAT2 and CxJak by RNAi abolishes the upregulation of vir-1 and increases the viral titer. However, the CxVago-mediated activation of the Jak-STAT pathway is independent of the Culex ortholog of Drosophila Domeless, the receptor activating the Jak-STAT pathway after binding of the ligand Unpaired (Upd). This

activation by an unknown receptor may induce an antiviral response to WNV. It is tempting to assimilate the role of Vago in insects to IFNs in mammals, both activating the Jak-STAT pathway to initiate an antiviral response.

#### Vir-1

In *Drosophila* S2 cells, the expression of the gene vir-1 is under the control of the Jak-STAT pathway in response to DCV infection. The first evidence is the presence of STATbinding sites in the promoter of vir-1 gene and the second evidence is that flies deficient for the Jak kinase Hopscotch display a reduced expression of vir-1 (Dostert et al., 2005). However, the knockdown or overexpression of vir-1 did not affect DCV infection. Accordingly, the overexpression of CxVir-1 in mosquito cells does not affect the WNV titer (Paradkar et al., 2012).

Overall, the intrinsic antiviral immunity in *Drosophila* clearly remains to be elucidated. Although many transcriptional profiles obtained after viral infection reveal the upregulation of genes specifically after viral infection, their role in the antiviral response has not been addressed. *Drosophila* Vago and vir-1 were thought to be good candidate for the identification of viral effectors in *Drosophila* but do not appear to have a direct antiviral function. Viral restriction factors in *Drosophila*, and also in other insects, remains to be discovered and characterized.

### Aim of the study

Two types of responses are involved in the control of viral infections in Drosophila. An inducible response and RNAi that is a broad antiviral defense against RNA viruses, including the picorna-like DCV. This virus is broadly used to study antiviral responses in Drosophila, particularly in our laboratory. We observed a difference of susceptibility between laboratory control flies, characterized by an increased viral titer and lethality after challenge with this virus. A difference of susceptibility to DCV infection was also observed between two stocks from the same wild-type strain (Oregon-R), maintained independently in two teams from our laboratory. The major aim of my PhD thesis was to study the cause of the sensitivity of some Drosophila strains to DCV infection. This work is presented in Chapter 4. Additionaly, we noticed that some strains maintained in the laboratory were persistently infected by Nora virus, another related picorna-like virus. Surprisingly, many of these strains were sensitive to DCV, suggesting that Nora virus may be the cause of this susceptibility. We decided to investigate if the presence of Nora virus affects the susceptibility of flies to other pathogens. This part of my work is discussed in Chapter 5. During my thesis, I also participated to the characterization of the role of the siRNA pathway in the defense against a DNA virus (IIV-6). This work led to a publication in Journal of Immunology and is summarized in Chapter 6.

Part II

MATERIAL AND METHODS

#### II.1. Fly strains and infection

Wild-type flies (*Oregon-R*, *Canton-S*) and mutant flies carrying phenotypically visible genetic markers (*yw*, *w*<sup>1118</sup>, *w*<sup>A5001</sup>, *DD1 cnbw*) were used in this study. These flies are generally used as control in experiments performed in the laboratory. For RNAi experiments, we used flies with *Actin-Gal4;Tubulin-Gal80, Cg-Gal4*, and *Np-Gal4* driver, the Pst-RNAi line purchased from the Vienna *Drosophila* RNAi Center collection (ID107243) and a UAS-GFP-RNAi line constructed in the laboratory. Dr. Stéphane Noselli provided UAS-Pst-GFP fly line. All flies used were Wolbachia-free. Flies were fed on standard cornmeal–agar medium at 25°C. Crossings were performed at 25°C, except ones with *Actin-Gal4;Tubulin-Gal80*, cand then the progeny was transferred for 4 days at 29°C.

For viral infections, viral stocks were prepared in 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 with the exception of VSV, which was used directly from Vero R cells culture supernatant. Infections were performed with 4–8 days old adult flies by intrathoracic injection (Nanoject II apparatus, Drummond Scientific) with viral particles indicated in the figure legends. Injection of the same volume of 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, was used as a control. Infected flies were then incubated at 22°C or 25°C and monitored each day for survival, or frozen for RNA isolation and virus titration at indicated time points.

Contamination of flies with Nora virus was performed by putting 200 males naturally infected by Nora virus, in a big vial for 5 days at 25°C. Flies were then removed and replaced by 50 males and 50 females of non infected flies. After 5 days, the tube was emptied and flies were monitored for Nora virus titer (sample "parents"). Once the progeny emerged, 0-4 days old flies were transferred to a fresh tube for 4 days and then monitored for virus titer or used for experiments (sample "F1").

#### II.2. Dechorionation of eggs

The dechorionation of eggs to cure flies from Nora Virus was performed as follows: Nora virus infected flies were put in a cage on apple juice agar plate with a yeast paste on the middle, for them to lay eggs. The cages were transferred overnight at 25°C. Eggs were collected, washed with water, and dechorionated with a solution of 50% bleach for 3 min with constant flowing by pipetting the solution up and down. Then, eggs were abundantly rinsed with water, aligned under the microscope on a piece of agar medium and transferred by capillarity on a coverslip. One drop of mineral oil was applied to cover the eggs and the coverslip was deposited on a petri dish with normal *Drosophila* food. After 2-3 days, larvae were transferred to normal food vial. Once flies emerged, they were tested for Nora Virus.

#### II.3. Cell lines and virus infection

*Drosophila* S2 cells and Kc167 cells were grown in Schneider's medium (Biowest) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum, 1x Glutamax (100x, 200 mM, Invitrogen), 1x Penicillin/Streptomycin (100x mix, 10 mg/ml/ 10000 U, Invitrogen).

Stable cell lines were established as follows: Day 1: plasmid expressing RFP fusion  $(1\mu g)$ , plasmid expressing puromycin  $(0.2\mu g)$ , salmon sperm  $(4\mu g)$  and CaCl<sub>2</sub> (2M) were mixed together and added on a solution of 2x HEPES-buffered saline (HEBS). After 30 min incubation at room temperature, the mixture was deposited drop by drop on *Drosophila* S2 cells in a 6-cm petri dish. Day 2: cells were washed once with PBS and complete media was added. Day 3: Cells were counted, resuspended in complete medium supplemented with puromycin antibiotic, and distributed in three 96-well plates at different concentrations (1000 cells/well, 10000 cells/well, 20000 cells/well). Then, fresh medium with puromycin was added every two days to maintain selection. Wells where clones appeared were selected and clones were then transferred to 24-well plate. Clones were screened by FACS analysis thanks to RFP (FACS ARIA II) and the ones harboring an homogenous expression of the fusion protein were amplified in cell culture for viral experiments, and backed up in liquid nitrogen.

Viral infections were performed as follows. The volume of viral suspension was calculated depending on the multiplicity of infection (MOI) desired (indicated in the figure legends) and then added to cells for 2 hours. Cells were then washed twice with Schneider media and complete medium was added. Incubation times depended on the experiment (see figure legends).

#### II.4. Virus binding and entry assays

Cells were infected at a MOI of 20 for DCV or 0.5 for CrPV at 4°C for 2 h to allow virus binding at the cell surface but not the internalization of viral particles. At 4°C, endocytosis mechanism is blocked. Next, cells were washed twice with PBS and proceed for RNA analysis (binding assay) or transferred to 25°C for entry assay. Cells were incubated at different time points, as indicated in the figure legends. Then, cells were washed twice with PBS and proceed for RNA analysis.

#### II.5. Transfection, Luciferase assay, secretion assay

#### Transfection

*Drosophila* S2 cells were transfected with plasmid DNAs either by the CaPO4 precipitation method, or by Effecten transfection reagent (Qiagen). This is indicated in the figure legends.

#### Luciferase assay

*Drosophila* S2 cells treated with dsRNAs or stable cell lines were transfected by Effecten with plasmid reporters to monitor the activity of the two CrPV IRES. The day after, reporter expression was induced by addition of CuSO<sub>4</sub> (500  $\mu$ M). After 48 hours, cells were lysed and luciferase activity was measured by luminometer with Dual-Luciferase® Reporter Assay System (Promega).

#### Secretion assay

Cells were transfected with vector expressing secretion signal (ss) fused to Horseradish peroxidase (ss-HRP), under the control of methallothionein promoter (). Thus, cells were treated with 500  $\mu$ M CuSO<sub>4</sub> for 16h. Then, 10 $\mu$ l of supernatant were transferred into a 96-wells black plate containing 50 $\mu$ l of ECL reagent per well. The luminescence was measured by luminometer.

#### II.6. Gene silencing: dsRNA synthesis and treatment

Template DNAs were generated from *Drosophila* cDNAs by PCR with primers carrying the T7 polymerase sequence (**Table 3**). Their size was verified on agarose gel and they were purified with NucleoSpin<sup>®</sup> Gel and PCR Clean-up (Macherey-Nagel). Then, *in vitro* transcription by T7 polymerase from T7 megascript kit (Ambion<sup>®</sup>) allowed to generate dsRNAs targeting our genes of interest. For precipitation, RNAs were mixed with sodium acetate/ ethanol and incubated for 15 min at -20°C. After centrifugation for 20 min at 14000 rpm and 4°C, RNAs were washed with ethanol 70%, centrifuged 5 min at 14000 rpm and 4°C and then, the pellet was dried and RNAs were reconstituted in nuclease free water. dsRNAs were verified on agarose gel and quantified. dsRNAs (3µg/well) were mixed with S2 cells without serum in 96-well plate. After 2 hours incubation, complete medium was added and cells were incubated for 5 days at 25°C. After this treatment, cells were challenged with viruses.

Primers	Sequence
Pst A Fwd	5'-taatacgactcactatagggGATACTCATTCGCACCCGAT-3'
Pst A Rev	5'-taatacgactcactatagggAGTTGCACGTCCTCGAAGTT-3'
Pst B Fwd	5'-taatacgactcactatagggGGCAGTAGTGGCACCAGCAGC-3'
Pst B Rev	5'-taatacgactcactatagggCACCTCGCGTCCAGCATTTGTG-3'
Syntaxin 5 Fwd	5'-taatacgactcactatagggAAAAAGAAGAGCTTATTTGATGA-3'
Syntaxin 5 Rev	5'-taatacgactcactatagggCTCAACGATGGTAGATTCTATAT-3'
beta-cop Fwd	5'-taatacgactcactatagggTTTCGGAGTGCGTCAAAAC-3'
beta-cop Rev	5'-taatacgactcactatagggCTCTTTAACCAGAGACATGTTG-3'
Bmm A Fwd	5'- taatacgactcactatagggCTGCGGATTCCTGGGCAT -3'
Bmm A Rev	5'- taatacgactcactatagggGCAAATCGCAGAGGAGACAG -3'
Bmm B Fwd	5'- taatacgactcactatagggAAGCGGGTGAATGGACGACTG -3'
Bmm B Rev	5'- taatacgactcactatagggCGCACGAAGCGATTGATGTTCT -3'
Mdy A Fwd	5'-taatacgactcactatagggAACCGCAAGTCAACACAAAA-3'
Mdy A Rev	5'-taatacgactcactatagggCAAACGCAGACCTCCAATG-3'
Mdy B Fwd	5'-taatacgactcactatagggGGAGTTTTGAATGGAGGTGAA-3'
Mdy B Rev	5'-taatacgactcactatagggGCTCAGTGGCTAAGGCCAC-3'

Lsd-1 A Fwd	5'-taatacgactcactatagggCGGCAGTGGACTCCATCT-3'
Lsd-1 A Rev	5'-taatacgactcactatagggCGGCAGATAGACCAGTGGTA-3'
Lsd-2 A Fwd	5'-taatacgactcactatagggAAATCGTGTCTTCGAATGGG-3'
Lsd-2 A Rev	5'-taatacgactcactatagggTCTTCCTCGACATCCGACTC-3'
Lsd-2 B Fwd	5'-taatacgactcactatagggGGCATTATCGATAGGGAACTC-3'
Lsd-2 B Rev	5'-taatacgactcactatagggCATGTGGCAAGGCAACAACG-3'

Table 3. List of primers used for dsRNA synthesis.

#### **II.7. Virus titration**

The supernatant of DCV infected cells was titrated on Kc167 cells. Cells were seeded in 96-well plates (Falcon). The supernatant was serially 10-fold diluted with full Schneider media. The media was removed from the seeded cells and 50 µl of the serially diluted virus inoculum was added (each dilution in quadruplicate). After 2 days of incubation at 25°C, free virus was removed. Next, cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 20 min at room temperature. Afterwards, cells were washed twice with PBT solution. Then blocking solution (1x PBT, 10% fetal calf serum (PerBio)) was added and incubated for 30 min at room temperature. The primary antibody was added for 2 h at room temperature (Rabbit anti-DCV F3 1:500). Cells were then washed twice as described above, before the secondary antibody (goat-anti-rabbit-Alexa488) was added for 1 h at room temperature. Cells were again washed twice with 1x PBT and dried. Positive and negative stained wells were identified using a fluorescent microscope. Then, the titer was determined by the Reed–Muench method to calculate 50% tissue culture–infective dose and converted to PFU with a conversion factor of 0.7.

#### II.8. Cloning by Gateway system

Pastrel cDNAs were amplified from *DD1 cnbw* flies by standard PCR with primers containing AttB sites (**Table 4**). PCR products were cut on electrophoresis gel and purified with NucleoSpin<sup>®</sup> Gel and PCR Clean-up kit (Machery-Nagel). PCR products flanked by

AttB sites were then inserted in an entry vector (pDONR-221, Invitrogen) containing AttP sites by recombination with Gateway<sup>®</sup> BP Clonase<sup>®</sup> II enzyme (Invitrogen). DH5-α bacteria were transformed and selected on LB agar mixed with kanamycine (50 µg/ml). Minipreps were verified by restriction enzymes and selected minipreps were sequenced. The sequencing revealed that it is the sequence of the isoform Pst-PE that was cloned for overexpression experiments. It seems to be the predominant isoform of Pst because most entry vectors that we sequenced corresponded to this isoform. The entry vector containing the insert of interest was recombined with a destination vector (pARW or pAWR, from Drosophila Gateway Vector Collection) by using Gateway<sup>®</sup> LR Clonase<sup>®</sup> II enzyme (Invitrogen). These destination vectors contain actin promoter, a cassette containing the ccdB gene flanked by AttR sites and the RFP tag in N-terminal (pARW) or C-terminal (pAWR). DH5-a bacteria were transformed and selected on LB agar mixed with antibiotics. The vectors expressing Pastrel sensitive version (3L:7350895 T (Thr)) were constructed by site directed mutagenesis using the QuickChange<sup>®</sup> Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagen). Vectors used for Pastrel topology were constructed by amplifying cassettes HA-Pst or Pst-HA (FLAG-Toll for control) with primers containing AttB sites (Table 4) and proceeded for gateway cloning with destination vectors containing the Biotin Acceptor Peptide (BAP, GLNDIFEAQKIEWHE) in N-terminal (pHF6 vector) or C-terminal (pHF7 vector) of insert cassette. Cassettes containing HA-Pst-BAP, BAP-Pst-HA, BAP-FLAG-Toll and FLAG-Toll-BAP were then cloned in pAc5.1/V5-His A vector (Invitrogen).

Primers	Sequence
Pst N-ter fusion Fwd	5'-GGGGacaagtttgtacaaaaagcaggctTCGCGAATAGATTAGGAAACC-3'
Pst N-ter fusion Rev	5'-GGG GaccactttgtacaagaaagctgggtCTTATCACTATTACAAGGGACAAACGCTGAAG-3'
Pst C-ter fusion Fwd	5'-GGGGacaagtttgtacaaaaagcaggctGCCACCATGGCGAATAGATTAGGAAACCATGA-3'
Pst C-ter fusion Rev	5'-GGGGaccactttgtacaagaaagctgggtCCAAGGGACAAACGCTGAAGTGG-3'
Flag-Toll N-ter fusion Fwd	5'-GGGGacaagtttgtacaaaaaagcaggctTCTCTGCACTTCTGATCCTAGCTCTTGTTG-3'
Flag-Toll N-ter fusion Rev	5'-GGGGaccactttgtacaagaaagctgggtCTTATCACTATACGTCGCTCTGTTTGGCATTCGTG-3'
Flag-Toll C-ter fusion Fwd	5'-GGGGacaagtttgtacaaaaagcaggctGCCACCATGTCTGCACTTCTGATCCTAGCTCTTGTTG-3'
Flag-Toll C-ter fusion Rev	5'-GGGGaccactttgtacaagaaagctgggtCTACGTCGCTCTGTTTGGCATTCGTG-3'
Pst-HA N-ter fusion Rev	5'-GGGGaccactttgtacaagaaagctgggtCTTATCACTACGTGGACCGGTGTCCGCCATGAGCA-3'

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

HA-Pst C-ter fusion Fwd	5'-GGGGacaagtttgtacaaaaagcaggctGCCACCATGGATCTCCACCGCGGTGGAGGCCGCATC-3'
$Pst_{\Delta C ext{-ter}}$ N-ter fusion Rev	5'-GGGGaccactttgtacaagaaagctgggtCTTATCACTAGATTTTTCCGTATTTCTCCAGTACG-3'
Pst T521 mutagenesis Fwd	5'-catataatgctattgaccagaaccttcatggacaccatgc-3'
Pst T521 mutagenesis Rev	5'-gcatggtgtccatgaaggttctggtcaatagcattatatg-3'
2bases+Kpnl+pHF6/7 Fwd	5'-GGGGTACCGCATCTGTTCGAATTTAAAGC-3'
10bases+NotI+PHF7 Rev	5'-TTTTCCTTTTGCGGCCGCTTATCACTATTCGTGCCATTC-3'
10bases+NotI+PHF6 Rev	5'-TTTTCCTTTTGCGGCCGCTTATCACTACGTGGACCGGTG-3'

Table 4. List of primers used for molecular cloning.

#### **II.9. DNA analysis**

#### **II.10.1. DNA extraction**

Flies were crushed in a solution of Spermidine/Spermine/Sarkosyl. The homogenate was filtered and centrifuged for 7 min at 7000 rpm, at 4°C. The liquid was removed and the pellet washed with homogenization solution. Then, the pellet was resuspended in 1.8 ml of homogenization solution, 200  $\mu$ l of Sarkosyl and 10  $\mu$ l of Proteinase K and incubated overnight at 55°C. Genomic DNAs were then extracted with classic phenol-chloroform procedure and precipitated with ethanol. DNAs were resuspended in TE buffer and quantified with the Nanodrop spectrophotometer.

#### II.10.2. Preparation for *pastrel* gene sequencing

For the sequencing of *pastrel* gene, PCR amplification was performed with Phusion<sup>®</sup> High-Fidelity DNA polymerase (NEB). 10  $\mu$ l of 5x Phusion Buffer HF, 5  $\mu$ l of dNTPs (2mM), 1  $\mu$ l of forward and 1  $\mu$ l of reverse primers, 30.5  $\mu$ l of water and 0.5  $\mu$ l of Phusion DNA polymerase were added to 2  $\mu$ l of genomic DNA (100 ng/ $\mu$ l). The following program was performed on a thermocycler T3000 (Biometra): step 1: 2 min at 98°C, step 2: 10 sec at 98°C, step 3: 30 sec at 62°C, step 4: 2 min at 72°C, go to step 2 and repeat 35 times, step 5: 10 min at 72°C, step 6: pause at 16°C. PCR products were quantified with Nanodrop

spectrophotometer and control quality was performed on 1% agarose gel. Samples were then sent for sequencing with GATC Company.

#### II.10.3. Southern blot

Genomic DNAs and plasmid control were digested with restriction enzymes *PvuII*, *EcoRI*, *SalI* and *PstI* (Invitrogen) for 4 h at 37°C, and treated with RNase. After migration on agarose gel for 24h at 25 volts, DNAs were transferred to nylon membrane overnight in 10x SSC solution. The membrane was prehybrided 1 h at 60°C under rotation. To generate DCV probes, DCV RNAs were extracted with QIAmp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) from viral stock, reverse transcribed with Brilliant II kit (Stratagen) and amplified with Phusion High-Fidelity DNA Polymerase (NEB). 4 probes were generated to cover the entire genome sequence and radiolabelled with RediPrime II DNA labelling system (Amersham). After prehybridation, radiolabelled probe was incubated with the membrane for 1 h at 60°C and again twice with 0,1% SSC 0,1% SDS solution. Revelation was performed on BioImager FLA-5000 SERIES.

#### II.10.4. PCR genotyping

Single flies were crushed in 50  $\mu$ l of "Squishing buffer" (10 mM of Tris-HCl, pH 8.2, 1mM of EDTA, 25mM of NaCl and 200  $\mu$ g/mL of Proteinase K). The homogenate was incubated 30 min at 37°C and the Proteinase K was then inactivated at 95°C for 5 min. Then PCR was performed to genotype sensitive or resistant alleles of *pastrel*. The primers were designed with the Web-based Allele-Specific PCR assay (WASP) designing tool (Wangkumhang et al., 2007). Two sets of primers were designed: one set to amplify the sensitive allele of *pastrel* (T in position 521 on the gene) and one set to amplify the resistant allele (C in position 521 on the gene) (**Table 5**). For PCR control, we amplified the gene encoding the ribosomal protein *RpL32*. Fragments were amplified by Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen) with the following PCR program: Step 1: 94°C for 2 min, step 2: 94°C for 10 sec, step 3: 58°C for 15 sec, step 4: 72°C for 20 sec, go to step 2 and repeat 30 times, step 5: 72°C

for 2 min, step 6: 16°C pause. PCR products were migrated on 2% agarose gel. The expected bands are 116 bp for pastrel fragment and 500 bp for RpL32 fragment.

Primers	Sequence
RpL32 Fwd (IMU85)	5'-GTGTATTCCGACCACGTTACA-3'
RpL32 Rev (IMU86)	5'-ATACAGGCCCAAGATCGTGA-3'
Pst (521T) Fwd	5'-CAGCATGGTGTCCATGAAGTT-3'
Pst (521C) Rev	5'-CAGCATGGTGTCCATGAAGTC-3'
Pst Rev	5'-ACGTGATCAATGCTGAAAGT-3'

Table 5. List of primers used for PCR genotyping.

#### **II.11. RNA analysis**

#### **II.11.1. RNA extraction**

Total RNA were isolated from samples of 6 flies with a mixture 1:20 of TRI Reagent<sup>®</sup> RT (MRC) and phase separation reagent bromoanisole (MRC). Flies were crushed, tubes were vortexed for 30 sec and incubated at room temperature for 5 min. Tubes were next centrifuged for 15 min at 12500 rpm, at 4°C. The aqueous phase was transferred into a new tube containing 300  $\mu$ l of Isopropanol. Tubes were vortexed, incubated for 10 min at room temperature and next centrifuged for 10 min at 12500 rpm at 4°C. Supernatants were removed and the pellet washed with 70% of ethanol. After 5 min of centrifugation at 7500 rpm at 4°C, supernatants were removed and pellet were dried 10 min at 65°C. RNAs were resuspended in RNase-free water and quantified with the Nanodrop spectrophotometer.

#### II.11.2. cDNA synthesis

cDNAs were synthesized from total RNAs with the iScript<sup>TM</sup> cDNA Synthesis kit (Biorad). 1  $\mu$ g of total RNAs was mixed with 4  $\mu$ l of 5x Reaction mix, 1  $\mu$ l of reverse transcriptase and nuclease-free water in a total reaction volume of 20  $\mu$ l. The following program was performed on a thermocycler T3000 (Biometra): step 1: 5 min at 65°C, step 2: 5

min at 4°C, step 3: 25 min at 42°C, step 4: 15 min at 70°C, step 5: pause at 16°C. cDNAs were then diluted 20 times for qRT-PCR analysis.

#### II.11.3. Quantitative real time PCR

Viral RNA levels in flies were measured by qPCR from samples with 6 individuals (3 males and 3 females), using the iQTM Custom SYBR Green Supermix kit (Biorad). 2.4  $\mu$ l of Supermix, 0.3  $\mu$ l of forward and 0.3  $\mu$ l of reverse primers, 5  $\mu$ l of water were added to 20 times diluted cDNA in a total volume of 10  $\mu$ l. The qPCR was performed on a CFX384 Touch<sup>TM</sup> Real-Time PCR platform (Bio-Rad), with the following program: step 1: 3 min at 95°C, step 2: 10 sec at 95°C, step 3: 30 sec at 55°C. Go to step 2 and repeat 39 times.

Viral RNA levels in cells were measured by qRT-PCR using Power SYBR Green Cell-to-CT kit (Ambion<sup>®</sup>), according to the manufacturer's instructions, on a CFX384 Touch<sup>™</sup> Real-Time PCR platform (Bio-Rad). This kit combines all tools for RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis and qPCR.

Sequences of primers used for qPCR are indicated in **Table 6**. In all cases, gene expression was normalized to the expression of the ribosomal protein-coding gene *RpL32*.

Primers	Sequence
RpL32 Fwd	5'-GACGCTTCAAGGGACAGTATCTG-3'
RpL32 Rev	5'-AAACGCGGTTCTGCATGAG-3'
DCV Fwd	5'-TCATCGGTATGCACATTGCT-3'
DCV Rev	5'-CGCATAACCATGCTCTTCTG-3'
CrPV Fwd	5'-GCTGAAACGTTCAACGCATA-3'
CrPV Rev	5'-CCACTTGCTCCATTTGGTTT-3'
FHV Fwd	5'-TTTAGAGCACATGCGTCCAG-3'
FHV Rev	5'-CGCTCACTTTCTTCGGGTTA-3'
VSV Fwd	5'-CATGATCCTGCTCTTCGTCA-3'
VSV Rev	5'-TGCAAGCCCGGTATCTTATC-3'

SINV Fwd	5'-CAAATGTGCCACAGATACCG-3'
SINV Rev	5'-ATACCCTGCCCTTTCAACAA-3'
IIV-6 Fwd	5'-TTGTTAGGAATTGGAACTGGAA-3'
IIV-6 Rev	5'-GCCCTAGATGCTGCTTGTTC-3'
Nora Virus Fwd	5'-AACCTCGTAGCAATCCTCTCAAG-3'
Nora Virus Rev	5'-TTCTTGTCCGGTGTATCCTGTATC-3'

Table 2. List of primers used for qPCR.

#### II.12. Protein analysis

#### **II.12.1. Protein extraction**

Cells were homogenized in Cell Extraction Buffer (CEB, Invitrogen) mixed with 1 dose of protease inhibitor (PI) cocktail complete mini (Roche). After 30 min incubation on ice (vortexing every 10 min), cell lysate was centrifuged for 10 min at 14000 rpm and the supernatant was collected in a new tube (cell lysate, « input »). Proteins were quantified by Bradford Protein assay (Biorad). Samples were mixed with 5x Laemmli loading buffer (400 mM Tris Base, 8% LiDS, 30% Glycerol, 408 mM MAC, 0.1% bromophenol blue, final pH 6.8), incubated for 5 min at 95°C and applied to 12% SDS-PAGE gel.

#### II.12.2. Immnoprecipitation

 $50 \ \mu$ l of Anti-FLAG beads (Clontech) or anti-HA beads (Sigma) were mixed with 200 ul of Ab binding buffer (from Dynabeads® Protein G Immunoprecipitation Kit, invitrogen). Beads were resuspended in 200  $\mu$ L Ab binding buffer and incubated for 20 min at room temperature under rotation. Then, beads were resuspended in 250  $\mu$ L of CEB+PI and mixed with 250  $\mu$ l of cell lysate 1h30 at 4°C for anti-FLAG beads or overnight at 4°C for anti-HA beads. After incubation, beads were washed three times with Washing buffer (from Dynabeads<sup>®</sup> Protein G Immunoprecipitation Kit, invitrogen) and resuspended in 40  $\mu$ l of 5x Laemmli loading buffer. After vortexing, beads were incubated at 95°C for 3 min, centrifuged 3 min at 2000 rpm and the supernatant was collected in a new tube (« IP »).

#### II.12.3. Western blot

Migration of samples was performed in 1x TCG buffer (Tris/Glycine/SDS Buffer, Biorad) for 1h30 at 130 volts. Proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane for 2 h at 25 volts with wet transfer system (Invitrogen). Then, the membrane was saturated for 1 h at room temperature in 3% milk (Biorad) diluted in TBST 1x (10x TBST pH 7.6 containing TrisHCl pH 7.2 100mM, NaCl 90 g/L and 0.5% Tween-20). The primary antibody was incubated overnight at 4°C in TBST 1x 0.3% milk. The membrane was washed three times for 10 min with TBST 1x and the secondary antibody was added in TBST 1x for 1 h at room temperature. After incubation, the membrane was washed three times with TBST 1x and incubated with ECL<sup>TM</sup> (Prime) Western Blotting Detection Reagent (Amersham<sup>TM</sup>).

Polyclonal rabbit antiserums directed against DCV (anti-DCV-F3) and Pastrel, and the anti-actin monoclonal antibody (Millipore) were used in a dilution of 1:5000. A mouse antiserum directed against DCV (anti-DCV-1) was also used, mentioned in the figure legend. Rabbit anti-FLAG (Abcam) and mouse anti-HA (Sigma) antibodies were used in a dilution of 1:2000 and 1:2500 respectively. Secondary antibodies against mouse or rabbit (Fisher Scientific) conjugated to horseradish peroxidase were used at the dilutions of 1:5000 and 1:1000 respectively.

For biotinylation procedure, the membrane was saturated overnight at 4°C in 10% milk (Biorad) diluted in TBST 1x. After incubation, the membrane was washed three times with TBST 1x for 10 min at room temperature and 5 ml of Streptavidine-POD (ROCHE) 1:5000 diluted in TBST 1x - 2% BSA was added onto the membrane at 4°C. After 5 min of incubation, the membrane was washed three times with TBST 1x for 10 min and next two times with PBS for 10 min at room temperature. Then, the revelation was performed as described above.

#### II.12.4. Immunostaining

Cells were fixed for 10 min in 4% solution of paraformaldehyde (PFA). After two washes with PBS 1x - 0.1% Triton-x-100 (PBT) solution, blocking was performed by

incubation of the fixed cells with PBT supplemented with 10% Fetal Calf Serum for 30 min. Cells were then incubated for 2h at room temperature with primary antibodies. Cells were washed twice with PBT and then incubated with a secondary antibody for 1h at room temperature. For immunofluorescence assays, images were acquired using confocal LSM700 and analyzed with ImageJ. For flow cytometry analysis, cells were passed on FACS ARIA II and data were analyzed with FlowJo software.

*Drosophila* fat body were dissected in PBS and transferred in 4% paraformaldehyde for 30 min. Fat bodies were washed three times for 5 min with PBS-Tween 0.2% and next incubated for 1h in a solution of PBS-Tween 1%-BSA 2%. Primary antibodies were diluted in PBS-Tween 0.2%-BSA 2% and added to the tube. After overnight incubation at 4°C, fat bodies were washed three times for 5 min with PBS-Tween 0.2% and incubated with secondary antibodies diluted in PBS-Tween 0.2% for 2h at room temperature. Fat bodies were washed three times, incubated with Nile Red solution at a concentration of 1µM for 5 min at room temperature and then mounted into Vectashield containing DAPI.

Primary antibodies used for immunostaining were a mouse antiserum directed against DCV (anti-DCV-1) or CrPV (anti-CrPV-4), produced in the laboratory; a rabbit anti-serum directed against Pastrel (provided by Dr. Stéphane Noselli), a mouse anti-FHV antiserum (from Dr. Annette Schneeman), a goat anti-VSV-G-FITC antibody and an anti-beta-cop antibody (Abcam). We used secondary antibodies coupled with Alexa Fluor 488, 568 or 647 (Invitrogen).

To induce the formation of lipid droplets in *Drosophila* S2 cells and thereby facilitate observations, complete medium was supplemented with 400  $\mu$ M Sodium Oleate (Sigma) / BSA 0.5%.

#### II.13. Statistical analysis

An unpaired two-tailed Student t test was used for statistical analysis of data with GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software). The p values lower than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Survival curves were plotted and analyzed by log-rank analysis (Kaplan–Meier method) using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software).

Part III

RESULTS



# Pastrel: a restriction factor for picorna-like viruses in *Drosophila*

Powerful genetic tools available in *Drosophila* combined with a large panel of model viruses able to infect fruit fly, provides a good model to identify and characterize new genes involved in antiviral defense. Viral restriction factors are pooly identified and characterized in *Drosophila*, as discussed in the Chapter 3 of the Introduction. This contrasts with the characterization of a larger number of genes restricting viral infection in mammals.

# 4.1. Research of the cause of susceptibility of flies to DCV infection: Identification of *pastrel* gene.

Differences of susceptibility of flies to DCV infection *in vivo* were suspected from previous studies performed in the laboratory. Strikingly, this variability in the susceptibility to DCV infection concerned not only fly lines used as control in the laboratory, but also different stocks of the same control line. In the course of the experiments carried in the laboratory to characterize the impact of mutations on resistance to DCV infection, we noticed differences in the susceptibility to infection of the lines used as wild-type controls. These correspond to different wild-type strains (*Ore-R*, *Canton-S*), or mutant flies carrying useful phenotypically visible genetic markers frequently used in our experiments (e.g., white  $(w^{1})$ , cinnabar (cn), brown (bw)). We therefore decided to verify this variability, and identify its cause.

## 4.1.a. Wide variability in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV, but not CrPV and FHV, infection.

We first confirmed that laboratory control flies showed differences in term of susceptibility to DCV infection. We collected control flies available in the laboratory and infected them by intra-thoracic injection of DCV (500 PFU). We monitored survival daily at 22°C and measured virus load after 1, 2, 3 and 4 days post-infection (**Figure 11A** and **11B**). *yw* and  $w^{A5001}$  flies were more susceptible to DCV infection compared to *Canton-S* and *DD1 cnbw* flies (**Figure 11A**). *Canton-S* and *DD1 cnbw* flies died 4 days later than *yw* and  $w^{A5001}$  flies. This difference of susceptibility to DCV infection was correlated with the DCV RNA level (**Figure 11B**). *yw* and  $w^{A5001}$  flies have higher DCV RNA levels during the course of the infection (days 2, 3 and 4) compared to *Canton-S* and *DD1 cnbw* flies (**Figure 11B**). Then we wondered whether differences in susceptibility between laboratory control flies also

concerned viruses other than DCV. We observed that susceptibility to Cricket Paralysis Virus (CrPV), a virus whose genome is closely related to DCV genome, and Flock House Virus (FHV) infection was similar among control flies, except for *DD1 cnbw* flies which displayed a small increase in sensitivity to CrPV infection, but not reflected on the virus titre (**Figure 11C** and **11E**). All flies died in 14 days after CrPV infection (5 PFU) and 12 days after FHV infection (500 PFU). The similar pattern of susceptibility between *yw*,  $w^{A5001}$ , *Canton-S* and *DD1 cnbw* flies to CrPV and FHV infection is correlated with similar viral RNA levels during the course of the infection (**Figure 11D** for CrPV and **11F** for FHV). No statistical difference was observed for CrPV RNA level at 1, 2 and 3 days post infection and FHV RNA level at 2, 4, 6 and 8 days post infection between *yw*,  $w^{A5001}$  flies (sensitive to DCV infection) and *Canton-S*, *DD1 cnbw* flies (resistant to DCV infection).


**Figure 11. Wide variability in the susceptibility to DCV infection, but not to CrPV and FHV infection, between laboratory control flies. A.** Flies (4-8 days) were infected with DCV (500 PFU) and survival was monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. **B.** DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 1, 2, 3 and 4 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. **C.** Flies (4-8 days) were infected with CrPV (5 PFU) and survival was monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 5 independent experiments. **D.** CrPV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 1, 2, and 3 days

of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 2 independent experiments. **E.** Flies (4-8 days) were infected with FHV (500 PFU) and survival was monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 2 independent experiments. **F.** FHV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 2, 4, 6 and 8 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 2 independent experiments. For panels **B.**, **D.** and **F.**, qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32. Canton-S* flies were used as reference for statistical analysis.

Altogether, we observed that yw and  $w^{A5001}$  flies were higher sensitive to DCV infection, but not CrPV and FHV infection than *Canton-S* and *DD1 cnbw* flies. We also showed that  $w^{1118}$  flies had comparable susceptibility to DCV, CrPV and FHV infection than yw and  $w^{A5001}$  flies (**data not shown**).

# 4.1.b. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two *Ore-R* stocks to picorna-like viruses DCV and CrPV, and DNA virus IIV-6 infection, but not FHV, VSV and SINV infection.

Our data indicate that flies routinely used as controls in our experiments vary widely in their sensitivity to DCV infection, for unknown reasons. While these experiments were ongoing, one post-doctoral fellow in the laboratory noticed that the wild-type Ore-R strain she was using in her infections was highly susceptible to DCV infection (Dr. Stefanie Mueller, personnal communication). These Ore-R flies had been maintained in the laboratory of Dr. Dominique Ferrandon, and will thereafter be referred to as  $Ore-R^{DF}$ . We compared their resistance to DCV infection to that of an independent stock which had been maintained in our group ( $Ore-R^{JLI}$ ). We observed a wide difference in the susceptibility of flies to DCV infection between two stocks of Oregon flies (Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> and Ore-R<sup>ILI</sup>, Figure 12A). Ore-R<sup>ILI</sup> flies died 3 days later than Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> flies after intrathoracic injection of DCV (500 PFU) at 22°C (Figure 12A). The higher resistance of  $Ore - R^{JLI}$  flies to DCV infection was correlated with a lower DCV RNA level (6.35-fold) at 3 days post infection (Figure 12A). We observed that  $Ore-R^{JLI}$  flies were also more resistant to CrPV infection (5 PFU) compared to  $Ore-R^{DF}$ flies and showed higher CrPV RNA levels after 3 days of infection (Figure 12B). Even if it is not significative in the format of our experiments, we observed a decreased CrPV RNA level in Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup> flies compared to Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> flies. In summary, Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup> flies are more resistant than  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies to infection by *Dicistroviridae* DCV and CrPV.



**Figure 12. Wide variability in the susceptibility of two** *Ore-R* **stocks to DCV and CrPV infection, but not FHV infection. A.** Flies (4-8 days) were infected with DCV (500 PFU) and survival was monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 17 independent experiments. **B.** DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 3 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 5 independent experiments. **C.** Flies (4-8 days) were infected with CrPV (5 PFU) and survival was monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 4 monitored daily at 22°C.

independent experiments. **D.** CrPV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 3 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 4 independent experiments. **E.** Flies (4-8 days) were infected with FHV (500 PFU) and survival was monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. **F.** FHV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 3 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. **F.** FHV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 3 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. For panels **B.**, **D.** and **F.**, qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*.

We next tested if a difference of susceptibility was observed with other families of RNA viruses: FHV (Nodaviridae), VSV (Rhabdoviridae), SINV (Togaviridae) and a DNA virus: IIV-6 (Iridoviridae). No statistical difference was observed between survival and virus load of  $Ore-R^{JLI}$  and  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies challenged by FHV infection (500 PFU, Figure 12C). We observed a difference of susceptibility of  $Ore-R^{JLI}$  and  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies to VSV infection (5000 PFU) after 20 days of infection (Figure 13B). However, we believe that this difference is due to injury after injection, not to VSV infection. Indeed, we also observed a difference in survival between the two Ore-R stocks injected with TRIS buffer (Figure 13A). This is also consistent with VSV RNA level after 5 days of infection, which is similar between  $Ore-R^{JLI}$ and  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies (Figure 13C). We did not observe variability in the susceptibility of Ore- $R^{JLI}$  and  $Ore - R^{DF}$  flies to SINV infection (2500 PFU, figure 13D). Survival curves of SINVinfected  $Ore-R^{JLI}$  and  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies overlap each other whereas a difference of susceptibility is observed with TRIS injections, suggesting that  $Ore - R^{DF}$  flies may be more resistant to SINV infection. Contradictorily, SINV RNA level was significantly higher in Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> flies after 5 days of infection (Figure 13E). Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> flies infected by the DNA virus IIV-6 showed higher sensitivity than  $Ore - R^{JLI}$  flies (Figure 13F), and a higher IIV-6 DNA level at 20 days post infection (Figure 13G). In summary, only IIV-6 shows differences between the two Ore-R stocks.



**Figure 13. Variability in the susceptibility of two** *Ore-R* **flies to IIV-6 infection, but not VSV and SINV infections. A.** Flies (4-8 days) were injected by TRIS buffer as non-infected control. **B.** Flies (4-8 days) were infected with VSV (5000 PFU) and survival was monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. C. VSV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 5 days of infection. Bar graphs

represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. **D.** Flies (4-8 days) were infected with SINV (2500 PFU) and survival was monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. **E.** SINV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 5 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. **F.** Flies (4-8 days) were infected with IIV-6 (5000 PFU) and survival was monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. **G.** IIV-6 DNA level was measured by qPCR after 20 days of infection. For panels **C.**, **E.** and **G.**, qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*.

We next started to investigate the cause of the variability of susceptibility between laboratory control flies. For this, we decided to focus on the viruses for which we observed the strongest effects, namely the picorna-like viruses DCV and CrPV.

### 4.1.c. No DCV fragments integrated in the genome of laboratory control flies.

Recently, the group of Dr. Carla Saleh revealed the presence of viral DNA forms in *Drosophila* cells infected by the RNA viruses FHV and DCV, which would play a role in the establishment of resistance to infection. The authors hypothesized that DNA forms may serve as initiators of antiviral response through the RNA interference pathway (Goic et al., 2013). We sought to verify if such DNA forms from DCV may be present in laboratory control flies and trigger antiviral resistance to DCV infection. We constructed four probes against the DCV genome and performed Southern blots to detect the eventual presence of DCV genome fragments integrated in the genome of *DD1 cnbw*, *Ore-R<sup>ILI</sup>* and  $w^{A5001}$  flies. As a control, we designed a probe against the Toll gene (**Figure 14A**). Toll fragments were detected in *DD1 cnbw*, Ore-*R<sup>ILI</sup>* and  $w^{A5001}$  flies. Similarly, we hybridized DCV probes (A, B, C and D) with the membrane but no DCV fragment was detected in the genome of the three *Drosophila* strains (**Figure 14C**, representative of DCV probe A hybridization). As a positive control, a plasmid containing a DCV fragment was digested by the same restriction enzymes and hybridized with DCV probe A (**Figure 14B**). It revealed DCV fragments, indicating that method is working.





DCV plasmid

(pJL-487-7)

DCV probe A

Figure 14. TOLL DNA fragments, but no DCV fragments, were detected by southern blot in *DD1 cnbw*, *Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup>* and  $w^{A5001}$  flies. A. Southern blot hybridized with probe against TOLL gene. B. Plasmid with DCV fragment hybridized with probe against DCV genome. C. Southern blot hybridized with probe against DCV genome. For all panels, genomes of *DD1 cnbw*, Ore-*R<sup>JLI</sup>* and  $w^{A5001}$  flies were digested by *EcoRI*, *PstI*, *PvuII* and *SalI*.

In summary, we cannot attribute the difference of susceptibility of flies to DCV infection to the presence of DCV DNA forms in the genome. However, it seemed that sensitivity or resistance to DCV infection was strain specific and not caused by a pathogen transmitted via feces (discussed after in chapter 5). At this point, we suspected that genetic determinants may confer resistance or sensitivity to DCV infection.

## 4.1.d. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted

In order to identify if the cause of susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetic, we crossed together DCV resistant flies and DCV sensitive flies. We next infected the F1 progeny by DCV (500 PFU) to identify if these flies were sensitive or resistant to DCV infection (**Figures 15 and 16**).

The progeny resulting of the cross between  $Ore - R^{JLI}$  males and  $Ore - R^{DF}$  females was as resistant to DCV infection as the parental  $Ore - R^{JLI}$  flies (Figure 15A and 15B). These results indicate that the susceptibility to DCV infection is genetically transmitted. The progeny resulting from the reciprocal cross ( $Ore - R^{JLI}$  females and  $Ore - R^{DF}$  males) showed similar resistance to DCV infection. This indicates that the allele conferring resistance to DCV infection is autosomal-dominant. The F1 progeny recovered a lower DCV RNA level than  $Ore - R^{DF}$  flies, similar to  $Ore - R^{JLI}$  flies after 3 days of infection (Figure 15C).



Figure 15. The susceptibility of two Ore-R stocks flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted, and the resistant allele is autosomal-dominant. A. Representation of the cross between  $Ore-R^{ILI}$  and  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies. B. Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup> flies were crossed with  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies at 25°C. Parent flies and F1 progeny were injected by TRIS (control, empty symbols) and DCV (500 PFU, filled symbols). Survivals were monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. C. DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 3 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 1 experiment. qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*.

We also crossed resistant *Canton-S* and *DD1 cnbw* flies with sensitive  $w^{A5001}$  and yw flies respectively. We observed that the progeny resulting of these crosses, and also reciprocal crosses, was resistant to DCV infection, as the resistant parental flies (Figure 16A and 16B).



Figure 16. The susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted, and the resistant allele is autosomal-dominant. A. Representation of the cross between DD1 cnbw and yw flies. B. DD1 cnbw and yw flies were crossed at 25°C. Parent flies and F1 progeny were injected by TRIS (control, empty symbols) and DCV (500 PFU, filled symbols). Survivals were monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation

of 3 independent experiments. C. Representation of the cross between *Canton-S* and  $w^{A5001}$  flies. D. *Canton-S* and  $w^{A5001}$  flies were crossed at 25°C. Parent flies and F1 progeny were injected by TRIS (control, empty symbols) and DCV (500 PFU, filled symbols). Survivals were monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. For all panels, sensitive flies are indicated in red and resistant flies are indicated in blue.

Altogether, these results indicate that the susceptibility to DCV infection between two stocks of *Ore-R* flies or between different laboratory control flies is caused by genetic determinants on the second and/or third chromosome. Interestingly, it was reported in the literature that differences of susceptibility to DCV infection between *Charolles* and *Nagasaki* wild-type flies may be caused by genetic determinants on the third chromosome (**Thomas-Orillard et al, 1995**). At that time, we heard from Prof. Francis Jiggins in Cambridge that a gene on the third chromosome, named *pastrel*, was determining the susceptibility of flies to DCV infection (personal communication with Prof. Jean-Luc Imler). We then looked for polymorphisms in the *pastrel* gene which could correlate with the sensitivity or resistance of our *Drosophila* strains to DCV infection.

## 4.1.e. Correlation between the polymorphism in *pst* gene and DCV susceptibility

The complete sequencing of the *pastrel* gene from our resistant (*Canton-S* and *DD1 cnbw*) and sensitive (*yw* and  $w^{A5001}$ ) flies allowed the identification of three single nucleotides polymorphisms (SNPs) correlating with their degree of susceptibility to DCV infection (**Figure 17A and 17B**). Two of them are present in introns 1 and 5 (3L:7352966 T/G and 3L:7351494 C/T respectively). The last SNP is present in exon 6 of *pastrel* gene and induces an amino acid substitution (3L:7350895 C/T (Ala/Thr)).



**Figure 17. Susceptibility of flies to DCV infection is correlated with polymorphisms in** *pastrel* gene. **A.** Representation of *pastrel* gene with exons indicated in red squares. Three SNPs identified as correlated with DCV susceptibility are indicated in bold. Two SNPs are present in introns. The third SNP is present in exon 6 and induces an amino acid substitution. **B.** Fly strains sensitive or resistant to DCV infection display sensitive or resistant alleles of *pastrel*, respectively.

In addition to SNPs, we also noticed after amplification of the *pastrel* gene from flies for sequencing, that duplications with deleted version of *pastrel* gene were present in some of our fly stocks and *Drosophila* cell lines. The amplification of the *pastrel* gene from laboratory control flies with primers designed at each of its extremity produced a single band of 2,989 kb, the expected length of *pastrel* gene (Figure 18A). Unexpectidely, additional bands of *pastrel* were amplified from a deficiency line, a mutant for the transcription factor Dif, and some *Drosophila* cell lines (S2, S2R+ and KC167 cell lines) (Figure 18B). We also amplified the *pastrel* gene from two lines used in genome wide association study (GWAS) by Prof. Jiggins (lines 45 and 101). Flies from line 45 are resistant to DCV infection whereas flies from line 101 are sensitive (data not shown). Unexpectidely, we amplified additional bands of *pastrel* from the line 101, but a single band from line 45, with the expected size of *pastrel* gene (Figure 18C). The sequencing of the lower band revealed that a *pastrel* truncated version of 1755 kb length was present in the genome of these flies and cells (Figure 18D). The deletion is extended from position 1072 in exon 6 to position 2306 in exon 2, with two adenosines at the junction. The other bands were characterized by the group of Prof Jiggins.

They further analysed whether the presence of these duplications is associated with the susceptibility of flies to DCV infection but they did not find a significative association (personnal communication, Prof. Jiggins).



Figure 18. Identification of a deleted version of pastrel gene present in the genome of some flies and cells. A. to C. PCR amplification on genomic DNA from flies or cells with

specific primers for each extremity of *pastrel* gene, followed by gel electophoresis. **D.** Representation of the truncated version of *pastrel*, sequenced from S2 cells and fly line 101.

Surprisingly, the sequencing of *pastrel* gene from *Ore-R<sup>IL1</sup>* and *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* flies revealed new polymorphisms not found in the other laboratory control flies (**Figure 19**). Interestingly, the T521C SNP in exon 6 of *pastrel* gene was also correlated with the susceptibility of flies to DCV infection. Moreover, we observed previously that *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* flies die in 5 days and *yw* and  $w^{A5001}$  flies die in 7 days. *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* flies die also earlier after CrPV infection than other control flies. The high sensitivity of *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* flies to DCV and CrPV infection may correlate with the new polymorphisms found in this strain. We also observed that wild-type *Charolles* flies were highly sensitive to DCV infection, comparable to *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* (**data not shown**). The polymorphisms in the *pastrel* gene of *Charolles* flies remain to be characterized, to verify whether unusual polymorphisms of *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* flies are present in *Charolles* flies, and thereby may correlate with the high sensitivity of both strains to DCV infection. At least, we confirmed that they display the SNP 3L:7350895 Thr (T at position 521 in the gene (T521)), present in all DCV sensitive flies. Additionaly, the susceptibility of *Charolles* flies to CrPV infection remains to be investigated.



Figure 19. SNPs found exclusively in *pastrel* gene of  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies may correlate with higher sensitivity to DCV and CrPV infection. SNPs were found in *pst* gene of  $Ore-R^{DF}$  but not in *Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup>*,  $w^{A5001}$ , *DD1 cnbw* or *Canton-S*. SNPs found only by comparing *pst* gene of *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* and *Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup>* are indicated in bold. SNPs resulting in amino acid substitution are underlined. T521 (in red) is the SNP determined as sensitive allele.

The group of Pr. Jiggins classified the SNP in exon 6 (3L:7350895 Ala/Thr) as mainly responsible of differences of susceptibility to DCV infection, even if they do not exclude the participation of other SNPs in the phenotype (Magwire et al., 2012). On our side, we also observed that this SNP always correlated with sensitivity or resistance to DCV infection. We therefore used this SNP to diagnose the presence of sensitive or resistant alleles of *pastrel*. In this way, we developed allele specific PCR assay for fast genotyping of the fly strains used in the laboratory (**Figure 20**).



**Figure 20.** Allele specific PCR assay for fast genotyping of the sensitive and resistant alleles of *pastrel* gene. Primers to detect SNP 3L:7350895 Ala/Thr (or C521T) were designed using Web-based Allele-Specific PCR assay designing tool (Wangkumhang et al., 2007). PCR was performed with temperature gradient from 54°C to 64°C.

In order to clarify if polymorphisms present in the *pastrel* gene could impact on the susceptibility of flies to DCV infection, we decided to check whether the *pastrel* gene is required to resist to DCV infection.

## 4.2. Knockdown of *pst* gene increases the susceptibility of flies to DCV and CrPV infection

We obtained flies mutants for *pastrel* gene (Pst<sup>1</sup> flies) from Dubnau et al, 2003. Unfortunately, we did not find any *p* element inserted in the *pastrel* gene of these flies (**data not shown**). Moreover, normal *pst* RNA expression was detected by qPCR (**data not shown**). Even if we observed a high sensitivity of Pst<sup>1</sup> flies to DCV infection (**data not shown**), we cannot attribute it to the absence of *pastrel* gene expression but rather to sensitive *pst* allele (*pst* genotyping). Without any *pastrel* mutant fly available, we therefore investigated the effect of knocking down *pastrel* gene expression by RNA interference on DCV infection in flies. We used flies from the VDRC collection, which express inverted repeats under the control of the yeast UAS-Gal4 promoter. Before starting the crosses, we genotyped *pastrel* allele of flies to be in the same genetic background for *pastrel* gene. All flies had *pastrel* sensitive allele (**data not shown**).

We first knocked down *pastrel* gene with the strong driver Actin-Gal4 but we were not able to obtain flies with the right genotype. This suggests that *pastrel* gene expression may be involved in fly development, in addition to its putative antiviral function. To resolve this problem, we used an Actin-Gal4-Tubulin-Gal80<sup>ts</sup> system in which Gal4 expression is repressed by Gal80 at the restrictive temperature of 18°C. After the emergence of progeny, we transferred flies 0-4 days old at 29°C during 4 days to inactivate Gal80 and allow *pastrel* gene knockdown. Flies injected by TRIS buffer were perfectly fine (**Figure 21A**). We infected 4-8 days old flies with DCV (500 PFU) and transferred them to 22°C. We observed a higher DCV sensitivity for *pastrel*-silenced flies compared to control flies (**Figure 21B**). Death occurred at a median of 3.5 days for *pastrel* knocked down flies and 5.5 days for control flies. The DCV RNA level was also increased in *pastrel*-depleted flies compared to control flies during the course of the infection.

As previously mentionned, *Canton-S*, *DD1 cnbw*, *yw* and  $w^{A5001}$  flies did not show a wide variability in their susceptibility to CrPV infection, indicating that polymorphisms in *pastrel* gene did not affect CrPV susceptibility (**Figure 11**). However, there was a difference of 3 days in the susceptibility to CrPV infection between *Ore-R*<sup>DF</sup> and *Ore-R*<sup>ILI</sup> flies (**Figure 12**) and *Ore-R*<sup>DF</sup> showed unique polymorphisms (**Figure 19**). Thus, we also verified if pastrel controls CrPV infection. Interestingly, we observed that *pastrel*-silenced flies died faster than control flies after CrPV infection (**Figure 21C**). This higher susceptibility was also correlated to a higher CrPV RNA level at 2, 3 and 4 days post infection.



**Figure 21.** Knockdown of *pastrel* gene in whole flies increases their susceptibility to DCV and CrPV infection. A. Flies were injected by TRIS buffer as control (empty symbols). B. Flies were infected with DCV (500 PFU). DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 1, 2 and 3 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 2 independent experiments. C. Flies were infected with CrPV (5 PFU). CrPV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 1, 2, 3, and 4 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 2 independent experiments. For all panels, flies were crossed at 18°C and progeny (0-4 days) was collected at 29°C for 4 days. Flies (4-8 days) were infected with DCV or CrPV and survivals were monitored at 22°C.

To conclude, these results indicate that *pastrel* restricts infection by DCV and CrPV *in vivo*.

We looked at microarrays data from FlyAtlas to know which tissues harbor a high level of *pastrel* expression. Interestingly, we found that *pastrel* gene is highly expressed in the fat body (**Figure 22**).



**Figure 22.** *pastrel* gene expression in organs and tissues from adult *Canton-S* flies. These data were adapted from FlyAtlas Anatomy Microarray.

The fat body is a major tissue targeted by DCV for replication (discussed in Chapter 1). We observed that silencing of *pastrel* in this tissue also increases viral titer and susceptibility to infection (**Figure 23B** and **23C**). As a control, flies were insensitive to TRIS buffer injection (**Figure 23A**). The silencing of *pastrel* also affects the resistance of flies to CrPV infection (**Figure 23D**). This higher susceptibility to CrPV infection is correlated with a higher viral titer (**Figure 23E**).



**Figure 23.** Specific knockdown of *pastrel* gene in the fat body increases the susceptibility of flies to DCV and CrPV infection. A. Flies were injected by TRIS buffer as control (empty symbols). B. Flies were infected with DCV (500 PFU). C. DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 1 and 2 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments. D. Flies were infected with CrPV (5 PFU). E. CrPV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 1, 2 and 3 days of infection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 1 experiment. For panels A, B, C, and D. Flies were crossed at 25°C, fly progeny (4-8 days) was infected and survivals or virus load were monitored at 22°C (except panel E., 25°C). For panels A, B, and D, bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of at least 2 independent experiments.

By contrast, silencing *pastrel* expression in midgut epithelial cells, where we did not detect DCV infection, had no effect on fly susceptibility (**Figure 24A** and **24B**), nor on viral titer (**Figure 24C**).



**Figure 24.** Specific knockdown of *pastrel* gene in the intestinal epithelium of flies does not affect the resistance to DCV infection. A. Flies were injected by TRIS buffer as control (empty symbols). B. Flies were infected with DCV (500 PFU). C. DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 1, 2 and 3 days of infection. For all panels, flies were crossed at 25°C, the progeny (4-8 days) was infected and survivals or virus load were monitored at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of at least 2 independent experiments.

Altogether, these data confirm that *pastrel* controls the susceptibility of flies to DCV and CrPV infection. Interestingly, the control of both DCV and CrPV viral infections relies on the expression of *pastrel* in the fat body. Additionaly, our data indicate that *pastrel* gene expression in the epithelial midgut does not contribute to the control of DCV infection. Our group further investigated the localization of DCV in the gut. We were able to find DCV particles in the smooth muscles around the gut but not in the epithelial midgut (**data not shown**). This may explain the absence of increased susceptibility to DCV infection after *pastrel* knockdown in the epithelial midgut.

## 4.3. Polymorphisms in *pastrel* gene do not affect protein stability

We showed that knockdown of *pastrel* gene expression increases sensitivity of flies to DCV and CrPV infection. We wondered if sensitivity to DCV infection correlated with the expression level of Pastrel protein. This may explain the differences of susceptibility of flies to DCV infection. To address this point, we monitored Pastrel protein expression by western blot in *yw*,  $w^{A5001}$  (DCV sensitive flies) and *Canton-S*, *DD1 cnbw* (DCV resistant flies), using an antibody raised against the Pastrel protein in the group of Dr. Stéphane Noselli (**Figure 25**). The Pastrel protein level was similar between DCV sensitive and resistant flies. This result indicates that the polymorphisms in the *pastrel* gene have no effect on expression or stability of the Pastrel protein.



Figure 25. Flies expressing  $Pst^{S}$  and  $Pst^{R}$  forms show similar levels of Pst protein expression. Pst protein level from Pst sensitive flies (*yw* and *w*<sup>A5001</sup>) and Pst resistant flies (*Canton-S* and *DD1 cnbw*) was revealed by western blot with an antibody against Pst. Antibody against Actin protein was used as loading control.

## 4.4. Does Pastrel overexpression restrict DCV infection in flies ?

Loss of function experiments showed that *pastrel* gene expression is necessary to control DCV infection. We wondered if overexpression of Pastrel protein in flies may control DCV infection. To address this question, we constructed vectors expressing, under the control of HSP-promoter, sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel, tagged by the FLAG epitope in N-terminal. Plasmid constructions were sent to Pr. Jiggins for making transgenic flies and testing effect of Pastrel overexpression on DCV infection. This work is in progress.

In parallel, we obtained from Dr. Stéphane Noselli transgenic flies expressing a Pst-GFP fusion protein under the control of the UAS promoter. We crossed UAS-Pst-GFP flies with yw;Actin-Gal4 flies at 25°C to obtain flies expressing Pst-GFP under actin promoter. *Pastrel* allele of these flies was genotyped: all flies had the *pastrel* sensitive allele, but the *pastrel* transgene was the resistant allele. So we overexpressed the resistant version of the *pastrel* gene in flies with sensitive background for pastrel. We checked that these flies expressed Pst-GFP by looking for GFP under fluorescence microscope (**Figure 26A**). Then, flies were challenged with DCV and FHV (500 PFU) and survival was monitored at 22°C. Overexpression of Pst-GFP in whole flies did not increase their resistance to DCV infection, nor to FHV infection (**Figure 26B** and **26C** respectively). These results indicate that overexpression of Pastrel is not sufficient to restore better survival of flies challenged by DCV. We are now investigating if Pastrel overexpression reduces DCV titer in flies.

Α.



**Figure 26. Overexpression of Pst-GFP in flies does not increase resistance to DCV infection. A.** GFP fluorescence was observed in flies overexpressing Pst-GFP (3) and not in genetic controls (1 and 2). **B.** and **C.** Flies were crossed at 25°C and progeny (4-8 days) was injected by TRIS buffer as control (empty symbols), DCV (500 PFU, panel **B**) and FHV (500 PFU, panel **C**). Survivals were monitored at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments.

#### 4.5. Study of pastrel gene in vitro: Drosophila S2 cells

In order to further characterize the function of Pastrel, we decided to switch to an *ex vivo* system of infection, which is more amenable to experimental manipulation. We have shown *in vivo* that *pastrel* plays a role in the sensitivity or resistance of flies to DCV and CrPV infection. Then, we decided to further characterize the effect of *pastrel* gene expression on the DCV and CrPV infectious cycle by using *Drosophila* S2 cells. We had first to confirm that S2 cells system is suitable to study the effect of *pastrel* on DCV infection.

#### 4.5.a. Knockdown of *pastrel* gene increases DCV susceptibility in *Drosophila* cells

We infected S2 cells with DCV (MOI 1) and followed the viral RNA level at different times after infection (**Figure 27A**). We observed that DCV replicates in S2 cells. We also noticed that *pastrel* gene expression is constantly increased by 25% during the course of the infection, compared to non infected S2 cells (except after 24h of infection). The induction of *pastrel* gene expression is virus-dependant, but not time-dependant (**Figure 27B**).



**Figure 27. DCV replicates in** *Drosophila* **S2 cells and** *pastrel* **gene expression is increased after infection. A. and B.** S2 cells were infected, or not, by DCV (MOI 1). DCV and Pst RNA levels were measured by qPCR after 16h, 24h, 48h and 72h of infection (panels A. and B. respectively). qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 1 experiment (12 wells per condition).

We first confirmed that the increased DCV RNA level observed *in vivo* after *pastrel* gene knockdown is also observed *ex vivo* in *Drosophila* S2 cells. *Drosophila* S2 cells were treated for 5 days with two sets of double stranded RNAs (dsRNAs, **Figure 28A**), recognizing different regions of the *pastrel* gene in order to rule out off-target effects. Cells were then infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 16h. *Drosophila* S2 cells treated with dsRNAs against *pastrel* gene for 5 days showed a 50% reduction of *pastrel* gene expression (**Figure 28B**). This knockdown of *pastrel* gene expression led to a 2-fold increase in DCV RNA level after 16h of infection (**Figure 28C**).

We also observed by western blot that knockdown of *pastrel* gene expression increases DCV capsid protein level in cells and in the supernatant after 48h of infection (**Figure 28D**). We titered DCV infectious particles liberated in the supernatant after 16h of infection. The treatment of *Drosophila* S2 cells with dsRNAs against *pastrel* gene increased by almost 1 log DCV particles liberated in the supernatant (**Figure 28E**).



**Figure 28.** Knockdown of *pastrel* gene in S2 cells increases DCV infection. A. Representation of pastrel RNA with dsRNAs designed against two different regions of pastrel (region A and B). B. Pst RNA level was measured by qPCR after 16h of infection by DCV (MOI 1) in S2 cells treated during 5 days by dsRNAs against GFP and Pst (region A and B). C. DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 16h of infection in S2 cells treated during 5 days by dsRNAs against GFP and Pst (region A and B). D. DCV protein level from S2 cell lysate and supernatant, revealed by western blot. Cells were treated for 5 days by dsRNA against GFP and Pst (region A and B), and infected during 48h by DCV (MOI 1). E. DCV titration after 16h of infection in S2 cells treated by dsRNAs against GFP or Pst (region A and B). For panels B, C, and E, qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 4 independent experiments for panels B and C, and 3 independent experiments for panel E. Western blot from panel D is representative of 3 independent experiments.

We achieved a greater knocked down of *pastrel* gene expression in *Drosophila* S2 cells by performing two dsRNAs treatments (2 x 5days) instead of one as in **Figure 28B**. These two successives treatments of S2 cells with dsRNAs against *pastrel* gene (region A and B) reduced of 3.2-fold the expression of *pastrel* gene, consequently increasing of 5-fold DCV RNA level (**Figure 29A** and **29B**). Compared to single dsRNAs treatment (**Figure 28B**), we observed higher DCV RNA level in cells treated twice with dsRNAs against *pastrel*, probably because Pst RNA level was lower after two dsRNAs treatments than one. This suggests that *pastrel* may control DCV infection in a dose-dependent manner.



**Figure 29. Knockdown of** *pastrel* gene in S2 cells increases DCV infection. A. Pst RNA level was measured by qPCR after 16h of infection by DCV (MOI 1) in S2 cells treated twice during 10 days by dsRNAs against GFP and Pst (region A and B). B. DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 16h of infection in S2 cells treated twice during 10 days by dsRNAs against GFP and Pst (region A and B). For both panels, qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 1 experiment.

We have confirmed that knockdown of *pastrel* gene expression, as in flies, increases DCV infection in *Drosophila* S2 cells. We next checked if CrPV infection in *Drosophila* S2 cells was affected after knockdown of *pastrel* gene. CrPV RNA level was increased after 10 days of treatment by dsRNAs against *pastrel* gene followed by 16h of infection in *Drosophila* S2 cells (Figure 30). *Pastrel* gene expression was 4.5-fold decreased after dsRNA treatment (Figure 30A) and CrPV RNA level was 4.9-fold increased (Figure 30B).



Figure 30. Knockdown of *pastrel* gene in S2 cells increases CrPV infection. A. Pst RNA level was measured by qPCR. B. CrPV RNA level was measured by qPCR. *Drosophila* S2 cells were treated for 10 days by dsRNAs against GFP and Pst (region A and B). Cells were then infected with CrPV (MOI 0,01) for 16h. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 2 (out of 4) independent experiments (n=2x6 wells). qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*.

To conclude, the knockdown of *pastrel* gene in *Drosophila* S2 cells increases DCV and CrPV infection. Finally, *pastrel* gene expression controls DCV and CrPV infections *in vivo* and *in vitro*. We wondered if the overexpression of *pastrel* gene in *Drosophila* S2 cells may control DCV and CrPV infections.

#### 4.5.b. Overexpression of Pastrel protein restricts DCV and CrPV infection

We constructed plasmids to express the sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel protein in *Drosophila* S2 cells under the control of an actin promoter. We added a Red Fluorescent Protein (RFP) tag in N or C-terminal of Pastrel protein for further intracellular localization studies (discussed in section 4.6). As a control, we used the empty vector expressing RFP only. We overexpressed these constructions in *Drosophila* S2 cells by transient transfection (Figure 31A), and then we infected these cells with DCV. The DCV RNA level was significantly reduced in *Drosophila* S2 cells overexpressing Pastrel protein fusions (Figure 31B). However, the effect was smaller than expected.



Figure 31. Transient overexpression of Pastrel full lentgh slightly reduces DCV infection in *Drosophila* S2 cells. A. Pst RNA level was measured by qPCR. B. DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR. *Drosophila* S2 cells were transfected by vectors expressing full-length sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel. Cells were then infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 16h. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 1 experiment (n=12 wells). qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*. Control cells expressing RFP were used as reference for statistical analysis.

Then, we wanted to check, thanks to RFP tag added on Pastrel protein, if the overexpression was homogeneous in the population of cells transfected by the vectors. Only few cells showed a high level of Pastrel expression. Interestingly, we noticed by immunofluorescence assay that cells overexpressing the sensitive or resistant versions of Pastrel were never infected by DCV (data not shown). We also noticed that DCV does not infect each S2 cells in cell culture, even if the multiplicity of infection (MOI) is equal or greater than one. We hypothesized that the moderate effect of Pastrel expression on DCV may result from the low transfection efficiency of Pastrel fusion proteins, coupled to the low efficiency of infection, reducing the probability of DCV to meet a cell overexpressing Pastrel protein. This could mask the effect of Pastrel overexpression on DCV infection. Thus, it appeared necessary to establish stable cell lines overexpressing Pastrel protein fusions to bypass this problem. Stable cell lines overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel tagged in N or C-terminal by RFP were screened by Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting (FACS) analysis (Figure 32A). The clones that had a cell population with an homogenous expression of Pastrel fusions, or RFP only, were selected and infected with DCV (MOI 1). The overexpression of Pastrel constructs was also confirmed by qPCR (Figure 32B and 32C).

Stable cell lines overexpressing Pastrel fusions showed a remarkable decrease of DCV RNA level after 16h and 48h of infection, compared to cells stably expressing RFP as a control (**Figure 32B** and **32C**). We used two independent clones for each Pastrel constructions to avoid positional effect after random integration of our constructs in the genome of *Drosophila* S2 cells. Independent clones showed similar restriction of DCV infection after 16h and 48h of infection. Surprisingly, both sensitive and resistant Pastrel constructs were able to restrict DCV infection. We did not observe a higher resistance to DCV infection in clones overexpressing the resistant version of Pastrel protein compared to clones overexpressing the sensitive version of Pastrel protein. Thus, the high level of expression of the tagged Pastrel protein appears to abolish the difference between the two versions of the Pastrel protein.



Figure 32. *Pst* overexpression decreases DCV RNA level after 16h and 48h of infection. A. Stable cell lines were established to overexpress RFP (control) or Pst sensitive and resistant forms tagged by RFP in N or C-terminal. B. and C. DCV and Pst RNA levels were measured by qPCR after 16h (B.) or 48h (C.) of infection in cells overexpressing RFP and Pst fusions. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments for panel B and 2 independent experiments for panel C. qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.

We have observed a decrease in DCV RNA levels in Drosophila S2 cells overexpressing Pastrel fusions. We further analyzed the effect of Pastrel overexpression by looking at the DCV capsid protein level. By FACS, we were able to discriminate cells infected by DCV from cells non infected by using an antibody against DCV capsid protein. A large subset of cells overexpressing RFP was stained by DCV capsid antibody after 48h of infection (Figure 33A). By contrast, cells overexpressing Pastrel protein fused with RFP were mostly not stained by DCV capsid antibody after 48h of infection (Figure 33B to 33E). The DCV capsid staining was even comparable to the non infected condition, which is antibody background staining. Overexpresion of sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel showed comparable levels of restriction of DCV infection (Figure 33, panels B, D and C, E respectively). We noticed a better restriction of DCV infection in clones overexpressing Pastrel with RFP tag in N-terminal (panels B and C) compared to ones with RFP tag in Cterminal (panels **D** and **E**). A small population of DCV infected cells is detected in clones overexpressing Pastrel-RFP fusions, as if RFP tag in C-terminal of Pastrel would destabilize its antiviral function. This may indicate that the C-terminal region of Pastrel participates in the restriction of DCV infection.



Figure 33. Pst<sup>S</sup> and Pst<sup>R</sup> overexpression restricts DCV infection. Stable cell lines expressing RFP only (control, panel A), Pst sensitive and resistant versions tagged by RFP in N-terminal (panels B and C) or C-terminal (panels D and E), were infected, or not, by DCV (MOI 1) for 48h. Cells were stained with an antibody against DCV capsid and analyzed by FACS ARIA II. Panels are representative of 3 independent experiments. These data were confirmed by 3 other independent experiments with independent clones.

The overexpression of sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel in Drosophila S2 cells restricts DCV infection. We wondered if the better resistance to DCV infection acquired by S2 cells overexpressing Pastrel could be transmitted to Drosophila S2 cells which express endogenous sensitive version of Pastrel (determined by *pastrel* genotyping). To answer this question, Drosophila S2 cells and cells overexpressing Pastrel (sensitive and resistant versions) or RFP (control) were mixed together with a ratio of 1:1. Mixed population of cells were infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 48h, stained by DCV capsid antibody and analyzed by FACS (Figure 34). As a control, both mixed populations of *Drosophila* S2 cells and cells overexpressing RFP were infected by DCV at 48h post infection (Figure 34A). By contrast, only Drosophila S2 cells were infected by DCV after 48h of infection when mixed with cells overexpressing sensitive or resistant versions of Pastrel (Figure 34B and 34C respectively). A lower amount of Drosophila S2 cells was infected by DCV after mixing with cells overexpressing Pastrel, compared to S2 cells mixed with cells overexpressing RFP. This can be explained by a lower quantity of viral particles liberated in the supernatant when S2 cells are mixed with cells overexpressing pastrel, as the total number of DCV infected cells is lower compared to the control. We conclude that the restriction of DCV infection by Pastrel is cell-autonomous. Cells overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel are better protected from DCV infection than normal S2 cells, and do not transmit this higher protection to Drosophila S2 cells.



**Figure 34. Cells overexpressing Pst are better protected from DCV infection compared to cells with endogenous Pst expression.** A. *Drosophila* S2 cells were mixed with stable cell lines overexpressing RFP. B. *Drosophila* S2 cells were mixed with stable cell lines overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel tagged by RFP in N-terminal. S2 cells and stable cell lines were mixed in a 1:1 ratio and infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 48h. Cells were then stained with antibody against DCV capsid and analysed by FACS ARIA II. Panels are representative of 1 experiment. These data were confirmed by 1 experiment with independent clones.

We investigated if overexpression of Pastrel, which restricts DCV infection, also protects cells from CrPV infection. We selected clones overexpressing sensitive and resistant version of Pastrel which showed highest protection to DCV infection and measured CrPV RNA level after 16h and 48h of infection. Cells overexpressing Pastrel (**Figure 35A** and **35C**)

showed reduced CrPV RNA level at 16h and 48h post infection compared to cells overexpressing RFP (Figure 35B and 35D respectively).



Figure 35. Pst<sup>S</sup> and Pst<sup>R</sup> overexpression decreases CrPV RNA level after 16h and 48h of infection. A. and C. Pst RNA level was measured by qPCR after 16h (A.) and 48h (C.) of infection (MOI 0.1). B. and D. CrPV RNA level was measured by qPCR after 16h (B.) and 48h (D.) of infection (MOI 0.1). For all panels, bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 2 independent experiments. qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.
The overexpression of Pastrel in *Drosophila* S2 cells restricts both DCV and CrPV infection. For further confirmation, immunofluorescence assays were performed with antibodies against DCV and CrPV capsid. After 48h of infection, stable cell lines overexpressing sensitive (Figure 36A, panel B) and resistant (Figure 36A, panel C) versions of Pastrel fusions showed reduced number of cells infected by DCV, compared to stable cell lines overexpressing RFP (Figures 36A, panel A). For statistical analysis, we counted the number of cells overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel, or RFP, that were infected by DCV (Figure 36B). Around 30% of cells overexpressing RFP were infected by DCV. By contrast, only 1.8% of cells overexpressing sensitive or resistant versions of Pastrel were infected by DCV. Western blot analysis with DCV capsid antibody revealed that the level of DCV particles was almost not detectable in cells overexpressing Pastrel protein, compared to cells overexpressing RFP (Figure 36C).



**Figure 36.** Overexpression of Pst<sup>S</sup> and Pst<sup>R</sup> decreases the number of cells infected by DCV. A. Stable cell lines overexpressing RFP only (control, panels A and A'), Pst sensitive (panels B and B') and resistant (panels C and C') versions tagged by RFP in N-terminal, were infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 48h. Cells were stained with an antibody against DCV capsid (anti-DCV-1, panels A, B and C). DAPI staining is represented in panels A', B' and C'. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. **B.** DCV infected cells were quantified using ImageJ. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 9 pictures. Panels are representative of 2 independent experiments. **C.** Stable cell lines overexpressing RFP and Pst resistant version tagged by RFP in N-terminal were infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 24h. DCV protein level was revealed by western blot with antibody against DCV (@DCV-1). Antibody against Actin protein was used as loading control. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.

Similarly, cells overexpressing sensitive (**Figure 37A**, panel **B**) and resistant (**Figure 37A**, panel **C**) versions of Pastrel were less infected by CrPV than cells overexpressing RFP (**Figure 37A**, panel **A**). 9% of cells overexpressing RFP were stained with antibody against CrPV capsid. Strikingly, only 0.5% of cells overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel were stained by CrPV antibody after 24h of infection (**Figure 37B**).



**Figure 37. Overexpression of Pst<sup>S</sup> and Pst<sup>R</sup> decreases the number of cells infected by CrPV. A.** Stable cell lines overexpressing RFP only (control, panels A and A'), Pst sensitive (panels B and B') and resistant (panels C and C') versions tagged by RFP in N-terminal, were infected with CrPV (MOI 0.01) for 24h. Cells were stained with an antibody against CrPV capsid (anti-CrPV-4, panels A, B and C). DAPI staining is represented in panels A', B' and C'. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. **B.** CrPV infected cells were quantified using ImageJ. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 9 pictures. Panels are representative of 1 experiment. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.

By contrast, the overexpression of sensitive (Figure 38, panel B) and resistant (Figure 38, panel C) versions of Pastrel did not protect cells from FHV infection (Figure 38). No statistical difference was observed between the number of cells overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel, plus RFP, and stained by antibody against FHV capsid (Figure 38B).



**Figure 38.** Overexpression of Pst<sup>S</sup> and Pst<sup>R</sup> does not affect the number of cells infected by FHV. A. Stable cell lines overexpressing RFP only (control, panels A and A'), Pst sensitive (panels B and B') and resistant (panels C and C') versions tagged by RFP in Nterminal were infected with FHV (MOI 1) for 24h. Cells were stained with an antibody against FHV capsid (anti-FHV-5588, panels A, B and C). DAPI staining is represented in panels A', B' and C'. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. **B.** FHV infected cells were quantified using ImageJ. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 4 pictures. Panels are representative of 1 experiment. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.

Overexpression of sensitive (Figure 39, panel B) and resistant (Figure 39, panel C) versions of Pastrel did not affect the number of cells stained by VSV antibody after 48h of infection, compared to cells overexpressing RFP (Figure 39, panel A). The number of cells infected by VSV was similar between clones overexpressing RFP, sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel (Figure 39B).



**Figure 39. Overexpression of Pst<sup>S</sup> and Pst<sup>R</sup> does not affect the number of cells infected by VSV. A.** Stable cell lines overexpressing RFP only (control, panels A and A'), Pst sensitive (panels B and B') and resistant (panels C and C') versions tagged by RFP in N-terminal were infected with VSV (MOI 25) for 48h. Cells were stained with an antibody against glycoprotein (G) of VSV (anti-VSV-G-FITC, panels A, B and C). DAPI staining is represented in panels A', B' and C'. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. **B.** VSV infected cells were quantified using ImageJ. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 9 pictures. Panels are representative of 1 experiment. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.

Altogether, these results indicate that Pastrel restricts infection by *Dicistroviridae* DCV and CrPV in *Drosophila* S2 cells. However, from our immunofluorescence assay, Pastrel does not affect the infection by *Nodaviridae* FHV and *Rhabdoviridae* VSV. This is in agreement with similar susceptibility to FHV and VSV infection of flies expressing sensitive or resistant versions of Pastrel (see sections **4.1.a** and **4.1.b**). We then looked for the step of *Dicistroviridae* infectious cycle which may be impaired by the antiviral function of Pastrel.

### 4.5.c. Pst antiviral function acts at early steps of DCV infectious cycle

We first investigated if the overexpression of Pastrel affects the binding of DCV particles on the surface of *Drosophila* S2 cells. We performed binding assay by infecting cells with DCV (MOI 20) and incubating them at 4°C for 2h. At this temperature, endocytosis is blocked. So the virus can bind his receptor but cannot enter in the cells. After washing cells, DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR and no statistical difference was observed between cells overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel and RFP (**Figure 40**). As a control, cells were infected for 2h at 25°C. In this condition, we began to see a difference of DCV RNA level between cells overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel and resistant versions of Pastrel and cells overexpressing RFP only. Even if this difference was not significative, it may indicate a early antiviral effect of Pastrel on DCV infectious cycle.



Figure 40. Pst<sup>S</sup> and Pst<sup>R</sup> overexpression does not affect binding of DCV on cells. Stable cell lines overexpressing RFP only (control), sensitive and resistant versions of Pst tagged by RFP in N-terminal, were infected with DCV (MOI 20) for 2h at 4°c to allow DCV binding or 25°C to allow DCV binding and entry. DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR and normalized to *RpL32*. The average standard deviations are representative of 1 out of 5 independent experiments. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets. Pastrel does not affect the binding of DCV particles on *Drosophila* S2 cells. We wondered if the following step, the entry of the virus, is impaired by the antiviral action of Pastrel. To answer this question, we performed a viral entry assay. Cells were infected with DCV (MOI 20), incubated for 2h at 4°C, washed with PBS and switched to 25°C for 3h to allow virus entry. Pastrel overexpression in cells was confirmed by qPCR (**Figure 41A**). By qPCR, we observed a significant decrease of DCV RNA level in cells overexpressing either the sensitive or resistant version of Pastrel compared to cells overexpressing RFP, after 3h of infection (**Figure 41B**).



Figure 41. Pst<sup>S</sup> and Pst<sup>R</sup> overexpression affects entry of DCV in cells. Stable cell lines overexpressing RFP only (control), sensitive and resistant versions of Pst tagged by RFP in N-terminal, were infected with DCV (MOI 20) for 2h at 4°c to allow DCV binding and switched at 25°C for 3h to allow DCV entry. A. Pst RNA level was measured by qPCR. B. DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR. qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene RpL32 and control RFP only was used as reference for analysis. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 4 independent experiments. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.

To summary, Pastrel impairs DCV infection after 3h of infection, without affecting DCV binding. To precisely decipher when does Pastrel begin to exerss its antiviral function, DCV RNA level was measured in cells overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel, cells overexpressing RFP as control, after 2h incubation at 4°C followed by 0, 1, 2, 3,

24h incubation at 25°C (Figure 42). DCV RNA level started to be strongly reduced from 1h after DCV entry in cells overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel, compared to cells overexpressing RFP (Figure 42A). Interestingly, this experiment revealed a progression of DCV infection in cells overexpressing Pastrel. However, this progression of DCV infection was remarkably lower compared to cells overexpressing RFP. DCV RNA level moderately increased between early time points (1, 2 and 3h of infection) and later time point (24h of infection) in cells overexpressing Pastrel, compared to cells overexpressing RFP. The same experiment was performed with CrPV. Surprisingly, the kinetic of CrPV infection at early time points was different to the one of DCV (Figure 42B). A peak of CrPV infection was observed in cells overexpressing RFP but not in cells overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel at 1h after CrPV infection. A second peak of CrPV replication probably appeared after 3h of infection because the CrPV RNA level in S2 cells and cells overexpressing RFP was strikingly increased at 24h post infection. CrPV RNA level was also increased in cells overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel after 24h of infection compared to early time points (1, 2, 3h of infection) but lower than in control cells (Figure 42B).



Figure 42. Pst<sup>S</sup> and Pst<sup>R</sup> overexpression affects DCV and CrPV early after infection. *Drosophila* S2 cells and stable cell lines overexpressing RFP only (control), sensitive and resistant versions of Pst tagged by RFP in N-terminal, were infected with DCV (MOI 20) or CrPV (MOI 0.5) for 2h at 4°c to allow virus binding on cell surface and then transfered at 25°C for 0, 1, 2, 3 and 24h. A. DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR. B. CrPV RNA level was measured by qPCR. qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32* and control RFP only was used as reference for analysis. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 1 experiment. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.

#### 4.5.d. Pst does not affect CrPV IRES translation

Unlike the other viruses not affected by Pastrel, *Dicistroviridae* rely on Internal Ribosome Entry Site (IRES) for the translation of structural and non structural proteins. To test if the overexpression of Pastrel affects the IRES driven translation in *Drosophila* cells, we co-transfected vectors expressing Renilla luciferase under CrPV 5' IRES translation and Firefly luciferase under cap-dependant translation. Dual luciferase assay was performed 48h after transfection. Cells overexpressing Pastrel (sensitive and resistant versions) and RFP showed similar levels of Renilla luciférase, indicating that overexpression of Pastrel does not affect CrPV 5' IRES translation (**Figure 43A**). We also showed that intergenic region (IGR) IRES of CrPV (CrPV IGR IRES) mediated translation was not affected by the overexpression of Pastrel (Figure 43B). Surprisingly, a statistically significant increase of CrPV IGR IRES translation was observed after overexpression of the resistant version of Pastrel. However, this effect was minor and the significance of this observation is not clear at present.



Figure 43. Pst<sup>S</sup> and Pst<sup>R</sup> overexpression does not affect CrPV 5' IRES and CrPV IGR IRES translation. A. Cells were co-transfected by vectors expressing Renilla luciferase under CrPV-5'-IRES translation and Firefly luciferase under cap-dependant translation. B. Cells were transfected by a vector expressing Firefly luciferase under CrPV-IGR-IRES translation and Renilla luciferase under cap-dependant translation. For both panels, 500  $\mu$ M CuSO<sub>4</sub> were added the day after transfection and luminescence was read 72h after transfection. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments for panel A and 2 independent experiments for panel B. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.

#### 4.5.e. Pst is not involved in protein secretion

In 2006, the team of Pr. Malhotra performed a screen to identify genes involved in protein secretion in *Drosophila* S2 cells (Bard et al., 2006). Pastrel was found to play a role in protein secretion. This function may affect DCV infectious cycle if Pastrel perturbated secretion of DCV proteins during the infectious cycle. We first confirmed the role of Pastrel in protein secretion. The vector expressing horseradish peroxidase (HRP) fused with secretion signal peptide (ss-HRP) was kindly sent by Pr. Malhotra. After induction of ss-HRP production by copper, peroxydase activity was measured from an aliquot of medium by chemiluminescence. Luminescence was comparable between cells treated with dsRNAs against *pastrel* gene (region A + B) and GFP (negative control), but significantly reduced for cells treated with dsRNAs against beta-COP and Syntaxin5 (**Figure 44A**). These two proteins are known to be involved in protein secretion and were used as positive controls. The knockdown of *pastrel* gene did not affect protein secretion.

The vector expressing ss-HRP was also transfected in cells overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel and cells overexpressing RFP, as a control. The luminescence measured from medium of cells overexpressing Pastrel and RFP was comparable, but higher than one from normal *Drosophila* S2 cells (**Figure 44B**), suggesting that either transfection or overexpression of exogenous protein stimulates the secretory pathway.



Figure 44. Pst is not involved in protein secretion. A. S2 cells were treated by dsRNA against GFP, Pst (region A + B), beta-COP and Syntaxin5 during 5 days. Cells were next transfected with vector expressing ss-HRP under methallothionein promoter (pMT-ss-HRP). The day after, ss-HRP expression was stimulated by addition of 500  $\mu$ M CuSO<sub>4</sub> and cells

were incubated for 16h. Then, luminescence was read by luminometer after addition of ECL reagent to supernatant. **B.** S2 cells and stable cell lines were transfected by pMT-ss-HRP vector, treated by 500  $\mu$ M CuSO<sub>4</sub> for 16h, and luminescence was read by luminometer to quantify secretion. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 2 independent experiments.

Overall, the knockdown and overexpression of Pastrel does not affect protein secretion and the effect reported by Malhotra and colleagues may have reflected an off-target effect.

## 4.5.f. Study of Pst topology by a Biotin-Streptavidin revelation system

Transmembrane (TM) prediction softwares were used to determine putative TM domains of Pastrel protein. However, we noticed that different softwares predict a different number of TM domains for Pastrel protein. This was particularly disturbing for our analysis because some programs predicted an odd or even number of TM domains, which completely changes the topology of the protein. We computed the analysis from different programs to define a consensus of 6 putative TM domains predicted for Pastrel protein (**Figure 45**).



**Figure 45. Prediction of 6 putative TM domains in Pastrel protein.** Programs for TM prediction were used to identify the number of putative TM domains in Pastrel protein.

Prediction software gave also an ambigous answer whether the N- and C-terminal extremities of Pastrel protein face the cytosol or the lumen (data not shown). The SNP 3L:7350895 Ala/Thr, associated with the sensitivity or resistance of flies to DCV infection, is present in the C-terminal region. We wondered whether this region faces the cytosol or the lumen. Thus, we developed a new technique based on in situ biotinylation to determine if the N and C-terminal regions of Pastrel protein face the cytosol. A peptide of 15 amino acids, called Biotin Acceptor Peptide (BAP), was fused to Pastrel protein in N or C-terminal. As a control, BAP was fused to N and C-terminal extremities of the single-pass type I transmembrane receptor TOLL. These constructs were transfected in cells expressing the bacterial biotin-protein ligase BirA in the cytosol. BirA specifically recognizes and attaches a biotin to the single lysine residue of the BAP sequence. Therefore, if the BAP sequence is exposed in the cytosol, accessible to BirA, it will be biotinylated (Figure 46A). It was then easy and fast to reveal biotinylation after immunoprecipitation of the constructs and western blot using streptavidine-HRP. The C-terminal extremity of TOLL faces the cytosol and was biotinylated whereas the N-terminal extremity of TOLL, which faces the lumen of the secretory apparatus and then the exterior of the cell, was not (Figure 46B). Using the same procedure, we observed that both Pastrel constructs with BAP in N or C-terminal were biotinylated (Figure 46C). This indicates that N and C-terminal regions of Pastrel are exposed in the cytosol. This observation suggests that the C-terminal region of Pastrel, where the polymorphism is located, is potentially exposed to viral proteins or particles present in the cytosol.



**Figure 46. Topology of N and C-ter regions of Toll and Pst. A.** Principle of the method: A 15 amino acid long Biotin Acceptor Peptide (BAP) was fused to Pst and TOLL proteins in N or C terminal. These constructs were then transfected in cells expressing the bacterial biotin-protein ligase BirA, which specifically recognizes and attaches a biotin to the single lysine residue of the BAP sequence. If the BAP sequence is exposed in the cytosol, accessible to BirA, this sequence is biotinylated. **B.** and **C.** Transfection of Pst or TOLL constructs in cells expressing BirA protein for 72h. Cells were then lysed, immunoprecipitated with anti-FLAG (**B**.) or anti-HA (**C**.) beads overnight at 4°C and biotinylation was revealed by addition of Streptavidin-HRP for 5 min at 4°C.

## 4.5.g. The C-terminal region of Pst is required for its antiviral function

We showed that Pastrel restricts DCV and CrPV infection in *Drosophila*. To decipher which region of Pastrel protein confers its antiviral function, successive deletions were performed in full length Pastrel protein (1-682) from the end of the last predicted transmembrane domain. Indeed, the SNP (3L:7350895 Ala/Thr), responsible of the sensitivity or resistance of flies to DCV infection, is present in the C-terminal region of Pastrel. Then, we hypothesized that the C-terminal region of Pastrel carries antiviral activity. Stable cell lines overexpressing a truncated version of Pastrel (1-562), tagged by RFP in N-terminal, were firstly established (**Figure 47A**). The overexpression of the full length Pastrel protein and Pastrel truncated in C-terminal (1-562) was confirmed by qPCR. The overexpression of Pastrel (1-562) did not restrict DCV infection after 48h, by contrast to overexpression of Pastrel full length (**Figure 47B**). DCV RNA level in cells overexpressing Pastrel (1-562) (clone E9) was similar to control cells, or even greater (clone E12).





Β.

Figure 47. Overexpression of Pst deleted in C-ter does not affect DCV RNA level. A. Schema of Pst full lentgh and C-ter deleted version tagged in N-ter by RFP. Representation of 6 putative transmembrane domains (TM) predicted by different softwares. **B.** S2 cells, stable cell lines overexpressing RFP only (control), sensitive and resistant versions of Pst full length and truncated tagged by RFP in N-terminal, were infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 48h. Pst RNA level (left panel) and DCV RNA level (right panel) were measured by qPCR. qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 1 experiment. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.

For further confirmation, immunofluorescence assays were performed with antibodies against DCV capsid after 48h of infection. The number of cells overexpressing sensitive and

resistant versions of Pastrel which were stained by DCV antibody after 48h of infection (Figure 48, panels C and D) was dramatically decrased compared to cells overexpressing RFP (Figure 48, panels A and B) and cells overexpressing Pastrel truncated in C-terminal (Figure 48, panels E and F). DAPI staining is showed as control (Figure 48, panels A' to F'). The antiviral effect of Pastrel overexpression was significative compared to cells overexpressing RFP and Pastrel truncated in C-terminal (clone E9) (Figure 48B). Another clone expressing Pastrel truncated in C-terminal (clone E12) did not display resistance to DCV infection, but rather an increased number of DCV infected cells.

Overall, these results uncover the role of the C-terminal region of Pastrel protein in antiviral function.



**Figure 48.** Overexpression of Pst deleted in C-ter does not restrict DCV infection. A. Stable cell lines overexpressing RFP only (control, panel A, A' and B, B'), Pst sensitive (panel C and C') and resistant (panel D and D') versions of Pst full length or truncated in C-terminal (panels E, E' and F, F') tagged by RFP in N-terminal, were infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 48h. Cells were stained with an antibody against DCV capsid (anti-DCV-1, panels A, B, C, D, E and F). DAPI staining is represented in panels A', B', C', D', E' and F'. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. **B.** DCV infected cells were quantified using ImageJ. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 9 pictures. Panels are representative of 1 experiment. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.

#### 4.6. Study of Pst localization in cells

We carried out immunofluorescence assays to decipher the localization of endogenous Pastrel protein in *Drosophila* S2 cells and in stable cell lines overexpressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel fused with RFP. The endogenous Pastrel protein (Figure 49A) and RFP-Pst fusion protein (Figure 49B) form cytoplasmic aggregates with a dot-like structure.



Drosophila S2 cells

RFP-Pst<sup>R</sup>(C15)

**Figure 49. Endogenous Pst and Pst fusion proteins exhibit a vesicular pattern in the cytoplasm of** *Drosophila* **cells. A.** *Drosophila* S2 cells were stained with antibody against Pst and DAPI. **B.** Cell expressing RFP-Pst fusion. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700.

We showed above that overexpression of Pastrel truncated in C-terminal does not restrict DCV infection. We then assessed if this loss of antiviral function may be related to a change in cellular protein localization. Pastrel protein truncated in C-terminal did not form cytoplasmic aggregates (**Figure 50**, panels **E** and **F**), as overexpression of single RFP (**Figure 50**, panels **A** and **B**). This contrasts with overexpression of sensitive and resistant full length versions of Pastrel protein which form cytoplasmic aggregates (**Figure 50**, panels **C** and **D**). The truncated Pst form is diffused in the cells, comparable to the overexpression of RFP only (**Figure 50**, panels **A** and **B**).



**Figure 50. Deletion of C-terminal region of Pst modifies its intracellular localization.** Stable cell lines overexpressing RFP only (control, panel A and B), Pst sensitive (panel C) and resistant (panel D) versions of Pst full length or truncated in C-terminal (panels E and F) tagged by RFP in N-terminal were stained with DAPI and observed for RFP by confocal LSM700. Panels are representative of 1 experiment. Clones identifications are indicated in brackets.

In addition to its antiviral function, these results uncover a role of the C-terminal region of Pastrel protein in protein localization. These data suggest that the localization of Pastrel in the cells may also be important for its antiviral function. Then, we investigated the localization of Pastrel protein in the cells.

#### 4.6.a. Pst co-localizes with lipid droplets in non-infected cells

We used a large number of markers for cellular compartments (e.g. ER, Golgi, mitochondria, early endosomes) to decipher the localization of Pastrel in *Drosophila* S2 cells. None of these markers colocalized with either endogenous Pastrel protein or RFP-Pastrel fusions (**data not shown**).

The team of Dr. Kuhnlein performed a proteomic analysis of lipid droplets from *Drosophila* larvae fat body. They found that Pastrel is associated with lipid droplets specifically in  $adp^{60}$  mutants which are flies genetically predisposed for obesity (Beller et al., 2006). Therefore, we carried out co-staining of *Drosophila* S2 cells with antibody against Pastrel and Nile Red, a marker of lipid droplets (Greenspan et al., 1985). We observed that some aggregates of Pastrel protein colocalize with lipid droplets (**Figure 51**).



#### Drosophila S2 cells

Figure 51. Pst colocalizes with lipid droplets stained by Nile Red. *Drosophila* S2 cells were stained with antibody against Pst (panel A) and DAPI (panel B). Cells were next incubated for 5 min with Nile Red 1 $\mu$ M to stain lipid droplets (panel C). Merge picture is represented in panel D. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. Panels are representative of 2 independent experiments.

#### 4.6.b. Enrichement of COP-I vesicles staining in the areas where Pastrel and DCV localize

It is reported that COP-I vesicles are required for DCV replication (Cherry et al., 2006). The knockdown of COP-I components dramatically reduces DCV replication in

*Drosophila* cells. We wondered if Pastrel overexpression may affect the number and distribution of COP-I vesicles. We stained cells overexpressing Pastrel fused with RFP with an antibody against beta-COP, a component of COP-I vesicles. We observed an enrichment of COP-I vesicles in the areas where Pastrel aggregates localize in the *Drosophila* cells (**Figure 52**). Interestingly, the laboratory of Dr. Kuhnlein showed that COP-I complexes regulate lipid homeostasis, modifying protein composition at the surface of lipid droplets (Beller et al., 2008). This may link Pastrel with COP-I vesicles and lipid droplets.



**Figure 52. beta-COP staining is enriched in areas of Pst fusion aggregates.** Stable cell line overexpressing resistant version of Pst was stained with antibody against beta-COP (panel A) and DAPI (panel B). Pst was observed thanks to RFP tag in N-terminal (panel C). Merge picture is represented in panel D. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. Panels are representative of 1 experiment.

Furthermore, *Drosophila* S2 cells were infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 48h and costained with antibodies against DCV capsid and beta-COP. The localization of beta-COP in *Drosophila* S2 cells was enriched in the areas where DCV staining was strong (**Figure 53**, panel **D**). Unfortunately, it was not possible to triple label cells with antibodies against DCV, Pastrel endogenous and beta-COP.



Drosophila S2 cells

**Figure 53.** Colocalization between DCV capsid and beta-COP. *Drosophila* S2 cells were infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 48h. Cells were then stained with antibody against beta-COP (panel A), DAPI (panel B) and DCV capsid (anti-DCV-1, panel C). Merge picture is represented in panel D. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. Panels are representative of 1 experiment.

## 4.6.c. Pst co-localizes with DCV and CrPV capsid proteins during infection

*Drosophila* S2 cells were infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 48h and co-stained with Pastrel and DCV capsid antibodies (Figure 54, panel A and B). Pastrel aggregates were colocalized with DCV capsid staining (Figure 54, panel C). The colocalization of Pastrel protein with DCV capsid was also observed *in vivo* in the fat body of infected flies (Figure 54, panel F).



Drosophila S2 cells (DCV MOI 1, 48h p.i.)

in vitro



Fat body from Canton-S flies (DCV (500 PFU), 3 days p.i.)

in vivo

**Figure 54.** Pst colocalizes with DCV capsid staining in *Drosophila* S2 cells and in the fat body of infected flies. *Drosophila* S2 cells were infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 48h. *Canton-S* flies were infected with DCV (500 PFU) for 3 days at 25°C and the fat body was dissected for immunostaining. Drosophila cells and fat body were stained with antibody against Pastrel (panel A and D) and DCV capsid (anti-DCV-1, panel B and E). Nuclei were stained with DAPI solution. Merge picture is represented in panel C and F. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. Panels are representative of 2 independent experiments.

Similarly, CrPV capsid staining colocalized with Pastrel aggregates after 24h of infection by CrPV (MOI 0.01) in *Drosophila* S2 cells (Figure 55, panel C) and also in the fat body of infected flies (Figure 55, panel F).



Drosophila S2 cells (CrPV MOI 0,01, 24h p.i.)



Fat body from flies infected with CrPV (5 PFU), 3 days p.i.)

in vivo

in vitro

**Figure 55.** Pst colocalizes with CrPV capsid staining in S2 cells and in *Drosophila* fat body. *Drosophila* S2 cells were infected with CrPV (MOI 0.01) for 24h. Flies were infected with CrPV (5 PFU) for 3 days at 25°C and the fat body was dissected for imunostaining. *Drosophila* cells and fat body were stained with antibody against Pst (panels A and D) and CrPV capsid (anti-CrPV-4, panels B and E). Nuclei were stained with DAPI. Merge picture is represented in panel C and F. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. Panels are representative of 1 experiment.

#### 4.6.d. Does DCV colocalize with lipid droplets?

It is known that *Flavivirus* Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) requires lipid droplets for its infectious cycle in human hepatocytes. To determine if DCV capsid protein is present at the surface of lipid droplets, *Drosophila* S2 cells were treated with oleic acid (400  $\mu$ M) and infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 48h. The oleic acid treatment allows to induce the formation of lipid droplets in cells (Beller et al., 2008). Indeed, we noticed that lipid droplets are small and not detected in every cell in normal conditions (see **Figure 51**, panel **D**), probably because *Drosophila* S2 cells are hemocyte-like cells and thereby not specialized for lipid storage like hepatocyte cells in Humans. Cells were then co-stained with antibody against DCV capsid protein (**Figure 56**, panel **A**) and Nile Red (**Figure 56**, panel **B**). No staining of DCV capsid was observed at the surface of lipid droplets (**Figure 56**, panel **C**).



Figure 56. DCV capsid staining does not colocalize with the surface of lipid droplets in *Drosophila* S2 cells. *Drosophila* S2 cells were treated by oleic acid (400  $\mu$ M) and infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 48h. Cells were next stained with antibody against DCV capsid (anti-DCV-F3, panel A) and then incubated 5 min with Nile Red (1  $\mu$ M, panel B). Nuclei were stained with DAPI. Merge picture is represented in panel C. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. Panels are representative of 1 experiment.

We showed above that DCV infects the fat body of flies which is thought to be homologous to the human liver. The fat body is a lipid storage organ, thus it is more relevant to see whether DCV, and also Pastrel protein, colocalize with lipid droplets than in *Drosophila* S2 cells. We performed a triple labeling of Pastrel protein (**Figure 57**, panel **A**), DCV capsid (**Figure 57**, panel **B**) and lipid droplets (**Figure 57**, panel **C**). In the fat body, we observed that DCV capsid and Pastrel protein colocalize each other and also with small dots of Nile Red staining, but not with large lipid droplets.



Drosophila fat body

Figure 57. DCV capsid and Pastrel protein colocalize with some dots of Nile Red staining, but not with large lipid droplets in the fat body of DCV-infected flies.  $w^{A5001}$  flies were infected with DCV (500 PFU) for 3 days at 25°C. The fat body from  $w^{A5001}$  flies was next stained with antibody against Pastrel protein (anti-Pst, panel A), DCV capsid (anti-DCV-1, panel B), DAPI and then incubated 5 min with Nile Red (1  $\mu$ M, panel C). Merge picture is represented in panel D. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. Panels are representative of 1 experiment.

We also observed that DCV infection affects the number and the size of lipid droplets in the regions of the fat body which are highly infected by the virus (**Figure 58**, panel **D**). The lipid droplets are smaller in size compared to regions of the fat body that are not stained with DCV antibody. Unexpectidely, it also seems that Pastrel staining is weaker in regions highly infected with DCV.



Figure 58. DCV infection affects lipid droplets morphology in the fat body of DCVinfected flies.  $w^{A5001}$  flies were infected with DCV (500 PFU) for 3 days at 25°C. The fat body from  $w^{A5001}$  flies was next stained with antibody against Pastrel protein (anti-Pst, panel A), DCV capsid (anti-DCV-1, panel B), DAPI and then incubated 5 min with Nile Red (1  $\mu$ M, panel C). Merge picture is represented in panel D. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. Panels are representative of 1 experiment.

It may be possible that DCV infection uses lipids stored in lipid droplets, thereby degrading lipid droplets as illustrated by **Figure 59**. Whether DCV infection induces lipolysis remains to be determined.



Figure 59. DCV seems to induce the degradation of large lipid droplets in the fat body of DCV-infected flies.  $w^{A5001}$  flies were infected with DCV (500 PFU) for 3 days at 25°C. The fat body from  $w^{A5001}$  flies was next stained with antibody against Pastrel protein (anti-Pst, panel A), DCV capsid (anti-DCV-1, panel B), DAPI and then incubated 5 min with Nile Red (1  $\mu$ M, panel C). Merge picture is represented in panel D. Pictures were taken by confocal LSM700. Panels are representative of 1 experiment.

## 4.6.e. DCV infection was not affected by the knockdown of genes involved in lipid metabolism

Studies conducted on human hepatocytes implicated genes involved in lipid metabolism as important for the life cycle of HCV. For example, Diacylglycerol acyltransferase-1 (Dgat1), which generates triglycerides, was reported to direct HCV core protein and NS5A to lipid droplets (Camus et al., 2013a; Herker et al., 2010). The tail interacting protein of 47 kDa (TIP47) was shown to interact with NS5A and facilitate HCV replication (Ploen et al., 2013; Vogt et al., 2013). TIP47 is a member of the PAT (Perilipin, ADRP and TIP47) protein family that coat lipid droplets and regulate their biogenesis (Bickel

et al., 2009; Bulankina et al., 2009). Both Dgat1 and Tip47 are conserved in *Drosophila*. Thus, we wanted to verify if genes involved in lipid metabolism and identified to be important for HCV infection in Human, could affect DCV infection in *Drosophila* S2 cells. The *Drosophila* lipase Brummer (Bmm, homolog of Atgl in mammals) and the triglyceride synthase Midway (mdy, homolog of Dgat1 in mammals) are involved in lipolysis and lipogenesis, respectively (Beller et al., 2008). The knockown of these genes did not affect DCV RNA level after 16h of infection in *Drosophila* S2 cells (**Figure 60**). The knockdown of Lsd-1 and Lsd-2 (homologs of PAT-domain proteins Adrp and Tip47 respectively) also did not change DCV RNA level compared to cells treated with dsRNAs against GFP (negative control) (**Figure 60**). We observed a significative increase of DCV RNA level when both Lsd-1 and Lsd-2 were silenced, but the effect was minor compared to the depletion of *pastrel*. As mentioned above, this negative result may be related to the fact that S2 cells are hemocytes, and do not store large quantities of lipids.



Figure 60. Knockdown of genes involved in lipid metabolism has no effect on DCV infection in *Drosophila* S2 cells. *Drosophila* S2 cells were treated by dsRNAs for 5 days and next infected with DCV (MOI 1) for 16h. DCV RNA level was measured by qPCR and normalized to the housekeeping gene RpL32. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 1 experiment.



# Effect of Nora virus on the susceptibility of *Drosophila* to pathogens

# 5.1. Correlation between the presence of Nora Virus and the susceptibility of flies to DCV infection

The analysis of small RNA libraries previously conducted in the laboratory allowed to identify the presence of Nora Virus in our stocks of *yw* flies (**Figure 61**).



**Figure 61. Small RNAs matching with Nora Virus genome sequence were detected in** *yw* **flies.** The profile of Nora Virus small RNAs with a peak at 21 nucleotides indicates that siRNAs are produced in *yw* flies against Nora Virus genome. Blue and red bars indicate reads against Nora Virus genome respectively with 2 and 0 mismatches.

Therefore, we wondered whether this virus was widely spread in flies of our laboratory. We decided to diagnose the presence of Nora virus in our control flies (**Table 7**). Interestingly, we noticed that flies with higher sensitivity to DCV infection (*Ore-R*<sup>DF</sup>, *yw*,  $w^{A5001}$  and  $w^{1118}$ ) were persistently infected by Nora Virus. By contrast, we did not detect Nora Virus in the *Ore-R*<sup>ILI</sup> and *Canton-S* flies which are resistant to DCV infection. The only exception was *DD1 cnbw* which was positive for Nora virus even though it is resistant to DCV infection. We therefore hypothesized that the presence of Nora Virus in flies could increase their sensitivity to DCV infection.

Strains	Phenotype with DCV	Nora virus detection (by qPCR)
Ore-R <sup>DF</sup>	Sensitive	Yes
Ore-R <sup>JLI</sup>	Resistant	No
уw	Sensitive	Yes
<b>W</b> <sup>1118</sup>	Sensitive	Yes
<b>W</b> <sup>A5001</sup>	Sensitive	Yes
Canton-S	Resistant	No
DD1 cnbw	Resistant	Yes

**Table 7.** The presence of Nora Virus in flies correlates with the susceptibility to DCV infection (except for *DD1 cnbw* flies (in red) which are resistant to DCV infection but persistently infected by Nora Virus). Nora Virus RNA level was detected by qPCR from whole flies.

## 5.2. Does Nora Virus persistent infection contribute to the susceptibility of flies to DCV infection ?

To test this hypothesis, we cured  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  flies from Nora Virus infection. Eggs from Nora Virus infected  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  flies were dechorionated with bleaching solution as previously described (Habayeb et al., 2009b). As a control, Nora Virus RNA genome was measured in whole flies, gut and rest of the body of emerged flies (**Figure 62**). Nora Virus was described as an enteric virus, which is highly present in the gut (Habayeb et al., 2009b). We expected that qPCR from gut samples would be more sensitive. Nora Virus RNA level was detected in  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  flies, but not  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  bleached flies and  $Ore \cdot R^{JLI}$  flies (**Figure 62**). Nora Virus RNA level was enriched in gut samples from  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  flies, but not detected in gut samples from  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  bleached flies.



Figure 62. Nora Virus RNA genome was detected in  $Ore-R^{DF}$  samples but not in  $Ore-R^{JLI}$ and  $Ore-R^{DF}$  bleached samples. Nora Virus RNA genome was detected by qPCR from whole flies, gut and rest of the bodies from  $Ore-R^{JLI}$ ,  $Ore-R^{DF}$  and  $Ore-R^{DF}$  bleached flies. qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene RpL32. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 1 experiment with duplicates of 10 flies.

Since we showed that bleaching was efficiently clearing Nora Virus infection from  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  flies, these flies were challenged by DCV infection (500 PFU) to test if absence of Nora Virus persistent infection impacted their susceptibility to DCV infection (**Figure 63**).  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  bleached flies, cured from Nora Virus infection, showed comparable susceptibility to DCV infection than  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  flies, persistently infected by Nora Virus (**Figure 63A** and **63B**). Susceptibility to DCV infection did not change in next generations after eggs bleaching (**data not shown**). To be sure that bleaching of eggs itself did not increase sensitivity of flies to DCV infection, eggs from  $Ore \cdot R^{ILI}$  flies were bleached and emerging flies were also challenged by DCV.  $Ore \cdot R^{ILI}$  bleached flies did not show an increased sensitivity to DCV infection.  $Ore \cdot R^{ILI}$  flies and  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  flies and  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  bleached flies (**Figure 63A**). Besides, DCV RNA level was measured in flies by qPCR after 3 days of infection.  $Ore \cdot R^{ILI}$  flies and  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  flies and  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  bleached flies (**Figure 63C**). DCV RNA level was increased in  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  flies and  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  bleached flies compared to  $Ore \cdot R^{ILI}$  flies and  $Ore \cdot R^{ILI}$  bleached flies. Finally, DCV RNA level in flies correlates with their susceptibility to DCV infection.



Figure 63. *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* bleached flies, cured from Nora Virus infection, are still highly sensitive to DCV infection, comparable to Nora Virus persistently infected *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* flies. A. *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>*, *Ore-R<sup>ILI</sup>* and respective bleached flies were injected by TRIS (control, empty symbols) and DCV (500 PFU, filled symbols). Survivals were monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of at least 3 independent experiments. **B.** Nora Virus RNA level was measured by qPCR after 3 days of infection. For panels **B** and **C**, qPCR values were normalized to the housekeeping gene *RpL32*. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 2 independent experiments.

As a further confirmation, reciprocal experiment was performed.  $Ore-R^{JLI}$  flies, not infected by Nora Virus, were contaminated with feces from Nora Virus infected  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies.  $Ore-R^{JLI}$  flies contaminated by Nora Virus did not present an increased sensitivity to DCV infection, unlike Nora Virus infected  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies (**Figure 64**). Nora-contaminated
$Ore-R^{JLI}$  flies were even slightly more resistant to DCV infection than naïve  $Ore-R^{JLI}$  flies. This may be explained by a *Drosophila* antiviral defense triggered by Nora Virus, which may impact susceptibility to DCV.



Figure 64. *Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup>* flies, contaminated by Nora Virus, are still resistant to DCV infection, comparable to *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* flies. *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>*, *Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup>* and *Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup>* contaminated flies were injected by TRIS (control, empty symbols) and DCV (500 PFU, filled symbols). Survivals were monitored daily at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of at least 3 independent experiments.

# 5.3. Does pastrel affect Nora Virus persistent infection?

Surprisingly, it seemed difficult to maintain a stable Nora Virus persistent infection in next generations of  $Ore \cdot R^{ILI}$  flies after Nora Virus contamination. It appeared that the first generation of  $Ore \cdot R^{ILI}$  flies was infected by Nora virus, although high variation in virus titer was observed between samples, as described by (Habayeb et al., 2009b), but then Nora Virus infection tended to be cleared in the next generations (**data not shown**). Thus, we decided to decipher if  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  flies, which carry sensitive alleles of *pastrel*, may allow a better proliferation of Nora Virus than  $Ore \cdot R^{ILI}$  flies, which carry a resistant allele of *pastrel*. We therefore contaminated  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  bleached flies and  $Ore \cdot R^{ILI}$  flies with Nora Virus and we compared the level of Nora Virus in both contaminated- $Ore \cdot R$  flies (named parents) and in the first generation after contamination (F1). Interestingly, we observed that Nora Virus RNA level in  $Ore \cdot R^{ILI}$  flies was lower than in  $Ore \cdot R^{DF}$  flies after one generation (**Figure 65**). In

addition to DCV and CrPV,  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies appear more sensitive to Nora Virus infection compared to  $Ore-R^{JLI}$  flies.



Figure 65. *Ore-R*<sup>DF</sup> flies are more sensitive to Nora virus infection compared to *Ore-R*<sup>JLI</sup> flies. *Ore-R*<sup>DF</sup> bleached flies and *Ore-R*<sup>JLI</sup> flies were contaminated with feces from *Ore-R*<sup>DF</sup> flies at 25°C for 5 days. Then, Nora virus RNA level was measured by qPCR in these flies and also in 4-8days flies from the first generation. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 1 experiment.

Overall, our data indicate that Nora Virus is not responsible for the differences of susceptibility to DCV infection between *Drosophila* strains. However, we uncovered that  $Ore - R^{DF}$  flies, which carry sensitive alleles of *pastrel*, are more sensitive to Nora Virus infection, suggesting that pastrel may also control Nora Virus infection.

The group of Dr. Dominique Ferrandon got interested in this work as they study the effect of intestinal pathogens on the gut. As we hypothesized for DCV infection, we started a collaboration to test if the presence of Nora Virus may impact intestinal infections by pathogenic gram-negative bacteria. Interestingly, it came out that Nora Virus increases the sensitivity of flies to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (PA14) and *Serratia marcescens*. They also observed an increased renewal of intestinal epithelium in Nora Virus persistently infected flies.



# RNAi pathway controls infection by a DNA virus in *Drosophila*

# 6.1. Broad RNA interference-mediated antiviral immunity in Drosophila (Kemp et al, 2013)

In the beginning of my thesis, the siRNA pathway was reported by many groups including ours to be involved in the control of infections by RNA viruses. However, it was unknown whether the siRNA pathway can control a DNA virus infection. This question had been adressed by a post-doctoral fellow in the laboratory and I contributed to this project during my PhD thesis. I observed that Dcr-2 mutant flies ( $Dcr-2^{R416X}$ ) infected with the DNA virus IIV-6 display an increased susceptibility and a higher viral titer compared to control flies. Accordingly, flies mutant for another null allele of Dcr-2 (Dcr-2<sup>L811fsx</sup>) were highly sensitive to IIV-6 infection and the sensitivity was rescued in mutants carrying a transgene of the genomic region of wild-type Dcr-2. Flies mutants for other components of the siRNA pathway, R2D2 and AGO2, displayed an increased sensitivity to IIV-6 infection. In collaboration with the group of Dr. Sébastien Pfeffer, I constructed a small RNA library from flies and cells infected with IIV-6, allowing the identification of IIV-6-derived siRNAs. VsiRNAs were predominantly of 21 nts, indicating that they are generated by Dcr-2. Indeed, they were not detected in Dcr-2 mutant flies. Surprisingly, we noticed that v-siRNAs were not uniformly distributed along the viral genome, but rather hot spots of v-siRNAs were observed along the viral genome. Dr. Simona Paro showed that these hot spots are correlated with convergent transcription occuring in these regions. Overall, these data indicate that the siRNA pathway is a broad antiviral defense mechanism, controlling infections by RNA viruses, but also a DNA virus. These results were recently published in the paper hereafter, in the Journal of Immunology.

The Journal of Immunology

# Broad RNA Interference–Mediated Antiviral Immunity and Virus-Specific Inducible Responses in *Drosophila*

Cordula Kemp,<sup>\*,1</sup> Stefanie Mueller,<sup>\*,1,2</sup> Akira Goto,\* Vincent Barbier,\* Simona Paro,\* François Bonnay,\* Catherine Dostert,\* Laurent Troxler,\* Charles Hetru,\* Carine Meignin,\* Sébastien Pfeffer,<sup>†</sup> Jules A. Hoffmann,\* and Jean-Luc Imler<sup>\*,‡</sup>

The fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* is a good model to unravel the molecular mechanisms of innate immunity and has led to some important discoveries about the sensing and signaling of microbial infections. The response of *Drosophila* to virus infections remains poorly characterized and appears to involve two facets. On the one hand, RNA interference involves the recognition and processing of dsRNA into small interfering RNAs by the host RNase Dicer-2 (Dcr-2), whereas, on the other hand, an inducible response controlled by the evolutionarily conserved JAK-STAT pathway contributes to the antiviral host defense. To clarify the contribution of the small interfering RNA and JAK-STAT pathways to the control of viral infections, we have compared the resistance of flies wild-type and mutant for Dcr-2 or the JAK kinase Hopscotch to infections by seven RNA or DNA viruses belonging to different families. Our results reveal a unique susceptibility of *hop* mutant flies to infection by *Drosophila* C virus and cricket paralysis virus, two members of the *Dicistroviridae* family, which contrasts with the susceptibility of *Dcr-2* mutant flies to many viruses, including the DNA virus invertebrate iridescent virus of. Genome-wide microarray analysis confirmed that different sets of genes were induced following infection by *Drosophila* C virus or by two unrelated RNA viruses, Flock House virus and Sindbis virus. Overall, our data reveal that RNA interference is an efficient antiviral mechanism, operating against a large range of viruses, including a DNA virus. By contrast, the antiviral contribution of the JAK-STAT pathway appears to be virus specific. *The Journal of Immunology*, 2013, 190: 650–658.

W iruses represent an important class of pathogens, causing serious concern for human health, as well as important economic losses in crops and animals. Because they replicate inside cells, and rely for the most part on host cell molecular machineries for their replication, viruses pose specific challenges to the immune system. Two major strategies of antiviral

\*CNRS-UPR9022, Institut de Biologie Moléculaire et Cellulaire, 67084 Strasbourg Cedex, France; \*CNRS-UPR9002, Institut de Biologie Moléculaire et Cellulaire; 67084 Strasbourg Cedex, France; and \*Faculté des Sciences de la Vie, Université de Strasbourg; 67083 Strasbourg Cedex, France

<sup>1</sup>C.K. and S.M. contributed equally to this work.

<sup>2</sup>Current address: Bernhard-Nocht-Institut for Tropical Medicine, Molecular Entomology, Hamburg, Germany

Received for publication August 29, 2011. Accepted for publication November 5, 2012.

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (PO1 AI070167), the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR-09-MIEN-006-01), the Balzan Foundation (to J.A.H.), the European Research Council (ERC Starting Grant ncRNAVIR 260767 to S.P.), the Investissement d'Avenir Program Laboratoire d'Excellence (NetRNA ANR-10-LABX-36), and the Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique.

The sequences presented in this article have been submitted to the Gene Expression Omnibus (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gco/) under accession number GSE31542 and to the National Center for Biotechnology Information Small Read Archive (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sra) under accession number GSE41007.

Address correspondence and reprint requests to Prof. Jean-Luc Imler, IBMC-CNRS/ Université de Strasbourg, Rue Rene Descartes, Strasbourg, Alsace 67084, France. E-mail address: JL.Imler@unistra.fr

The online version of this article contains supplemental material.

Abbreviations used in this article: AGO, Argonaute; CrPV, cricket paralysis virus; Der-2, Dicer-2; DCV. Drosophila C virus; dpi, day postinfection; DXV. Drosophila X virus; FHV. Flock House virus; IIV-6, inwertebrate irdescent virus type 6: Imd, immune deficiency; MEKK1, MEK kinase 1; RNAi, RNA interference; SINV, Sindbis virus; siRNA, small interfering RNA; TotM, Turandot M; Upd, unpaired; VSV, vesicular stomatifis virus.

Copyright © 2013 by The American Association of Immunologists, Inc. 0022-1767/13/\$16.00

www.jimmunol.org/cgi/doi/10.4049/jimmunol.1102486

resistance have been described. In mammals, viral infection is first detected by pattern recognition receptors of the Toll- and RIG-I-like families that sense the viral nucleic acid and trigger the induction of IFNs and other cytokines (1). These factors activate the production of antiviral molecules, such as protein kinase R or oligo-2', 5'-adenylate synthetase, that contain the infection and contribute to the activation of the adaptive immune response (2). In plants, viral nucleic acids are recognized by enzymes of the Dicer family, which produce small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) of 21–24 nucleotides. These siRNAs are then loaded onto molecules of the Argonaute (AGO) family and will guide them toward RNAs with complementary sequences; targeted RNAs are then either sliced by AGO, or their translation is inhibited. This RNA interference (RNAi) mechanism provides efficient and sequence-specific protection against viral infections (3).

RNAi also plays an important role in the control of viral infections in insects, as shown by the production of virus-derived siRNAs in infected flies, and the increased susceptibility to viral infection of Drosophila mutants for the genes Dcr-2 and AGO2 (3-6). In addition, several reports indicate that an inducible response also contributes to the control of viral infections (7-15). We previously showed that infection with Drosophila C virus (DCV), a member of the Dicistroviridae family, leads to induction of some 130 genes (11). Analysis of the regulation of one of these genes, vir-1, revealed the presence of functionally important binding sites for the transcription factor STAT in its promoter. The induction of vir-1, as well as several other DCV-induced genes, was found to be dependent on the gene hopscotch (hop), which encodes the only JAK kinase in Drosophila. Furthermore, hop mutant flies succumb more rapidly than do wild-type controls, with a higher viral load, to DCV infection (11). The Toll and immune deficiency (Imd) pathways, initially characterized for their role in the control of bacterial and fungal infections, were The Journal of Immunology

also thought to play a part in the control of viral infections. Whereas the Toll pathway was associated with resistance to the *Drosophila* X virus (DXV) (15), the Imd pathway was implicated in the control of Sindbis virus (SINV) (7) and cricket paralysis virus (CrPV) (9).

Altogether, the data in the present literature point to the involvement of both RNAi and an inducible expression of effector molecules to counter viral infections in insects (5, 16). However, whereas RNAi was shown to contribute to resistance to several RNA viruses (with either single-stranded genomes of both polarities or double-stranded genomes), most studies on the inducible response have so far focused on a single virus. As a result, the global significance of the inducible response for the control of viral infections remains poorly understood. In particular, it is unclear at present if the JAK-STAT pathway is involved in a general antiviral response, providing broad antiviral immunity, or if it acts specifically on a critical step in the replication cycle of a specific virus or virus family. To address this important question, we have compared the resistance of a mutant for the JAK-STAT pathway to infection by seven RNA or DNA viruses. We find that hop mutant flies are more susceptible than wild-type controls to infections by the Dicistroviridae DCV and CrPV, but exhibit either no or a weak phenotype for other viruses, suggesting that the JAK-STAT pathway-dependent inducible response is virus spe cific. Genome-wide transcript profiling shows that infection by two other RNA viruses, Flock House virus (FHV; Nodaviridae) and SINV (Alphaviridae), leads to upregulation of  $\geq$ 400 genes, which only partially overlap with those induced by DCV. Overall, our data indicate that the siRNA pathway exerts broad antiviral activity and affects both RNA and DNA viruses, with virusspecific inducible responses contributing to the control of viral infections in Drosophila

#### **Materials and Methods**

Fly strain culture and infection

Oregon-R (OR) and yw were used as wild-type control flies. The hop<sup>M38/mov1</sup>, Dcr-2<sup>Ex11fX</sup>, and Dcr-2<sup>R410K</sup> mutant flies were previously described (17– 19). A genomic rescue of the Dcr-2 gene was established with the Fosmid FlyFos017074 (transgeneome.mpi-cbg.de) inserted at the landing site attP40 (2L), and the transgenic chromosome was recombined with the deficiency Df(2R)BSC45, which uncovers the Dcr-2 locus. For the rescue experiments, Dcr-2 mutants were crossed with the deficiency Df(2R) BSC45 or the Df(2R)BSC45-Dcr-2 rescue line. Flies were fed on standard commeal-agar medium at 25°C. All fly lines were tested for Wolbachia infection and cured whenever necessary. Viral stocks were prepared in 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, with the exception of vesicular stomatilis virus (VSV), which was used directly from Vero cell culture supernaturl [VSV 4 × 10<sup>9</sup> PFU/ml; DXV 4 4 × 10<sup>1</sup> PFU/ml; nevretbrate iridescent virus type 6 (IIV-6) 4.4 × 10<sup>11</sup> PFU/ml; and SINV 5 × 10<sup>8</sup> PFU/ml]. Infections were performed with 4- to 6-dol adult flies by intrathoracic injection (Nanoject II apparatus; Drummond Scientific) with viral particles, indicated in the figure legends. Injection of the same volume (4.6 nL) of 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, was used as a control. For bacterial infection, flies were pricked with a thin needle previously dipped in a concentrated overnight culture of *Escherichia coli* and Micrococcus luteus in Luria-Bertani medium. Infected flies were then incubated at room temperature, or at 29°C in the case of hop<sup>M38/msv1</sup> and the corresponding control flies, and monitored daily for survival, or frozen for RNA isolation and virus titration at the indicated time points.

#### Cell culture and virus titration

Vero R cells were grown in DMEM (Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% FCS (Biowest), penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen), nonessential amino acid mix (Invitrogen), 10 mM pyruvate (Life Technologies), and 200 mM L-glutamine (Invitrogen), Kc167 and S2 cells were grown in Schneider's medium (Biowest) supplemented with 10% FCS, GlutaMAX (Invitrogen), and penicillin/streptomycin (100× mix, 10 mg/ml/10,000 U; Invitrogen). VSV and SINV were titrated from infected flies by plaque assay on Vero R

cells. DCV, CrPV, FHV, and IIV-6 were titrated on Kc167 (DCV, CrPV, and FHV) or \$2 (IIV-6) cells by the Reed–Muench method to calculate 50% tissue culture–infective dose and converted to PFU with a conversion factor of 0.7.

#### RNA analysis

Total RNA from infected flies was isolated using TRI Reagent RT bromoanisole solution (MRC), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Total RNA, 1 µg, was reverse transcribed using liscript CDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad). The reverse transcribed using liscript CDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad). The reverse transcription was run in the T3000 Thermocycler (Biometra), with the following PCR program: step 1: 65°C for 5 min, step 2: 4°C for 5 min. Step 3: 25°C for 10 min. step 4: 42°C for 60 min, and step 5: 70°C for 15 min. A total of 100 ng cDNA was used for quantitative real-time PCR, using the iQ Custom SYBR Green Supermix Kit (Bio-Rad) with the following program: step 1: 95°C for 3 min, step 2: 95°C for 10 s, step 3: 55°C for 30 s, repeated 39 times from step 2. Primers used for qPCR were as follows: *RpL32* (forward 5′-GACGCTTC-AAGGGACAGTAICTG-3′; reverse 5′-AAACGCGGTTCTGCATGAG-3′), *vir-1* (forward 5′-GATCCCAATTTTCCCATCAA-3′; reverse 5′-GATTAC-AGGGGGTGGCACAA-3′), *drosomycin* (forward 5′-CGTGGAGACCTT-TTCCAATATGATG-3′; reverse 5′-TCCCAGGACCACCAGCAT-3′), and *diptericin* (forward 5′-GCTGCGCAATCGCTTCTCATG-3′; reverse 5′-TGGTGGAGTGGGCTTCATG-3′). *Turandot M* (*TotM*), *upd*, *upd*2, and *upd*3 expression levels were quantified using the Brilliant II QRT-PCR Core Reagent Kit, 1-step (Stratagene). The reaction took place in a total volume of 20 µl, using the Taqman Gene Expression Assay [*TotM* (Dm02362087 s1), *upd* (*so*) (Dm01844792, 21), *upd*2 (Dm01844134 g1), *upd*3 (custom-designed upd3exon2-ANY), and RpL32 (Dm02151827 g1), all from Applied Biosystems). We used the 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). We used the 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). We used the 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR To 30 min, step 2: 95°C for 10 min, step 3: 95°C for 15 s, step 4: 60°C for 1 min, repeated 39 times from step 3. In all cases, gene expression was normalized to the ribosomal protein gene *RpL32*. For IIV-6, the expression of the annotated genes 206*R*, 224*L*, 244*L*, and

For IIV-6, the expression of the annotated genes 206R, 224L, 244L, and 261R was assessed by strand-specific RT-PCR. We used SuperScript III Reverse Transcriptase specifically adapted for gene-specific priming and followed the manufacturer's protocol (Invitrogen). Briefly, primer pairs were designed to amplify regions of the IIV-6 genome exhibiting or not exhibiting a high density of small RNA reads. Total RNA.1 µg, extracted from infected S2 cells was reverse transcribed with 2 pmol of either forward (F) or reverse (R) primer and 200 U of SuperScript III Reverse Transcriptase. The reaction was then incubated for 1 h at 55°C. Then 1 µJ of the resulting cDNA was used to perform 25 cycles of PCR, using Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen) and both F and R primers. The primer pairs were as follows: 206R (forward: 5'-AAGGAAAGTIGGCGAGTACGA-3', reverse 5'-AACAAACCCGTITTCTCCCA-3'); 224L (forward: 5'-CCACC-ATCACATTGACCTTG-3', reverse: 5'-ATAAGCGAAACCCGAAATCA-3'); 244L (forward: 5'-TGGAAAAGAGTGGTCCCATTT-3', reverse: 5'-TGT-ACCTCCCGGAAGATT-3'); 261R (forward: 5'-CAGCCCATCCGAAT-TACTA-3', reverse: 5'-CTGCAAACTGCAAAATTGAC-3'). The PCR bands were sequenced to verify their viral origin.

#### Statistical analysis

An unpaired two-tailed Student t test was used for statistical analysis of data with GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software). The p values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Survival curves were plotted and analyzed by log-rank analysis (Kaplan–Meier method) using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software).

#### DNA microarray analysis

For each sample, Tris-injected, DCV-infected (11), and FHV- and SINVinfected, three biologically independent samples comprising 45 male Oregon-R flies were used. RNA extraction, biotinylation, and hybridization to Affymetrix *Drosophila* GeneChip microarrays (Affymetrix) were performed as described (20). The Affymetrix Microarray Suite 5.0 (Affymetrix) or Excel (Microsoft) with a combination of built-in functions and custom formulae was used for data analysis. Raw data were sorted with the "absent-marginal-present flags" generated by the Microarray Suite functions. Although an absent flag might indicate that no mRNA of a particular type was present in a sample, marginal flags and absent flags may indicate problems with the hybridization; therefore, only data points marked as present in at least one replicate were retained. The remaining data mass for each microarray was then normalized to itself, making 1 the median of all the measurements. A gene was considered induced if present in at least one replicate, with a virus/Tris ratio higher than 2 for at least one of the time points. Classification of gene functions was analyzed by David

#### 651

#### 652

Bioinformatics Resources 6.7 (21). The data set for FHV and SINV was submitted to the Gene Expression Omnibus database (http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/geo/) with the accession number GSE31542.

Assembly, sequencing, and analysis of small RNA libraries

The small RNA library of S2 cells and whole flies was constructed as described (22) and sequenced by the Illumina 2G Analyzer. Reads were then aligned to a reference consisting of the IIV-6 genome from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (accession code NC\_003038) using the Bowtie program with standard parameters in genome assembly. Reads aligning to the IIV-6 genome from the National Center for Genome with a maximum of one mismatch were retained and analyzed using in-house Perl scripts and Excel. Sequences were submitted to the National Center for Biotechnology Information Small Read Archive (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Traces/sra/sra.cgi?) under the accession number GSE41007.

#### Results

#### RNAi provides broad antiviral protection in Drosophila

Several independent studies, including our own, have established that RNAi, and more precisely the siRNA pathway, serves as an efficient host defense against RNA viruses. These include viruses with a single-stranded genome of both (+) and (-) polarity and dsRNA viruses (23–30), and we confirmed that flies mutant for *Dcr-2* died more rapidly than wild-type controls when they were infected with DCV, CrPV, FHV, SINV, VSV (*Rhabdoviridae*), and DXV (*Birnaviridae*) (data not shown). Next, we addressed the question whether the siRNA pathway also participated in the control of a DNA virus infection, and infected wild-type and RNAi mutant flies with IIV-6 (*Iridoviridae*). Infection of *Dcr-2* mutant flies led to a more rapid and intense appearance of blue color,

#### VIRUS-SPECIFIC INDUCIBLE RESPONSE IN DROSOPHILA

which is characteristic of the accumulation of iridescent viral particles, than in wild-type controls (Fig. 1A). Dcr-2 flies were significantly more susceptible to IIV-6 infection than were the corresponding wild-type (Fig. 1B). A fraction of Dcr-2<sup>-/-</sup> flies injected with buffer also died in the course of the experiment, confirming the increased sensitivity to stress associated with mutations of the siRNA pathway (31). The decreased survival time correlated with a 20-fold increased viral load in Dcr-2 mutant flies at 10 d postinfection (dpi) (Fig. 1C). Similar results were obtained when a different null allele of Dcr-2 was used, and the IIV-6 susceptibility phenotype was rescued by a wild-type genomic Dcr-2 transgene (Fig. 1D). The  $r2d2^{-/-}$  and AGO2 null mutant flies also exhibited increased sensitivity to IIV-6 (Fig. 15)  $4CO^{2/7}$  flies and 1 flies contained more viral DNA than did wild-type 1E). AGO2 controls, confirming that this gene participates in the control of infection (Fig. 1F).

We next sequenced small RNA libraries prepared from IIV-6– infected S2 cells or adult flies. We observed several hundreds of thousands of reads matching the IIV-6 genome in both infected S2 cells and wild-type flies, but not in control noninfected S2 cells (Supplemental Table I). The large majority of these reads had a size of 21 nucleotides, which is characteristic for processing by the RNase Dicer-2 (Dcr-2). This peak was absent from the library prepared from infected *Dcr*-2<sup>-/-</sup> mutant flies (Fig. 2A). These data indicate that Dcr-2 generates 21-nucleotide IIV-6-derived siRNAs in infected flies, and raise the question of the nature of the substrate used by Dcr-2 in the context of this infection. As previously reported for RNA viruses, the number of reads matching



**FIGURE 1.** Dcr-2 is involved in host defense against the DNA virus IIV-6. (**A**) Upon injection of IIV-6 (5000 PFU) in wild-type (*yw*) and  $Dcr-2^{R416X}$  mutant flies, typical blue paracrystalline structures appeared earlier in the abdomen (arrowhead) of the mutant flies. Representative individuals 10 dpi are shown. (**B**) Groups of 20 wild-type (*yw*) or  $Dcr-2^{R416X}$  mutant flies were injected with IIV-6 or Tris, and survival was monitored daily. The difference between the wild-type and Dcr-2 mutant flies is statistically significant. (**C**) Viral titer in groups of five wild-type (*yw*) or  $Dcr-2^{R416X}$  mutant flies were injected with IIV-6 or Tris, and survival was monitored daily. The difference between the wild-type and Dcr-2 mutant flies is statistically significant. (**C**) Viral titer in groups of five wild-type (*yw*) or  $Dcr-2^{R416X}$  mutant flies was monitored 10 dpi. (**D**) Rescue of the hemizygous  $Dcr-2^{L811/6X}$  for the IIV-6 susceptibility phenotype by a transposon expressing a wild-type Dcr-2 transgene.  $Dcr-2^{L811/6X}$  hemizygous flies ( $Dcr-2^{L811/6X}$ /Df rescue). Df is Df(2R)BSC45, a deficiency that fully uncovers the Dcr-2 locus. All control and genomic rescued flies are in *CantonS* background. (**E**) Survival rate of wild-type (*yw*),  $R2D2^{1/4}$  mutant flies upon IIV-6 or Tris injection. (**F**) IIV-6 DNA load was determined by quantitative PCR in four groups of six flies of the indicated genotype at 10 dpi. For all panels, the data represent the mean and SD of at least three independent experiments, and the difference between controls and mutant flies is statistically significant. \*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.001. All experiments are performed at 22<sup>CC</sup> (A, C, F) or 25<sup>CC</sup> (B, D, E).

653





**FIGURE 2.** Virus-derived siRNAs in S2 cells and *Drosophila* adult flies infected by the DNA virus IIV-6. RNA was extracted 5 dpi from S2 cells infected by IIV-6 (MOI 0.01) and adult wild-type (yw) or mutant ( $Dcr-2^{RA102}$ ) flies injected with IIV-6 (S000 PFU per fly). (**A**) Size distribution of the small RNAs matching the viral genome in S2 cells and adult flies of the indicated genotype. (**B** and **C**) Distribution of the 21-nucleotide siRNAs from the S2 cell (B) and yw adult fly (C) libraries along the IIV-6 genome. Each IIV-6-derived small RNA is represented by the position of its first nucleotide. The IIV-6-derived small RNAs matching the upper and lower strand of the DNA genome are respectively shown above (positive reads number) and below (negative reads number) the horizontal axis, which represents the 212482bp genome. In (B), the number of reads for four peaks going off-scale is indicated next to them, in italics. (**D**) Strand-specific RT-PCR with primers corresponding to the annotated viral genes 206*R*, 224*L*, 244*L*, and 261*R*. The experiment was performed in the presence (+) or absence (-) of RT. NI, Noninfected; F and R, forward and reverse strand primer used for reverse transcription.

each strand of the viral genome was very similar (Supplemental Table I). However, unlike RNA viruses, the virus-derived siRNAs were not uniformly distributed along the viral genome. Rather, several hotspots were observed, revealing that specific regions of the viral genome generate the siRNAs (Fig. 2B, 2C). These peaks do not correlate with the intensity of transcription of the viral genome, and some highly transcribed regions are located in areas not generating significant levels of siRNAs (32). The strong symmetry of the peaks observed in S2 cells and wild-type flies suggests that these regions are transcribed on both strands and generate dsRNA. Indeed, we could detect bidirectional transcription in the areas of the viral genome covered by the peaks (Fig. 2D). By contrast, transcription of only one strand of the DNA genome was detected for the locus 261R, which is located in a region that does not produce significant amounts of siRNAs. Overall, these results indicate that the siRNA pathway in Drosophila can also protect against a DNA virus infection

# The JAK kinase Hopscotch does not confer broad antiviral immunity

To test the contribution of the JAK-STAT pathway in antiviral immunity in *Drosophila*, we injected loss-of-function mutants of the JAK kinase Hopscotch ( $hop^{M38/msv1}$ ) with different ssRNA, dsRNA, and DNA viruses. As previously described,  $hop^{M38/msv1}$ 

mutant flies die more rapidly than do wild-type controls following DCV infection, and contain ~10-fold more virus (Fig. 3A). By contrast, we did not observe significant differences in survival between wild-type and  $hop^{M38/msvl}$  mutant flies upon infection with the alphavirus SINV (Fig. 4A), and the viral titers 2 dpi were not significantly different in wild-type and  $hop^{M38/msvl}$  mutant flies (data not shown), indicating that the JAK-STAT pathway does not contribute to resistance to this virus. The  $hop^{M38/msvl}$  mutant flies, as well as wild-type flies, also resisted infections by the rhabdovirus VSV and by the nodavirus FHV (Fig. 4B, 4C). A slight reduction in survival was observed in the case of the dsRNA virus DXV (*Birnaviridae*) and the DNA virus IIV-6 (Fig. 4D, 4E). However, the difference between wild-type and  $hop^{M38/msvl}$  mutant flies was only statistically significant in the case of DXV infection. Furthermore, we did not observe statistically significant differences in the DXV and IIV-6 viral titers in wild-type and  $hop^{M38/msvl}$  mutant flies in the format of our assays (data not shown).

Overall, our data indicate that the JAK-STAT pathway is critical for host defense against DCV, but plays a minor role for DXV and IIV-6 and is essentially dispensable in the case of FHV, SINV, and VSV. We therefore tested CrPV, another member of the *Dicistroviridae* family known to infect *Drosophila*. We observed a decrease in survival and a significant increase in viral titers in CrPV-infected *hop*<sup>M38/ms/1</sup> mutant flies compared with wild-type flies (Fig. 3B). In conclusion,

188



**FIGURE 3.** The JAK kinase Hopscotch is involved in host defense against DCV and CrPV. (**A** and **B**) Groups of 20 wild-type (OR) or *hopscotch* ( $hop^{M380nav1}$ ) mutant flies were injected with DCV (500 PFU) (A) or CrPV (5 PFU) (B), and survival was monitored daily. The experiment was repeated three times, and data represent the mean and SD. In the *right panels*, viral titer was determined in groups of five flies 2 dpi for DCV (A) and 1 dpi for CrPV (B). The data represent the mean and SD of three independent experiments, and the difference between wild-type and *hop* mutant flies is statistically significant. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, (**c**) DCV and CrPV indection triggers induction of the genes *upd2* and *upd3*, which encode cytokines activating the JAK/STAT pathway. Flies were infected with DCV or CrPV, and expression of *upd*, *upd2*, and *upd3* was monitored in groups of 10 flies at the indicated time points by Taqman quantitative PCR. The results of at least two independent experiments are shown.

our data indicate that the JAK-STAT pathway in *Drosophila* confers protection against some viruses—in particular, the *Dicistroviridae* but does not provide broad antiviral immunity.

#### Inducible gene expression in FHV- and SINV-infected flies

The above results raised the question of whether an inducible response contributes to host defense against viruses other than DCV and CrPV. We therefore conducted a genome-wide microarray analysis using Affymetrix DNA microarrays to monitor gene expression in flies infected by FHV (2 and 3 dpi) or SINV (4 and 8 dpi), and compared the data with those obtained for DCV infection (1 and 2 dpi). The time points for this analysis were chosen to take into account the different kinetics of replication and colonization of *Drosophila* by the different viruses (11, 24). For each virus, we observed a large overlap between the genes induced at the first and second time points. We then pursued our analysis, focusing on the genes induced either at the first or at the second time point. The microarray data revealed that 487 and 201 genes were induced or



**FIGURE 4.** Susceptibility of flies mutant for the JAK kinase Hopscotch to infection by SINV, VSV, FHV, DXV, and IIV-6. Groups of 20 wild-type (OR) or *hop* mutant flies were injected with SINV (**A**), VSV (**B**), FHV (**C**), DXV (**D**), or IIV-6 (**E**), and survival was monitored. For VSV and SINV, the Tris buffer control injection is also shown, because *hop* mutant flies exhibited decreased survival at 29°C after day 16 upon both buffer and virus injection. Kaplan–Meier analysis of the results of at least two independent experiments reveal a statistically significant difference in survival between wild-type and *hop* mutant flies only in the case of DXV. \*p < 0.05.

655

#### The Journal of Immunology



**FIGURE 5.** Microarray analysis of gene induction following infection by DCV, FHV, or SINV. (**A**) Venn diagram showing the number of upregulated genes (by a factor of at least 2) following infection by the three viruses. The total number of genes regulated by each virus is indicated in parentheses. (**B**) FHV and SINV induce members of the same gene families, but FHV triggers a stronger response. The numbers of genes belonging to seven gene ontology functional categories induced by both FHV and SINV or by FHV only are shown. (**C**) Expression of *vir-1* and *TotM* by quantitative PCR normalized for the expression of the housekeeping gene *RpL32*. Groups of 10 wild-type (OR) flies were injected with Tris buffer or the viruses DCV, CrPV, FHV, SINV, VSV, DXV, or IIV-6 or pricked with a needle dipped in a concentrated pellet of the Gram-positive bacterium *M. luteus* and the Gram-negative bacterium *E. coli*. RNA was extracted at 6 h, 1 d, 2 d, 3 d, and 4 d after challenge. The data represent the mean and SEs of at least two independent experiments. The *p* values were calculated for each time point individually versus the Tris-injected control. \**p* < 0.05, \*\**p* < 0.01, \*\*\**p* < 0.001.

upregulated by a factor of at least 2 upon infection by FHV and SINV, respectively. When analyzed with the same criteria, 166 genes were induced by DCV (Fig. 5A, Supplemental Table II).

The data of this transcriptomic analysis call for two comments. First, we note that 42 genes were induced by all three viruses (Fig. 5A). We compared this set of genes with microarray studies performed on flies infected by fungi and bacteria (both extra- and intracellular) to identify a potential signature specific for viral infections (Supplemental Table III). We observed that a number of genes, such as Frost, are upregulated similarly by all types of infections, suggesting that they are induced by the stress of the infection, rather than by recognition of specific characteristics of the infecting microorganism. Of interest, other genes, such as Vago, Obp99b, Mal-B1, Nmda1, CG8147, CG1572, l(2)gd1, CG14906, CG10911, and Tsp42EI, appear to be induced only in response to viral infections, and may represent the core of an inducible antiviral gene expression program. The case of Obp99b is particularly striking, as this gene is strongly upregulated by FHV, SINV, and DCV, but inhibited following other types of infection. Clearly, the regulation and function of this molecule deserves further investigation. The genes CG4680, Eip75B, Sp7, and CG10916 are induced both by the viruses and by the intracellular bacterium Listeria (33), suggesting that they may participate in the defense against intracellular intruders (Supplemental Table III).

A second comment is that the majority of upregulated genes are induced by only one or two of the viruses, revealing virus-specific responses. Of interest, 84% of the genes upregulated by SINV are also induced by FHV, pointing to a strong similarity between the responses to the two viruses. FHV induced a higher number of genes than did Sindbis virus, and only 34% of the genes induced by FHV are also induced by SINV (Fig. 5A). It is intriguing, though, that many of the genes induced solely by FHV, but not by SINV, are members of the same gene families as the genes coinduced by both FHV and SINV. This peculiarity underlines the basic similarities between the transcriptional response to the two viruses. In addition, several genes associated with cell death are induced by FHV, but not SINV, which may reflect the higher virulence of FHV (Fig. 5B, Supplemental Tables II, III). Only 22% and 16% of the genes induced by SINV and FHV, respectively, are also induced by DCV, indicating that DCV, on one hand, and FHV and SINV, on the other hand, trigger different inducible responses (Fig. 5A). We did not detect in our microarrays expression of the genes encoding the unpaired (Upd) cytokines, which activate the JAK-STAT pathway in Drosophila. However, quantitative RT-PCR analysis revealed that upd2 and upd3, but not upd, are induced or upregulated following DCV and CrPV infection (Fig. 3C).

#### Virus-specific pattern of gene induction

To further characterize the transcriptional response triggered by different viruses, wild-type flies were injected with DCV, CrPV, FHV, SINV, VSV, DXV, and IIV-6, and gene induction was measured at 6 h postinfection and 1, 2, 3, and 4 dpi. Gene expression was monitored by quantitative RT-PCR, which provides a more accurate quantification of gene expression than does hybridization to short oligonucleotide probes on microarrays (34). We monitored expression of the DCV-induced gene *vir-1* (11) and of *TotM*, which, according to the microarrays, is induced by FHV and SINV infection. We confirmed the induction of *vir-1* by DCV and FHV (11) and detected a milder but significant induction of *vir-1* by SINV, VSV, DXV, and IIV-6 was observed (Fig. 5C). For *TotM*,

190

#### 656

we confirmed the induction by FHV at different time points. In addition, we observed that TotM expression was significantly induced by DCV at late time points of infection (4 dpi). We note that induction of TotM by SINV, VSV, and DXV was 10-20 times stronger than the induction by FHV (Fig. 5C). The DNA virus IIV-6 did not induce TotM at any measured time point. Interestingly, we observed different profiles for vir-1 and TotM induction after viral challenge. Overall, the viruses that kill wild-type flies rapidly (within 10 d), such as DCV, CrPV, and FHV, were potent inducers of vir-1, whereas less pathogenic viruses, such as SINV, VSV, and DXV, did not induce vir-1. The opposite trend was observed for TotM, which was most potently induced by SINV, VSV, and DXV, The different pattern of induction of vir-1 and TotM suggests that the two genes may be regulated differently, even though both were previously shown to be regulated by the JAK-STAT pathway (11, 17). Indeed, the MAP3K MEK kinase 1 (MEKK1) and the Imd pathways are also known to contribute to the induction of TotM induction in some contexts (17, 35).

Some antimicrobial peptide genes were also upregulated according to the microarrays, suggesting an overlap between antiviral immunity and antibacterial-antifungal defenses. We observed an enrichment for genes regulated by the Toll pathway [e.g., the cytokine Spaetzle (Spz) and the antifungal peptides Drosomycine (Drs) and Metchnikowine (Mtk)] in the DCV-specific set of genes (Supplemental Table II). We also noted an enrichment of Imd pathway-regulated genes, such as the antibacterial peptides Attacin-A and -C, Diptericin-B, and the transcription factor Relish, in the genes upregulated by both DCV and FHV. However, when expression of diptericin and drosomycin-two markers of activation of the Imd and Toll pathways, respectively-was monitored by quantitative RT-PCR, none of the viruses triggered an induction comparable to that of bacterial and fungal infections, although the wounding associated with the injection procedure clearly led to some expression of the genes (Supplemental Fig. 1).

#### Discussion

We have investigated the involvement of RNAi and the evolutionarily conserved JAK-STAT signaling pathway in the resistance to a panel of seven viruses representing several important families, including the arboviruses SINV and VSV. Our data provide a contrasting picture: on the one hand, a broad antiviral immunity based on RNAi contributing to the defense against both RNA and DNA viruses, and on the other hand, a virus-specific transcriptional response involving the JAK-STAT pathway but playing a critical role only in the case of *Dicistroviridae* infection.

#### RNAi protects against a DNA virus infection

The present study extends work from several groups, including our own, showing that flies mutant for the siRNA pathway are more sensitive than wild-type flies to a large panel of RNA viruses, and reveals that Dcr-2 is also required for the control of the DNA virus IIV-6. We note, however, that the increase of viral titer in siRNA pathway-mutant flies is not as strong as in the case of some RNA viruses [e.g., VSV (25)]. This finding could reflect either the expression of a viral suppressor of RNAi by IIV-6 or the fact that only a portion of the viral genome is targeted by siRNAs. Indeed, this virus encodes an RNaseIII enzyme, which could cleave siRNA duplexes, as previously reported in plants infected by the sweet potato chlorotic stunt virus (36). The involvement of Dcrmediated immune responses against DNA virus infections was previously noted in plants, in which secondary structures in the transcribed viral RNAs, or dsRNAs formed from overlapping bidirectional transcripts, can be processed into siRNAs (37, 38). Production of dsRNA from DNA viruses also occurs in animal

#### VIRUS-SPECIFIC INDUCIBLE RESPONSE IN DROSOPHILA

cells, as demonstrated by the critical role played by the dsRNA receptor TLR3 in the sensing of herpesvirus infection in mammals (39, 40). Our data are consistent with a model whereby dsRNA generated from convergent transcription of the IIV-6 genome is processed by Dcr-2 and triggers RNAi. Thus, we conclude that RNAi provides an efficient and highly specific RNA-based defense against many types of viruses in Drosophila and probably other insects. This conclusion parallels the situation described in plants. The vertebrates, which largely rely on the induction of IFNs to counter viral infections, appear to be the exception among multicellular organisms (1). Of interest, however, the DExD/H box helicase domains found in Dcr enzymes and RIG-I-like receptors, which sense the presence of viral RNAs in cells infected by RNA and DNA viruses, are phylogenetically related (10). This finding suggests that an essential domain of a core molecule from the ancestral antiviral response, RNA silencing, was at some point recruited to sense viral RNAs in vertebrates and to subsequently activate a signaling pathway leading to production of IFNs

#### Virus-specific induced gene expression in Drosophila

Microarrays are powerful tools to monitor the global transcriptome of infected cells and compare the response to different infections. Despite its limitations for accurate measurements of the magnitude of expression changes, this technology provides useful information on changes in gene expression (34). In this article, using wholegenome Affymetrix microarrays to analyze the transcriptome of flies infected by DCV, FHV, or SINV, we report the existence of virusspecific responses to infection. These results are in keeping with a previous study pointing to autophagy as an antiviral defense mechanism against VSV, but not DCV, infection (14). The three viruses we used belong to different families and present different characteristics that make them valuable for the current study. For example, 1) DCV and FHV replicate rapidly and kill Drosophila upon injection, whereas SINV does not at the dose used (11, 24); 2) DCV is a natural pathogen of Drosophila, whereas FHV and SINV have not been found in wild Drosophila populations (41); 3) FHV and DCV possess, respectively, a strong and moderate viral suppressor of RNAi, whereas SINV presumably does not (28, 42, 43). The three viruses also have different tissue tropism and may be associated with tissue-specific modifications in the physiology of the infected host. For example, FHV was recently shown to be a cardiotropic virus, affected by potassium channels regulating heart function (44), whereas DCV infection causes intestinal obstruction (S. Chtarbanova and J.-L. Imler, manuscript in preparation).

Comparison of the transcriptomes of the flies infected by the three viruses revealed more similarities between FHV and SINV than between each of these and DCV. This may reflect the coevolution of DCV with its host, and the fact that this virus may have learned to ward off the antiviral arsenal of its host. Indeed, DCV induces fewer genes than does FHV, even though the two viruses replicate with similar kinetics and lead to the rapid death of the flies. The genes induced by FHV and SINV encode chaperonins (Tcp or Hsp), glutathione transferases, cytochrome P450s, stress markers (Tot family), thioester-containing proteins, and cytoskeletal regulators, suggesting an involvement of oxidative stress and phagocytosis in the response to these viruses. The two viruses also upregulate the gene egghead (egh), which encodes a molecule involved in the uptake of dsRNA and antiviral immunity (27). Despite the large overlap between the genes upregulated by FHV and SINV, the former induce a more intense transcriptional response than the latter. This observation may reflect the more aggressive replication of FHV in Drosophila. Indeed, the genes specifically induced by FHV include not only additional members of the families mentioned above (Hsp, Tcp, Gst, cytP450, thioesterThe Journal of Immunology

containing proteins), supporting the idea of a more intense response, but also genes associated with cell death. In addition, FHV upregulates several molecules previously connected to innate immunity in *Drosophila*, such as Hel89B (45), POSH (46), or MEKK1 (35), or molecules that may downmodulate the strong response to virus infection (e.g., the genes *CG9311* and *Pez*, encoding tyrosine phosphatases). Finally, we note that FHV induced eight genes encoding factors with RNA binding domains, including four DExD/H box helicases, which may participate in the sensing and neutralization of viral nucleic acids. This specificity may reflect a response of the host to counter the effect of the strong suppressor of RNAi B2, a dsRNA-binding protein (47).

An intriguing aspect of the transcriptome of virus-infected flies is the upregulation of genes regulated by the Toll and Imd pathways. We observed an enrichment of Toll pathway target genes induced in flies infected by DCV, but not FHV or SINV, suggesting that DCV infection triggers this pathway. Among the genes induced by DCV, but not by the two other viruses, we also note the presence of *Ect4*, which encodes a TIR domain cytoplasmic molecule. The mammalian ortholog of this gene, SARM, was proposed to participate as a negative regulator of TLR signaling in some antiviral defenses (48). Two other genes regulated by DCV and possibly establishing a connection between RNA silencing and the inducible response are worth mentioning: *headcase* was identified in a screen as a regulator of the siRNA pathway (49), whereas *CG9925* encodes a protein with a Tudor domain, a characteristic of several components of the Piwi-interacting RNA pathway (50).

Unlike the Toll-regulated genes, several genes regulated by Imd were induced in flies infected by DCV or FHV, although not by SINV. The Toll and Imd pathways play a well-characterized role in the regulation of bacterial and fungal infections, through the regulation of genes encoding antimicrobial peptides. These genes are also upregulated by viral infection, although not significantly, compared with buffer injection. This low level of induction most likely explains our inability to detect antimicrobial peptides in the hemolymph of DCV-infected flies (51). Although not formally establishing that the Toll and Imd pathways participate in the antiviral response, these results certainly do not rule out such a role (7, 9, 15). Alternatively, induction of the antimicrobial genes may involve the transcription factor FOXO, a known regulator of stress resistance, and may occur independently of the Toll and Imd pathways (52). Whatever the mechanism of induction, the biological significance of this weak induction of molecules normally active in the micromolar range is unclear. One possibility is that the Drosophila antimicrobial peptides carry additional functions that do not require high-level expression. For example, some mammalian  $\beta$ -defensins play a dual role in innate immunity and, in addition to their antibacterial properties, interact with chemokine receptors with affinities in the nanomolar range, thus mediating chemoattraction of phagocytic cells (53).

# Dicistroviridae-specific contribution of the JAK-STAT pathway to antiviral immunity

An unexpected finding reported in this article is that *hop* mutant flies have a clear phenotype for DCV and CrPV, but not for the other viruses tested. This observation indicates that the JAK-STAT pathway, in addition to RNAi, participates in host defense against members of the *Dicistroviridae* family. DCV infection leads to induction of the genes encoding the cytokines Upd2 and Upd3, which may subsequently activate the JAK-STAT pathway in non-infected cells, triggering an antiviral program of gene expression. Altogether, our results highlight that the contribution of RNAi, patient of RNAi, patient of the control of DCV is similar to that of RNAi,

as flies mutant for either RNAi or the inducible JAK-STAT pathway succumb to infection 2–3 d before the controls, with an  $\sim$ 10-fold increase in viral titer.

Interestingly, even though hop mutant flies appear to be specifically sensitive to Dicistroviridae, other viruses activate the JAK-STAT pathway. Indeed, we observed a slight increase in the lethality of hop mutant flies postinfection with DXV and IIV-6. In Aedes mosquitoes, the JAK/STAT pathway was also shown to activate a defense against Dengue, a member of the Flaviviridae family (54). We also note that the JAK-STAT pathway-regulated gene vir-1 (11) is induced by DCV and CrPV, but also FHV, even though hop mutant flies resist FHV infection much as do wild-type flies. One hypothesis to explain this apparent paradox is that some genes may be induced in a JAK-STAT-independent manner in the context of viral infections. For example, the gene TotM, which is induced by several viruses normally resisted by hop mutant flies, can be induced by the MEKK1 pathway, in addition to the JAK-STAT pathway (35). Indeed, we observed that TotM remains fully induced by FHV and SINV in hop mutant flies (C. Dostert and J.-L. Imler, unpublished observations). However, this hypothesis cannot account for the induction of vir-1 by FHV, because it is strongly reduced in hop mutant flies (C. Dostert and J.-L. Imler, unpublished observations). This finding suggests that some aspects of the JAK-STAT-induced response may be redundant of other defenses for FHV, but not for DCV. The fact that FHV triggers a stronger transcriptional response than does DCV (Fig. 5) is consistent with this hypothesis.

A key question pertains to the nature of the receptor detecting *Dicistroviridae* infection and triggering the JAK-STAT-dependent inducible response. Our data point to the induction of a specific subset of genes, including the JAK-STAT-regulated gene *vir-1* (11), by fast-killing viruses such as DCV and CrPV, but also FHV, which replicate rapidly to high titers upon injection in flies. Of note, *vir-1* induction is not affected in flies expressing the dsRNA-binding protein B2, or in *Dcr-2* mutant flies, indicating that this gene is not induced following sensing of dsRNA (10). This finding suggests that sensing tissue damage and/or cell death could contribute to this inducible response, a hypothesis corroborated by the association of the JAK-STAT pathway with the cellular response to a variety of stresses (17, 55–57).

In conclusion, our data confirm that, beyond RNAi, an inducible response contributes to the control of some viral infections in *Drosophila*. However, this response is complex, and great care should be exercised before generalizing the results obtained with one single virus species. This unexpected complexity probably reflects the intricate association of viruses with their host cells in different tissues, their different strategies of replication or protein expression, or their acquisition of suppressors of host defense.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Estelle Santiago and Miriam Yamba for excellent technical assistance, Phil Irving for help with the microarray experiments, Anette Schneeman (The Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, CA) for providing DXV and CrPV, Trevor Williams (Veracruz, Mexico) for providing IIV-6, and Stéphanie Blandin and Dominique Ferrandon for critical reading of the manuscript and helpful suggestions. The microarray analysis and the deep sequencing were performed at the Plateforme Biopuces et Séquençage, Institut de Génétique et de Biologie Moléculaire et Cellulaire, Strasbourg, France.

#### Disclosures

The authors have no financial conflicts of interest.

#### 657

658

#### References

- 1. Beutler, B., C. Eidenschenk, K. Crozat, J. L. Imler, O. Takeuchi, J. A. Hoffmann, and S. Akira. 2007. Genetic analysis of resistan
- and S. Akira. 2007. Genetic analysis of resistance to viral infection. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7: 753–766.
  Kasturi, S. P., I. Skountzou, R. A. Albrecht, D. Koutsonanos, T. Hua, H. I. Nakaya, R. Ravindran, S. Stewart, M. Alam, M. Kwissa, et al. 2011.
  Programming the magnitude and persistence of antibody responses with innate immunity. Nature 470: 543–547.
  Ding, S. W. 2010. RNA-based antiviral immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10: 632– 644.
- 3.
- Kemp, C., and J. L. Imler. 2009. Antiviral immunity in drosophila. Curr. Opin. 5
- 7
- Kemp, C., and J. L. Imler. 2009. Antiviral immunity in orosophila. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 21: 3–9.
  Sabin, L. R., S. L. Hanna, and S. Cherry. 2010. Innate antiviral immunity in Drosophila. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 22: 4–9.
  van Rij, R. P., and E. Berezikov. 2009. Small RNAs and the control of transposons and viruses in Drosophila. *Trends Microbiol.* 17: 163–171.
  Avadhanula, V., B. P. Weasner, G. G. Hardy, J. P. Kumar, and R. W. Hardy. 2009.
  A novel system for the launch of alphavirus RNA synthesis reveals a role for the Imd pathway in arthropod antiviral response. *PLoS Pathog.* 5: e1000582.
  Carpenter, J. S. Hutter, J. F. Baines, J. Roller, S. S. Saminadin-Peter, J. Parsch, and F. M. Jiggins. 2009. The transcriptional response of *Drosophila melanogaster* to infection with the sigma virus (Rhabdoviridae). *PLoS ONE* 4: e6838.
- e6838. Costa, A., E. Jan, P. Sarnow, and D. Schneider. 2009. The Imd pathway is involved in antiviral immune responses in Drosophila. *PLoS ONE* 4: e7436. Deddouche, S., N. Matt, A. Budd, S. Mueller, C. Kemp, D. Galiana-Arnoux, C. Dostert, C. Antoniewski, J. A. Hoffmann, and J. L. Imler. 2008. The DExD/H-box helicase Dicer-2 mediates the induction of antiviral activity in drosophila. *Nat. Immunol.* 9: 1425–1432. Dostert, C., E. Jouanguy, P. Irving, L. Troxler, D. Galiana-Arnoux, C. Hetru, J. A. Hoffmann, and J. L. Imler. 2005. The Jak-STAT signaling pathway is required but not sufficient for the antiviral response of drosophila. *Nat. Immunol.* 6: 946–953.
- 46 053
- 940-935. Hedges, L. M., and K. N. Johnson. 2008. Induction of host defence responses by Drosophila C virus. J. Gen. Virol. 89: 1497–1501. Roxström-Lindquist, K., O. Terenius, and I. Faye. 2004. Parasite-specific im-
- 13. nune response in adult Drosophila melanogaster: a genomic study. EMBO Rep. · 207-212
- 5: 2017–212. Shelly, S., N. Lukinova, S. Bambina, A. Berman, and S. Cherry. 2009. Auto-phagy is an essential component of Drosophila immunity against vesicular stomatitis virus. *Immunity* 30: 588–598. Zambon, R. A., M. Nandakumar, V. N. Vakharia, and L. P. Wu. 2005. The Toll
- Zamoon, K. A., M. Yandaxhinar, Y. Y. Vakhara, and E. F. Wu. 2003. The Tori pathway is important for an antiviral response in Drosophila. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 102: 7257–7262. Fragkoudis, R., G. Attarzadeh-Yazdi, A. A. Nash, J. K. Fazakerley, and A. Kohl.
- Fragkoudis, R., G. Attarzadeh-Yazdi, A. A. Nash, J. K. Fazakerley, and A. Kohl. 2009. Advances in dissecting mosquito innate immune responses to arbovirus infection. J. Gen. Virol. 90: 2061–2072. Agaisse, H., U. M. Petersen, M. Boutros, B. Mathey-Prevot, and N. Perrimon. 2003. Signaling role of hemocytes in Drosophila JAK/SYAT-dependent response to septic injury. Dev. Cell 5: 441–450. Lee, Y. S., K. Nakahara, J. W. Pham, K. Kim, Z. He, E. J. Sontheimer, and R. W. Carthew. 2004. Distinct roles for Drosophila Dicer-1 and Dicer-2 in the siRNA/miRNA silencing pathways. Cell 117: 69–81. Liu, X., F. Jiang, S. Kalidas, D. Smith, and Q. Liu. 2006. Dicer-2 and R2D2 coordinately bind siRNA to promote assembly of the siRISC complexes. RNA 12: 1514–1520.
- 18.
- 2: 1514-1520.
- 12: 1514–1520. Irving, P., L. Troxler, T. S. Heuer, M. Belvin, C. Kopczynski, J. M. Reichhart, J. A. Hoffmann, and C. Hetru. 2001. A genome-wide analysis of immune responses in Drosophila. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98: 15119–15124. Huang, da W., B. T. Sherman, and R. A. Lempicki. 2008. Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. *Nat. Process. 64*, 45, 57 20.
- 21.
- toc. 4: 44-5. Proferer, S. 2007. Identification of virally encoded microRNAs. *Methods Enzymol.* 427: 51–63.
- 23.
- mol. 427: 51-63. Chotkowski, H. L., A. T. Ciota, Y. Jia, F. Puig-Basagoiti, L. D. Kramer, P. Y. Shi, and R. L. Glaser. 2008. West Nile virus infection of *Drosophila melanogaster* induces a protective RNAi response. *Virology* 377: 197-206. Galiana-Armoux, D., C. Dostert, A. Schneemann, J. A. Hoffmann, and J. L. Imler. 2006. Essential function in vivo for Dicer-2 in host defense against RNA viruses in drosophila. *Nat. Immunol.* 7: 590-597. Mueller, S., V. Gausson, N. Vodovar, S. Deddouche, L. Troxler, J. Perot, S. Pfeffer, J. A. Hoffmann, M. C. Saleh, and J. L. Imler. 2010. RNAi-mediated immunity provides strong protection against the negative-strand RNA vesicular stomatilis virus in Drosophila. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 107: 19390–19395. Sabin, L. R., R. Zhou, J. J. Gruber, N. Lukinova, S. Bambina, A. Berman, 25.
- 26.
- 107: 19390–19395.
  Sabin, L. R., R. Zhou, J. J. Gruber, N. Lukinova, S. Bambina, A. Berman, C. K. Lau, C. B. Thompson, and S. Cherry. 2009. Ars2 regulates both miRNA-and siRNA-dependent silencing and suppresses RNA virus infection in Drosophila. *Cell* 138: 340–351.
  Saleh, M. C., M. Tassetto, R. P. van Rij, B. Goic, V. Gausson, B. Berry, C. Jacquier, C. Antoniewski, and R. Andino. 2009. Antiviral immunity in Drosophila requires systemic RNA interference spread. *Nature* 458: 346–350.
  van Rij, R. P., M. C. Saleh, B. Berry, C. Foo, A. Houk, C. Antoniewski, and R. Andino. 2006. The RNA silencing endonuclease Argonaute 2 mediates specific antiviral immunity in *Drosophila melanogaster. Genes Dev.* 20: 2985–2995.

#### VIRUS-SPECIFIC INDUCIBLE RESPONSE IN DROSOPHILA

- Wang, X. H., R. Aliyari, W. X. Li, H. W. Li, K. Kim, R. Carthew, P. Atkinson, and S. W. Ding. 2006. RNA interference directs innate immunity against viruses in adult Drosophila. *Science* 312: 452–454.
   Zambon, R. A., V. N. Vakharia, and L. P. Wu. 2006. RNAi is an antiviral immune
- E-autoon, K. A., V. N. Vaknaria, and L. P. Wu. 2006. RNAi is an antiviral immune response against a dsRNA virus in *Drosophila melanogaster. Cell. Microbiol.* 8: 880–889.
- 31. Lim, D. H., C. T. Oh, L. Lee, J. S. Hong, S. H. Noh, S. Hwang, S. Kim, S. J. Han, and Y. S. Lee. 2011. The endogenous siRNA pathway in Drosophila impacts stress resistance and lifespan by regulating metabolic homeostasis. *FEBS Lett.* 585· 3079-3085
- S85: 3079–3085.
   D'Costa, S. M., H. J. Yao, and S. L. Bilimoria. 2004. Transcriptional mapping in Chilo iridescent virus infections. Arch. Virol. 149: 723–742.
   Goto, A., T. Yano, J. Terashima, S. Iwashita, Y. Oshima, and S. Kurata. 2010. Cooperative regulation of the induction of the novel antibacterial Listericin by peptidoglycan recognition protein LE and the JAK-STAT pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 285: 15731–15738.
   Draghici, S., P. Khatri, A. C. Eklund, and Z. Szallasi. 2006. Reliability and re-memory in the protein DN approxement proteometer of 22:101–100.

- Draghici, S., P. Khatri, A. C. Eklund, and Z. Szallasi. 2006. Reliability and re-producibility issues in DNA microarary measurements. *Trends Genet*. 22: 101–109. Brun, S., S. Vidal, P. Spellman, K. Takahashi, H. Tricoire, and B. Lemaitre. 2006. The MAPKKK Mekk I regulates the expression of Turandot stress genes in response to septic injury in Drosophila. *Genes Cells* 11: 397–407. Cuellar, W. J., J. F. Kreuze, M. L. Rajamäki, K. R. Cruzado, M. Untiveros, and J. P. Valkonen. 2009. Elimination of antiviral defense by viral RNase III. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 106: 10354–10358. 36.

- P. Valkonen. 2009. Elimination of antiviral defense by viral RNase III. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106: 10354–10358.
   Moissiard, G., and O. Voinnet. 2006. RNA silencing of host transcripts by cauliflower mosaic virus requires coordinated action of the four Arabidopsis Dicer-like proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103: 19593–19598.
   Blevins, T., R. Rajeswaran, P. V. Shivaprasad, D. Beknazariants, A. Si-Ammour, H. S. Park, F. Vazquez, D. Robertson, F. Meins, Jr., T. Hohn, and M. M. Pooggin. 2006. Four plant Dicers mediate viral small RNA biogenesis and DNA virus induced silencing. Nucleic Acids Res. 34: 6233–6246.
   Tabeta, K., P. Georgel, E. Janssen, X. Du, K. Hoebe, K. Crozat, S. Mudd, L. Shamel, S. Sovath, J. Goode, et al. 2004. Toll-like receptors 9 and 3 as essential components of innate immune defense against mouse cytomegalovirus infection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101: 3516–3521.
   Zhang, S. Y., E. Jouanguy, S. Ugolini, A. Smahi, G. Elain, P. Romero, D. Segal, V. Sancho-Shimizu, L. Lornezo, A. Puel, et al. 2007. TLR3 deficiency in patients with herpes simplex encephalitis. Science 317: 1522–1527.
   Plus, N., G. Croizier, F. X. Jousset, and J. David. 1975. Picornaviruses of laboratory and wild Drosophila melanegater: geographical distribution and serotypic composition. Ann. Microbiol. (Paris) 126: 107–117.
   Berry, B., S. Deddouche, D. Kirschner, J. L. Imler, and C. Antoniewski. 2009. Viral suppressors of RNA silencing hindre exogenous and endogenous small RNA pathways in Drosophila. PLoS ONE 4: c5866.
   Li, H., W. X. Li, and S. W. Ding. 2002. Induction and suppression of RNA silencing by an animal virus. Science 296: 1319–1321.
   Eleftherianos, I., S. Won, S. Charbanova, B. Squiban, K. Ocorr, R. Bodmir, B. Buetler, J. A. Hoffmann, and J. L. Imler, 2011. ATP-sensitive potassium channel (K(ATP))-dependent regulation of cardiotropic viral infections. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108: 12024–12029.

- 53. Ganz, T. 2003. Defensins: antimicrobial peptides of innate immunity. Nat. Rev.
- Gaire, i. 2005. POLTAINS: autometroolar peptides of minate miniating. *Pat. Rev. Immunol.* 3: 710–720.
  Souza-Neto, J. A., S. Sim, and G. Dimopoulos. 2009. An evolutionary conserved function of the JAK-STAT pathway in anti-dengue defense. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 106: 17841–17846.
- Sci. USA 106: 17841–17846.
  St. Buchon, N., N. A. Broderick, M. Poidevin, S. Pradervand, and B. Lemaitre. 2009. Drosophila intestinal response to bacterial infection: activation of host defense and stem cell proliferation. *Cell Host Microbe* 5: 200–211.
  Cronin, S. J., N. T. Nehme, S. Limmer, S. Liegeois, J. A. Pospisilik, D. Schramek, A. Leibbrandt, Rde. M. Simoes, S. Gruber, U. Puc, et al. 2009. Genome-wide RNAi screen identifies genes involved in intestinal pathogenic bacterial infection. *Science* 325: 340–343.
  Jiang, H., P. H. Patel, A. Kohlmaier, M. O. Grenley, D. G. McEwen, and B. A. Edgar. 2009. Cytokine/Jak/Stat signaling mediates regeneration and homeostasis in the Drosophila midgut. *Cell* 137: 1343–1355.

# Part IV

# DISCUSSION

# IV.1. Pastrel, a new gene restricting infection by picorna-like viruses in *Drosophila*

# IV.1.a. Polymorphisms in pastrel gene are correlated with the susceptibility to DCV infection

It was striking to observe such a wide variability in the susceptibility of flies used as control in the laboratory to DCV infection. In 1995, Thomas-Orillard and colleagues already reported a difference of susceptibility of wild-type flies to DCV infection (Thomas-Orillard et al., 1995). They compared the susceptibility of 15 strains of Drosophila melanogaster isolated from different geographic areas to DCV infection. Whereas 14 strains displayed 100% lethality after 3 to 6 days post-infection, around 50% of flies from Nagasaki strain were still alive 10 days after infection with the same dose of virus. Interestingly, the lethality of strains was not correlated with their geographic origin. They observed that the progeny resulting of the direct and reciprocal cross between a sensitive strain (Charolles) and a resistant strain (Nagasaki) is resistant to DCV infection, comparable to the Nagasaki strain. It indicates that the phenotype of DCV resistance is dominant and independent of sex chromosomes. They performed crosses between a stock with chromosomes balancers and the Nagasaki flies, revealing that the resistant phenotype is associated with the third chromosome. Accordingly, our data indicate that the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV infection is genetically transmitted in an autosomal-dominant manner. Indeed, the direct and reciprocal cross between a sensitive line and a resistant line result in a progeny that is resistant to DCV infection.It is important to mention that all flies used in our study are free of Wolbachia infection. Wolbachia are Gram-negative bacteria widely spread in laboratory stocks of Drosophila (Clark et al., 2005). It was recently reported that Wolbachia mediates protection against RNA viruses (Hedges et al., 2008; Teixeira et al., 2008). Whether the presence of Wolbachia was not diagnosed in their study, Thomas-Orillard and colleagues did not observe any maternal effect, which allows us to exclude a role of Wolbachia in the resistance of Nagasaki flies to DCV infection. However, other studies observed variations in the susceptibility of flies to DCV infection, but associated with a maternal effect (Plus and Golubovsky, 1980), pointing out a possible contribution of Wolbachia in the resistance to

DCV infection. This highlights the importance to test the presence of Wolbachia in flies aimed at being used for experiments with viruses. Our investigation of the gene involved in the susceptibility of flies to DCV infection jumped forward with the genome wide association study (GWAS) performed by Pr. Francis Jiggins, and recently published (Magwire et al., 2012). They identified 6 SNPs in the *pastrel* gene, present on the third chromosome, that are associated with the resistance to DCV infection. Interestingly, as Thomas-Orillard and colleagues observed that the resistance to DCV infection is conferred by the third chromosome, it remains to be determined whether polymorphisms in *pastrel* gene may be involved in the resistance of Nagasaki flies to DCV infection. Our sequencing analyses of the pastrel gene in our laboratory control flies allowed us to identify 3 SNPs that were correlated with the sensitivity or resistance to DCV infection. Accordingly, these 3 SNPs were also identified by Pr. Jiggins: SNPs 3L:7352966 T/G and 3L:7351494 C/T present in introns 1 and 5 respectively; SNP 3L:7350895 Ala/Thr present in exon 6. The three other SNPs identified by Pr. Jiggins (SNPs 3L:7350452 T/G and 3L:7350453 A/G present in the 3'UTR region and SNP 3L:7352880 Glu/Gly present in exon 2 were either not found, or not systematically correlated with the susceptibility to DCV infection in our sample of laboratory control flies. We used prediction software to test if the two SNPs present in intron may affect the splicing of *pastrel* gene but splicing was predicted to be similar between sensitive and resistant versions of *pastrel* gene. Surprisingly, most of the flies from our laboratory that were genotyped for *pastrel* gene by allele specific PCR displayed a sensitive allele of *pastrel*. In agreement with our observations, the study of Thomas-Orillard and colleagues highlights that the sensitive phenotype is more abundant in wild-type strains of Drosophila melanogaster than the resistant phenotype (14 sensitive strains out of 15 strains tested). Accordingly, a previous study by Jousset and colleagues revealed that 39 strains of Drosophila melanogaster captured in the wild from different geographic areas were all sensitive to DCV infection ((Jousset, 1976), mentioned in Thomas-Orillard et al., 1995). They did not find resistant flies. We can speculate that the sensitive allele of *pastrel* may confer an advantage for the host compared to the resistant allele. Surprisingly, we found an increased number of SNPs in the pastrel gene of  $Ore - R^{DF}$  flies compared to other flies sequenced for pastrel gene ( $Ore - R^{JLI}$ ,  $w^{A5001}$ , DD1 cnbw or Canton-S). These polymorphisms may correlate with the highest sensitivity of *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* flies to DCV infection and also CrPV infection. Whereas vw,  $w^{A5001}$ , DD1 Cnbw, Canton-S and Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup> flies display 100% lethality after 12 days of CrPV infection, Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> flies are remarkably more sensitive to CrPV infection, displaying 100%

lethality after 8 days of infection. This discrepancy may be correlated with the polymorphisms of *pastrel* gene that are exclusive to *Ore-R<sup>DF</sup>* strain (discussed below). It would also suggest that polymorphisms other than the ones identified for DCV may affect CrPV susceptibility. All fly lines tested in our study displayed a similar susceptibility and equivalent viral titre after FHV infection. This observation is in agreement with the GWAS from Prof. Jiggins, which did not find a significant association between the polymorphisms in *pastrel* gene and the susceptibility to FHV infection (Magwire et al., 2012). In our study, we went further in the analysis of the susceptibility of flies to viral infections by using two arboviruses (VSV and SINV) and IIV-6, a DNA virus. Whereas we did not observe a relevant difference in the susceptibility of Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> and Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup> flies to VSV and SINV infections, Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> flies displayed an increased sensitivity to IIV-6 infection and a higher viral titre after 20 days of infection, compared to Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup> flies. Further experiments will be required to decipher if pastrel controls IIV-6 infection. Importantly, we excluded that DCV integrated DNA forms may contribute to the resistance of our flies to DCV infection by southern blot with DCV DNA probes, revealing the absence of such DCV fragments in the genome of  $w^{A5001}$ , DD1 Cnbw and Ore-R<sup>ILI</sup> flies. It is reported that mutations can affect the stability of proteins (Tokuriki and Tawfik, 2009). To rule out that polymorphisms may affect the stability of Pastrel protein and therefore be responsible of the difference of susceptibility of flies to DCV infection, we showed that sensitive and resistant flies display similar levels of Pastrel protein.

# IV.1.b. Pastrel genotyping is required before conducting experiments with DCV

The wide difference in the susceptibility of laboratory control flies to DCV infection was a major concern because these control flies are used as reference in experiments aimed at testing the effect of a *Drosophila* mutant on viral infection. For example, flies mutant for components of the IMD pathway, *imd*<sup>sdk</sup> and  $Tab2^{glr3}$ , were highly sensitive to DCV infection but the sensitivity was restored after crossing with lines carrying deficiencies in the chromosomal regions containing these genes, similar to control flies (**Figure 66A** and **66B**, data from Dr. Akira Goto). My study of Pastrel allowed to highlight that the sensitivity of both IMD mutant lines was conferred by sensitive alleles of *pastrel*. Of note, most deficiency lines tested from Bloomington harbored the resistant allele of *pastrel*, enabling complementation of the sensitive allele.



Figure 66. *Pastrel* is responsible of the sensitivity of  $imd^{sdk}$  and  $Tab2^{glr3}$  mutant flies to DCV infection. A. and B. Flies were crossed at 25°C and experiments were performed at 22°C. Pastrel alleles were genotyped by PCR. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 3 independent experiments (data from Dr. Akira Goto).

Mutant flies for the transcription factor Dif (Dif<sup>1</sup>), operating in the Toll pathway, are highly sensitive to fungus *Beauveriabassiana* (Figure 67A). Additionally, we also observed that Dif<sup>1</sup> mutant flies display an increased sensitivity to DCV infection and a higher viral titer (Figure 67A and 67B). The sensitivity of Dif<sup>1</sup> mutant flies, containing sensitive alleles of

*pastrel*, was partially restored after crossing with deficiency lines harboring resistant alleles of *pastrel*. This indicates that beside the effect of *pastrel*, mutations in Dif affect the resistance of flies to DCV infection. Our observations suggest that Toll pathway may be involved in the control of DCV infection.



**Figure 67. The transcription factor Dif, operating in the Toll pathway, is involved in the control of DCV infection. A.** Flies were infected with *Beauveria bassiana* by contact with an overnight culture of spores. **B.** Flies were infected with DCV (500 PFU) and survivals were monitored at 22°C. **C.** DCV RNA levels were measured by qPCR after 2 and 3 days of infection at 22°C. Bar graphs represent the average standard deviation of 2 independent experiments.

Furthermore, we also noticed a strong variability in the susceptibility to DCV and CrPV infection between two Ore-R stocks. In an experiment with these viruses, this could be a big issue for the interpretation of the results, which would depend on the Ore-R line picked

up. Therefore, it is primordial to genotype the allele of *pastrel* before conducting experiments with DCV to avoid misinterpretations of DCV phenotypes.

# IV.1.c. Pastrel gene: duplications and deletions

The amplification of the *pastrel* gene from laboratory control flies with primers for both extremities resulted in a PCR product of 2989 kb, the expected length of *pastrel* gene. However, additional bands of pastrel were amplified from Drosophila cell lines, Dif mutant flies and a deficiencyline, but also from one line sent by Prof. Jiggins and used in GWAS study. We sequenced the lower band and characterized a pastrel truncated version of 1755 kb length. The deletion is extended from position 1072 in exon 6 to position 2306 in exon 2. The upper band was further characterized by Chuan Cao, a PhD student in the group of Prof. Jiggins. They found two other alleles: one with a duplication of full length pastrel gene flanked at one extremity by parts of Sec63 and CTCF genes; one with a duplication of *pastrel* gene flanked by a truncated copy of *pastrel* gene. They did not find a significant association between these duplications and the resistance to DCV. However, it is intriguing that such duplications occurred for pastrel gene in Drosophila. Interestingly, many immune related genes are under positive selection driven by the interactions between hosts and pathogens, and particularly molecules that directly face pathogens such as PRRs (Jiggins and Kim, 2006; Sackton et al., 2007). For example, Drosophila has 12 PGRPs genes (Werner et al., 2000), 4 TEPs genes (Lagueux et al., 2000). Gene duplication creates genetic diversity and innovation, leading to specialization of the immune genes. The APOBEC3 family of viral restriction factors is one archetype of an antiviral gene locus that evolved by duplication and specialization to face viruses (Münk et al., 2012). Whether the duplications of pastrel gene may result of adaptive evolution in response to viruses remains to be investigated.

# IV.1.d. Pastrel gene controls Dicistroviridae infection

### Loss-of-function experiments

The knockdown of *pastrel* gene in whole flies carrying sensitive alleles increases their sensitivity to DCV and CrPV infection and these flies display a higher viral load compared to control flies. These observations were reproduced in cell culture, where the depletion of

pastrel facilitates DCV and CrPV infection. These data clearly indicate that pastrel gene expression controls the infection by picorna-like viruses DCV and CrPV, and that the sensitive allele retains some antiviral activity. Our findings validate the observations of Prof. Jiggins (Magwire et al., 2012) and extend the analysis to another member of Dicistroviridae family, CrPV. We pushed further the analysis by knocking down *pastrel* gene expression in aspecific tissue targeted by DCV, the fat body, by using Cg-Gal4 driver. We observed an increased sensitivity of flies to DCV and CrPV infection, correlated with a higher viral titre. These data reveal that the expression of *pastrel* in the fat body controls DCV and CrPV infection. This organ is a key player in the humoral immune response against bacterial and fungal infections, by secreting AMPs into the hemolymph (Lemaitre and Hoffmann, 2007). Moreover, Dcr-2 was reported to drive an inducible antiviral response in the fat body with the expression of Vago that may control DCV infection (Deddouche et al., 2008). However, at present, we cannot rule out that this control of DCV and CrPV infection also relies on hemocytes because Cg-Gal4 driver also affects gene expression in these macrophage-like cells. Accordingly, it has been proposed that hemocytes play a role in the defense against CrPV infection (Costa et al., 2009). Moreover, we have reported in the paper attached to this manuscript that the Jak-STAT pathway specifically contributes to the defense against Dicistroviridae (Kemp et al., 2013). We have demonstrated that DCV and CrPV infection triggers the expression of Upd-3, an hemocyte-released cytokine that binds the fat body Domeless receptor to activate the Jak-STAT pathway (Agaisse et al., 2003). Unpaired-3 ligand establishes a connection between hemocytes and the fat body in the antiviral response against Dicistroviridae. Additionally, our loss-of-function experiments in Drosophila S2 cells, which are hemocyte-derived cells, indicate that the expression of pastrel controls the infection by DCV and CrPV. To address this hypothesis, we may perform RNAi experiments with hemolectin-Gal4 driver to assess if the expression of *pastrel* in hemocytes contributes to the defense against *Dicistroviridae in vivo*. The depletion of *pastrel* in the epithelium midgut, a tissue not targeted by DCV, does not affect the susceptibility of flies to DCV infection. This suggests that the restriction is mediated in the cells where DCV can replicate, like the fat body, suggesting a mechanism of cell-autonomous restriction. In agreement with this hypothesis, the presence of cells overexpressing Pastrel mixed with normal S2 cells was not sufficient to protect these cells from DCV infection. Accordingly, prediction software did not find a peptide signal in Pastrel protein and the protein is not detected in the supernatant of Drosophila S2 cells (data not shown).

## **Gain-of-function experiments**

Our data reveal that the overexpression of Pastrel fused with RFP in Drosophila S2 cells confers protection against DCV and CrPV infection, but not FHV and VSV infection. These findings are in agreement with loss-of-function experiments, and clearly demonstrate that Pastrel protein restricts infection by two picorna-like viruses. Surprisingly, we did not observe differences in the restriction of DCV infection between sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel protein. This discrepancy with the difference of susceptibility to DCV infection observed in vivo between flies expressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel may have different explanations: the overexpression of Pastrel fusions are under the control of Actin promoter, a strong promoter that may mask the difference of antiviral activity between both alleles. Another hypothesis is that the single SNP 3L:7350895Ala/Thr is not sufficient to confer sensitivity or resistance to DCV infection, but one or others SNPs may interfere. In agreement with this hypothesis, the statistical analysis performed to measure the significance of the SNP 3L:7350895 Ala/Thr in the resistance to DCV infection indicates that this SNP is responsible of 47% of the heritability (Magwire et al., 2012). This suggests that other parameters may play a role in the phenotype and remain to be determined. The overexpression of Pst-GFP in flies does not affect their susceptibility to DCV, indicating that the overexpression of Pastrel is not sufficient to reduce DCV-induced fly death. The quantification of viral particles after overexpression of Pastrel remains to be determined but we expect to observe a decrease of the viral titre, as we showed in vitro. Indeed, we have preliminary data, not illustrated in this manuscript, revealing that the overexpression of Pastrel in the highly infected pericardial cells restricts DCV infection in these cells. As pericardial cells play a role in the filtration of hemolymph (Das et al., 2008), it remains possible that DCV particles circulating in the hemolymph accumulate rather than replicate in pericardial cells. For this reason, we are now verifying that the overexpression of Pastrel in these cells does not affect their function of filtration. Additionally, we have established, in collaboration with Pr. Jiggins, transgenic flies expressing sensitive and resistant alleles of pastrel under the control of HSP promoter. We are now comparing their susceptibility to DCV and CrPV infection.

Loss- and gain-of-function experiments clearly demonstrate that Pastrel restricts infection by picorna-like viruses DCV and CrPV, which reflects the exact feature of a viral

restriction factor. Whereas most viral restriction factors are upregulated after viral infection by interferon in mammals, pastrel seems constitutively expressed, therefore establishing an antiviral state prior infection.Indeed, our data indicate that the expression of *pastrel* is around 1.25 fold upregulated in DCV-infected cells.

## IV.1.e. Towards the characterization of Pastrel antiviral activity

## Which step of the virus cell cycle is affected by Pastrel?

Our data reveal that the overexpression of Pastrel decreases DCV RNA level in Drosophila S2 cells, which subsequently decreases the quantity of viral particles produced and liberated in the supernatant, thereby affecting the progression of the infection. We have dissected steps prior or concomitant to viral replication. We show that Pastrel does not affect IRES-mediated translation, suggesting that DCV replication is not affected by depletion through ineffective translation of viral proteins involved in replication. However, we cannot exclude that Pastrel targets viral proteins for degradation, which is a strategy widely used by viral restriction factors in mammals (see chapter 3 of introduction). Binding assays indicate that Pastrel does not affect the fixation of viral particles onto the surface of Drosophila S2 cells, but we observe that Pastrel display an antiviral effect after 2 hours of infection. Our concern is now to decipher if Pastrel affects a step after viral binding but prior replication, such as viral entry and uncoating. A critical point is to know if Pastrel has an antiviral effect prior viral replication or not. To address this question, we measured the apparition of the antigenome by strand-specific PCR and showed that this hallmark of virus replication appears 2 hours after infection (data from Dr. Laurent Daeffler). Thus, the apparition of the anti-genome correlates with the occurrence of Pastrel-mediated restriction, suggesting that Pastrel may affect viral replication. Further investigations remain to be done to clearly demonstrate that Pastrel affects viral replication, but not viral entry. A key experiment would be to use DCV infectious clone or DCV replicon system to bypass the entry process and investigate the effect of Pastrel on virus replication. A co-staining of Pastrel protein and dsRNAs or immunoelectron microscopy with anti-Pastrel antibody staining in DCV-infected cells may be also informative, to know if Pastrel is present in viral factories.

## The antiviral activity of Pastrel is conferred by its C-ter region, exposed in the cytosol

Our data demonstrate that the overexpression of Pastrel truncated in C-terminal (1-562) does not restrict DCV infection, by contrast to the overexpression of the full length protein. In agreement with this observation, the SNP 3L:7350895Ala/Thr, responsible of the sensitivity or resistance of flies to DCV infection, is present in this region (amino acid 598). Our data reveal that the region from amino acid 563 to 682 displays the antiviral activity of Pastrel. We are now investigating if this region 563-682 of Pastrel is sufficient to confer its antiviral activity. Additionally, we want to further dissect this region by looking if other truncated versions of Pastrel (1-595; 1-601; 1-625; 1-652) restrict DCV infection. Additionally, we have developed a new approach to study the topology of a protein and we uncover that the N- and C-terminal extremities of Pastrel protein are exposed in the cytosol, suggesting that the antiviral domain of Pastrel may be accessible to viral particles in the cytoplasm.

## Localization of Pastrel protein

Unexpectedly, we observe that Pastrel loses its localization in cytoplasmic aggregates when the region 563-682 is deleted. This region may direct its localization in cells, in addition to confer its antiviral function, suggesting that localization of Pastrel may be also important to exert its antiviral activity. We have observed that some cytoplasmic aggregates of Pastrel colocalize with lipid droplets stained by Nile Red. Accordingly, Pastrel was reported to be present in lipid droplets from Drosophila larvae fat body of mutant flies with obesity phenotype (Beller et al., 2006). However, some discrepancies exist: another lipid droplet marker, BODYPI<sup>493/503</sup> does not colocalize with Pastrel aggregates, but colocalizes with lipid droplets stained by Nile Red. Moreover, we do not observe a clear colocalization of DCV capsid with the surface of lipid droplets whereas DCV clearly colocalizes with Pastrel. It remains possible that Pastrel aggregates that colocalize with lipid droplets are different from the ones that colocalize with DCV. We also observe an enrichment of COP-I vesicles in the areas where Pastrel aggregates, but also DCV capsids, localize. This may be interesting because COP-I complexes are required for the generation of viral factories and thereby DCV replication (Cherry et al., 2006). Unfortunately, we do not have the tools to perform a triple labeling on S2 cells because both anti-beta-COP and anti-Pastrel antibodies where produced in rabbit but we plan to stain cells overexpressing RFP-Pst fusion. We have observed that Pastrel protein clearly colocalizes with capsids from DCV and CrPV, in vitro in Drosophila S2 cells and in vivo in Drosophila fat body. Interestingly, we noticed a marked decrease in size of lipid droplets in highly DCV-infected portions of the fat body, as if lipid droplets were used during DCV infection. Overall, our staining experiments establish a connection between Pastrel protein, COP-I vesicles, lipid droplets and DCV infection but the interplay between these four actors remains to be characterized.

## Connection between COP-I and viruses

COP-I complexes are required for DCV replication (Cherry et al., 2006). Additionally, many reports indicate that the GBF1-Arf1-COPI pathway is involved in the replication of poliovirus, coxsackievirus B3, enterovirus 71 (*Picornaviridae*) (Belov et al., 2008; Lanke et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2012a), mouse hepatitis coronavirus (*Coronaviridae*) (Verheije et al., 2008), VSV (*Rhabdoviridae*) (Cureton et al., 2012), and HCV (Goueslain et al., 2010; Tai et al., 2009). COP-I vesicles are also important for IAV infection (Sun et al., 2013a).

### Connection between COP-I and lipid droplets

COP-I complexes regulate lipid homeostasis by modifying the protein composition at the surface of lipid droplets (Beller et al., 2008). COP-I promotes the targeting of adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL) onto lipid droplets in *Drosophila* S2 cells (Beller et al., 2008) and Hela cells (Soni et al., 2009). This enzyme is involved in the first step of triacylglycerols lipolysis. A recent study suggests in an artificial system model that proteins delivery to lipid droplets is mediated by the direct interaction of COP-I with lipid droplets (Thiam et al., 2013).

### Connection between lipid droplets metabolism and viruses

Many viruses require lipid synthesis for their efficient replication (reviewed in Chukkapalli et al., 2012). The usurpation of lipid metabolism probably influences the composition of membranes, changing their fluidity and curvatures to allow the formation of replication complexes or viral factories. It is reported that some viruses use lipid droplets for their replication (reviewed in (Camus et al., 2013b; Herker and Ott, 2012)). Dengue virus capsid is targeted onto lipid droplet and allows efficient viral particle formation and Dengue virus infection increases the number of lipid droplets per cell (Samsa et al., 2009). The inhibition of lipid droplet formation with C75, an inhibitor of the fatty acid synthase (FASN), inhibits DENV replication. Another study reveals a depletion of lipid droplets by autophagy process in DENV infected cells, releasing fatty acids used to produce ATP by  $\beta$ -oxydation,

promoting DENV replication (Heaton and Randall, 2010). Lipid droplets are also involved in viroplasms formation and replication of rotaviruses (Cheung et al., 2010), and assembly of infectious HCV particles (Miyanari et al., 2007). Interestingly, a recent paper connects a component of the innate immune response, IKK- $\alpha$ , to the accumulation of lipids and HCV assembly (Li et al., 2013b). The helicase DDX3X recognizes the 3'UTR region of HCV and activates the inhibitor of nuclear factor- $\kappa B$  kinase  $\alpha$  (IKK- $\alpha$ ) which is translocated in the nucleus and through CBP/p300 factor, induces the transcription of SREBP. This noncanonical pathway is independent of NF-kB. SREBP is a transcriptional factor that upregulates lipogenic genes expression (Horton et al., 2002), thereby enhancing lipid droplet formation and facilitating HCV assembly. The depletion of IKK-α increases lipid storage and inhibits HCV assembly whereas its overexpression increases the number of lipid droplets and HCV infection. (For review, (Camus and Ott, 2013; Felmlee and Baumert, 2013)). Interestingly, the viral restriction factor Viperin localizes on lipid droplets (Hinson and Cresswell, 2009a) and affects the replication of HCV (Wang et al., 2012b). Viperin is also proposed to regulate lipid metabolism during HCMV infection (Seo and Cresswell, 2013). In Drosophila, it is reported that the knockdown of HLH106, the ortholog of mammalian SREBP, leads to a 38.2-fold decrease of DCV replication (Cherry et al., 2006). Accordingly, the knockdown of CG3523, the ortholog of mammalian FASN, decreases DCV replication of a factor of 10.6-fold, indicating that fatty acid synthesis is required for DCV replication.

Overall, it is tempting to speculate that some viruses may require COP-I for their replication because of its function in lipid droplets metabolism. COP-I-mediated lipolysis may provide a source of lipids for the formation of viral factories. Whether Pastrel may affect COP-I-mediated lipolysis by its presence on lipid droplets in *Drosophila* S2 cells or wheter Pastrel could inhibit COP-I activity is one of our hypothesis for its antiviral function (**Figure 68**).

## The analysis of Pastrel protein (CG8588) is not informative to find its antiviral function

The gene CG8588 was reported to be involved in memory (Dubnau et al., 2003) and it was named Pastrel in reference to Pavlov's dogs. Pavlov performed behavioral experiments with dogs to understand learning and memory processes. We obtained flies mutant for *pastrel* gene used by Dubnau and colleagues but we did not confirm that *pastrel* gene was inactivated. Thus, the involvement of *pastrel* in memory remains questionable. Pastrel was

reported to be involved in protein secretion but we did not reproduce these observations (Bard et al., 2006). Whereas the antiviral activity of many viral restriction factors was guessed by looking at their domain homology with other proteins, the alignment of *pastrel* gene with sequences databases is not informative. Pastrel protein sequence has homologies with proteins CG7730 and CG32243 but their function is unknown. Pastrel has orthologs in insects like other Drosophila species, and with less homology, in mosquitoes (Anopheles species, Aedesaegypti and Culex quinquefasciatus), in a pea aphid. A related gene seems present in nematode C. elegans but pastrel is not conserved in vertebrates. Pastrel protein has no conserved domains or motifs. A unique protein, CG8368, was found to interact with Pastrel in a yeast two-hybrid system (Giot et al., 2003). CG8368 also interacts with Arf79F, the ortholog of mammalian Arf1, involved in the formation of COP-I vesicles (Spang, 2002). CG8368 protein displays a motif of 3'-5' exonuclease activity and a nucleic acid binding motif. Interestingly, the preliminary analysis of small RNA libraries from DCV-infected flies reveals that many v-siRNAs are not 21-nts length, indicating that they do not result from Dicer-2 processing (communication from Dr. Simona PARO). Whether Pastrel may recruit CG8368 to degrade DCV RNAs is another hypothesis that we want to address (Figure 68). The small RNA profiling of sensitive and resistant flies infected by DCV is under progress. If our hypothesis is correct, we expect that sensitive flies display less degradation of DCV RNAs than resistant flies. Nora virus small RNAs of other size classes than 21-nts were observed by Van Mierlo and colleagues and they predominantly derive from the genome (van Mierlo et al., 2012). Their origin remains unclear and they propose that they result from nonspecific degradation. To fit with our hypothesis, Pastrel should therefore affect Nora virus infection.



**Figure 68.** Speculative model for the antiviral action of Pst on DCV replication. Hypothesis 1: Our data indicate that DCV affects the size of lipid droplets in the fat body, suggesting that lipolysis is activated during infection. Additionnaly, COP-I was shown to modulate lipolysis and may be required for the formation of viral factories for DCV replication. As we found that Pst colocalized with Nile Red staining in Drosophila S2 cells and was also enriched in regions stained with anti-beta-COP antibody, we hypothesize that Pastrel may target and inhibit COP-I-mediated lipolysis. Hypothesis 2: Pst was shown to interact with a putative 3'-5'-exonuclease (CG8368) by yeast-two-hybrid, and may recruit this enzyme to direct the degradation of viral RNAs.

# **IV.2. Does Pastrel affect Nora virus infection?**

We have observed a correlation between the sensitivity of flies to DCV infection and the presence of persistent Nora virus (except for *DD1 Cnbw*flies). Our results clearly demonstrate that Nora virus does not contribute to the increased sensitivity of flies to DCV infection. Indeed,  $Ore-R^{DF}$  flies cured from Nora virus infection remain highly sensitive to DCV infection whereas  $Ore-R^{JLI}$  flies contaminated by Nora virus are still resistant to DCV infection. By contrast, we got promising data for an effect of Nora virus on the pathogenicity of bacterial infections in collaboration with the team of Dr. Dominique Ferrandon. Once we

observed that *pastrel* alleles mainly account for the susceptibility of flies to DCV infection, we wondered if *pastrel* may affect Nora virus persistent infection. The mechanisms controlling a persistent virus infection are a topic of high investigations. It is still unclear how Drosophila controls Nora virus persistent infection. The group of Dr. Hultmak claimed that RNAi, Toll and Jak-Stat pathways do not control Nora virus infection (Habayeb et al., 2009a) whereas the group of Dr. Van Rij observed Nora virus siRNAs and defined VP1 as a VSR (van Mierlo et al., 2012). Our data reveal that Ore-R<sup>JLI</sup> flies display lower Nora virus RNA level than Ore-R<sup>DF</sup> flies after contamination by feces, indicating that flies with sensitive allele of pastrel are easier infected by Nora virus. In addition to DCV and CrPV, our observations strongly suggest that Pastrel may control the infection by another picorna-like virus, Nora virus. At present, working with Nora virus presents some limitations because the infection is asymptomatic, highly variable between individuals and we do not have a cell culture model in vitro. For example, the commonly used Drosophila S2 cells are restrictive to Nora virus infection. However, the identification of Nora virus-derived siRNAs in OSS cells suggests that these cells can be infected by Nora virus (Wu et al., 2010). In agreement with our hypothesis, the expression of *pastrel* is 5.9-fold lower in OSS cells than S2 cells (data from modENCODE project). We plan to investigate if these cells could replicate Nora virus. We aim to test if the overexpression of *pastrel* controls Nora virus infection.

# IV.3. The siRNA pathway controls IIV-6 infection

Our data demonstrate that the RNAi pathway is a broad antiviral defense against RNA viruses but also a DNA virus. Dicer-2 null mutant flies display an increased sensitivity to IIV-6 infection compared to control flies and the susceptibility is restored with a Dicer-2 genomic rescue. Accordingly, R2D2 and Ago-2 mutant flies are more sensitive to IIV-6 infection. The deep sequencing of small RNAs from *Drosophila* S2 cells and flies infected by IIV-6 revealed the presence of v-siRNAs matching with the sequence of IIV-6 genome. V-siRNAs are predominantly 21-nts length, indicating that they result from Dicer-2 processing. Interestingly, v-siRNAs are not uniformly distributed along the viral genome, as observed for RNA viruses (Mueller et al., 2010), but they are produced from specific regions of the viral genome. These regions match with regions of convergent transcription which may lead to the formation of dsRNAs, substrates of Dicer-2. In agreement with our findings, the group of Dr. Van Rij made similar observations (Bronkhorst et al., 2012).

# **Concluding remarks**

This work identified and characterized new aspects of the antiviral immunity in Drosophila. The role of the siRNA pathway in the defense against RNA viruses was extended to a DNA virus, emphasizing its broad contribution to the antiviral defense of Drosophila (Kemp et al., 2013). Additionally, the work presented in this thesis reveals the role of a new antiviral protein, Pastrel, as an important actor for the control of picorna-like viruses in Drosophila. We have also promising expectations for a role of Pastrel in the control of persistent Nora virus infection. Loss- and gain-of-function experiments support the classification of Pastrel protein as a viral restriction factor, establishing an antiviral state in prevention of viral infection. This new viral restriction factor identified in Drosophila may shed light towards the understanding of intrinsic antiviral immunity in insects. We believe that new viral restriction factors will be identified in insects. Our demonstration of the importance to genotype the allele of *pastrel* before conducting *in vivo* experiments will surely impact past and future studies with DCV. The mechanism of Pastrel-mediated restriction is under investigation in our laboratory. As DCV and CrPV share similarities with Picornaviridae, we plan to investigate if the expression of Pastrel in mammalian cells may affect picornaviruses infection. To address this question, we have already constructed vectors expressing sensitive and resistant versions of Pastrel under the control of CMV promoter.

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Ablasser, A., Schmid-Burgk, J.L., Hemmerling, I., Horvath, G.L., Schmidt, T., Latz, E., and Hornung, V. (2013). Cell intrinsic immunity spreads to bystander cells via the intercellular transfer of cGAMP. Nature.

Aebi, M., Fäh, J., Hurt, N., Samuel, C.E., Thomis, D., Bazzigher, L., Pavlovic, J., Haller, O., and Staeheli, P. (1989). cDNA structures and regulation of two interferon-induced human Mx proteins. Mol. Cell. Biol. *9*, 5062–5072.

Agaisse, H., Petersen, U.M., Boutros, M., Mathey-Prevot, B., and Perrimon, N. (2003). Signaling role of hemocytes in Drosophila JAK/STAT-dependent response to septic injury. Dev. Cell *5*, 441–450.

Akhouayri, I., Turc, C., Royet, J., and Charroux, B. (2011). Toll-8/Tollo negatively regulates antimicrobial response in the Drosophila respiratory epithelium. PLoS Pathog. 7, e1002319.

Alce, T.M., and Popik, W. (2004). APOBEC3G is incorporated into virus-like particles by a direct interaction with HIV-1 Gag nucleocapsid protein. J. Biol. Chem. *279*, 34083–34086.

Aliyari, R., Wu, Q., Li, H.-W., Wang, X.-H., Li, F., Green, L.D., Han, C.S., Li, W.-X., and Ding, S.-W. (2008). Mechanism of induction and suppression of antiviral immunity directed by virus-derived small RNAs in Drosophila. Cell Host Microbe *4*, 387–397.

Ambrose, R.L., Lander, G.C., Maaty, W.S., Bothner, B., Johnson, J.E., and Johnson, K.N. (2009). Drosophila A virus is an unusual RNA virus with a T=3 icosahedral core and permuted RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. J. Gen. Virol. *90*, 2191–2200.

Andersson, M.G., Haasnoot, P.C.J., Xu, N., Berenjian, S., Berkhout, B., and Akusjärvi, G. (2005). Suppression of RNA interference by adenovirus virus-associated RNA. J. Virol. *79*, 9556–9565.

Asper, M., Sternsdorf, T., Hass, M., Drosten, C., Rhode, A., Schmitz, H., and Günther, S. (2004). Inhibition of different Lassa virus strains by alpha and gamma interferons and comparison with a less pathogenic arenavirus. J. Virol. *78*, 3162–3169.

Atkins, G.J., Fleeton, M.N., and Sheahan, B.J. (2008). Therapeutic and prophylactic applications of alphavirus vectors. Expert Rev. Mol. Med. *10*, e33.

Attarzadeh-Yazdi, G., Fragkoudis, R., Chi, Y., Siu, R.W.C., Ulper, L., Barry, G., Rodriguez-Andres, J., Nash, A.A., Bouloy, M., Merits, A., et al. (2009). Cell-to-cell spread of the RNA interference response suppresses Semliki Forest virus (SFV) infection of mosquito cell cultures and cannot be antagonized by SFV. J. Virol. *83*, 5735–5748.

Avadhanula, V., Weasner, B.P., Hardy, G.G., Kumar, J.P., and Hardy, R.W. (2009). A novel system for the launch of alphavirus RNA synthesis reveals a role for the Imd pathway in arthropod antiviral response. PLoS Pathog. *5*, e1000582.

Avila, A., Silverman, N., Diaz-Meco, M.T., and Moscat, J. (2002). The Drosophila atypical protein kinase C-ref(2)p complex constitutes a conserved module for signaling in the toll pathway. Mol. Cell. Biol. *22*, 8787–8795.

Bard, F., Casano, L., Mallabiabarrena, A., Wallace, E., Saito, K., Kitayama, H., Guizzunti, G., Hu, Y., Wendler, F., Dasgupta, R., et al. (2006). Functional genomics reveals genes involved in protein secretion and Golgi organization. Nature *439*, 604–607.

Barillas-Mury, C., Han, Y.S., Seeley, D., and Kafatos, F.C. (1999). Anopheles gambiae Ag-STAT, a new insect member of the STAT family, is activated in response to bacterial infection. EMBO J. *18*, 959–967.

Beller, M., Riedel, D., Jänsch, L., Dieterich, G., Wehland, J., Jäckle, H., and Kühnlein, R.P. (2006). Characterization of the Drosophila lipid droplet subproteome. Mol. Cell. Proteomics MCP *5*, 1082–1094.

Beller, M., Sztalryd, C., Southall, N., Bell, M., Jäckle, H., Auld, D.S., and Oliver, B. (2008). COPI complex is a regulator of lipid homeostasis. PLoS Biol. *6*, e292.

Belov, G.A., Feng, Q., Nikovics, K., Jackson, C.L., and Ehrenfeld, E. (2008). A critical role of a cellular membrane traffic protein in poliovirus RNA replication. PLoS Pathog. *4*, e1000216.

Bennasser, Y., Le, S.-Y., Benkirane, M., and Jeang, K.-T. (2005). Evidence that HIV-1 encodes an siRNA and a suppressor of RNA silencing. Immunity 22, 607–619.

Bergmann, M., Garcia-Sastre, A., Carnero, E., Pehamberger, H., Wolff, K., Palese, P., and Muster, T. (2000). Influenza virus NS1 protein counteracts PKR-mediated inhibition of replication. J. Virol. 74, 6203–6206.

Bernstein, E., Caudy, A.A., Hammond, S.M., and Hannon, G.J. (2001). Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference. Nature *409*, 363–366.

Berthoux, L., Towers, G.J., Gurer, C., Salomoni, P., Pandolfi, P.P., and Luban, J. (2003). As(2)O(3) enhances retroviral reverse transcription and counteracts Ref1 antiviral activity. J. Virol. 77, 3167–3180.

Best, S.M. (2008). Viral subversion of apoptotic enzymes: escape from death row. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. *62*, 171–192.

Best, S., Le Tissier, P., Towers, G., and Stoye, J.P. (1996). Positional cloning of the mouse retrovirus restriction gene Fv1. Nature *382*, 826–829.

Betz, A., Lampen, N., Martinek, S., Young, M.W., and Darnell, J.E., Jr (2001). A Drosophila PIAS homologue negatively regulates stat92E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *98*, 9563–9568.

Bick, M.J., Carroll, J.-W.N., Gao, G., Goff, S.P., Rice, C.M., and MacDonald, M.R. (2003). Expression of the zinc-finger antiviral protein inhibits alphavirus replication. J. Virol. 77, 11555–11562.

Bickel, P.E., Tansey, J.T., and Welte, M.A. (2009). PAT proteins, an ancient family of lipid droplet proteins that regulate cellular lipid stores. Biochim. Biophys. Acta *1791*, 419–440.

Bilak, H., Tauszig-Delamasure, S., and Imler, J.-L. (2003). Toll and Toll-like receptors in Drosophila. Biochem. Soc. Trans. *31*, 648–651.

Bischoff, V., Vignal, C., Boneca, I.G., Michel, T., Hoffmann, J.A., and Royet, J. (2004). Function of the drosophila pattern-recognition receptor PGRP-SD in the detection of Gram-positive bacteria. Nat. Immunol. *5*, 1175–1180.

Bishop, K.N., Bock, M., Towers, G., and Stoye, J.P. (2001). Identification of the regions of Fv1 necessary for murine leukemia virus restriction. J. Virol. *75*, 5182–5188.

Bishop, K.N., Holmes, R.K., and Malim, M.H. (2006). Antiviral potency of APOBEC proteins does not correlate with cytidine deamination. J. Virol. *80*, 8450–8458.

Bishop, K.N., Verma, M., Kim, E.-Y., Wolinsky, S.M., and Malim, M.H. (2008). APOBEC3G inhibits elongation of HIV-1 reverse transcripts. PLoS Pathog. *4*, e1000231.

Blair, C.D. (2011). Mosquito RNAi is the major innate immune pathway controlling arbovirus infection and transmission. Future Microbiol. *6*, 265–277.

Blakqori, G., Delhaye, S., Habjan, M., Blair, C.D., Sánchez-Vargas, I., Olson, K.E., Attarzadeh-Yazdi, G., Fragkoudis, R., Kohl, A., Kalinke, U., et al. (2007). La Crosse bunyavirus nonstructural protein NSs serves to suppress the type I interferon system of mammalian hosts. J. Virol. *81*, 4991–4999.

Blondel, D., Regad, T., Poisson, N., Pavie, B., Harper, F., Pandolfi, P.P., De Thé, H., and Chelbi-Alix, M.K. (2002). Rabies virus P and small P products interact directly with PML and reorganize PML nuclear bodies. Oncogene *21*, 7957–7970.

Bock, M., Bishop, K.N., Towers, G., and Stoye, J.P. (2000). Use of a transient assay for studying the genetic determinants of Fv1 restriction. J. Virol. 74, 7422–7430.

Borden, K.L., Campbell Dwyer, E.J., and Salvato, M.S. (1998). An arenavirus RING (zinc-binding) protein binds the oncoprotein promyelocyte leukemia protein (PML) and relocates PML nuclear bodies to the cytoplasm. J. Virol. *72*, 758–766.

Boutros, M., Agaisse, H., and Perrimon, N. (2002). Sequential activation of signaling pathways during innate immune responses in Drosophila. Dev. Cell *3*, 711–722.

Brackney, D.E., Beane, J.E., and Ebel, G.D. (2009). RNAi targeting of West Nile virus in mosquito midguts promotes virus diversification. PLoS Pathog. *5*, e1000502.

Brass, A.L., Huang, I.-C., Benita, Y., John, S.P., Krishnan, M.N., Feeley, E.M., Ryan, B.J., Weyer, J.L., van der Weyden, L., Fikrig, E., et al. (2009). The IFITM proteins mediate cellular resistance to influenza A H1N1 virus, West Nile virus, and dengue virus. Cell *139*, 1243–1254.

Bronkhorst, A.W., van Cleef, K.W.R., Vodovar, N., Ince, I.A., Blanc, H., Vlak, J.M., Saleh, M.-C., and van Rij, R.P. (2012). The DNA virus Invertebrate iridescent virus 6 is a target of the Drosophila RNAi machinery. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *109*, E3604–3613.

Brown, S., Hu, N., and Hombría, J.C. (2001). Identification of the first invertebrate interleukin JAK/STAT receptor, the Drosophila gene domeless. Curr. Biol. CB *11*, 1700–1705.

Brun, J., and Plus, N. (1980). The viruses of Drosophila. Genet. Biol. Drosoph. 2D, 625–702.

Bucher, E., Hemmes, H., de Haan, P., Goldbach, R., and Prins, M. (2004). The influenza A virus NS1 protein binds small interfering RNAs and suppresses RNA silencing in plants. J. Gen. Virol. *85*, 983–991.

Bulankina, A.V., Deggerich, A., Wenzel, D., Mutenda, K., Wittmann, J.G., Rudolph, M.G., Burger, K.N.J., and Höning, S. (2009). TIP47 functions in the biogenesis of lipid droplets. J. Cell Biol. *185*, 641–655.

Burch, A.D., and Weller, S.K. (2005). Herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA polymerase requires the mammalian chaperone hsp90 for proper localization to the nucleus. J. Virol. *79*, 10740–10749.

Burdette, D.L., and Vance, R.E. (2013). STING and the innate immune response to nucleic acids in the cytosol. Nat. Immunol. 14, 19–26.

Burke, D.C., Graham, C.F., and Lehman, J.M. (1978). Appearance of interferon inducibility and sensitivity during differentiation of murine teratocarcinoma cells in vitro. Cell *13*, 243–248.

Cachat, A., Chevalier, S.A., Alais, S., Ko, N.L., Ratner, L., Journo, C., Dutartre, H., and Mahieux, R. (2013). IFN- $\alpha$  restricts HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 de novo infection through PKR activation. J. Virol.

Callus, B.A., and Mathey-Prevot, B. (2002). SOCS36E, a novel Drosophila SOCS protein, suppresses JAK/STAT and EGF-R signalling in the imaginal wing disc. Oncogene *21*, 4812–4821.

Campbell, G.R., and Spector, S.A. (2012). Toll-like receptor 8 ligands activate a vitamin D mediated autophagic response that inhibits human immunodeficiency virus type 1. PLoS Pathog. *8*, e1003017.

Campbell, C.L., Keene, K.M., Brackney, D.E., Olson, K.E., Blair, C.D., Wilusz, J., and Foy, B.D. (2008). Aedes aegypti uses RNA interference in defense against Sindbis virus infection. BMC Microbiol. *8*, 47.

Camus, G., and Ott, M. (2013). How the antiviral immune response boosts liver fat. Nat. Med. 19, 671–672.

Camus, G., Herker, E., Modi, A.A., Haas, J.T., Ramage, H.R., Farese, R.V., Jr, and Ott, M. (2013a). Diacylglycerol acyltransferase-1 localizes hepatitis C virus NS5A protein to lipid droplets and enhances NS5A interaction with the viral capsid core. J. Biol. Chem. *288*, 9915–9923.

Camus, G., Vogt, D.A., Kondratowicz, A.S., and Ott, M. (2013b). Lipid droplets and viral infections. Methods Cell Biol. *116*, 167–190.

Carré-Mlouka, A., Gaumer, S., Gay, P., Petitjean, A.M., Coulondre, C., Dru, P., Bras, F., Dezélée, S., and Contamine, D. (2007). Control of sigma virus multiplication by the ref(2)P gene of Drosophila melanogaster: an in vivo study of the PB1 domain of Ref(2)P. Genetics *176*, 409–419.

Carroll, S.S., Chen, E., Viscount, T., Geib, J., Sardana, M.K., Gehman, J., and Kuo, L.C. (1996). Cleavage of oligoribonucleotides by the 2',5'-oligoadenylate- dependent ribonuclease L. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 4988–4992.

Castelli, J.C., Hassel, B.A., Wood, K.A., Li, X.L., Amemiya, K., Dalakas, M.C., Torrence, P.F., and Youle, R.J. (1997). A study of the interferon antiviral mechanism: apoptosis activation by the 2-5A system. J. Exp. Med. *186*, 967–972.

Castorena, K.M., Weeks, S.A., Stapleford, K.A., Cadwallader, A.M., and Miller, D.J. (2007). A functional heat shock protein 90 chaperone is essential for efficient flock house virus RNA polymerase synthesis in Drosophila cells. J. Virol. *81*, 8412–8420.

Castorena, K.M., Stapleford, K.A., and Miller, D.J. (2010). Complementary transcriptomic, lipidomic, and targeted functional genetic analyses in cultured Drosophila cells highlight the role of glycerophospholipid metabolism in Flock House virus RNA replication. BMC Genomics *11*, 183.

Cen, S., Guo, F., Niu, M., Saadatmand, J., Deflassieux, J., and Kleiman, L. (2004). The interaction between HIV-1 Gag and APOBEC3G. J. Biol. Chem. *279*, 33177–33184.

Cevallos, R.C., and Sarnow, P. (2010). Temperature Protects Insect Cells from Infection by Cricket Paralysis Virus. J. Virol. *84*, 1652–1655.

Chakrabarti, A., Jha, B.K., and Silverman, R.H. (2011). New insights into the role of RNase L in innate immunity. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. Off. J. Int. Soc. Interferon Cytokine Res. *31*, 49–57.

Chan, Y.-L., Chang, T.-H., Liao, C.-L., and Lin, Y.-L. (2008). The cellular antiviral protein viperin is attenuated by proteasome-mediated protein degradation in Japanese encephalitis virus-infected cells. J. Virol. *82*, 10455–10464.

Chao, J.A., Lee, J.H., Chapados, B.R., Debler, E.W., Schneemann, A., and Williamson, J.R. (2005). Dual modes of RNA-silencing suppression by Flock House virus protein B2. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *12*, 952–957.

Charlet, M., Lagueux, M., Reichhart, J.M., Hoffmann, D., Braun, A., and Meister, M. (1996). Cloning of the gene encoding the antibacterial peptide drosocin involved in Drosophila immunity. Expression studies during the immune response. Eur. J. Biochem. FEBS *241*, 699–706.

Chebath, J., Benech, P., Revel, M., and Vigneron, M. (1987). Constitutive expression of (2'-5') oligo A synthetase confers resistance to picornavirus infection. Nature *330*, 587–588.

Chee, A.V., Lopez, P., Pandolfi, P.P., and Roizman, B. (2003). Promyelocytic leukemia protein mediates interferon-based anti-herpes simplex virus 1 effects. J. Virol. 77, 7101–7105.

Chelbi-Alix, M.K., Quignon, F., Pelicano, L., Koken, M.H., and de Thé, H. (1998). Resistance to virus infection conferred by the interferon-induced promyelocytic leukemia protein. J. Virol. *72*, 1043–1051.

Chen, H.-W., Chen, X., Oh, S.-W., Marinissen, M.J., Gutkind, J.S., and Hou, S.X. (2002). mom identifies a receptor for the Drosophila JAK/STAT signal transduction pathway and encodes a protein distantly related to the mammalian cytokine receptor family. Genes Dev. *16*, 388–398.

Chen, S., Xu, Y., Zhang, K., Wang, X., Sun, J., Gao, G., and Liu, Y. (2012). Structure of N-terminal domain of ZAP indicates how a zinc-finger protein recognizes complex RNA. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *19*, 430–435.

Cherry, S., and Perrimon, N. (2003). Entry is a rate-limiting step for viral infection in a Drosophila melanogaster model of pathogenesis. Nat. Immunol. *5*, 81–87.

Cherry, S., Doukas, T., Armknecht, S., Whelan, S., Wang, H., Sarnow, P., and Perrimon, N. (2005). Genome-wide RNAi screen reveals a specific sensitivity of IRES-containing RNA viruses to host translation inhibition. Genes Dev. *19*, 445–452.

Cherry, S., Kunte, A., Wang, H., Coyne, C., Rawson, R.B., and Perrimon, N. (2006). COPI Activity Coupled with Fatty Acid Biosynthesis Is Required for Viral Replication. PLoS Pathog 2, e102.

Cheung, W., Gill, M., Esposito, A., Kaminski, C.F., Courousse, N., Chwetzoff, S., Trugnan, G., Keshavan, N., Lever, A., and Desselberger, U. (2010). Rotaviruses associate with cellular lipid droplet components to replicate in viroplasms, and compounds disrupting or blocking lipid droplets inhibit viroplasm formation and viral replication. J. Virol. *84*, 6782–6798.

Choe, K.-M., Werner, T., Stöven, S., Hultmark, D., and Anderson, K.V. (2002). Requirement for a peptidoglycan recognition protein (PGRP) in Relish activation and antibacterial immune responses in Drosophila. Science *296*, 359–362.

Chotkowski, H.L., Ciota, A.T., Jia, Y., Puig-Basagoiti, F., Kramer, L.D., Shi, P.-Y., and Glaser, R.L. (2008). West Nile virus infection of Drosophila melanogaster induces a protective RNAi response. Virology *377*, 197–206.

Chromy, L.R., Pipas, J.M., and Garcea, R.L. (2003). Chaperone-mediated in vitro assembly of Polyomavirus capsids. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *100*, 10477–10482.

Chromy, L.R., Oltman, A., Estes, P.A., and Garcea, R.L. (2006). Chaperone-mediated in vitro disassembly of polyoma- and papillomaviruses. J. Virol. *80*, 5086–5091.

Chukkapalli, V., Heaton, N.S., and Randall, G. (2012). Lipids at the interface of virus-host interactions. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. *15*, 512–518.

Chung, H.K., Kordyban, S., Cameron, L., and Dobos, P. (1996). Sequence analysis of the bicistronic Drosophila X virus genome segment A and its encoded polypeptides. Virology *225*, 359–368.

Cirimotich, C.M., Scott, J.C., Phillips, A.T., Geiss, B.J., and Olson, K.E. (2009). Suppression of RNA interference increases alphavirus replication and virus-associated mortality in Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. BMC Microbiol. *9*, 49.

Clark, M.E., Anderson, C.L., Cande, J., and Karr, T.L. (2005). Widespread prevalence of wolbachia in laboratory stocks and the implications for Drosophila research. Genetics *170*, 1667–1675.

Contamine, D., Petitjean, A.M., and Ashburner, M. (1989). Genetic resistance to viral infection: the molecular cloning of a Drosophila gene that restricts infection by the rhabdovirus sigma. Genetics *123*, 525–533.

Cordes, E.J., Licking-Murray, K.D., and Carlson, K.A. (2013). Differential gene expression related to Nora virus infection of Drosophila melanogaster. Virus Res. *175*, 95–100.

Costa, A., Jan, E., Sarnow, P., and Schneider, D. (2009). The Imd pathway is involved in antiviral immune responses in Drosophila. PloS One *4*, e7436.

Cullen, B.R. (2006). Is RNA interference involved in intrinsic antiviral immunity in mammals? Nat. Immunol. 7, 563–567.

Cureton, D.K., Burdeinick-Kerr, R., and Whelan, S.P.J. (2012). Genetic inactivation of COPI coatomer separately inhibits vesicular stomatitis virus entry and gene expression. J. Virol. *86*, 655–666.

D'Cunha, J., Ramanujam, S., Wagner, R.J., Witt, P.L., Knight, E., Jr, and Borden, E.C. (1996a). In vitro and in vivo secretion of human ISG15, an IFN-induced immunomodulatory cytokine. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *157*, 4100–4108.

D'Cunha, J., Knight, E., Jr, Haas, A.L., Truitt, R.L., and Borden, E.C. (1996b). Immunoregulatory properties of ISG15, an interferon-induced cytokine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *93*, 211–215.

Daffis, S., Szretter, K.J., Schriewer, J., Li, J., Youn, S., Errett, J., Lin, T.-Y., Schneller, S., Zust, R., Dong, H., et al. (2010). 2'-O methylation of the viral mRNA cap evades host restriction by IFIT family members. Nature *468*, 452–456.
Van Damme, N., Goff, D., Katsura, C., Jorgenson, R.L., Mitchell, R., Johnson, M.C., Stephens, E.B., and Guatelli, J. (2008). The interferon-induced protein BST-2 restricts HIV-1 release and is downregulated from the cell surface by the viral Vpu protein. Cell Host Microbe *3*, 245–252.

Dar, A.C., and Sicheri, F. (2002). X-ray crystal structure and functional analysis of vaccinia virus K3L reveals molecular determinants for PKR subversion and substrate recognition. Mol. Cell *10*, 295–305.

Das, D., Aradhya, R., Ashoka, D., and Inamdar, M. (2008). Macromolecular uptake in Drosophila pericardial cells requires rudhira function. Exp. Cell Res. *314*, 1804–1810.

Dasgupta, R., Cheng, L.-L., Bartholomay, L.C., and Christensen, B.M. (2003). Flock house virus replicates and expresses green fluorescent protein in mosquitoes. J. Gen. Virol. *84*, 1789–1797.

Dasgupta, R., Free, H.M., Zietlow, S.L., Paskewitz, S.M., Aksoy, S., Shi, L., Fuchs, J., Hu, C., and Christensen, B.M. (2007). Replication of flock house virus in three genera of medically important insects. J. Med. Entomol. *44*, 102–110.

David, J., and Plus, N. (1971). Le virus P de la Drosophile: comparaison de la longévité et de la fécondité des mouches infectées par injection ou par contamination naturelle. Ann. Inst. Pasteur Virol. *120*, 107.

Deddouche, S., Matt, N., Budd, A., Mueller, S., Kemp, C., Galiana-Arnoux, D., Dostert, C., Antoniewski, C., Hoffmann, J.A., and Imler, J.-L. (2008). The DExD/H-box helicase Dicer-2 mediates the induction of antiviral activity in drosophila. Nat. Immunol. *9*, 1425–1432.

Delgado, M.A., Elmaoued, R.A., Davis, A.S., Kyei, G., and Deretic, V. (2008). Toll-like receptors control autophagy. EMBO J. 27, 1110–1121.

Deniz, N., Lenarcic, E.M., Landry, D.M., and Thompson, S.R. (2009). Translation initiation factors are not required for Dicistroviridae IRES function in vivo. RNA N. Y. N *15*, 932–946.

Der, S.D., and Lau, A.S. (1995). Involvement of the double-stranded-RNA-dependent kinase PKR in interferon expression and interferon-mediated antiviral activity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *92*, 8841–8845.

Der, S.D., Zhou, A., Williams, B.R., and Silverman, R.H. (1998). Identification of genes differentially regulated by interferon alpha, beta, or gamma using oligonucleotide arrays. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *95*, 15623–15628.

Deretic, V., and Levine, B. (2009). Autophagy, immunity, and microbial adaptations. Cell Host Microbe *5*, 527–549.

Dezélée, S., Blondel, D., Wyers, F., and Petitjean, A.M. (1987). Vesicular stomatitis virus in Drosophila melanogaster cells: lack of leader RNA transport into the nuclei and frequent abortion of the replication step. J. Virol. *61*, 1391–1397.

Diamond, M.S., and Farzan, M. (2013). The broad-spectrum antiviral functions of IFIT and IFITM proteins. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *13*, 46–57.

Díaz-Guerra, M., Rivas, C., and Esteban, M. (1997). Inducible expression of the 2-5A synthetase/RNase L system results in inhibition of vaccinia virus replication. Virology 227, 220–228.

Dimarcq, J.L., Hoffmann, D., Meister, M., Bulet, P., Lanot, R., Reichhart, J.M., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1994). Characterization and transcriptional profiles of a Drosophila gene encoding an insect defensin. A study in insect immunity. Eur. J. Biochem. FEBS *221*, 201–209.

Ding, S.-W. (2010). RNA-based antiviral immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10, 632–644.

Ding, S.-W., and Voinnet, O. (2007). Antiviral immunity directed by small RNAs. Cell 130, 413–426.

Djavani, M., Rodas, J., Lukashevich, I.S., Horejsh, D., Pandolfi, P.P., Borden, K.L., and Salvato, M.S. (2001). Role of the promyelocytic leukemia protein PML in the interferon sensitivity of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. J. Virol. *75*, 6204–6208.

Dong, B., and Silverman, R.H. (1995). 2-5A-dependent RNase molecules dimerize during activation by 2-5A. J. Biol. Chem. *270*, 4133–4137.

Dostert, C., Jouanguy, E., Eidenschenk, C., Jousset, F.-X., Zachary, D., and Imler, J.-L. (2003). Ultrastructure et distribution tissulaire du virus C de la drosophile (DCV). Virologie 7, 453–455.

Dostert, C., Jouanguy, E., Irving, P., Troxler, L., Galiana-Arnoux, D., Hetru, C., Hoffmann, J.A., and Imler, J.-L. (2005). The Jak-STAT signaling pathway is required but not sufficient for the antiviral response of drosophila. Nat Immunol *6*, 946–953.

Dubnau, J., Chiang, A.-S., Grady, L., Barditch, J., Gossweiler, S., McNeil, J., Smith, P., Buldoc, F., Scott, R., Certa, U., et al. (2003). The staufen/pumilio pathway is involved in Drosophila long-term memory. Curr. Biol. CB *13*, 286–296.

Duggal, N.K., and Emerman, M. (2012). Evolutionary conflicts between viruses and restriction factors shape immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *12*, 687–695.

Durfee, L.A., Lyon, N., Seo, K., and Huibregtse, J.M. (2010). The ISG15 conjugation system broadly targets newly synthesized proteins: implications for the antiviral function of ISG15. Mol. Cell *38*, 722–732.

Eaton, H.E., Metcalf, J., Penny, E., Tcherepanov, V., Upton, C., and Brunetti, C.R. (2007). Comparative genomic analysis of the family Iridoviridae: re-annotating and defining the core set of iridovirus genes. Virol. J. *4*, 11.

Ekengren, S., and Hultmark, D. (1999). Drosophila cecropin as an antifungal agent. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 29, 965–972.

Ekengren, S., Tryselius, Y., Dushay, M.S., Liu, G., Steiner, H., and Hultmark, D. (2001). A humoral stress response in Drosophila. Curr. Biol. CB *11*, 714–718.

Ekström, J.-O., Habayeb, M.S., Srivastava, V., Kieselbach, T., Wingsle, G., and Hultmark, D. (2011). Drosophila Nora virus capsid proteins differ from those of other picorna-like viruses. Virus Res. *160*, 51–58.

Elbashir, S.M., Harborth, J., Lendeckel, W., Yalcin, A., Weber, K., and Tuschl, T. (2001). Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells. Nature *411*, 494–498.

Eldin, P., Papon, L., Oteiza, A., Brocchi, E., Lawson, T.G., and Mechti, N. (2009). TRIM22 E3 ubiquitin ligase activity is required to mediate antiviral activity against encephalomyocarditis virus. J. Gen. Virol. *90*, 536–545.

Erikson, E., Adam, T., Schmidt, S., Lehmann-Koch, J., Over, B., Goffinet, C., Harter, C., Bekeredjian-Ding, I., Sertel, S., Lasitschka, F., et al. (2011). In vivo expression profile of the antiviral restriction factor and tumor-targeting antigen CD317/BST-2/HM1.24/tetherin in humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *108*, 13688–13693.

Ertürk-Hasdemir, D., Broemer, M., Leulier, F., Lane, W.S., Paquette, N., Hwang, D., Kim, C.-H., Stöven, S., Meier, P., and Silverman, N. (2009). Two roles for the Drosophila IKK complex in the activation of Relish and the induction of antimicrobial peptide genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *106*, 9779–9784.

Evans, D.T., Serra-Moreno, R., Singh, R.K., and Guatelli, J.C. (2010). BST-2/tetherin: a new component of the innate immune response to enveloped viruses. Trends Microbiol. *18*, 388–396.

Feeley, E.M., Sims, J.S., John, S.P., Chin, C.R., Pertel, T., Chen, L.-M., Gaiha, G.D., Ryan, B.J., Donis, R.O., Elledge, S.J., et al. (2011). IFITM3 inhibits influenza A virus infection by preventing cytosolic entry. PLoS Pathog. 7, e1002337.

Fehlbaum, P., Bulet, P., Michaut, L., Lagueux, M., Broekaert, W.F., Hetru, C., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1994). Insect immunity. Septic injury of Drosophila induces the synthesis of a potent antifungal peptide with sequence homology to plant antifungal peptides. J. Biol. Chem. *269*, 33159–33163.

Felmlee, D.J., and Baumert, T.F. (2013). Hepatitis C virus co-opts innate immunity component for lipid droplet formation. J. Hepatol. *59*, 1118–1120.

Ferrandon, D., Imler, J.-L., Hetru, C., and Hoffmann, J.A. (2007). The Drosophila systemic immune response: sensing and signalling during bacterial and fungal infections. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7, 862–874.

Filone, C.M., Hanna, S.L., Caino, M.C., Bambina, S., Doms, R.W., and Cherry, S. (2010). Rift valley fever virus infection of human cells and insect hosts is promoted by protein kinase C epsilon. PloS One *5*, e15483.

Flynt, A., Liu, N., Martin, R., and Lai, E.C. (2009). Dicing of viral replication intermediates during silencing of latent Drosophila viruses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *106*, 5270–5275.

Frese, M., Kochs, G., Meier-Dieter, U., Siebler, J., and Haller, O. (1995). Human MxA protein inhibits tick-borne Thogoto virus but not Dhori virus. J. Virol. *69*, 3904–3909.

Frese, M., Kochs, G., Feldmann, H., Hertkorn, C., and Haller, O. (1996). Inhibition of bunyaviruses, phleboviruses, and hantaviruses by human MxA protein. J. Virol. *70*, 915–923.

Fullaondo, A., and Lee, S.Y. (2012). Identification of putative miRNA involved in Drosophila melanogaster immune response. Dev. Comp. Immunol. *36*, 267–273.

Gabuzda, D.H., Lawrence, K., Langhoff, E., Terwilliger, E., Dorfman, T., Haseltine, W.A., and Sodroski, J. (1992). Role of vif in replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in CD4+ T lymphocytes. J. Virol. *66*, 6489–6495.

Galão, R.P., Le Tortorec, A., Pickering, S., Kueck, T., and Neil, S.J.D. (2012). Innate sensing of HIV-1 assembly by Tetherin induces NFkB-dependent proinflammatory responses. Cell Host Microbe *12*, 633–644.

Galiana-Arnoux, D., Dostert, C., Schneemann, A., Hoffmann, J.A., and Imler, J.-L. (2006). Essential function in vivo for Dicer-2 in host defense against RNA viruses in drosophila. Nat. Immunol. 7, 590–597.

Gao, D., Wu, J., Wu, Y.-T., Du, F., Aroh, C., Yan, N., Sun, L., and Chen, Z.J. (2013). Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is an innate immune sensor of HIV and other retroviruses. Science *341*, 903–906.

Gao, G., Guo, X., and Goff, S.P. (2002). Inhibition of retroviral RNA production by ZAP, a CCCH-type zinc finger protein. Science *297*, 1703–1706.

Gao, L., Aizaki, H., He, J.-W., and Lai, M.M.C. (2004). Interactions between viral nonstructural proteins and host protein hVAP-33 mediate the formation of hepatitis C virus RNA replication complex on lipid raft. J. Virol. *78*, 3480–3488.

Gao, S., von der Malsburg, A., Dick, A., Faelber, K., Schröder, G.F., Haller, O., Kochs, G., and Daumke, O. (2011). Structure of myxovirus resistance protein a reveals intra- and intermolecular domain interactions required for the antiviral function. Immunity *35*, 514–525.

García-Sastre, A., Egorov, A., Matassov, D., Brandt, S., Levy, D.E., Durbin, J.E., Palese, P., and Muster, T. (1998). Influenza A virus lacking the NS1 gene replicates in interferon-deficient systems. Virology *252*, 324–330.

Gariano, G.R., Dell'Oste, V., Bronzini, M., Gatti, D., Luganini, A., De Andrea, M., Gribaudo, G., Gariglio, M., and Landolfo, S. (2012). The intracellular DNA sensor IFI16 gene acts as restriction factor for human cytomegalovirus replication. PLoS Pathog. *8*, e1002498.

Garrey, J.L., Lee, Y.-Y., Au, H.H.T., Bushell, M., and Jan, E. (2010). Host and viral translational mechanisms during cricket paralysis virus infection. J. Virol. *84*, 1124–1138.

Gay, P. (1978). Les gènes de la Drosophile qui interviennent dans la multiplication du virus sigma. Mol. Gen. Genet. MGG *159*, 269–283.

Geller, R., Taguwa, S., and Frydman, J. (2012). Broad action of Hsp90 as a host chaperone required for viral replication. Biochim. Biophys. Acta *1823*, 698–706.

Georgel, P., Naitza, S., Kappler, C., Ferrandon, D., Zachary, D., Swimmer, C., Kopczynski, C., Duyk, G., Reichhart, J.M., and Hoffmann, J.A. (2001). Drosophila immune deficiency (IMD) is a death domain protein that activates antibacterial defense and can promote apoptosis. Dev. Cell *1*, 503–514.

Giannakopoulos, N.V., Luo, J.-K., Papov, V., Zou, W., Lenschow, D.J., Jacobs, B.S., Borden, E.C., Li, J., Virgin, H.W., and Zhang, D.-E. (2005). Proteomic identification of proteins conjugated to ISG15 in mouse and human cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *336*, 496–506.

Giot, L., Bader, J.S., Brouwer, C., Chaudhuri, A., Kuang, B., Li, Y., Hao, Y.L., Ooi, C.E., Godwin, B., Vitols, E., et al. (2003). A protein interaction map of Drosophila melanogaster. Science *302*, 1727–1736.

Gitlin, L., Karelsky, S., and Andino, R. (2002). Short interfering RNA confers intracellular antiviral immunity in human cells. Nature *418*, 430–434.

Glaser, R.L., and Meola, M.A. (2010). The native Wolbachia endosymbionts of Drosophila melanogaster and Culex quinquefasciatus increase host resistance to West Nile virus infection. PloS One *5*, e11977.

Glotzer, J.B., Saltik, M., Chiocca, S., Michou, A.I., Moseley, P., and Cotten, M. (2000). Activation of heat-shock response by an adenovirus is essential for virus replication. Nature *407*, 207–211.

Goic, B., Vodovar, N., Mondotte, J.A., Monot, C., Frangeul, L., Blanc, H., Gausson, V., Vera-Otarola, J., Cristofari, G., and Saleh, M.-C. (2013). RNA-mediated interference and reverse transcription control the persistence of RNA viruses in the insect model Drosophila. Nat. Immunol. *14*, 396–403.

Goldstone, D.C., Ennis-Adeniran, V., Hedden, J.J., Groom, H.C.T., Rice, G.I., Christodoulou, E., Walker, P.A., Kelly, G., Haire, L.F., Yap, M.W., et al. (2011). HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase. Nature *480*, 379–382.

Gomariz-Zilber, E., and Thomas-Orillard, M. (1993). Drosophila C virus and Drosophila hosts: a good association in various environments. J. Evol. Biol. *6*, 677–689.

Gomariz-Zilber, E., Poras, M., and Thomas-Orillard, M. (1995). Drosophila C Virus: Experimental Study of infectious Yields and UnderLying Pathology in Drosophila melanogaster Laboratory Populations. J. Invertebr. Pathol. *65*, 243–247.

Gomariz-Zilber, E., Jeune, B., and Thomas-Orillard, M. (1998). Limiting conditions of the horizontal transmission of the Drosophila C virus in its host (D. melanogaster). Acta Oecologica *19*, 125–137.

Goto, A., Blandin, S., Royet, J., Reichhart, J.-M., and Levashina, E.A. (2003). Silencing of Toll pathway components by direct injection of double-stranded RNA into Drosophila adult flies. Nucleic Acids Res. *31*, 6619–6623.

Gottar, M., Gobert, V., Michel, T., Belvin, M., Duyk, G., Hoffmann, J.A., Ferrandon, D., and Royet, J. (2002). The Drosophila immune response against Gram-negative bacteria is mediated by a peptidoglycan recognition protein. Nature *416*, 640–644.

Gottar, M., Gobert, V., Matskevich, A.A., Reichhart, J.-M., Wang, C., Butt, T.M., Belvin, M., Hoffmann, J.A., and Ferrandon, D. (2006). Dual detection of fungal infections in Drosophila via recognition of glucans and sensing of virulence factors. Cell *127*, 1425–1437.

Goubau, D., Deddouche, S., and Reis E Sousa, C. (2013). Cytosolic sensing of viruses. Immunity 38, 855–869.

Goueslain, L., Alsaleh, K., Horellou, P., Roingeard, P., Descamps, V., Duverlie, G., Ciczora, Y., Wychowski, C., Dubuisson, J., and Rouillé, Y. (2010). Identification of GBF1 as a cellular factor required for hepatitis C virus RNA replication. J. Virol. *84*, 773–787.

Goujon, C., Moncorgé, O., Bauby, H., Doyle, T., Ward, C.C., Schaller, T., Hué, S., Barclay, W.S., Schulz, R., and Malim, M.H. (2013). Human MX2 is an interferon-induced post-entry inhibitor of HIV-1 infection. Nature.

Gramberg, T., Kahle, T., Bloch, N., Wittmann, S., Müllers, E., Daddacha, W., Hofmann, H., Kim, B., Lindemann, D., and Landau, N.R. (2013). Restriction of diverse retroviruses by SAMHD1. Retrovirology *10*, 26.

Greenspan, P., Mayer, E.P., and Fowler, S.D. (1985). Nile red: a selective fluorescent stain for intracellular lipid droplets. J. Cell Biol. *100*, 965–973.

De Gregorio, E., Spellman, P.T., Rubin, G.M., and Lemaitre, B. (2001). Genome-wide analysis of the Drosophila immune response by using oligonucleotide microarrays. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *98*, 12590–12595.

De Gregorio, E., Spellman, P.T., Tzou, P., Rubin, G.M., and Lemaitre, B. (2002). The Toll and Imd pathways are the major regulators of the immune response in Drosophila. EMBO J. *21*, 2568–2579.

Gross, I., Georgel, P., Kappler, C., Reichhart, J.M., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1996). Drosophila immunity: a comparative analysis of the Rel proteins dorsal and Dif in the induction of the genes encoding diptericin and cecropin. Nucleic Acids Res. *24*, 1238–1245.

Grover, J.R., Llewellyn, G.N., Soheilian, F., Nagashima, K., Veatch, S.L., and Ono, A. (2013). Roles played by capsid-dependent induction of membrane curvature and Gag-ESCRT interactions in tetherin recruitment to HIV-1 assembly sites. J. Virol. *87*, 4650–4664.

Guo, J., Hui, D.J., Merrick, W.C., and Sen, G.C. (2000). A new pathway of translational regulation mediated by eukaryotic initiation factor 3. EMBO J. *19*, 6891–6899.

Guo, X., Carroll, J.-W.N., Macdonald, M.R., Goff, S.P., and Gao, G. (2004). The zinc finger antiviral protein directly binds to specific viral mRNAs through the CCCH zinc finger motifs. J. Virol. *78*, 12781–12787.

Guo, X., Ma, J., Sun, J., and Gao, G. (2007). The zinc-finger antiviral protein recruits the RNA processing exosome to degrade the target mRNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *104*, 151–156.

Habayeb, M.S., Ekengren, S.K., and Hultmark, D. (2006). Nora virus, a persistent virus in Drosophila, defines a new picorna-like virus family. J. Gen. Virol. *87*, 3045–3051.

Habayeb, M.S., Ekström, J.-O., and Hultmark, D. (2009a). Nora virus persistent infections are not affected by the RNAi machinery. PloS One 4, e5731.

Habayeb, M.S., Cantera, R., Casanova, G., Ekström, J.-O., Albright, S., and Hultmark, D. (2009b). The Drosophila Nora virus is an enteric virus, transmitted via feces. J. Invertebr. Pathol. *101*, 29–33.

Habermann, A., Krijnse-Locker, J., Oberwinkler, H., Eckhardt, M., Homann, S., Andrew, A., Strebel, K., and Kräusslich, H.-G. (2010). CD317/tetherin is enriched in the HIV-1 envelope and downregulated from the plasma membrane upon virus infection. J. Virol. *84*, 4646–4658.

Haller, O., and Kochs, G. (2011). Human MxA protein: an interferon-induced dynamin-like GTPase with broad antiviral activity. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. Off. J. Int. Soc. Interferon Cytokine Res. *31*, 79–87.

Han, Y.-H., Luo, Y.-J., Wu, Q., Jovel, J., Wang, X.-H., Aliyari, R., Han, C., Li, W.-X., and Ding, S.-W. (2011). RNA-based immunity terminates viral infection in adult Drosophila in the absence of viral suppression of RNA interference: characterization of viral small interfering RNA populations in wild-type and mutant flies. J. Virol. *85*, 13153–13163.

Hancock, R.E., and Scott, M.G. (2000). The role of antimicrobial peptides in animal defenses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *97*, 8856–8861.

Harris, R.S., Bishop, K.N., Sheehy, A.M., Craig, H.M., Petersen-Mahrt, S.K., Watt, I.N., Neuberger, M.S., and Malim, M.H. (2003). DNA deamination mediates innate immunity to retroviral infection. Cell *113*, 803–809.

Harrison, D.A., McCoon, P.E., Binari, R., Gilman, M., and Perrimon, N. (1998). Drosophila unpaired encodes a secreted protein that activates the JAK signaling pathway. Genes Dev. *12*, 3252–3263.

Hassel, B.A., Zhou, A., Sotomayor, C., Maran, A., and Silverman, R.H. (1993). A dominant negative mutant of 2-5A-dependent RNase suppresses antiproliferative and antiviral effects of interferon. EMBO J. *12*, 3297–3304.

Hattlmann, C.J., Kelly, J.N., and Barr, S.D. (2012). TRIM22: A Diverse and Dynamic Antiviral Protein. Mol. Biol. Int. 2012, 153415.

Hatziioannou, T., Perez-Caballero, D., Yang, A., Cowan, S., and Bieniasz, P.D. (2004). Retrovirus resistance factors Ref1 and Lv1 are species-specific variants of TRIM5alpha. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *101*, 10774–10779.

Hatziioannou, T., Princiotta, M., Piatak, M., Jr, Yuan, F., Zhang, F., Lifson, J.D., and Bieniasz, P.D. (2006). Generation of simian-tropic HIV-1 by restriction factor evasion. Science *314*, 95.

Hayakawa, S., Shiratori, S., Yamato, H., Kameyama, T., Kitatsuji, C., Kashigi, F., Goto, S., Kameoka, S., Fujikura, D., Yamada, T., et al. (2011). ZAPS is a potent stimulator of signaling mediated by the RNA helicase RIG-I during antiviral responses. Nat. Immunol. *12*, 37–44.

Heaton, N.S., and Randall, G. (2010). Dengue virus-induced autophagy regulates lipid metabolism. Cell Host Microbe *8*, 422–432.

Hedengren, M., Asling, B., Dushay, M.S., Ando, I., Ekengren, S., Wihlborg, M., and Hultmark, D. (1999). Relish, a central factor in the control of humoral but not cellular immunity in Drosophila. Mol. Cell *4*, 827–837.

Hedengren, M., Borge, K., and Hultmark, D. (2000). Expression and evolution of the Drosophila attacin/diptericin gene family. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *279*, 574–581.

Hedges, L.M., Brownlie, J.C., O'Neill, S.L., and Johnson, K.N. (2008). Wolbachia and virus protection in insects. Science *322*, 702.

Helbig, K.J., Eyre, N.S., Yip, E., Narayana, S., Li, K., Fiches, G., McCartney, E.M., Jangra, R.K., Lemon, S.M., and Beard, M.R. (2011). The antiviral protein viperin inhibits hepatitis C virus replication via interaction with nonstructural protein 5A. Hepatol. Baltim. Md *54*, 1506–1517.

Helbig, K.J., Carr, J.M., Calvert, J.K., Wati, S., Clarke, J.N., Eyre, N.S., Narayana, S.K., Fiches, G.N., McCartney, E.M., and Beard, M.R. (2013). Viperin is induced following dengue virus type-2 (DENV-2) infection and has anti-viral actions requiring the C-terminal end of viperin. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 7, e2178.

Herker, E., and Ott, M. (2012). Emerging role of lipid droplets in host/pathogen interactions. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 2280–2287.

Herker, E., Harris, C., Hernandez, C., Carpentier, A., Kaehlcke, K., Rosenberg, A.R., Farese, R.V., Jr, and Ott, M. (2010). Efficient hepatitis C virus particle formation requires diacylglycerol acyltransferase-1. Nat. Med. *16*, 1295–1298.

Hinson, E.R., and Cresswell, P. (2009a). The antiviral protein, viperin, localizes to lipid droplets via its N-terminal amphipathic alpha-helix. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *106*, 20452–20457.

Hinson, E.R., and Cresswell, P. (2009b). The N-terminal amphipathic alpha-helix of viperin mediates localization to the cytosolic face of the endoplasmic reticulum and inhibits protein secretion. J. Biol. Chem. *284*, 4705–4712.

Hoffmann, J.A. (2003). The immune response of Drosophila. Nature 426, 33–38.

Hoffmann, J.A., and Reichhart, J.-M. (1997). Drosophila immunity. Trends Cell Biol. 7, 309–316.

Hoffmann, J.A., Reichhart, J.M., and Hetru, C. (1996). Innate immunity in higher insects. Curr. Opin. Immunol. *8*, 8–13.

Hogenhout, S.A., Redinbaugh, M.G., and Ammar, E.-D. (2003). Plant and animal rhabdovirus host range: a bug's view. Trends Microbiol. *11*, 264–271.

Holmes, R.K., Malim, M.H., and Bishop, K.N. (2007a). APOBEC-mediated viral restriction: not simply editing? Trends Biochem. Sci. *32*, 118–128.

Holmes, R.K., Koning, F.A., Bishop, K.N., and Malim, M.H. (2007b). APOBEC3F can inhibit the accumulation of HIV-1 reverse transcription products in the absence of hypermutation. Comparisons with APOBEC3G. J. Biol. Chem. *282*, 2587–2595.

Hombría, J.C.-G., Brown, S., Häder, S., and Zeidler, M.P. (2005). Characterisation of Upd2, a Drosophila JAK/STAT pathway ligand. Dev. Biol. 288, 420–433.

Horton, J.D., Goldstein, J.L., and Brown, M.S. (2002). SREBPs: activators of the complete program of cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis in the liver. J. Clin. Invest. *109*, 1125–1131.

Horwich, M.D., Li, C., Matranga, C., Vagin, V., Farley, G., Wang, P., and Zamore, P.D. (2007). The Drosophila RNA methyltransferase, DmHen1, modifies germline piRNAs and single-stranded siRNAs in RISC. Curr. Biol. CB *17*, 1265–1272.

Hotter, D., Sauter, D., and Kirchhoff, F. (2013). Emerging Role of the Host Restriction Factor Tetherin in Viral Immune Sensing. J. Mol. Biol.

Hou, S.X., Zheng, Z., Chen, X., and Perrimon, N. (2002). The Jak/STAT pathway in model organisms: emerging roles in cell movement. Dev. Cell *3*, 765–778.

Hrecka, K., Hao, C., Gierszewska, M., Swanson, S.K., Kesik-Brodacka, M., Srivastava, S., Florens, L., Washburn, M.P., and Skowronski, J. (2011). Vpx relieves inhibition of HIV-1 infection of macrophages mediated by the SAMHD1 protein. Nature *474*, 658–661.

Hsu, V.W., Lee, S.Y., and Yang, J.-S. (2009). The evolving understanding of COPI vesicle formation. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *10*, 360–364.

Huang, I.-C., Bailey, C.C., Weyer, J.L., Radoshitzky, S.R., Becker, M.M., Chiang, J.J., Brass, A.L., Ahmed, A.A., Chi, X., Dong, L., et al. (2011). Distinct patterns of IFITM-mediated restriction of filoviruses, SARS coronavirus, and influenza A virus. PLoS Pathog. 7, e1001258.

Huang, J.-Y., Su, W.-C., Jeng, K.-S., Chang, T.-H., and Lai, M.M.C. (2012). Attenuation of 40S ribosomal subunit abundance differentially affects host and HCV translation and suppresses HCV replication. PLoS Pathog. *8*, e1002766.

Hughes, T.T., Allen, A.L., Bardin, J.E., Christian, M.N., Daimon, K., Dozier, K.D., Hansen, C.L., Holcomb, L.M., and Ahlander, J. (2012). Drosophila as a genetic model for studying pathogenic human viruses. Virology *423*, 1–5.

Huszar, T., and Imler, J.-L. (2008). Drosophila viruses and the study of antiviral host-defense. Adv. Virus Res. 72, 227–265.

Ip, Y.T., Reach, M., Engstrom, Y., Kadalayil, L., Cai, H., González-Crespo, S., Tatei, K., and Levine, M. (1993). Dif, a dorsal-related gene that mediates an immune response in Drosophila. Cell *75*, 753–763.

Irving, P., Troxler, L., Heuer, T.S., Belvin, M., Kopczynski, C., Reichhart, J.M., Hoffmann, J.A., and Hetru, C. (2001). A genome-wide analysis of immune responses in Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *98*, 15119–15124.

Ishikawa, H., and Barber, G.N. (2008). STING is an endoplasmic reticulum adaptor that facilitates innate immune signalling. Nature 455, 674–678.

Ivanov, I., Yabukarski, F., Ruigrok, R.W.H., and Jamin, M. (2011). Structural insights into the rhabdovirus transcription/replication complex. Virus Res. *162*, 126–137.

Iwasaki, S., Kawamata, T., and Tomari, Y. (2009). Drosophila argonaute1 and argonaute2 employ distinct mechanisms for translational repression. Mol. Cell *34*, 58–67.

Jacobs, B.L., and Langland, J.O. (1996). When two strands are better than one: the mediators and modulators of the cellular responses to double-stranded RNA. Virology *219*, 339–349.

Jakob, N.J., Müller, K., Bahr, U., and Darai, G. (2001). Analysis of the first complete DNA sequence of an invertebrate iridovirus: coding strategy of the genome of Chilo iridescent virus. Virology *286*, 182–196.

Janeway, C.A., Jr (1989). Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. *54 Pt 1*, 1–13.

Javanbakht, H., Diaz-Griffero, F., Stremlau, M., Si, Z., and Sodroski, J. (2005). The contribution of RING and B-box 2 domains to retroviral restriction mediated by monkey TRIM5alpha. J. Biol. Chem. *280*, 26933–26940.

Jayachandran, B., Hussain, M., and Asgari, S. (2012). RNA interference as a cellular defense mechanism against the DNA virus baculovirus. J. Virol. *86*, 13729–13734.

Ji, L., and Chen, X. (2012). Regulation of small RNA stability: methylation and beyond. Cell Res. 22, 624–636.

Jiang, D., Weidner, J.M., Qing, M., Pan, X.-B., Guo, H., Xu, C., Zhang, X., Birk, A., Chang, J., Shi, P.-Y., et al. (2010). Identification of Five Interferon-Induced Cellular Proteins That Inhibit West Nile Virus and Dengue Virus Infections. J. Virol. *84*, 8332–8341.

Jiggins, F.M., and Kim, K.-W. (2006). Contrasting evolutionary patterns in Drosophila immune receptors. J. Mol. Evol. *63*, 769–780.

John, S.P., Chin, C.R., Perreira, J.M., Feeley, E.M., Aker, A.M., Savidis, G., Smith, S.E., Elia, A.E.H., Everitt, A.R., Vora, M., et al. (2013). The CD225 domain of IFITM3 is required for both IFITM protein association and inhibition of influenza A virus and dengue virus replication. J. Virol. *87*, 7837–7852.

Johnson, K.N., and Christian, P.D. (1998). The novel genome organization of the insect picorna-like virus Drosophila C virus suggests this virus belongs to a previously undescribed virus family. J. Gen. Virol. 79, 191–203.

Jones, P.H., Maric, M., Madison, M.N., Maury, W., Roller, R.J., and Okeoma, C.M. (2013). BST-2/tetherin-mediated restriction of chikungunya (CHIKV) VLP budding is counteracted by CHIKV non-structural protein 1 (nsP1). Virology *438*, 37–49.

Jose, J., Snyder, J.E., and Kuhn, R.J. (2009). A structural and functional perspective of alphavirus replication and assembly. Future Microbiol. *4*, 837–856.

Jousset, F.X. (1976). [Host range of drosophila melanogaster C virus among diptera and lepidoptera (author's transl)]. Ann. Microbiol. (Paris) *127*, 529–544.

Jousset, F.X., and Plus, N. (1975). [Study of the vertical transmission and horizontal transmission of "Drosophila melanogaster" and "Drosophila immigrans" picornavirus (author's transl)]. Ann. Microbiol. (Paris) *126*, 231–249.

Jousset, F.X., Plus, N., Croizier, G., and Thomas, M. (1972). [Existence in Drosophila of 2 groups of picornavirus with different biological and serological properties]. Comptes Rendus Hebd. Séances Académie Sci. Sér. Sci. Nat. *275*, 3043–3046.

Jousset, F.-X., Bergoin, M., and Revet, B. (1977). Characterization of the Drosophila C Virus. J. Gen. Virol. 34, 269–283.

Kaiser, S.M., and Emerman, M. (2006). Uracil DNA glycosylase is dispensable for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication and does not contribute to the antiviral effects of the cytidine deaminase Apobec3G. J. Virol. *80*, 875–882.

Kakuta, S., Shibata, S., and Iwakura, Y. (2002). Genomic structure of the mouse 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetase gene family. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. Off. J. Int. Soc. Interferon Cytokine Res. 22, 981–993.

Kampmueller, K.M., and Miller, D.J. (2005). The Cellular Chaperone Heat Shock Protein 90 Facilitates Flock House Virus RNA Replication in Drosophila Cells. J. Virol. *79*, 6827–6837.

Kaneko, T., Goldman, W.E., Mellroth, P., Steiner, H., Fukase, K., Kusumoto, S., Harley, W., Fox, A., Golenbock, D., and Silverman, N. (2004). Monomeric and polymeric gram-negative peptidoglycan but not purified LPS stimulate the Drosophila IMD pathway. Immunity *20*, 637–649.

Kang, D., Liu, G., Lundström, A., Gelius, E., and Steiner, H. (1998). A peptidoglycan recognition protein in innate immunity conserved from insects to humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *95*, 10078.

Kang, D., Gopalkrishnan, R.V., Wu, Q., Jankowsky, E., Pyle, A.M., and Fisher, P.B. (2002). mda-5: An interferon-inducible putative RNA helicase with double-stranded RNA-dependent ATPase activity and melanoma growth-suppressive properties. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *99*, 637–642.

Kao, S., Khan, M.A., Miyagi, E., Plishka, R., Buckler-White, A., and Strebel, K. (2003). The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif protein reduces intracellular expression and inhibits packaging of APOBEC3G (CEM15), a cellular inhibitor of virus infectivity. J. Virol. *77*, 11398–11407.

Kato, H., Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Yoneyama, M., Yamamoto, M., Matsui, K., Uematsu, S., Jung, A., Kawai, T., Ishii, K.J., et al. (2006). Differential roles of MDA5 and RIG-I helicases in the recognition of RNA viruses. Nature *441*, 101–105.

Keckesova, Z., Ylinen, L.M.J., and Towers, G.J. (2004). The human and African green monkey TRIM5alpha genes encode Ref1 and Lv1 retroviral restriction factor activities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *101*, 10780–10785.

Keene, K.M., Foy, B.D., Sanchez-Vargas, I., Beaty, B.J., Blair, C.D., and Olson, K.E. (2004). RNA interference acts as a natural antiviral response to O'nyong-nyong virus (Alphavirus; Togaviridae) infection of Anopheles gambiae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *101*, 17240–17245.

Kemp, C., Mueller, S., Goto, A., Barbier, V., Paro, S., Bonnay, F., Dostert, C., Troxler, L., Hetru, C., Meignin, C., et al. (2013). Broad RNA interference-mediated antiviral immunity and virus-specific inducible responses in Drosophila. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *190*, 650–658.

Kentsis, A., Dwyer, E.C., Perez, J.M., Sharma, M., Chen, A., Pan, Z.Q., and Borden, K.L. (2001). The RING domains of the promyelocytic leukemia protein PML and the arenaviral protein Z repress translation by directly inhibiting translation initiation factor eIF4E. J. Mol. Biol. *312*, 609–623.

Kim, Y.K., and Jang, S.K. (2002). Continuous heat shock enhances translational initiation directed by internal ribosomal entry site. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *297*, 224–231.

Kim, E.T., White, T.E., Brandariz-Nunez, A., Diaz-Griffero, F., and Weitzman, M.D. (2013). SAMHD1 restricts herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) in macrophages by limiting DNA replication. J. Virol.

Kim, T., Pazhoor, S., Bao, M., Zhang, Z., Hanabuchi, S., Facchinetti, V., Bover, L., Plumas, J., Chaperot, L., Qin, J., et al. (2010). Aspartate-glutamate-alanine-histidine box motif (DEAH)/RNA helicase A helicases sense microbial DNA in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *107*, 15181–15186.

Kimura, T., Katoh, H., Kayama, H., Saiga, H., Okuyama, M., Okamoto, T., Umemoto, E., Matsuura, Y., Yamamoto, M., and Takeda, K. (2013). Ifit1 inhibits Japanese encephalitis virus replication through binding to 5' capped 2'-O unmethylated RNA. J. Virol. *87*, 9997–10003.

King, L.A., and Moore, N.F. (1988). Evidence for the presence of a genome-linked protein in two insect picornaviruses, cricket paralysis and Drosophila C viruses. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. *50*, 41–44.

Kingsolver, M.B., Huang, Z., and Hardy, R.W. (2013). Insect Antiviral Innate Immunity: Pathways, Effectors, and Connections. J. Mol. Biol.

Klemenz, R., Hultmark, D., and Gehring, W.J. (1985). Selective translation of heat shock mRNA in Drosophila melanogaster depends on sequence information in the leader. EMBO J. *4*, 2053–2060.

Kochs, G., and Haller, O. (1999). Interferon-induced human MxA GTPase blocks nuclear import of Thogoto virus nucleocapsids. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *96*, 2082–2086.

Kochs, G., Janzen, C., Hohenberg, H., and Haller, O. (2002). Antivirally active MxA protein sequesters La Crosse virus nucleocapsid protein into perinuclear complexes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *99*, 3153–3158.

Kopek, B.G., Perkins, G., Miller, D.J., Ellisman, M.H., and Ahlquist, P. (2007). Three-dimensional analysis of a viral RNA replication complex reveals a virus-induced mini-organelle. PLoS Biol. *5*, e220.

Kozak, C.A., and Chakraborti, A. (1996). Single amino acid changes in the murine leukemia virus capsid protein gene define the target of Fv1 resistance. Virology *225*, 300–305.

Kubota, K., Nakahara, K., Ohtsuka, T., Yoshida, S., Kawaguchi, J., Fujita, Y., Ozeki, Y., Hara, A., Yoshimura, C., Furukawa, H., et al. (2004). Identification of 2'-phosphodiesterase, which plays a role in the 2-5A system regulated by interferon. J. Biol. Chem. *279*, 37832–37841.

Kueck, T., and Neil, S.J.D. (2012). A cytoplasmic tail determinant in HIV-1 Vpu mediates targeting of tetherin for endosomal degradation and counteracts interferon-induced restriction. PLoS Pathog. *8*, e1002609.

Kumar, M., and Carmichael, G.G. (1998). Antisense RNA: function and fate of duplex RNA in cells of higher eukaryotes. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. MMBR *62*, 1415–1434.

Kupzig, S., Korolchuk, V., Rollason, R., Sugden, A., Wilde, A., and Banting, G. (2003). Bst-2/HM1.24 is a raft-associated apical membrane protein with an unusual topology. Traffic Cph. Den. *4*, 694–709.

Laguette, N., Sobhian, B., Casartelli, N., Ringeard, M., Chable-Bessia, C., Ségéral, E., Yatim, A., Emiliani, S., Schwartz, O., and Benkirane, M. (2011). SAMHD1 is the dendritic- and myeloid-cell-specific HIV-1 restriction factor counteracted by Vpx. Nature 474, 654–657.

Lagueux, M., Perrodou, E., Levashina, E.A., Capovilla, M., and Hoffmann, J.A. (2000). Constitutive expression of a complement-like protein in toll and JAK gain-of-function mutants of Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *97*, 11427–11432.

Lai, C., Struckhoff, J.J., Schneider, J., Martinez-Sobrido, L., Wolff, T., García-Sastre, A., Zhang, D.-E., and Lenschow, D.J. (2009). Mice lacking the ISG15 E1 enzyme UbE1L demonstrate increased susceptibility to both mouse-adapted and non-mouse-adapted influenza B virus infection. J. Virol. *83*, 1147–1151.

Lai, W.S., Carballo, E., Thorn, J.M., Kennington, E.A., and Blackshear, P.J. (2000). Interactions of CCCH zinc finger proteins with mRNA. Binding of tristetraprolin-related zinc finger proteins to Au-rich elements and destabilization of mRNA. J. Biol. Chem. *275*, 17827–17837.

Landry, D.M., Hertz, M.I., and Thompson, S.R. (2009). RPS25 is essential for translation initiation by the Dicistroviridae and hepatitis C viral IRESs. Genes Dev. 23, 2753–2764.

Langlois, M.-A., and Neuberger, M.S. (2008). Human APOBEC3G can restrict retroviral infection in avian cells and acts independently of both UNG and SMUG1. J. Virol. *82*, 4660–4664.

Lanke, K.H.W., van der Schaar, H.M., Belov, G.A., Feng, Q., Duijsings, D., Jackson, C.L., Ehrenfeld, E., and van Kuppeveld, F.J.M. (2009). GBF1, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Arf, is crucial for coxsackievirus B3 RNA replication. J. Virol. *83*, 11940–11949.

Lautié-Harivel, N., and Thomas-Orillard, M. (1990). Location of Drosophila C virus target organs in Drosophila host population by an immunofluorescence technique. Biol. Cell Auspices Eur. Cell Biol. Organ. *69*, 35–39.

Lavau, C., Marchio, A., Fagioli, M., Jansen, J., Falini, B., Lebon, P., Grosveld, F., Pandolfi, P.P., Pelicci, P.G., and Dejean, A. (1995). The acute promyelocytic leukaemia-associated PML gene is induced by interferon. Oncogene *11*, 871–876.

Lee, H., Komano, J., Saitoh, Y., Yamaoka, S., Kozaki, T., Misawa, T., Takahama, M., Satoh, T., Takeuchi, O., Yamamoto, N., et al. (2013). Zinc-finger antiviral protein mediates retinoic acid inducible gene llike receptor-independent antiviral response to murine leukemia virus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *110*, 12379–12384.

Lee, H.K., Lund, J.M., Ramanathan, B., Mizushima, N., and Iwasaki, A. (2007). Autophagy-dependent viral recognition by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Science *315*, 1398–1401.

Lee, Y.S., Nakahara, K., Pham, J.W., Kim, K., He, Z., Sontheimer, E.J., and Carthew, R.W. (2004). Distinct roles for Drosophila Dicer-1 and Dicer-2 in the siRNA/miRNA silencing pathways. Cell *117*, 69–81.

Lemaitre, B., and Hoffmann, J. (2007). The host defense of Drosophila melanogaster. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 25, 697–743.

Lemaitre, B., Kromer-Metzger, E., Michaut, L., Nicolas, E., Meister, M., Georgel, P., Reichhart, J.M., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1995). A recessive mutation, immune deficiency (imd), defines two distinct control pathways in the Drosophila host defense. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *92*, 9465–9469.

Lemaitre, B., Nicolas, E., Michaut, L., Reichhart, J.M., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1996). The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spätzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in Drosophila adults. Cell *86*, 973–983.

Lenschow, D.J., Lai, C., Frias-Staheli, N., Giannakopoulos, N.V., Lutz, A., Wolff, T., Osiak, A., Levine, B., Schmidt, R.E., García-Sastre, A., et al. (2007). IFN-stimulated gene 15 functions as a critical antiviral molecule against influenza, herpes, and Sindbis viruses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *104*, 1371–1376.

Letchworth, G.J., Rodriguez, L.L., and Del cbarrera J (1999). Vesicular stomatitis. Vet. J. Lond. Engl. 1997 157, 239–260.

Leulier, F., Rodriguez, A., Khush, R.S., Abrams, J.M., and Lemaitre, B. (2000). The Drosophila caspase Dredd is required to resist gram-negative bacterial infection. EMBO Rep. 1, 353–358.

Leulier, F., Parquet, C., Pili-Floury, S., Ryu, J.-H., Caroff, M., Lee, W.-J., Mengin-Lecreulx, D., and Lemaitre, B. (2003). The Drosophila immune system detects bacteria through specific peptidoglycan recognition. Nat. Immunol. *4*, 478–484.

Levashina, E.A., Ohresser, S., Bulet, P., Reichhart, J.M., Hetru, C., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1995). Metchnikowin, a novel immune-inducible proline-rich peptide from Drosophila with antibacterial and antifungal properties. Eur. J. Biochem. FEBS *233*, 694–700.

Li, H., Li, W.X., and Ding, S.W. (2002). Induction and suppression of RNA silencing by an animal virus. Science 296, 1319–1321.

Li, K., Markosyan, R.M., Zheng, Y.-M., Golfetto, O., Bungart, B., Li, M., Ding, S., He, Y., Liang, C., Lee, J.C., et al. (2013a). IFITM proteins restrict viral membrane hemifusion. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003124.

Li, N., Zhang, L., Chen, L., Feng, W., Xu, Y., Chen, F., Liu, X., Chen, Z., and Liu, W. (2012). MxA inhibits hepatitis B virus replication by interaction with hepatitis B core antigen. Hepatol. Baltim. Md *56*, 803–811.

Li, Q., Pène, V., Krishnamurthy, S., Cha, H., and Liang, T.J. (2013b). Hepatitis C virus infection activates an innate pathway involving IKK-α in lipogenesis and viral assembly. Nat. Med. *19*, 722–729.

Li, W.-X., Li, H., Lu, R., Li, F., Dus, M., Atkinson, P., Brydon, E.W.A., Johnson, K.L., García-Sastre, A., Ball, L.A., et al. (2004). Interferon antagonist proteins of influenza and vaccinia viruses are suppressors of RNA silencing. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *101*, 1350–1355.

Li, Y., Li, C., Xue, P., Zhong, B., Mao, A.-P., Ran, Y., Chen, H., Wang, Y.-Y., Yang, F., and Shu, H.-B. (2009). ISG56 is a negative-feedback regulator of virus-triggered signaling and cellular antiviral response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *106*, 7945–7950.

Li, Y., Lu, J., Han, Y., Fan, X., and Ding, S.-W. (2013c). RNA interference functions as an antiviral immunity mechanism in mammals. Science *342*, 231–234.

Lichner, Z., Silhavy, D., and Burgyán, J. (2003). Double-stranded RNA-binding proteins could suppress RNA interference-mediated antiviral defences. J. Gen. Virol. *84*, 975–980.

Lichty, B.D., Power, A.T., Stojdl, D.F., and Bell, J.C. (2004). Vesicular stomatitis virus: re-inventing the bullet. Trends Mol. Med. *10*, 210–216.

Lim, E.S., Wu, L.I., Malik, H.S., and Emerman, M. (2012). The function and evolution of the restriction factor Viperin in primates was not driven by lentiviruses. Retrovirology *9*, 55.

Liu, C., Gelius, E., Liu, G., Steiner, H., and Dziarski, R. (2000). Mammalian peptidoglycan recognition protein binds peptidoglycan with high affinity, is expressed in neutrophils, and inhibits bacterial growth. J. Biol. Chem. *275*, 24490–24499.

Liu, C., Xu, Z., Gupta, D., and Dziarski, R. (2001). Peptidoglycan recognition proteins: a novel family of four human innate immunity pattern recognition molecules. J. Biol. Chem. *276*, 34686–34694.

Liu, Q., Rand, T.A., Kalidas, S., Du, F., Kim, H.-E., Smith, D.P., and Wang, X. (2003). R2D2, a bridge between the initiation and effector steps of the Drosophila RNAi pathway. Science *301*, 1921–1925.

Liu, S.-Y., Sanchez, D.J., Aliyari, R., Lu, S., and Cheng, G. (2012). Systematic identification of type I and type II interferon-induced antiviral factors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *109*, 4239–4244.

Liu, Y., Ye, X., Jiang, F., Liang, C., Chen, D., Peng, J., Kinch, L.N., Grishin, N.V., and Liu, Q. (2009). C3PO, an endoribonuclease that promotes RNAi by facilitating RISC activation. Science *325*, 750–753.

Liu, Z., Pan, Q., Ding, S., Qian, J., Xu, F., Zhou, J., Cen, S., Guo, F., and Liang, C. (2013). The Interferon-Inducible MxB Protein Inhibits HIV-1 Infection. Cell Host Microbe.

Longdon, B., and Jiggins, F.M. (2012). Vertically transmitted viral endosymbionts of insects: do sigma viruses walk alone? Proc. Biol. Sci. *279*, 3889–3898.

Longdon, B., Cao, C., Martinez, J., and Jiggins, F.M. (2013). Previous Exposure to an RNA Virus Does Not Protect against Subsequent Infection in Drosophila melanogaster. PloS One *8*, e73833.

Lopez, P., Jacob, R.J., and Roizman, B. (2002). Overexpression of promyelocytic leukemia protein precludes the dispersal of ND10 structures and has no effect on accumulation of infectious herpes simplex virus 1 or its proteins. J. Virol. *76*, 9355–9367.

López, T., López, S., and Arias, C.F. (2006). Heat shock enhances the susceptibility of BHK cells to rotavirus infection through the facilitation of entry and post-entry virus replication steps. Virus Res. *121*, 74–83.

Lu, R., Maduro, M., Li, F., Li, H.W., Broitman-Maduro, G., Li, W.X., and Ding, S.W. (2005). Animal virus replication and RNAi-mediated antiviral silencing in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature *436*, 1040–1043.

Lu, Y., Wu, L.P., and Anderson, K.V. (2001). The antibacterial arm of the drosophila innate immune response requires an IkappaB kinase. Genes Dev. *15*, 104–110.

Luban, J., Bossolt, K.L., Franke, E.K., Kalpana, G.V., and Goff, S.P. (1993). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag protein binds to cyclophilins A and B. Cell *73*, 1067–1078.

Lucas, K., and Raikhel, A.S. (2013). Insect microRNAs: biogenesis, expression profiling and biological functions. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. *43*, 24–38.

Ma, J.-B., Ye, K., and Patel, D.J. (2004). Structural basis for overhang-specific small interfering RNA recognition by the PAZ domain. Nature *429*, 318–322.

Macrae, I.J., Zhou, K., Li, F., Repic, A., Brooks, A.N., Cande, W.Z., Adams, P.D., and Doudna, J.A. (2006). Structural basis for double-stranded RNA processing by Dicer. Science *311*, 195–198.

MacRae, I.J., Zhou, K., and Doudna, J.A. (2007). Structural determinants of RNA recognition and cleavage by Dicer. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *14*, 934–940.

Madani, N., and Kabat, D. (1998). An endogenous inhibitor of human immunodeficiency virus in human lymphocytes is overcome by the viral Vif protein. J. Virol. *72*, 10251–10255.

Magwire, M.M., Fabian, D.K., Schweyen, H., Cao, C., Longdon, B., Bayer, F., and Jiggins, F.M. (2012). Genome-Wide Association Studies Reveal a Simple Genetic Basis of Resistance to Naturally Coevolving Viruses in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS Genet *8*, e1003057.

Maillard, P.V., Ciaudo, C., Marchais, A., Li, Y., Jay, F., Ding, S.W., and Voinnet, O. (2013). Antiviral RNA interference in mammalian cells. Science *342*, 235–238.

Malakhov, M.P., Kim, K.I., Malakhova, O.A., Jacobs, B.S., Borden, E.C., and Zhang, D.-E. (2003). High-throughput immunoblotting. Ubiquitiin-like protein ISG15 modifies key regulators of signal transduction. J. Biol. Chem. *278*, 16608–16613.

Malathi, K., Dong, B., Gale, M., Jr, and Silverman, R.H. (2007). Small self-RNA generated by RNase L amplifies antiviral innate immunity. Nature 448, 816–819.

Malathi, K., Saito, T., Crochet, N., Barton, D.J., Gale, M., Jr, and Silverman, R.H. (2010). RNase L releases a small RNA from HCV RNA that refolds into a potent PAMP. RNA N. Y. N *16*, 2108–2119.

Malim, M.H., and Emerman, M. (2008). HIV-1 accessory proteins--ensuring viral survival in a hostile environment. Cell Host Microbe *3*, 388–398.

Von der Malsburg, A., Abutbul-Ionita, I., Haller, O., Kochs, G., and Danino, D. (2011). Stalk domain of the dynamin-like MxA GTPase protein mediates membrane binding and liposome tubulation via the unstructured L4 loop. J. Biol. Chem. *286*, 37858–37865.

Manfruelli, P., Reichhart, J.M., Steward, R., Hoffmann, J.A., and Lemaitre, B. (1999). A mosaic analysis in Drosophila fat body cells of the control of antimicrobial peptide genes by the Rel proteins Dorsal and DIF. EMBO J. *18*, 3380–3391.

Mangeat, B., Turelli, P., Caron, G., Friedli, M., Perrin, L., and Trono, D. (2003). Broad antiretroviral defence by human APOBEC3G through lethal editing of nascent reverse transcripts. Nature *424*, 99–103.

Mänz, B., Dornfeld, D., Götz, V., Zell, R., Zimmermann, P., Haller, O., Kochs, G., and Schwemmle, M. (2013). Pandemic influenza A viruses escape from restriction by human MxA through adaptive mutations in the nucleoprotein. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003279.

Mariani, R., Chen, D., Schröfelbauer, B., Navarro, F., König, R., Bollman, B., Münk, C., Nymark-McMahon, H., and Landau, N.R. (2003). Species-specific exclusion of APOBEC3G from HIV-1 virions by Vif. Cell *114*, 21–31.

Marques, J.T., Kim, K., Wu, P.-H., Alleyne, T.M., Jafari, N., and Carthew, R.W. (2010). Loqs and R2D2 act sequentially in the siRNA pathway in Drosophila. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *17*, 24–30.

Mashimo, T., Lucas, M., Simon-Chazottes, D., Frenkiel, M.-P., Montagutelli, X., Ceccaldi, P.-E., Deubel, V., Guenet, J.-L., and Despres, P. (2002). A nonsense mutation in the gene encoding 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase/L1 isoform is associated with West Nile virus susceptibility in laboratory mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *99*, 11311–11316.

Matranga, C., Tomari, Y., Shin, C., Bartel, D.P., and Zamore, P.D. (2005). Passenger-strand cleavage facilitates assembly of siRNA into Ago2-containing RNAi enzyme complexes. Cell *123*, 607–620.

Mattijssen, S., and Pruijn, G.J.M. (2012). Viperin, a key player in the antiviral response. Microbes Infect. Inst. Pasteur 14, 419–426.

Mbisa, J.L., Barr, R., Thomas, J.A., Vandegraaff, N., Dorweiler, I.J., Svarovskaia, E.S., Brown, W.L., Mansky, L.M., Gorelick, R.J., Harris, R.S., et al. (2007). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 cDNAs produced in the presence of APOBEC3G exhibit defects in plus-strand DNA transfer and integration. J. Virol. *81*, 7099–7110.

McCaffrey, A.P., Meuse, L., Pham, T.-T.T., Conklin, D.S., Hannon, G.J., and Kay, M.A. (2002). RNA interference in adult mice. Nature *418*, 38–39.

McNatt, M.W., Zang, T., and Bieniasz, P.D. (2013). Vpu binds directly to tetherin and displaces it from nascent virions. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003299.

Mehle, A., Strack, B., Ancuta, P., Zhang, C., McPike, M., and Gabuzda, D. (2004). Vif overcomes the innate antiviral activity of APOBEC3G by promoting its degradation in the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. J. Biol. Chem. *279*, 7792–7798.

Meiering, C.D., and Linial, M.L. (2003). The promyelocytic leukemia protein does not mediate foamy virus latency in vitro. J. Virol. 77, 2207–2213.

Meng, X., Khanuja, B.S., and Ip, Y.T. (1999). Toll receptor-mediated Drosophila immune response requires Dif, an NF-kappaB factor. Genes Dev. *13*, 792–797.

Meurs, E., Chong, K., Galabru, J., Thomas, N.S., Kerr, I.M., Williams, B.R., and Hovanessian, A.G. (1990). Molecular cloning and characterization of the human double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase induced by interferon. Cell *62*, 379–390.

Meurs, E.F., Watanabe, Y., Kadereit, S., Barber, G.N., Katze, M.G., Chong, K., Williams, B.R., and Hovanessian, A.G. (1992). Constitutive expression of human double-stranded RNA-activated p68

kinase in murine cells mediates phosphorylation of eukaryotic initiation factor 2 and partial resistance to encephalomyocarditis virus growth. J. Virol. *66*, 5805–5814.

Michel, T., Reichhart, J.M., Hoffmann, J.A., and Royet, J. (2001). Drosophila Toll is activated by Grampositive bacteria through a circulating peptidoglycan recognition protein. Nature *414*, 756–759.

Van Mierlo, J.T., Bronkhorst, A.W., Overheul, G.J., Sadanandan, S.A., Ekström, J.-O., Heestermans, M., Hultmark, D., Antoniewski, C., and van Rij, R.P. (2012). Convergent evolution of argonaute-2 slicer antagonism in two distinct insect RNA viruses. PLoS Pathog. *8*, e1002872.

Mishima, Y., Quintin, J., Aimanianda, V., Kellenberger, C., Coste, F., Clavaud, C., Hetru, C., Hoffmann, J.A., Latgé, J.-P., Ferrandon, D., et al. (2009). The N-terminal domain of Drosophila Gram-negative binding protein 3 (GNBP3) defines a novel family of fungal pattern recognition receptors. J. Biol. Chem. *284*, 28687–28697.

Mitchell, P., Petfalski, E., Shevchenko, A., Mann, M., and Tollervey, D. (1997). The exosome: a conserved eukaryotic RNA processing complex containing multiple 3'-->5' exoribonucleases. Cell *91*, 457–466.

Mitchell, P.S., Patzina, C., Emerman, M., Haller, O., Malik, H.S., and Kochs, G. (2012). Evolutionguided identification of antiviral specificity determinants in the broadly acting interferon-induced innate immunity factor MxA. Cell Host Microbe *12*, 598–604.

Mitchell, P.S., Emerman, M., and Malik, H.S. (2013). An evolutionary perspective on the broad antiviral specificity of MxA. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. *16*, 493–499.

Miyagi, E., Opi, S., Takeuchi, H., Khan, M., Goila-Gaur, R., Kao, S., and Strebel, K. (2007). Enzymatically active APOBEC3G is required for efficient inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. *81*, 13346–13353.

Miyakawa, K., Ryo, A., Murakami, T., Ohba, K., Yamaoka, S., Fukuda, M., Guatelli, J., and Yamamoto, N. (2009). BCA2/Rabring7 promotes tetherin-dependent HIV-1 restriction. PLoS Pathog. *5*, e1000700.

Miyanari, Y., Atsuzawa, K., Usuda, N., Watashi, K., Hishiki, T., Zayas, M., Bartenschlager, R., Wakita, T., Hijikata, M., and Shimotohno, K. (2007). The lipid droplet is an important organelle for hepatitis C virus production. Nat. Cell Biol. *9*, 1089–1097.

Miyoshi, K., Tsukumo, H., Nagami, T., Siomi, H., and Siomi, M.C. (2005). Slicer function of Drosophila Argonautes and its involvement in RISC formation. Genes Dev. *19*, 2837–2848.

Molnár, A., Csorba, T., Lakatos, L., Várallyay, E., Lacomme, C., and Burgyán, J. (2005). Plant virusderived small interfering RNAs originate predominantly from highly structured single-stranded viral RNAs. J. Virol. *79*, 7812–7818.

Moore, N.F., and Tinsley, T.W. (1982). The small RNA-viruses of insects. Arch. Virol. 72, 229–245.

Moore, N.F., Kearns, A., and Pullin, J.S. (1980). Characterization of cricket paralysis virus-induced polypeptides in Drosophila cells. J. Virol. 33, 1–9.

Morales, D.J., and Lenschow, D.J. (2013). The Antiviral Activities of ISG15. J. Mol. Biol.

Morazzani, E.M., Wiley, M.R., Murreddu, M.G., Adelman, Z.N., and Myles, K.M. (2012). Production of virus-derived ping-pong-dependent piRNA-like small RNAs in the mosquito soma. PLoS Pathog. *8*, e1002470.

Moy, R.H., and Cherry, S. (2013). Antimicrobial autophagy: a conserved innate immune response in Drosophila. J. Innate Immun. *5*, 444–455.

Mudhasani, R., Tran, J.P., Retterer, C., Radoshitzky, S.R., Kota, K.P., Altamura, L.A., Smith, J.M., Packard, B.Z., Kuhn, J.H., Costantino, J., et al. (2013). IFITM-2 and IFITM-3 but not IFITM-1 restrict Rift Valley fever virus. J. Virol. *87*, 8451–8464.

Mudiganti, U., Hernandez, R., and Brown, D.T. (2010). Insect response to alphavirus infection-establishment of alphavirus persistence in insect cells involves inhibition of viral polyprotein cleavage. Virus Res. *150*, 73–84.

Mueller, S., Gausson, V., Vodovar, N., Deddouche, S., Troxler, L., Perot, J., Pfeffer, S., Hoffmann, J.A., Saleh, M.-C., and Imler, J.-L. (2010). RNAi-mediated immunity provides strong protection against the negative-strand RNA vesicular stomatitis virus in Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *107*, 19390–19395.

Mukherjee, S., and Hanley, K.A. (2010). RNA interference modulates replication of dengue virus in Drosophila melanogaster cells. BMC Microbiol. *10*, 127.

Müller, S., Matunis, M.J., and Dejean, A. (1998). Conjugation with the ubiquitin-related modifier SUMO-1 regulates the partitioning of PML within the nucleus. EMBO J. 17, 61–70.

Müller, S., Möller, P., Bick, M.J., Wurr, S., Becker, S., Günther, S., and Kümmerer, B.M. (2007). Inhibition of filovirus replication by the zinc finger antiviral protein. J. Virol. *81*, 2391–2400.

Mundt, E. (2007). Human MxA protein confers resistance to double-stranded RNA viruses of two virus families. J. Gen. Virol. *88*, 1319–1323.

Münk, C., Willemsen, A., and Bravo, I.G. (2012). An ancient history of gene duplications, fusions and losses in the evolution of APOBEC3 mutators in mammals. BMC Evol. Biol. *12*, 71.

Myles, K.M., Wiley, M.R., Morazzani, E.M., and Adelman, Z.N. (2008). Alphavirus-derived small RNAs modulate pathogenesis in disease vector mosquitoes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *105*, 19938–19943.

Naitza, S., Rossé, C., Kappler, C., Georgel, P., Belvin, M., Gubb, D., Camonis, J., Hoffmann, J.A., and Reichhart, J.M. (2002). The Drosophila immune defense against gram-negative infection requires the death protein dFADD. Immunity *17*, 575–581.

Nakamoto, M., Moy, R.H., Xu, J., Bambina, S., Yasunaga, A., Shelly, S.S., Gold, B., and Cherry, S. (2012). Virus recognition by Toll-7 activates antiviral autophagy in Drosophila. Immunity *36*, 658–667.

Narasimhan, J., Wang, M., Fu, Z., Klein, J.M., Haas, A.L., and Kim, J.-J.P. (2005). Crystal structure of the interferon-induced ubiquitin-like protein ISG15. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 27356–27365.

Nasr, N., Maddocks, S., Turville, S.G., Harman, A.N., Woolger, N., Helbig, K.J., Wilkinson, J., Bye, C.R., Wright, T.K., Rambukwelle, D., et al. (2012). HIV-1 infection of human macrophages directly induces viperin which inhibits viral production. Blood *120*, 778–788.

Nayak, A., Berry, B., Tassetto, M., Kunitomi, M., Acevedo, A., Deng, C., Krutchinsky, A., Gross, J., Antoniewski, C., and Andino, R. (2010). Cricket paralysis virus antagonizes Argonaute 2 to modulate antiviral defense in Drosophila. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *17*, 547–554.

Neil, S.J.D. (2013). The antiviral activities of tetherin. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 371, 67–104.

Neil, S.J.D., Eastman, S.W., Jouvenet, N., and Bieniasz, P.D. (2006). HIV-1 Vpu promotes release and prevents endocytosis of nascent retrovirus particles from the plasma membrane. PLoS Pathog. 2, e39.

Neil, S.J.D., Zang, T., and Bieniasz, P.D. (2008). Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. Nature *451*, 425–430.

Netherton, C.L., Simpson, J., Haller, O., Wileman, T.E., Takamatsu, H.-H., Monaghan, P., and Taylor, G. (2009). Inhibition of a large double-stranded DNA virus by MxA protein. J. Virol. *83*, 2310–2320.

Nezis, I.P., Simonsen, A., Sagona, A.P., Finley, K., Gaumer, S., Contamine, D., Rusten, T.E., Stenmark, H., and Brech, A. (2008). Ref(2)P, the Drosophila melanogaster homologue of mammalian p62, is required for the formation of protein aggregates in adult brain. J. Cell Biol. *180*, 1065–1071.

Nguyen, D.H., and Hildreth, J.E. (2000). Evidence for budding of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 selectively from glycolipid-enriched membrane lipid rafts. J. Virol. 74, 3264–3272.

Nisole, S., Stoye, J.P., and Saïb, A. (2005). TRIM family proteins: retroviral restriction and antiviral defence. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. *3*, 799–808.

Okumura, F., Okumura, A.J., Uematsu, K., Hatakeyama, S., Zhang, D.-E., and Kamura, T. (2013). Activation of double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase (PKR) by interferon-stimulated gene 15 (ISG15) modification down-regulates protein translation. J. Biol. Chem. *288*, 2839–2847.

Paludan, S.R., and Bowie, A.G. (2013). Immune sensing of DNA. Immunity 38, 870–880.

Pan, X.-B., Han, J.-C., Cong, X., and Wei, L. (2012). BST2/tetherin inhibits dengue virus release from human hepatoma cells. PloS One 7, e51033.

Panchal, R.G., Ruthel, G., Kenny, T.A., Kallstrom, G.H., Lane, D., Badie, S.S., Li, L., Bavari, S., and Aman, M.J. (2003). In vivo oligomerization and raft localization of Ebola virus protein VP40 during vesicular budding. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *100*, 15936–15941.

Panda, D., and Cherry, S. (2012). Cell-based genomic screening: elucidating virus-host interactions. Curr. Opin. Virol. 2, 784–792.

Paradkar, P.N., Trinidad, L., Voysey, R., Duchemin, J.-B., and Walker, P.J. (2012). Secreted Vago restricts West Nile virus infection in Culex mosquito cells by activating the Jak-STAT pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *109*, 18915–18920.

Parameswaran, P., Sklan, E., Wilkins, C., Burgon, T., Samuel, M.A., Lu, R., Ansel, K.M., Heissmeyer, V., Einav, S., Jackson, W., et al. (2010). Six RNA viruses and forty-one hosts: viral small RNAs and modulation of small RNA repertoires in vertebrate and invertebrate systems. PLoS Pathog. *6*, e1000764.

Patel, R.K., and Hardy, R.W. (2012). Role for the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt-TOR pathway during sindbis virus replication in arthropods. J. Virol. *86*, 3595–3604.

Perelygin, A.A., Scherbik, S.V., Zhulin, I.B., Stockman, B.M., Li, Y., and Brinton, M.A. (2002). Positional cloning of the murine flavivirus resistance gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *99*, 9322–9327.

Perez-Caballero, D., Zang, T., Ebrahimi, A., McNatt, M.W., Gregory, D.A., Johnson, M.C., and Bieniasz, P.D. (2009). Tetherin inhibits HIV-1 release by directly tethering virions to cells. Cell *139*, 499–511.

Perreira, J.M., Chin, C.R., Feeley, E.M., and Brass, A.L. (2013). IFITMs Restrict the Replication of Multiple Pathogenic Viruses. J. Mol. Biol.

Pertel, T., Hausmann, S., Morger, D., Züger, S., Guerra, J., Lascano, J., Reinhard, C., Santoni, F.A., Uchil, P.D., Chatel, L., et al. (2011). TRIM5 is an innate immune sensor for the retrovirus capsid lattice. Nature 472, 361–365.

Petersen, U.M., Björklund, G., Ip, Y.T., and Engström, Y. (1995). The dorsal-related immunity factor, Dif, is a sequence-specific trans-activator of Drosophila Cecropin gene expression. EMBO J. *14*, 3146–3158.

Pfeffer, S., Sewer, A., Lagos-Quintana, M., Sheridan, R., Sander, C., Grässer, F.A., van Dyk, L.F., Ho, C.K., Shuman, S., Chien, M., et al. (2005). Identification of microRNAs of the herpesvirus family. Nat. Methods *2*, 269–276.

Pichlmair, A., Lassnig, C., Eberle, C.-A., Górna, M.W., Baumann, C.L., Burkard, T.R., Bürckstümmer, T., Stefanovic, A., Krieger, S., Bennett, K.L., et al. (2011). IFIT1 is an antiviral protein that recognizes 5'-triphosphate RNA. Nat. Immunol. *12*, 624–630.

Di Pietro, A., Kajaste-Rudnitski, A., Oteiza, A., Nicora, L., Towers, G.J., Mechti, N., and Vicenzi, E. (2013). TRIM22 inhibits influenza A virus infection by targeting the viral nucleoprotein for degradation. J. Virol. *87*, 4523–4533.

Pijlman, G.P., Funk, A., Kondratieva, N., Leung, J., Torres, S., van der Aa, L., Liu, W.J., Palmenberg, A.C., Shi, P.-Y., Hall, R.A., et al. (2008). A highly structured, nuclease-resistant, noncoding RNA produced by flaviviruses is required for pathogenicity. Cell Host Microbe *4*, 579–591.

Pindel, A., and Sadler, A. (2011). The role of protein kinase R in the interferon response. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. *Off. J. Int. Soc. Interferon Cytokine Res. 31*, 59–70.

Ploen, D., Hafirassou, M.L., Himmelsbach, K., Sauter, D., Biniossek, M.L., Weiss, T.S., Baumert, T.F., Schuster, C., and Hildt, E. (2013). TIP47 plays a crucial role in the life cycle of hepatitis C virus. J. Hepatol. *58*, 1081–1088.

Plus, N., and Duthoit, J.L. (1969). Un nouveau virus de Drosophila melanogaster, le virus P. Comptes Rendus Académie Sci. Paris *268*, 2313.

Plus, N., and Golubovsky, M.D. (1980). Resistance to Drosophila C virus of fifteen 1 (2) gZ/Cy stocks carrying 1 (2) gl lethals from different geographical origins. Genetika *12*, 227–231.

Plus, N., Croizier, G., Jousset, F.X., and David, J. (1975a). Picornaviruses of laboratory and wild Drosophila melanogaster: geographical distribution and serotypic composition. Ann. Microbiol. (Paris) *126*, 107–117.

Plus, N., Croizier, G., Duthoit, J.L., David, J., Anxolabéhère, D., and Périquet, G. (1975b). [The discovery, in Drosophila, of viruses belonging to three new groups]. Comptes Rendus Hebd. Séances Académie Sci. Sér. Sci. Nat. *280*, 1501–1504.

Plus, N., Croizier, G., Veyrunes, J.C., and David, J. (1976). A comparison of buoyant density and polypeptides of Drosophila P, C and A viruses. Intervirology *7*, 346–350.

Plus, N., Gissman, L., Veyrunes, J.C., Pfister, H., and Gateff, E. (1981). Reoviruses of Drosophila and Ceratitis populations and of Drosophila cell lines: A possible new genus of the Reoviridae family. Ann. Inst. Pasteur Virol. *132*, 261–270.

Rämet, M., Manfruelli, P., Pearson, A., Mathey-Prevot, B., and Ezekowitz, R.A.B. (2002). Functional genomic analysis of phagocytosis and identification of a Drosophila receptor for E. coli. Nature *416*, 644–648.

Rand, T.A., Ginalski, K., Grishin, N.V., and Wang, X. (2004). Biochemical identification of Argonaute 2 as the sole protein required for RNA-induced silencing complex activity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *101*, 14385–14389.

Refsland, E.W., Stenglein, M.D., Shindo, K., Albin, J.S., Brown, W.L., and Harris, R.S. (2010). Quantitative profiling of the full APOBEC3 mRNA repertoire in lymphocytes and tissues: implications for HIV-1 restriction. Nucleic Acids Res. *38*, 4274–4284.

Regad, T., Saib, A., Lallemand-Breitenbach, V., Pandolfi, P.P., de Thé, H., and Chelbi-Alix, M.K. (2001). PML mediates the interferon-induced antiviral state against a complex retrovirus via its association with the viral transactivator. EMBO J. *20*, 3495–3505.

Reinganum, C., O'Loughlin, G.T., and Hogan, T.W. (1970). A nonoccluded virus of the field crickets Teleogryllus oceanicus and T. commodus (Orthoptera: Gryllidae). J. Invertebr. Pathol. *16*, 214–220.

Rice, G.I., Bond, J., Asipu, A., Brunette, R.L., Manfield, I.W., Carr, I.M., Fuller, J.C., Jackson, R.M., Lamb, T., Briggs, T.A., et al. (2009). Mutations involved in Aicardi-Goutières syndrome implicate SAMHD1 as regulator of the innate immune response. Nat. Genet. *41*, 829–832.

Richetta, C., and Faure, M. (2013). Autophagy in antiviral innate immunity. Cell. Microbiol. 15, 368–376.

Van Rij, R.P., and Berezikov, E. (2009). Small RNAs and the control of transposons and viruses in Drosophila. Trends Microbiol. *17*, 163–171.

Van Rij, R.P., Saleh, M.-C., Berry, B., Foo, C., Houk, A., Antoniewski, C., and Andino, R. (2006). The RNA silencing endonuclease Argonaute 2 mediates specific antiviral immunity in Drosophila melanogaster. Genes Dev. *20*, 2985–2995.

Rollason, R., Dunstan, K., Billcliff, P.G., Bishop, P., Gleeson, P., Wise, H., Digard, P., and Banting, G. (2013). Expression of HIV-1 Vpu Leads to Loss of the Viral Restriction Factor CD317/Tetherin from Lipid Rafts and Its Enhanced Lysosomal Degradation. PloS One *8*, e75680.

Rose, P.P., Hanna, S.L., Spiridigliozzi, A., Wannissorn, N., Beiting, D.P., Ross, S.R., Hardy, R.W., Bambina, S.A., Heise, M.T., and Cherry, S. (2011). Natural resistance-associated macrophage protein is a cellular receptor for sindbis virus in both insect and mammalian hosts. Cell Host Microbe *10*, 97–104.

Rothenfusser, S., Goutagny, N., DiPerna, G., Gong, M., Monks, B.G., Schoenemeyer, A., Yamamoto, M., Akira, S., and Fitzgerald, K.A. (2005). The RNA helicase Lgp2 inhibits TLR-independent sensing of viral replication by retinoic acid-inducible gene-I. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *175*, 5260–5268.

Roxström-Lindquist, K., Terenius, O., and Faye, I. (2004). Parasite-specific immune response in adult Drosophila melanogaster: a genomic study. EMBO Rep. *5*, 207–212.

Rutschmann, S., Jung, A.C., Hetru, C., Reichhart, J.M., Hoffmann, J.A., and Ferrandon, D. (2000). The Rel protein DIF mediates the antifungal but not the antibacterial host defense in Drosophila. Immunity *12*, 569–580.

Rysiecki, G., Gewert, D.R., and Williams, B.R. (1989). Constitutive expression of a 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetase cDNA results in increased antiviral activity and growth suppression. J. Interferon Res. *9*, 649–657.

Sabatier, L., Jouanguy, E., Dostert, C., Zachary, D., Dimarcq, J.-L., Bulet, P., and Imler, J.-L. (2003). Pherokine-2 and -3. Eur. J. Biochem. FEBS *270*, 3398–3407.

Sabin, L.R., Zhou, R., Gruber, J.J., Lukinova, N., Bambina, S., Berman, A., Lau, C.-K., Thompson, C.B., and Cherry, S. (2009). Ars2 regulates both miRNA- and siRNA- dependent silencing and suppresses RNA virus infection in Drosophila. Cell *138*, 340–351.

Sabin, L.R., Zheng, Q., Thekkat, P., Yang, J., Hannon, G.J., Gregory, B.D., Tudor, M., and Cherry, S. (2013). Dicer-2 processes diverse viral RNA species. PloS One *8*, e55458.

Sackton, T.B., Lazzaro, B.P., Schlenke, T.A., Evans, J.D., Hultmark, D., and Clark, A.G. (2007). Dynamic evolution of the innate immune system in Drosophila. Nat. Genet. *39*, 1461–1468.

Saitoh, T., Satoh, T., Yamamoto, N., Uematsu, S., Takeuchi, O., Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2011). Antiviral protein Viperin promotes Toll-like receptor 7- and Toll-like receptor 9-mediated type I interferon production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Immunity *34*, 352–363.

Saleh, M.-C., van Rij, R.P., Hekele, A., Gillis, A., Foley, E., O'Farrell, P.H., and Andino, R. (2006). The endocytic pathway mediates cell entry of dsRNA to induce RNAi silencing. Nat. Cell Biol. *8*, 793–802.

Saleh, M.-C., Tassetto, M., van Rij, R.P., Goic, B., Gausson, V., Berry, B., Jacquier, C., Antoniewski, C., and Andino, R. (2009). Antiviral immunity in Drosophila requires systemic RNA interference spread. Nature *458*, 346–350.

Samsa, M.M., Mondotte, J.A., Iglesias, N.G., Assunção-Miranda, I., Barbosa-Lima, G., Da Poian, A.T., Bozza, P.T., and Gamarnik, A.V. (2009). Dengue virus capsid protein usurps lipid droplets for viral particle formation. PLoS Pathog. *5*, e1000632.

Samuel, M.A., Whitby, K., Keller, B.C., Marri, A., Barchet, W., Williams, B.R.G., Silverman, R.H., Gale, M., Jr, and Diamond, M.S. (2006). PKR and RNase L contribute to protection against lethal West Nile Virus infection by controlling early viral spread in the periphery and replication in neurons. J. Virol. *80*, 7009–7019.

Sánchez-Vargas, I., Scott, J.C., Poole-Smith, B.K., Franz, A.W.E., Barbosa-Solomieu, V., Wilusz, J., Olson, K.E., and Blair, C.D. (2009). Dengue virus type 2 infections of Aedes aegypti are modulated by the mosquito's RNA interference pathway. PLoS Pathog. *5*, e1000299.

Sawyer, S.L., Emerman, M., and Malik, H.S. (2004). Ancient adaptive evolution of the primate antiviral DNA-editing enzyme APOBEC3G. PLoS Biol. 2, E275.

Sayah, D.M., Sokolskaja, E., Berthoux, L., and Luban, J. (2004). Cyclophilin A retrotransposition into TRIM5 explains owl monkey resistance to HIV-1. Nature *430*, 569–573.

Scheiffele, P., Rietveld, A., Wilk, T., and Simons, K. (1999). Influenza viruses select ordered lipid domains during budding from the plasma membrane. J. Biol. Chem. *274*, 2038–2044.

Schneider, D. (2000). Using Drosophila as a model insect. Nat. Rev. Genet. 1, 218–226.

Schnettler, E., Sterken, M.G., Leung, J.Y., Metz, S.W., Geertsema, C., Goldbach, R.W., Vlak, J.M., Kohl, A., Khromykh, A.A., and Pijlman, G.P. (2012). Noncoding flavivirus RNA displays RNA interference suppressor activity in insect and Mammalian cells. J. Virol. *86*, 13486–13500.

Schnettler, E., Donald, C.L., Human, S., Watson, M., Siu, R.W.C., McFarlane, M., Fazakerley, J.K., Kohl, A., and Fragkoudis, R. (2013). Knockdown of piRNA pathway proteins results in enhanced Semliki Forest virus production in mosquito cells. J. Gen. Virol. *94*, 1680–1689.

Schnorr, J.J., Schneider-Schaulies, S., Simon-Jödicke, A., Pavlovic, J., Horisberger, M.A., and ter Meulen, V. (1993). MxA-dependent inhibition of measles virus glycoprotein synthesis in a stably transfected human monocytic cell line. J. Virol. *67*, 4760–4768.

Schoggins, J.W., Wilson, S.J., Panis, M., Murphy, M.Y., Jones, C.T., Bieniasz, P., and Rice, C.M. (2011). A diverse range of gene products are effectors of the type I interferon antiviral response. Nature *472*, 481–485.

Schuessler, A., Funk, A., Lazear, H.M., Cooper, D.A., Torres, S., Daffis, S., Jha, B.K., Kumagai, Y., Takeuchi, O., Hertzog, P., et al. (2012). West Nile virus noncoding subgenomic RNA contributes to viral evasion of the type I interferon-mediated antiviral response. J. Virol. *86*, 5708–5718.

Scott, J.C., Brackney, D.E., Campbell, C.L., Bondu-Hawkins, V., Hjelle, B., Ebel, G.D., Olson, K.E., and Blair, C.D. (2010). Comparison of dengue virus type 2-specific small RNAs from RNA interference-competent and -incompetent mosquito cells. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. *4*, e848.

Scotti, P.D. (1975). Cricket paralysis virus replicates in cultured Drosophila cells. Intervirology *6*, 333–342.

Scotti, P.D., Dearing, S., and Mossop, D.W. (1983). Flock House virus: a nodavirus isolated from Costelytra zealandica (White) (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Arch. Virol. *75*, 181–189.

Senti, K.-A., and Brennecke, J. (2010). The piRNA pathway: a fly's perspective on the guardian of the genome. Trends Genet. TIG *26*, 499–509.

Seo, E.J., and Leis, J. (2012). Budding of Enveloped Viruses: Interferon-Induced ISG15-Antivirus Mechanisms Targeting the Release Process. Adv. Virol. 2012, 532723.

Seo, J.-Y., and Cresswell, P. (2013). Viperin regulates cellular lipid metabolism during human cytomegalovirus infection. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003497.

Seo, J.-Y., Yaneva, R., and Cresswell, P. (2011a). Viperin: a multifunctional, interferon-inducible protein that regulates virus replication. Cell Host Microbe *10*, 534–539.

Seo, J.-Y., Yaneva, R., Hinson, E.R., and Cresswell, P. (2011b). Human cytomegalovirus directly induces the antiviral protein viperin to enhance infectivity. Science *332*, 1093–1097.

Sessions, O.M., Barrows, N.J., Souza-Neto, J.A., Robinson, T.J., Hershey, C.L., Rodgers, M.A., Ramirez, J.L., Dimopoulos, G., Yang, P.L., Pearson, J.L., et al. (2009). Discovery of insect and human dengue virus host factors. Nature *458*, 1047–1050.

Settles, E.W., and Friesen, P.D. (2008). Flock house virus induces apoptosis by depletion of Drosophila inhibitor-of-apoptosis protein DIAP1. J. Virol. *82*, 1378–1388.

Shan, Z., Han, Q., Nie, J., Cao, X., Chen, Z., Yin, S., Gao, Y., Lin, F., Zhou, X., Xu, K., et al. (2013). Negative Regulation of Interferon-Induced Transmembrane Protein 3 by SET7-mediated Lysine Monomethylation. J. Biol. Chem.

Shayakhmetov, D.M., Di Paolo, N.C., and Mossman, K.L. (2010). Recognition of virus infection and innate host responses to viral gene therapy vectors. Mol. Ther. J. Am. Soc. Gene Ther. *18*, 1422–1429.

Sheehy, A.M., Gaddis, N.C., Choi, J.D., and Malim, M.H. (2002). Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. Nature *418*, 646–650.

Sheehy, A.M., Gaddis, N.C., and Malim, M.H. (2003). The antiretroviral enzyme APOBEC3G is degraded by the proteasome in response to HIV-1 Vif. Nat. Med. *9*, 1404–1407.

Shelly, S., Lukinova, N., Bambina, S., Berman, A., and Cherry, S. (2009). Autophagy is an essential component of Drosophila immunity against vesicular stomatitis virus. Immunity *30*, 588–598.

Shi, C.-S., and Kehrl, J.H. (2008). MyD88 and Trif target Beclin 1 to trigger autophagy in macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. *283*, 33175–33182.

Siegrist, F., Ebeling, M., and Certa, U. (2011). The small interferon-induced transmembrane genes and proteins. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. Off. J. Int. Soc. Interferon Cytokine Res. *31*, 183–197.

Skalsky, R.L., Vanlandingham, D.L., Scholle, F., Higgs, S., and Cullen, B.R. (2010). Identification of microRNAs expressed in two mosquito vectors, Aedes albopictus and Culex quinquefasciatus. BMC Genomics *11*, 119.

Soifer, H.S., Zaragoza, A., Peyvan, M., Behlke, M.A., and Rossi, J.J. (2005). A potential role for RNA interference in controlling the activity of the human LINE-1 retrotransposon. Nucleic Acids Res. *33*, 846–856.

Soni, K.G., Mardones, G.A., Sougrat, R., Smirnova, E., Jackson, C.L., and Bonifacino, J.S. (2009). Coatomer-dependent protein delivery to lipid droplets. J. Cell Sci. *122*, 1834–1841.

Souza-Neto, J.A., Sim, S., and Dimopoulos, G. (2009). An evolutionary conserved function of the JAK-STAT pathway in anti-dengue defense. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *106*, 17841–17846.

Spang, A. (2002). ARF1 regulatory factors and COPI vesicle formation. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 14, 423–427.

Stetson, D.B., and Medzhitov, R. (2006). Type I interferons in host defense. Immunity 25, 373–381.

Stoven, S., Silverman, N., Junell, A., Hedengren-Olcott, M., Erturk, D., Engstrom, Y., Maniatis, T., and Hultmark, D. (2003). Caspase-mediated processing of the Drosophila NF-kappaB factor Relish. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *100*, 5991–5996.

Stöven, S., Ando, I., Kadalayil, L., Engström, Y., and Hultmark, D. (2000). Activation of the Drosophila NF-kappaB factor Relish by rapid endoproteolytic cleavage. EMBO Rep. 1, 347–352.

Strauss, J.H., and Strauss, E.G. (1994). The alphaviruses: gene expression, replication, and evolution. Microbiol. Rev. *58*, 491–562.

Stremlau, M., Owens, C.M., Perron, M.J., Kiessling, M., Autissier, P., and Sodroski, J. (2004). The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys. Nature *427*, 848–853.

Stremlau, M., Perron, M., Lee, M., Li, Y., Song, B., Javanbakht, H., Diaz-Griffero, F., Anderson, D.J., Sundquist, W.I., and Sodroski, J. (2006). Specific recognition and accelerated uncoating of retroviral capsids by the TRIM5alpha restriction factor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *103*, 5514–5519.

Sun, E., He, J., and Zhuang, X. (2013a). Dissecting the role of COPI complexes in influenza virus infection. J. Virol. *87*, 2673–2685.

Sun, H., Towb, P., Chiem, D.N., Foster, B.A., and Wasserman, S.A. (2004). Regulated assembly of the Toll signaling complex drives Drosophila dorsoventral patterning. EMBO J. 23, 100–110.

Sun, L., Wu, J., Du, F., Chen, X., and Chen, Z.J. (2013b). Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is a cytosolic DNA sensor that activates the type I interferon pathway. Science *339*, 786–791.

Suspène, R., Guétard, D., Henry, M., Sommer, P., Wain-Hobson, S., and Vartanian, J.-P. (2005). Extensive editing of both hepatitis B virus DNA strands by APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases in vitro and in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *102*, 8321–8326.

Suspène, R., Aynaud, M.-M., Koch, S., Pasdeloup, D., Labetoulle, M., Gaertner, B., Vartanian, J.-P., Meyerhans, A., and Wain-Hobson, S. (2011). Genetic editing of herpes simplex virus 1 and Epstein-Barr herpesvirus genomes by human APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases in culture and in vivo. J. Virol. *85*, 7594–7602.

Swiecki, M., Omattage, N.S., and Brett, T.J. (2013). BST-2/tetherin: structural biology, viral antagonism, and immunobiology of a potent host antiviral factor. Mol. Immunol. *54*, 132–139.

Szretter, K.J., Brien, J.D., Thackray, L.B., Virgin, H.W., Cresswell, P., and Diamond, M.S. (2011). The interferon-inducible gene viperin restricts West Nile virus pathogenesis. J. Virol. *85*, 11557–11566.

Tai, A.W., Benita, Y., Peng, L.F., Kim, S.-S., Sakamoto, N., Xavier, R.J., and Chung, R.T. (2009). A functional genomic screen identifies cellular cofactors of hepatitis C virus replication. Cell Host Microbe *5*, 298–307.

Takaoka, A., Wang, Z., Choi, M.K., Yanai, H., Negishi, H., Ban, T., Lu, Y., Miyagishi, M., Kodama, T., Honda, K., et al. (2007). DAI (DLM-1/ZBP1) is a cytosolic DNA sensor and an activator of innate immune response. Nature *448*, 501–505.

Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2005). Toll-like receptors in innate immunity. Int. Immunol. 17, 1–14.

Takeuchi, O., and Akira, S. (2009). Innate immunity to virus infection. Immunol. Rev. 227, 75–86.

Tang, Y., Zhong, G., Zhu, L., Liu, X., Shan, Y., Feng, H., Bu, Z., Chen, H., and Wang, C. (2010). Herc5 attenuates influenza A virus by catalyzing ISGylation of viral NS1 protein. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *184*, 5777–5790.

Taylor, R.M., Hurlbut, H.S., Work, T.H., Kingston, J.R., and Frothingham, T.E. (1955). Sindbis virus: a newly recognized arthropodtransmitted virus. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. *4*, 844–862.

Taylor, R.T., Lubick, K.J., Robertson, S.J., Broughton, J.P., Bloom, M.E., Bresnahan, W.A., and Best, S.M. (2011). TRIM79α, an interferon-stimulated gene product, restricts tick-borne encephalitis virus replication by degrading the viral RNA polymerase. Cell Host Microbe *10*, 185–196.

Teixeira, L., Ferreira, Á., and Ashburner, M. (2008). The Bacterial Symbiont Wolbachia Induces Resistance to RNA Viral Infections in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS Biol *6*, e1000002.

Teng, T.-S., Foo, S.-S., Simamarta, D., Lum, F.-M., Teo, T.-H., Lulla, A., Yeo, N.K.W., Koh, E.G.L., Chow, A., Leo, Y.-S., et al. (2012). Viperin restricts chikungunya virus replication and pathology. J. Clin. Invest. *122*, 4447–4460.

Teninges, D., and Plus, N. (1972). P virus of Drosophila melanogaster, as a new picornavirus. J. Gen. Virol. *16*, 103–109.

Teninges, D., Ohanessian, A., Richard-Molard, C., and Contamine, D. (1979). Isolation and Biological Properties of Drosophila X Virus. J. Gen. Virol. *42*, 241–254.

Terenzi, F., Hui, D.J., Merrick, W.C., and Sen, G.C. (2006). Distinct induction patterns and functions of two closely related interferon-inducible human genes, ISG54 and ISG56. J. Biol. Chem. *281*, 34064–34071.

Terenzi, F., Saikia, P., and Sen, G.C. (2008). Interferon-inducible protein, P56, inhibits HPV DNA replication by binding to the viral protein E1. EMBO J. *27*, 3311–3321.

Tesh, R.B. (1982). Arthritides caused by mosquito-borne viruses. Annu. Rev. Med. 33, 31–40.

Thiam, A.R., Antonny, B., Wang, J., Delacotte, J., Wilfling, F., Walther, T.C., Beck, R., Rothman, J.E., and Pincet, F. (2013). COPI buds 60-nm lipid droplets from reconstituted water-phospholipid-triacylglyceride interfaces, suggesting a tension clamp function. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *110*, 13244–13249.

Thimme, R., Frese, M., Kochs, G., and Haller, O. (1995). Mx1 but not MxA confers resistance against tick-borne Dhori virus in mice. Virology *211*, 296–301.

Thomas-Orillard, M. (1984). Modifications of Mean Ovariole Number, Fresh Weight of Adult Females and Developmental Time in Drosophila Melanogaster Induced by Drosophila C Virus. Genetics *107*, 635–644.

Thomas-Orillard, M. (1988). Interaction between a picornavirus and a wild population of Drosophila melanogaster. Oecologia 75, 516–520.

Thomas-Orillard, M. (1990). Paradoxical influence of an RNA virus on Drosophila host. Endocytobiosis Cell Res. 7, 97–104.

Thomas-Orillard, M., Jeune, B., and Cusset, G. (1995). Drosophila-Host Genetic Control of Susceptibility to Drosophila C Virus. Genetics *140*, 1289–1295.

Tissot, C., and Mechti, N. (1995). Molecular cloning of a new interferon-induced factor that represses human immunodeficiency virus type 1 long terminal repeat expression. J. Biol. Chem. *270*, 14891–14898.

Tokarev, A., Suarez, M., Kwan, W., Fitzpatrick, K., Singh, R., and Guatelli, J. (2013). Stimulation of NFκB activity by the HIV restriction factor BST2. J. Virol. *87*, 2046–2057. Tokuriki, N., and Tawfik, D.S. (2009). Stability effects of mutations and protein evolvability. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. *19*, 596–604.

Tolia, N.H., and Joshua-Tor, L. (2007). Slicer and the argonautes. Nat. Chem. Biol. 3, 36–43.

Tomari, Y., Matranga, C., Haley, B., Martinez, N., and Zamore, P.D. (2004). A protein sensor for siRNA asymmetry. Science *306*, 1377–1380.

Towers, G., Bock, M., Martin, S., Takeuchi, Y., Stoye, J.P., and Danos, O. (2000). A conserved mechanism of retrovirus restriction in mammals. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *97*, 12295–12299.

Tsai, C.W., McGraw, E.A., Ammar, E.-D., Dietzgen, R.G., and Hogenhout, S.A. (2008). Drosophila melanogaster mounts a unique immune response to the Rhabdovirus sigma virus. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. *74*, 3251–3256.

Turelli, P., Doucas, V., Craig, E., Mangeat, B., Klages, N., Evans, R., Kalpana, G., and Trono, D. (2001). Cytoplasmic recruitment of INI1 and PML on incoming HIV preintegration complexes: interference with early steps of viral replication. Mol. Cell *7*, 1245–1254.

Turelli, P., Mangeat, B., Jost, S., Vianin, S., and Trono, D. (2004). Inhibition of hepatitis B virus replication by APOBEC3G. Science *303*, 1829.

Tzou, P., Reichhart, J.-M., and Lemaitre, B. (2002). Constitutive expression of a single antimicrobial peptide can restore wild-type resistance to infection in immunodeficient Drosophila mutants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *99*, 2152–2157.

Unckless, R.L. (2011). A DNA virus of Drosophila. PloS One 6, e26564.

Unterholzner, L., Keating, S.E., Baran, M., Horan, K.A., Jensen, S.B., Sharma, S., Sirois, C.M., Jin, T., Latz, E., Xiao, T.S., et al. (2010). IFI16 is an innate immune sensor for intracellular DNA. Nat. Immunol. *11*, 997–1004.

Varble, A., Benitez, A.A., Schmid, S., Sachs, D., Shim, J.V., Rodriguez-Barrueco, R., Panis, M., Crumiller, M., Silva, J.M., Sachidanandam, R., et al. (2013). An in vivo RNAi screening approach to identify host determinants of virus replication. Cell Host Microbe *14*, 346–356.

Vartanian, J.-P., Guétard, D., Henry, M., and Wain-Hobson, S. (2008). Evidence for editing of human papillomavirus DNA by APOBEC3 in benign and precancerous lesions. Science *320*, 230–233.

Varthakavi, V., Smith, R.M., Bour, S.P., Strebel, K., and Spearman, P. (2003). Viral protein U counteracts a human host cell restriction that inhibits HIV-1 particle production. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *100*, 15154–15159.

Venter, P.A., and Schneemann, A. (2008). Recent insights into the biology and biomedical applications of Flock House virus. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. *65*, 2675–2687.

Verheije, M.H., Raaben, M., Mari, M., Te Lintelo, E.G., Reggiori, F., van Kuppeveld, F.J.M., Rottier, P.J.M., and de Haan, C.A.M. (2008). Mouse hepatitis coronavirus RNA replication depends on GBF1mediated ARF1 activation. PLoS Pathog. *4*, e1000088.

Versteeg, G.A., Rajsbaum, R., Sánchez-Aparicio, M.T., Maestre, A.M., Valdiviezo, J., Shi, M., Inn, K.-S., Fernandez-Sesma, A., Jung, J., and García-Sastre, A. (2013). The E3-ligase TRIM family of proteins

regulates signaling pathways triggered by innate immune pattern-recognition receptors. Immunity 38, 384–398.

Vidal, S., Khush, R.S., Leulier, F., Tzou, P., Nakamura, M., and Lemaitre, B. (2001). Mutations in the Drosophila dTAK1 gene reveal a conserved function for MAPKKKs in the control of rel/NF-kappaB-dependent innate immune responses. Genes Dev. *15*, 1900–1912.

Vieira, V.C., and Soares, M.A. (2013). The role of cytidine deaminases on innate immune responses against human viral infections. BioMed Res. Int. *2013*, 683095.

Virgen, C.A., Kratovac, Z., Bieniasz, P.D., and Hatziioannou, T. (2008). Independent genesis of chimeric TRIM5-cyclophilin proteins in two primate species. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *105*, 3563–3568.

Vodovar, N., Bronkhorst, A.W., van Cleef, K.W.R., Miesen, P., Blanc, H., van Rij, R.P., and Saleh, M.-C. (2012). Arbovirus-derived piRNAs exhibit a ping-pong signature in mosquito cells. PloS One 7, e30861.

Vogt, D.A., Camus, G., Herker, E., Webster, B.R., Tsou, C.-L., Greene, W.C., Yen, T.-S.B., and Ott, M. (2013). Lipid droplet-binding protein TIP47 regulates hepatitis C Virus RNA replication through interaction with the viral NS5A protein. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003302.

Voronin, D., Cook, D.A.N., Steven, A., and Taylor, M.J. (2012). Autophagy regulates Wolbachia populations across diverse symbiotic associations. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *109*, E1638–1646.

Wacher, C., Müller, M., Hofer, M.J., Getts, D.R., Zabaras, R., Ousman, S.S., Terenzi, F., Sen, G.C., King, N.J.C., and Campbell, I.L. (2007). Coordinated regulation and widespread cellular expression of interferon-stimulated genes (ISG) ISG-49, ISG-54, and ISG-56 in the central nervous system after infection with distinct viruses. J. Virol. *81*, 860–871.

Wang, C., Pflugheber, J., Sumpter, R., Jr, Sodora, D.L., Hui, D., Sen, G.C., and Gale, M., Jr (2003). Alpha interferon induces distinct translational control programs to suppress hepatitis C virus RNA replication. J. Virol. *77*, 3898–3912.

Wang, J., Wu, Z., and Jin, Q. (2012a). COPI is required for enterovirus 71 replication. PloS One 7, e38035.

Wang, S., Wu, X., Pan, T., Song, W., Wang, Y., Zhang, F., and Yuan, Z. (2012b). Viperin inhibits hepatitis C virus replication by interfering with binding of NS5A to host protein hVAP-33. J. Gen. Virol. *93*, 83–92.

Wang, X., Hinson, E.R., and Cresswell, P. (2007). The interferon-inducible protein viperin inhibits influenza virus release by perturbing lipid rafts. Cell Host Microbe 2, 96–105.

Wang, X.-H., Aliyari, R., Li, W.-X., Li, H.-W., Kim, K., Carthew, R., Atkinson, P., and Ding, S.-W. (2006). RNA interference directs innate immunity against viruses in adult Drosophila. Science *312*, 452–454.

Wangkumhang, P., Chaichoompu, K., Ngamphiw, C., Ruangrit, U., Chanprasert, J., Assawamakin, A., and Tongsima, S. (2007). WASP: a Web-based Allele-Specific PCR assay designing tool for detecting SNPs and mutations. BMC Genomics *8*, 275.

Wayne, M.L., Contamine, D., and Kreitman, M. (1996). Molecular population genetics of ref(2)P, a locus which confers viral resistance in Drosophila. Mol. Biol. Evol. 13, 191–199.

Weaver, S.C., and Reisen, W.K. (2010). Present and future arboviral threats. Antiviral Res. 85, 328–345.

Weber, A.N.R., Tauszig-Delamasure, S., Hoffmann, J.A., Lelièvre, E., Gascan, H., Ray, K.P., Morse, M.A., Imler, J.-L., and Gay, N.J. (2003). Binding of the Drosophila cytokine Spätzle to Toll is direct and establishes signaling. Nat. Immunol. *4*, 794–800.

Weber, F., Wagner, V., Rasmussen, S.B., Hartmann, R., and Paludan, S.R. (2006). Double-Stranded RNA Is Produced by Positive-Strand RNA Viruses and DNA Viruses but Not in Detectable Amounts by Negative-Strand RNA Viruses. J. Virol. *80*, 5059–5064.

Welbourn, S., Dutta, S.M., Semmes, O.J., and Strebel, K. (2013). Restriction of virus infection but not catalytic dNTPase activity are regulated by phosphorylation of SAMHD1. J. Virol.

Werneke, S.W., Schilte, C., Rohatgi, A., Monte, K.J., Michault, A., Arenzana-Seisdedos, F., Vanlandingham, D.L., Higgs, S., Fontanet, A., Albert, M.L., et al. (2011). ISG15 is critical in the control of Chikungunya virus infection independent of UbE1L mediated conjugation. PLoS Pathog. *7*, e1002322.

Werner, T., Liu, G., Kang, D., Ekengren, S., Steiner, H., and Hultmark, D. (2000). A family of peptidoglycan recognition proteins in the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *97*, 13772–13777.

White, T.E., Brandariz-Nuñez, A., Valle-Casuso, J.C., Amie, S., Nguyen, L., Kim, B., Brojatsch, J., and Diaz-Griffero, F. (2013). Contribution of SAM and HD domains to retroviral restriction mediated by human SAMHD1. Virology *436*, 81–90.

Williams, T. (2008). Natural invertebrate hosts of iridoviruses (Iridoviridae). Neotrop. Entomol. *37*, 615–632.

Williams, T., Barbosa-Solomieu, V., and Chinchar, V.G. (2005). A decade of advances in iridovirus research. Adv. Virus Res. *65*, 173–248.

Wilson, J.E., Powell, M.J., Hoover, S.E., and Sarnow, P. (2000). Naturally Occurring Dicistronic Cricket Paralysis Virus RNA Is Regulated by Two Internal Ribosome Entry Sites. Mol. Cell. Biol. *20*, 4990.

Wilson, S.J., Webb, B.L.J., Ylinen, L.M.J., Verschoor, E., Heeney, J.L., and Towers, G.J. (2008). Independent evolution of an antiviral TRIMCyp in rhesus macaques. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *105*, 3557–3562.

Wolf, D., and Goff, S.P. (2008). Host restriction factors blocking retroviral replication. Annu. Rev. Genet. 42, 143–163.

Wu, J., Sun, L., Chen, X., Du, F., Shi, H., Chen, C., and Chen, Z.J. (2013). Cyclic GMP-AMP is an endogenous second messenger in innate immune signaling by cytosolic DNA. Science *339*, 826–830.

Wu, Q., Luo, Y., Lu, R., Lau, N., Lai, E.C., Li, W.-X., and Ding, S.-W. (2010). Virus discovery by deep sequencing and assembly of virus-derived small silencing RNAs. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 200911353.

Wu, X., Anderson, J.L., Campbell, E.M., Joseph, A.M., and Hope, T.J. (2006). Proteasome inhibitors uncouple rhesus TRIM5alpha restriction of HIV-1 reverse transcription and infection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *103*, 7465–7470.

Wyers, F., Richard-Molard, C., Blondel, D., and Dezelee, S. (1980). Vesicular stomatitis virus growth in Drosophila melanogaster cells: G protein deficiency. J. Virol. *33*, 411–422.

Wyers, F., Dru, P., Simonet, B., and Contamine, D. (1993). Immunological cross-reactions and interactions between the Drosophila melanogaster ref(2)P protein and sigma rhabdovirus proteins. J. Virol. *67*, 3208–3216.

Xi, Z., Ramirez, J.L., and Dimopoulos, G. (2008). The Aedes aegypti toll pathway controls dengue virus infection. PLoS Pathog. *4*, e1000098.

Xiao, H., Killip, M.J., Staeheli, P., Randall, R.E., and Jackson, D. (2013). The human interferon-induced MxA protein inhibits early stages of influenza A virus infection by retaining the incoming viral genome in the cytoplasm. J. Virol.

Xu, J., and Cherry, S. (2014). Viruses and antiviral immunity in Drosophila. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 42, 67–84.

Xu, J., Grant, G., Sabin, L.R., Gordesky-Gold, B., Yasunaga, A., Tudor, M., and Cherry, S. (2012). Transcriptional pausing controls a rapid antiviral innate immune response in Drosophila. Cell Host Microbe *12*, 531–543.

Xu, Y., Jagannath, C., Liu, X.-D., Sharafkhaneh, A., Kolodziejska, K.E., and Eissa, N.T. (2007). Toll-like receptor 4 is a sensor for autophagy associated with innate immunity. Immunity *27*, 135–144.

Yan, N., and Chen, Z.J. (2012). Intrinsic antiviral immunity. Nat. Immunol. 13, 214–222.

Yang, N., and Kazazian, H.H., Jr (2006). L1 retrotransposition is suppressed by endogenously encoded small interfering RNAs in human cultured cells. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *13*, 763–771.

Yano, T., Mita, S., Ohmori, H., Oshima, Y., Fujimoto, Y., Ueda, R., Takada, H., Goldman, W.E., Fukase, K., Silverman, N., et al. (2008). Autophagic control of listeria through intracellular innate immune recognition in drosophila. Nat. Immunol. *9*, 908–916.

Yap, M.W., Nisole, S., and Stoye, J.P. (2005). A single amino acid change in the SPRY domain of human Trim5alpha leads to HIV-1 restriction. Curr. Biol. CB *15*, 73–78.

Ye, P., Liu, S., Zhu, Y., Chen, G., and Gao, G. (2010). DEXH-Box protein DHX30 is required for optimal function of the zinc-finger antiviral protein. Protein Cell *1*, 956–964.

Yoneyama, M., Kikuchi, M., Natsukawa, T., Shinobu, N., Imaizumi, T., Miyagishi, M., Taira, K., Akira, S., and Fujita, T. (2004). The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. Nat. Immunol. *5*, 730–737.

Yoneyama, M., Onomoto, K., and Fujita, T. (2008). Cytoplasmic recognition of RNA. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. *60*, 841–846.

Yu, X., Yu, Y., Liu, B., Luo, K., Kong, W., Mao, P., and Yu, X.-F. (2003). Induction of APOBEC3G ubiquitination and degradation by an HIV-1 Vif-Cul5-SCF complex. Science *302*, 1056–1060.

Zambon, R.A., Nandakumar, M., Vakharia, V.N., and Wu, L.P. (2005). The Toll pathway is important for an antiviral response in Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *102*, 7257–7262.

Zambon, R.A., Vakharia, V.N., and Wu, L.P. (2006). RNAi is an antiviral immune response against a dsRNA virus in Drosophila melanogaster. Cell. Microbiol. *8*, 880–889.

Zhang, H., Yang, B., Pomerantz, R.J., Zhang, C., Arunachalam, S.C., and Gao, L. (2003). The cytidine deaminase CEM15 induces hypermutation in newly synthesized HIV-1 DNA. Nature *424*, 94–98.

Zhang, H., Kolb, F.A., Jaskiewicz, L., Westhof, E., and Filipowicz, W. (2004). Single processing center models for human Dicer and bacterial RNase III. Cell *118*, 57–68.

Zhang, R., Jha, B.K., Ogden, K.M., Dong, B., Zhao, L., Elliott, R., Patton, J.T., Silverman, R.H., and Weiss, S.R. (2013). Homologous 2',5'-phosphodiesterases from disparate RNA viruses antagonize antiviral innate immunity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *110*, 13114–13119.

Zhang, Y., Burke, C.W., Ryman, K.D., and Klimstra, W.B. (2007). Identification and characterization of interferon-induced proteins that inhibit alphavirus replication. J. Virol. *81*, 11246–11255.

Zhang, Z., Yuan, B., Bao, M., Lu, N., Kim, T., and Liu, Y.-J. (2011). The helicase DDX41 senses intracellular DNA mediated by the adaptor STING in dendritic cells. Nat. Immunol. *12*, 959–965.

Zhao, C., Denison, C., Huibregtse, J.M., Gygi, S., and Krug, R.M. (2005). Human ISG15 conjugation targets both IFN-induced and constitutively expressed proteins functioning in diverse cellular pathways. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *102*, 10200–10205.

Zhao, C., Hsiang, T.-Y., Kuo, R.-L., and Krug, R.M. (2010). ISG15 conjugation system targets the viral NS1 protein in influenza A virus-infected cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *107*, 2253–2258.

Zhao, L., Jha, B.K., Wu, A., Elliott, R., Ziebuhr, J., Gorbalenya, A.E., Silverman, R.H., and Weiss, S.R. (2012). Antagonism of the interferon-induced OAS-RNase L pathway by murine coronavirus ns2 protein is required for virus replication and liver pathology. Cell Host Microbe *11*, 607–616.

Zhong, W., Dasgupta, R., and Rueckert, R. (1992). Evidence that the packaging signal for nodaviral RNA2 is a bulged stem-loop. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *89*, 11146–11150.

Zhou, A., Paranjape, J., Brown, T.L., Nie, H., Naik, S., Dong, B., Chang, A., Trapp, B., Fairchild, R., Colmenares, C., et al. (1997). Interferon action and apoptosis are defective in mice devoid of 2',5'-oligoadenylate-dependent RNase L. EMBO J. *16*, 6355–6363.

Zhou, X., Michal, J.J., Zhang, L., Ding, B., Lunney, J.K., Liu, B., and Jiang, Z. (2013). Interferon induced IFIT family genes in host antiviral defense. Int. J. Biol. Sci. *9*, 200–208.

Zhu, F., Ding, H., and Zhu, B. (2013). Transcriptional profiling of Drosophila S2 cells in early response to Drosophila C virus. Virol. J. *10*, 210.

Zirin, J., and Perrimon, N. (2010). Drosophila as a model system to study autophagy. Semin. Immunopathol. *32*, 363–372.

Züst, R., Cervantes-Barragan, L., Habjan, M., Maier, R., Neuman, B.W., Ziebuhr, J., Szretter, K.J., Baker, S.C., Barchet, W., Diamond, M.S., et al. (2011). Ribose 2'-O-methylation provides a molecular signature for the distinction of self and non-self mRNA dependent on the RNA sensor Mda5. Nat. Immunol. *12*, 137–143.



## Vincent BARBIER



Pastrel, a restriction factor for picorna-like viruses in *Drosophila melanogaster* 

## Résumé

La drosophile est un excellent modèle pour l'étude des mécanismes moléculaires de l'immunité innée, y compris les virus. Elle a permis la caractérisation de mécanismes de défense immunitaire conservés au cours de l'évolution, tel que les voies Toll et IMD qui régulent l'expression des peptides antimicrobiens induits en réponse aux infections fongiques et bactériennes. Deux types de réponse sont impliqués dans le contrôle des infections virales chez la drosophile : une réponse inductible et l'ARN interférence. Nous avons montré que l'ARN interférence est un mécanisme global de défense antivirale puisqu'il contrôle l'infection par un virus à ADN, en plus des virus à ARN tel que le virus C de la drosophile (DCV). Le virus DCV, apparenté aux Picornaviridae, est un pathogène naturel de la drosophile. Nous avons également observé que la résistance de mouches contrôles à l'infection par le virus DCV est dépendante du fond génétique. Elle est d'ailleurs corrélée à des polymorphismes présents dans un gène porté par le chromosome III : le gène pastrel. Nos expériences de perte et gain de fonction indiquent que ce gène code pour un facteur de restriction viral, bloquant l'infection par le virus DCV mais aussi par le virus de la paralysie du cricket (CrPV). Cette restriction apparait dans les premières heures après infection. La région C-terminale de la protéine Pastrel est nécessaire à son activité antivirale ainsi qu'à sa localisation dans les cellules. La protéine Pastrel co-localise avec le Rouge de Nil, un marqueur des gouttelettes lipidiques. Ainsi, nos résultats suggèrent un lien entre le métabolisme lipidique et le blocage d'une infection virale chez la drosophile.

**Mots-clés :** *Drosophila melanogaster*, défense antivirale, immunité innée, immunité intrinsèque, facteur de restriction, virus C de la drosophile, virus de la paralysie du cricket, virus Nora.

## Abstract

Since the discovery of the evolutionarily conserved TOLL and IMD pathways, involved in antifungal and antibacterial immune responses, the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* is used as a model to study the molecular mechanisms of innate immunity. To defend against viral pathogens, *Drosophila* relies on two main facets: the RNA interference (RNAi) pathway and virus specific inducible responses. We show that the RNAi pathway plays a role in the control of a DNA virus, in addition to RNA viruses. We also observe that the fly genetic background can modulate the resistance to infection by *Drosophila* C virus (DCV), a natural pathogen of *Drosophila*. This resistance to DCV infection is correlated with polymorphisms in a gene named *pastrel*, localized on the left arm of the third chromosome. Our loss- and gain-of-function experiments indicate that *pastrel* encodes a molecule opposing infection by picorna-like viruses DCV and also Cricket Paralysis virus (CrPV), raising the question of the mechanism involved. This restriction appears early after infection. The Cterminal region of Pastrel protein is important for its antiviral activity and its localization in vesicular structures co-localizing with Nile Red staining, a marker for lipid droplets. Altogether, our data suggest a connection between lipid droplets and restriction of viral infection in *Drosophila*, as already described in mammals between the restriction factor Viperin, present on lipid droplets, and the replication of the human pathogen Hepatitis C Virus.

**Keywords:** *Drosophila melanogaster*, antiviral defense, innate immunity, intrinsic immunity, restriction factor, *Drosophila* C virus, Cricket Paralysis virus, Nora virus.